il

Tewkesbury
Borough Council
15 April 2024

Committee Planning

Date Tuesday, 23 April 2024

Time of Meeting 9:30 am

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices,

Severn Room

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED
TO ATTEND

Agenda

1. ANNOUNCEMENTS

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the
nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the
visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further instructions
(during office hours staff should proceed to their usual assembly point;
outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). Please do not re-
enter the building unless instructed to do so.

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in
leaving the building.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions.
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 24 January 2023 of the
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 February
2023, as set out in Minute No. CL.72, Members are invited to declare any
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the
approved Code applies.

Gloucester Road Tewkesbury Glos GL20 5TT Democratic Services Tel: (01684) 272021
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk



mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Item

MINUTES
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 March 2024.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH
COUNCIL

(a) 24/00129/PIP - Land Off Bozard Lane, Tredington

PROPOSAL: Permission in Principle application for the erection of
between one and seven dwellings, including 40% affordable housing
on site.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Refuse.

(b) 23/00275/APP - Plots 3 and 4 Gloucester Business Park

PROPOSAL: Reserved matters application in relation to Plots 3 and
4 for the erection of employment development of 16,481sgm (GIA),
access arrangements, servicing, parking including cycle provisions,
electric vehicle charging and landscape provision comprising of Class
B2 and B8 development with ancillary offices, alongside discharge of
pre-commencement conditions 8 and 11 to planning permission
reference 11/01155/FUL.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Delegated Approve.

(c) 23/00276/APP - Plot 5 Gloucester Business Park

PROPOSAL: Reserved matters application in relation to Plot 5 for the
erection of employment development of 6,773 sgm (GIA), access
arrangements, servicing, parking including cycle provisions, electric
vehicle charging and landscape provision comprising of Class B2 and
B8 development with ancillary offices, alongside discharge of pre-
commencement conditions 8 and 11 to planning permission reference
11/01155/FUL.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Delegated Approve.

(d) 23/00441/FUL - Land to the West of Twigworth Court Farm,

Tewkesbury Road, Twigworth
PROPOSAL.: Installation of ground mounted solar to export up to 16
MW (AC) electricity, comprising photovoltaic panels and associated
infrastructure and works.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Permit.

23-38

39 -80

81 - 106

107 - 150



ltem Page(s)

(e) 23/01078/FUL - Land North of A417, Brockworth Road, 151 -188
Churchdown

PROPOSAL: Construction and operation of an Energy Reserve
comprising Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) together with
associated infrastructure, access, landscaping and cabling, for a
temporary period of 40 years (amended description).
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Permit.
(f) 23/00673/FUL - Box Farm, Stockwell Lane, Woodmancote 189 - 210
PROPOSAL: Technical Details Consent for the construction of one
self-build dwelling following approval of Permission in Principle ref:
21/00144/PIP.
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Permit.
6. CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE 211 - 214

To consider current planning and enforcement appeals and Department
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities appeal decisions.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
THURSDAY, 23 MAY 2024
COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE

Councillors: M Dimond-Brown, M A Gore, S Hands (Vice-Chair), D J Harwood, M L Jordan,
G C Madle, J R Mason, G M Porter (Chair), P E Smith, R J G Smith, R J E Vines, P N Workman
and | Yates

Substitution Arrangements

The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the
beginning of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chair will take reasonable
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with.

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers,
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting.







Agenda Item 4

TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Planning Committee held at the Council Offices,
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 19 March 2024 commencing

at 9:30 am
Present:
Chair Councillor G M Porter
Vice Chair Councillor S Hands

and Councillors:

M Dimond-Brown, M A Gore, D J Harwood, M L Jordan, G C Madle, J R Mason, P E Smith,

PL.64

64.1

PL.65
65.1
65.2

PL.66

66.1

66.2

66.3

R J G Smith, R J E Vines, P N Workman and | Yates

ELECTION OF CHAIR

It was proposed, seconded and

RESOLVED That Councillor G M Porter be elected as Chair for the
remainder of the Municipal Year.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.

The Chair gave a brief outline of the procedure for Planning Committee meetings,
including public speaking.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Code of Conduct
which was adopted by the Council on 24 January 2023 and took effect on 1
February 2023.

The following declarations were made:
Councillor Application Nature of Interest Declared
No./Agenda Item (where disclosed) Action in
respect of
Disclosure
R J E Vines ltem 6b — Is a Gloucestershire Would speak
23/00964/FUL — County Councillor. and vote.

Land Adjacent
Shurdington House
Stables, Main Road,
Shurdington

There were no further declarations made on this occasion.



PL.67

67.1

PL.68

68.1

68.2

68.3

PL.19.03.24

MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 20 February 2024, copies of which had been
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH COUNCIL

The objections to, support for, and observations upon the various applications as
referred to in Appendix 1 attached to these Minutes were presented to the
Committee and duly taken into consideration by Members prior to decisions being
made on those applications.

23/00930/0UT - Part Parcel 4256, Homedowns, Tewkesbury

This was an outline application for residential development of up to 30 residential
dwellings, associated works (including demolition), open space, infrastructure and
landscaping with vehicular access from the A46(T).

The Principal Planning Officer advised that this was an outline application for up to
30 dwellings on a site off Fiddington Lane but with vehicular access provided
through the adjacent larger development site to the south which would then lead
west and north to the access through the wider development and reach the A46
near Dobbies Garden Centre. As well as the development site itself, the red line of
the application included not only the access but an area to the east on the opposite
side of Fiddington Lane for an attenuation pond and a strip of tree belt land to the
north-east for a proposed pedestrian access towards the Cotswold Outlet
development which was currently under construction. The development site was
currently used for horse grazing and was relatively flat and surrounded by
hedgerows for the most part. Immediately to the north was a small lane which led
westwards to a Public Right of Way and some residential properties on the north
side of the lane and further equestrian land which was also in the ownership of the
applicant. To the east over the lane was a development site recently allowed at
appeal for up to 120 dwellings which would share the attenuation pond for its
drainage requirements. The applicant had provided an indicative plan which
showed vehicular access to the south but also pedestrian/cycle access potential to
the northern lane and a Local Area for Play (LAP). There was an objection from
Network Rail in respect of the potential for increased use by pedestrians of the
Homedown Level Crossing but, given the distance from the crossing, the greater
proximity of the alternative Natton Lane underpass and the detailed discussions at
the recent appeal inquiry for the 120 dwelling site opposite, it was considered that
an objection could not be sustained on those grounds. Although the proposal was
not policy compliant in terms of locational policies set out in the Joint Core Strategy
and Tewkesbury Borough Plan, they received less weight in the planning balance
given the lack of a five year housing land supply or any other material
considerations which would, as a result of granting planning permission, cause
adverse impacts and Officers considered the proposal was acceptable in principle,
subject to conditions and a Section 106 Agreement — it was noted there had been
positive discussions with the application regarding the majority, but not all, of the
identified Section 106 obligations. Therefore, as set out in the Committee report, it
was recommended that authority be delegated to the Associate Director: Planning
to permit the application, subject to the conditions as set out in the Committee
report, and any additional or amended conditions, and completion of the Section
106 Agreement. There was a proposed time limit for negotiations and if an
agreement was not concluded within the 12 week period the Associate Director:
Planning would be given delegated authority to refuse the application as set out in
the Committee report.



68.4

68.5

PL.19.03.24

The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to delegate authority to the Associate Director: Planning to
permit the application, subject to the conditions as set out in the Committee report,
and any additional or amended conditions, and completion of the Section 106
Agreement, and he sought a motion from the floor. A Member asked how likely it
was that the Section 106 Agreement would be completed within the 12 week time
period and was advised that this would depend on negotiations with the applicant
and getting agreement on the affordable housing conditions but Officers were
optimistic it could be achieved from a legal perspective. In response to a query
regarding the self-build and custom issue, Members were advised that the applicant
had been asked to respond on this; the advice which had been given by the
Inspector in relation to the appeal site across the road was that it was down to the
local planning authority to ensure land was being allocated in order to meet
requirements rather than developers having to provide it themselves and that was
relevant in this instance.

The Member sought an explanation as to how the issue regarding the Public Right
of Way footpath AAS8 was being resolved and whether the attenuation pond would
need to be increased if it was to be shared with another development. In response,
the Principal Planning Officer advised that the Lead Local Flood Authority had been
consulted on the attenuation pond and raised no objection — it was a larger pond
than was required for a 30 dwelling development so had built-in capacity for the site
over the road as well. Another Member drew attention to Page No. 34, Paragraph
2.2. of the report and sought clarification as to the class of agricultural land. With
regard to Page No. 41, Paragraph 8.17 of the report which talked about sustainable
travel links, the Member asked what links were being assessed and the timeframe
for delivery. In terms of affordable housing, the Member asked whether social
housing had been considered. The Member noted there had been no detailed
update in terms of the position regarding the Section 106 Agreement and indicated
that he would like Officers to be increasingly robust with developers to ensure
Section 106 obligations were maximised. As a procedural point, Officers tended to
list the relevant Joint Core Strategy and Tewkesbury Borough Plan policies but did
not refer to Neighbourhood Development Plan policies; he felt those were equally
important and should be given the same attention. In response, the Principal
Planning Officer advised that the agricultural land grading was unknown and, in
terms of affordable housing, the Head of Service: Housing was happy with what was
being provided but this was an outline application and the tenure would reflect the
mix of development on site and the size of the dwellings. There would be 40%
compliance in terms of the number of affordable dwellings on site which would be
set out in the Section 106 Agreement. With regard to the Section 106, the majority
of what was being asked for had been agreed but the applicant was disputing the
Council’s evidence in respect of some of the other issues relating to contributions to
the leisure centre and swimming pool. She confirmed that the relevant policies from
the Ashchurch Rural Neighbourhood Development Plan were set out within the
Committee report but not referenced in the conclusion section. The County
Highways representative advised there would be no vehicle traffic on the route of
the Public Right of Way to the north of the site and there would be active travel links
to the north. It had recently been decided to put a link to the north-east of the site to
the 120 dwelling site opposite and there would be a link from the roundabout on
Fiddington Lane. The main vehicular access was to the south of the site and had
already been constructed with a footway and cycleway partially constructed to the
south — this was proposed to be access only for emergency vehicles and buses.
There were also links through the site to serve the development as well as a link
through the appeal site and an active travel link to the north of the site which could
potentially be extended further down to Claydon; the speed limit was currently
30mph at the roundabout at Fiddington Lane before increasing to 40mph and
50mph and it was proposed to reduce this to 30mph down to Claydon Lane. The
Member indicated that it would have been beneficial for this information to be set



68.6

68.7

68.8

68.9

PL.19.03.24

out in the Committee report in order for Members to understand it more fully and
make an informed judgement. The County Highways representative advised there
was a lot of development in the area and the various linkages were quite
comprehensive so it may be beneficial to hold a separate session for the Committee
to explain those at some point.

A Member drew attention to Page No. 36, Paragraph 4.15 of the report which
related to the consultation response from Cleeve Ramblers which had raised
concern that the Design and Access Statement was incorrect in stating there were
no Public Rights of Way routing through the site. The Principal Planning Officer
clarified that the Cleeve Ramblers were referring to the red line of the access road.
The Public Right of Way crossed the access road and the lane at the top of the site
ran in the direction of the M5 east to west and west to east across the road then
turned north and went across that line. Public Right of Way 7 ran southwards where
it crossed the road and the developer of that land would be putting in footpath
diversions where required with at least one Order in place — this could be temporary
whilst development was carried out or permanent but she did not have the details of
the wider applications. In response to a query regarding safeguards for the
retention of hedgerows along the east to west boundary, the Principal Planning
Officer advised that proposed conditions 19, 20 and 21 required details of the
landscaping to be submitted including a landscaping scheme for the whole site, full
details regarding adequate measures to protect trees and hedgerows and for any
trees and plants which were removed or became damaged or diseased to be
replaced within five years of the completion of the development. In terms of
sanctions, this would be an enforcement matter and was not something that could
be considered in determination of this application.

It was proposed and seconded that authority be delegated to the Associate Director:
Planning to permit the application in accordance with the Officer recommendation
subject to a further condition to prevent construction traffic from using Fiddington
Lane. Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That authority be DELEGATED to the Assaociate Director:
Planning to PERMIT the application subject to the conditions as
set out in the Committee report, a further condition to prevent
construction traffic from using Fiddington Lane, any additional or
amended conditions and completion of the Section 106
Agreement.

23/00964/FUL - Land Adjacent Shurdington House Stables, Main Road,
Shurdington

This application was for erection of five detached dwellings with associated
infrastructure including detached single storey garages, landscaping and
construction of two new accesses from Shurdington Road. The Planning
Committee had visited the application site on Friday 15 March 2024.

The Senior Planning Officer advised that a further late representation, as set out at
Appendix 1, had been received the previous night from County Highways
recommending an additional three conditions to add to the planning permission.
The applicant’s agent had agreed to the conditions so these would be added to the
planning permission should Members be minded to permit the application. The
application site was located off Shurdington Road and was currently an
undeveloped plot between Woodbine Cottage to the northeast and Shurdington
House Stables and 1 Malvern View to the southwest. The site contained
unmaintained grassland enclosed by mature hedgerows and trees. The site was
located outside of the settlement boundary within the Cotswold National Landscape
(formerly Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty) and within the Green Belt. The site
formed a gap within the village of Shurdington with residential development either



68.10

PL.19.03.24

side in an otherwise built-up frontage. The Public Right of Way to the north-east of
the site would be unaffected by the proposed development. The site was located
within Flood Zone 1 and there were no heritage or other planning designations
affecting the site. The five three and four bedroom dwellings were two storey with
dual pitched roofs and single storey with green, flat roofed elements; solar panels
were proposed for each dwelling. Plots 2, 3 and 4 each had access to a garage and
all plots had off-street parking for two vehicles and private rear gardens. The
existing field access would be closed off and two new vehicular accesses would be
created - one to serve Plots 1 and 2 and the second to serve the remaining plots.
Despite the application site not being located within a defined settlement boundary,
the proposal was considered to be infill within Shurdington as per part 4(ii) of Policy
SD10 of the Joint Core Strategy. The site had a clear physical and functional
relationship to the Service Village and was well related to the existing built-up
frontage along the A46 such that the proposal was considered acceptable in
principle. The proposal was considered to be limited infilling in a village and
therefore complied with exception 154(e) of the National Planning Policy Framework
2023. The Cotswold National Landscape Board agreed with the applicant’s
Landscape and Visual Appraisal and, although the development would encroach
into the National Landscape, it would be viewed in the context of the adjacent built
development and the significant local influence of the A46. The site was well
contained and the addition of five dwellings and associated landscape mitigation
would ensure it would not have a harmful impact on the Cotswold National
Landscape. There were no objections from statutory consultees, the proposal was
considered to be in accordance with the development plan and there were no clear
reasons for refusal in accordance with Paragraph 11d(i) and footnote 7 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee. The applicant’s
agent advised that this was an application for the construction of five high-quality
detached family dwellings included associated access, landscaping, garaging and
parking. Following detailed discussion and negotiation with Officers, the layout and
design of the proposals had been amended during the course of the application to
fully address comments raised. It was acknowledged that previous applications for
residential development had been submitted for this site, but it was important to
note that these were circa 25 years ago within a vastly different national and local
planning policy context. As Members would be aware, the current application must
be considered on its own merits against the latest planning policy background. As a
result, the application was advanced on the basis that these dwellings represented
“limited infilling in a village” which was one of the defined exemptions allowing
development in the Green Belt. The assessment on limited infilling had been well-
established through planning law and local decisions, including appeal decisions, as
set out within their submission and the Committee report. As outlined in the
Committee report, the site represented infilling between properties to the northeast
and the southwest and had been designed with a linear layout in order to replicate
this otherwise built-up frontage. The site was located centrally within the village of
Shurdington, in close walking distance to all amenities and services within the
village, as well as having direct access to Gloucester and Cheltenham via the No.
10 bus service - this was a highly sustainable location for development. As
Members would have seen on the site visit, the site had a shallow slope in
topography from Shurdington Road in the west up to the rear of the site in the east.
It should be noted the dwellings would be located centrally within the site where
land levels were, on average, just 40cm higher than the highway edge.
Notwithstanding this, and as depicted in the submitted streetscene, the dwellings
would be constructed at a lower level more consistent with the highway edge both
for access purposes and to ensure that the height of the dwellings would be
consistent with the neighbouring built form. The Council would have control over
these levels through an appropriately worded condition. It was acknowledged that
the site was located within, but on the edge of, the Cotswolds National Landscape



68.11

68.12

68.13

PL.19.03.24

and impact of the proposals on the landscape had been fully assessed from the
outset and the submission was supported by a Landscape and Visual Appraisal
which had been assessed by both the Cotswolds National Landscape Board and
the Council’s Landscape Officer, neither of which raised any objections to the
development of the site. Conditions were recommended in relation to landscaping,
lighting, ecological enhancement, construction management, access installation,
foul and surface water drainage etc. all of which were acceptable to the applicant.
In conclusion, the applicant’s agent considered this to be a high quality addition to
this area, which would meet all necessary policies. The proposals did not have any
outstanding technical objections and it was recommended by Officers for approval.
As a result, the applicant was now seeking the Committee’s support in a positive
determination of this application.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to permit the application
and he sought a motion from the floor. A Member noted there was a mature stream
to the northeast of the site and he sought clarification as to whether this was inside
or outside of the site boundary - he would be keen to see this protected if it did form
part of the application site. The Senior Planning Officer advised there was a spring
to the top right of the site but there was no record of it going into the site; it was
naturally occurring following the recent flooding over the last few months and, in any
case, the site was within Flood Zone 1 and had been assessed by the Council’s
Drainage Officer who raised no objection subject to the inclusion of a suitably
worded condition. The Member felt it had been clear on the Planning Committee
site visit that it was a mature stream which was very active when they had been on
site and he urged Officers to look more closely to ensure the applicant would not do
anything to inhibit its flow, both for flood and ecology purposes. The Senior
Planning Officer confirmed this would be picked up in proposed condition 5 which
would be reviewed and signed off by the Drainage Officer. The Development
Management Team Manager (East) advised there would also be a landscaping
condition for the whole site which would incorporate that area.

In response to a query as to the context around what was considered to be limited
infilling, the Senior Planning Officer advised that Paragraph 5.4 of the Tewkesbury
Borough Plan stated that Shurdington was one of the borough’s largest and most
sustainable Service Villages. Paragraph 154 of the National Planning Policy
Framework provided a number of exceptions to the construction of new buildings in
the Green Belt which included limited infilling; there was no hard and fast definition
but, in the context of the village of Shurdington, five dwellings was considered to be
limited infilling.

It was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with
the Officer recommendation. Whilst he recognised that each application should be
considered on its own merits, a Member raised concern that an application had
been refused at the last Planning Committee meeting despite abutting existing
houses and having development on three sides of the site on the basis that could
not be considered as infilling which seemed to be at odds with the advice being
given in this instance. He noted that the previous application in 2002 had been
refused largely due to the impact on the Green Belt and Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty and if this was permitted it would lead to the loss of an important open
space. Whilst he acknowledged these points, the Chair reminded Members that this
application was being determined in a different planning policy context with the tilted
balance engaged. The Development Management Team Manager (East) clarified
that the site was not designated as an important open space either in constraint or
policy terms but was in relation to the characteristics of the road and the wider area.

10



68.14

68.15
68.16

68.17

PL.19.03.24

Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the
Officer recommendation including the additional highways
conditions as set out in the Additional Representations Sheet
attached at Appendix 1.

22/01220/FUL - Land Off Old Gloucester Road and South Part Parcel 5800,
Old Gloucester Road, Boddington

This application was for change of use of land to a private Gypsy/Traveller site.

The Development Management Team Manager (Northwest) advised that the
application was a rectangular parcel of land to the southeast of the B4634
adjoining a larger field traditionally used for grazing which adjoined the M5
motorway to the east. The site was occupied by two large buildings associated
with equestrian use and was located in the Green Belt and Flood Zone 1. The
application sought planning permission for change of use to create a pitch for a
single family of Romany Gypsies in order to site a mobile home, a touring caravan
and to construct a day room. Whilst the application site was located within the
open countryside and Green Belt, it was deemed to constitute appropriate
development as defined in the National Planning Policy Framework in that it would
entail the redevelopment of previously developed land and would not have a
greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development
as the extent of development on site would be reduced. There was a significant
shortfall of Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites and pitches within the
borough and the personal circumstances of this family must also be taken into
consideration in the planning balance. Whilst there would be some landscape
harm from the proposed development and associated domestication of the site,
this would be localised and the harm would reduce over time as the proposed
landscaping established. Matters in respect of drainage, contamination and noise
could be adequately addressed by condition. Attention was drawn to the
Additional Representations Sheet, attached at Appendix 1, which set out that two
additional further representations had been received since the publication of the
Committee report and it was proposed that an additional condition be included in
relation to land contamination and, in view of the absence of an ecological
assessment at this time, the Officer recommendation had been amended to
delegate authority to the Associate Director: Planning to permit the application,
subject to the receipt and consideration of an appropriate ecological assessment
and any additional conditions arising.

The Chair invited a representative from Staverton Parish Council to address the
Committee. The Parish Council representative indicated that Members would have
received an email setting out the concerns of the Parish Council regarding this
application and he trusted they had read and digested its contents. In summary,
the Parish Council opposed this application on the grounds of inappropriate
development in the Green Belt and questioned whether a Noise Impact
Assessment been carried out as required by the Environmental Health consultant;
whether the risk of contamination from old agricultural buildings had been
assessed as suggested by the Environmental Health consultant; as this site was
situated adjacent to the B4634 and 170 metres from the M5 Motorway, if tests had
been carried out to test the air quality; whether foul water and surface water
drainage issues had been investigated and evidenced; and, if a wildlife
assessment had taken place for the protection of bats, newts and other wildlife and
fauna. There were no amenities such as shops, schools, doctors etc. within two
miles of this site, it was not on a bus route and County Highways recommended
refusal as the proposal conflicts with several policies. The Parish Council was not
convinced that very special circumstances could be demonstrated as the only

11



68.18

68.19

PL.19.03.24

issue appeared to be the lack of suitable sites available — that could be addressed
by ensuring new housing developments include plots for Gypsies and Travellers.
This application was for a permanent home on a greenfield site and there
appeared to be no intention of pursing a nomadic lifestyle, furthermore, the area of
land on which the application had been made was not identified for potential
development in the Joint Core Strategy or the Strategic Local Plan consultation.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee. The applicant’s
agent indicated that he wished to respond to a humber of points made by the
Parish Council. The key point was that the existing buildings would be replaced by
structures which would not have a greater impact on the Green Belt. He also
pointed out that the much larger Showpeople’s site on the opposite side of the road
was permitted on a greenfield site before allocation was made. There was a need
for consistency in decision making and the condition suggested to address noise
was similar to the approach taken on the Showpeople’s site which had a similar
noise environment. He indicated that the first request for ecological evidence he
had seen since this application was submitted in November 2022 was yesterday;
however, they would be happy to carry out the requested survey if Members were
able to support the Officer recommendation. The applicant’s agent indicated that
he had been involved in the examination of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and,
despite allocations being made in the Green Belt, there was still a significant level
of unmet need for Gypsies and Travellers. The Council had undertaken a
considerable exercise in searching for suitable land and the reality was that land
for this particular use was in very short supply. The most recent need figure was
set out at Page No. 110, Paragraph 8.21 of the Committee report — 29 pitches
needed to be found in the next two years which, in his experience, was a very tall
order and this was a matter Members should give substantial weight. The
Committee report set out the situation this family found themselves in - one that
was very much different from the rest of the population; the family’s current living
situation did not provide the space needed and had become untenable. The
Parish Council invited Members to believe they could simply be accommodated in
social housing but this rather missed the point - it would be like asking a family who
had spent their entire lives living in bricks and mortar to move into caravans. There
was a legal obligation for public authorities to facilitate the traditional Gypsy way of
life, an integral part of which was living in caravans. Furthermore, the Council was
subject to the public sector equality duty and provision of a site for the family
caravans would meet that duty. For all of these reasons, he respectfully invited
Members to grant planning permission.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to delegate authority to
the Associate Director: Planning to permit the application, subject to an additional
condition in respect of land contamination and the receipt and consideration of an
appropriate ecological assessment and any additional conditions arising, and he
sought a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that authority be
delegated to the Associate Director: Planning to permit the application in
accordance with the Officer recommendation. A Member indicated that he had a
lot of sympathy with the applicant and recognised the personal circumstances of
the family but he was not sure this was an appropriate site as any development in
the Green Belt was, by definition, inappropriate and harmful. He drew attention to
the Additional Representations Sheet and the objection from the Campaign for
Protection of Rural England (CPRE) which outlined several issues in relation to this
and he could not see any very special circumstances existed to outweigh the harm
that would be caused. In response, the Development Management Team
Manager (Northwest) advised that, whilst Green Belt policy defined the
construction of new building in the Green Belt as inappropriate, there were
exceptions such as limited infilling and redevelopment of previously developed
land — Officers considered this to be the latter, therefore, it was not considered to
be inappropriate development in that context. The Member sought clarification as

12



68.20

68.21

68.22

68.23

PL.19.03.24

to what the previous development had been and was informed that equestrian use
dated back over 30 years. There were several large buildings on the site which
would be removed as part of the application and replaced by a smaller scale
mobile unit and touring caravan and construction of a day room which was
considered to have a lesser impact as a consequence. In addition, the
Development Management Team Manager (Northwest) explained that the
occupants of these type of sites tended to have slightly different needs which were
weighed in the planning balance as a whole and, in this case, there were a number
of factors in favour of development. In response to a query as to why Officers
considered the land to be previously developed, the Development Management
Team Manager (Northwest) advised that equestrian use was included in the
definition of previously used land as confirmed by the previous appeal Inspector.

A Member noted that the plan at Page No. 103 of the Committee report showed
two buildings which was not reflected in what was being displayed on the screen
and was advised that particular plan was for illustrative purposes to show the site
location in the wider context. The Development Management Team Manager
(Northwest) explained there was no condition requiring removal of the existing
buildings but it would be difficult for the application to be delivered without their
removal; nevertheless, it was possible to add a condition to that effect. The
proposer and seconder of the motion indicated they would be happy for that to be
included and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That authority be DELEGATED to the Assaociate Director:
Planning to PERMIT the application subject to additional
conditions in respect of land contamination and removal of
existing buildings on the site, and the receipt and consideration
of an appropriate ecological assessment and any additional
conditions arising.

23/01132/FUL - 12A Beverley Gardens , Woodmancote

This application was for a first floor extension and single storey rear and side
extension.

The Senior Planning Officer advised that this was a householder application seeking
extensions and alterations to an existing dwelling. The dwelling was constructed
approximately six years ago and comprised a contemporary architectural form. The
extensions would come in two main parts: firstly, a mono-pitched extension at
ground floor level which would be finished in a buff coloured brick to match the
Cotswold stone fagade and, secondly, a first storey extension on top of the existing
structure which would comprise an asymmetric contemporary design finished in
timber cladding to the walls and metal sheeting to the roof to match the existing
dwelling. The application required a Committee determination due to an objection
from Woodmancote Parish Council; however, this has been systematically
addressed within the Committee report and, notwithstanding this objection, the
development as proposed fully accorded with the policies of the development plan
including those pertaining to design, highways, amenity, landscape and
conservation. As such, the recommendation was to permit the application subject to
the conditions set out in the Committee report.

The Chair invited the representative from Woodmancote Parish Council to address
the Committee. The Parish Council representative indicated that the Parish Council
greatly valued the work of the Council’s Planning team and was generally very
happy with the in depth work Officers did in relation to applications in
Woodmancote; however, in this instance, it could not support the evaluation set out
in the Committee report and drew attention to two key issues. With regard to design
and visual amenity, Policy 9 of the Woodmancote Neighbourhood Development
Plan required development to respect the local character. A detailed character

13



68.24

68.25

68.26

PL.19.03.24

assessment had been carried out as part of the Woodmancote Neighbourhood
Development Plan and the design of the proposed development contained almost
every negative feature and almost no positive features of that plan. Woodmancote
Parish Council fundamentally disagreed with Page No. 127, Paragraph 8.5 of the
Committee report and the fact that the first floor extension was in keeping with the
existing dwelling was irrelevant in this particular set of circumstances because it
was the surrounding development that represented the coherent character of the
area. This proposal was not in keeping with any other property in Beverley Gardens
and therefore conflicted with Policy RES10 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and
Policy SD4 of the Joint Core Strategy. In relation to impact on the Cotswold
National Landscape, this property already negatively impacted the setting of the
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the extension should be viewed alongside
the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan Strategic
Guidelines where it was accepted that this location impacted the setting. A
suburban style with glazed balconies represented an extremely unwelcome
suburban intrusion and created glint and light pollution in the Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty. As such, it conflicted with Joint Core Strategy Policy SD7 and did
not conserve or enhance the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to permit the application
and he sought a motion from the floor. A Member questioned what role
Woodmancote Neighbourhood Development Plan had played in consideration of
this application and the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that it had been
considered from the outset and the relevant policies were referenced within the
Committee report. Another Member noted that the Parish Council’s written
objection referred to Policy RES5 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and asked why
this did not apply to this application. The Senior Planning Officer explained that
Policy RESS related to applications for new housing development; Policy SD4 of the
Joint Core Strategy, Policy RES10 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan were the
relevant policies in relation to extensions to a dwelling. A Member questioned why
there was no reference to the Neighbourhood Development Plan policies and was
informed that Policy 9 of the Woodmancote Neighbourhood Development Plan had
the same requirements as Policy SD4 and RES10 which was referenced at Page
No. 127 of the Committee report within the Design and Visual Amenity section.

A Member indicated that she had no issue with the ground floor extension but was
concerned that the first floor extension would be visually more obtrusive. The
Senior Planning Officer confirmed this had been assessed against the design policy
and whilst there would be an additional element, when read against the backdrop of
the existing contemporary element, Officers did not consider the impact to be
detrimental. In response to a query as to whether the proposal could be carried out
under permitted development rights, Members were advised that the single storey
element would probably be able to be done under permitted development rights but
she was unable to give a definitive answer regarding the first floor element without
further investigation — it was possible that permitted development rights may have
been removed as part of the 2015 planning permission.

It was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with
the Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the
Officer recommendation.

14



PL.69

69.1

69.2

69.3

PL.19.03.24

CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE

Attention was drawn to the current appeals and appeal decisions update, circulated
at Pages No. 137-138. Members were asked to consider the current planning and
enforcement appeals received and the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and
Communities appeal decisions issued.

A Member asked if there was any update regarding an action plan for Warren Fruit
Farm given that the four appeals had been withdrawn and the Development
Management Team Manager (East) undertook to obtain an update from the
Enforcement Officer to circulate to Members following the meeting.

It was
RESOLVED That the current appeals and appeal decisions be NOTED.

The meeting closed at 11:08 am

15



PL.19.03.24
Appendix 1

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS SHEET

Date: 19 March 2024

The following is a list of the additional representations received since the Planning Committee
Agenda was published and includes background papers received up to and including the
Monday before the meeting.

A general indication of the content is given but it may be necessary to elaborate at the meeting.

Agenda
Item No

6C 22/01220/FUL

Land Off Old Gloucester Road and South Part Parcel 5800, Old Gloucester
Road, Boddington

Staverton Parish Council has submitted a further representation which has
been emailed directly to Members and is attached in full.

The comments relate principally to:
- Noise air and soil pollution
- Drainage

- Accessibility

- Wildlife

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the additional
representation and raises no objections in terms of air pollution, based on
nearby monitoring data. The approach to noise is considered consistent with
that at the nearby 'Showpersons' site and mitigation is covered by Condition 6.

Given the former use of the site, the Officer has requested an additional
condition in respect of land contamination as set out below —

Condition 8:

'Any contamination that is found during the course of construction or
landscaping of the approved development that was not previously identified
shall be reported immediately to the local planning authority. Development on
that part of the site affected shall be suspended and a risk assessment carried
out by a competent person and submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and
verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. These approved schemes shall be carried out before the
development (or relevant phase of development) is resumed or continued.’

Reason: To ensure appropriate living conditions for future occupiers.’

Drainage is discussed in Paragraphs 8.63 - 8.66 of the Committee report and
details can be appropriately secured by Condition 7 in the report.

Accessibility is discussed in Paragraphs 8.34 - 8.46 of the Committee report.

The Council's Ecological Advisor has reviewed the details and recommended
an ecological survey. This has not been submitted and would need to be prior
to any grant of planning permission. The recommendation is revised as below:

An Objection has been received from CPRE. The comments raised are

16



PL.19.03.24

summarised below:

- The site is undeveloped land lying within the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green
Belt.

- The area is not allocated for development.

- Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and
should not be approved except in very special circumstances.

- NPPF Paragraphs 154 and 155 to describe certain potential exceptions, but
none of these relate to a gypsy and traveller site.

- Site is not GTTS allocation in the plan.

- Lies within open countryside

- Would conflict with JCS Policy SD6

- Strongly disagree with the site being considered previously developed land

While these observations are noted it is considered that the points raised have
been addressed in the report.

Conclusion and Revised Recommendation:

In view of the absence of an ecological assessment at this time the
recommendation should be revised to:

Delegated Permit subject to no adverse impacts, following the receipt and
consideration of an appropriate ecological assessment and any additional
conditions arising.

17



PL.19.03.24

From Staverton Parish Council
To Tewkesbury Planning Committee 11th March 2024

Re: Planning Application 22/01220/FUL Gypsy site, Change of use.

Dear members of the Planning Committee, we are writing to you on behalf of the residents of Staverton
Parish.

We understand that the above application is due to be determined at your meeting on 19" March.
before determining this application, please be aware of our following concerns. We acknowledge the
Councils responsibility to find suitable sites for gypsy and traveller families and support you in these
endeavours.

1. We understand that there are special circumstances, presumably health, which affect this
application, about which we, quite rightly, have no knowledge of. We would ask you to ensure
that you are satisfied that these circumstances have been tested and ratified by the appropriate
agencies. If the special circumstances are health related, is this site suitable in terms of Noise
and Air quality issues?

2. Noise Levels. The Environmental Health consultant, in his/her email of 21/12/23 requires that
the applicant will have to provide further information relating to noise levels as the site is 170
metres from the M5 and adjacent to the B4634. Also, that a mobile home is unlikely to give high
levels of noise attenuation and that the impact of an acoustic fence is unknown without further
information. It also states that prior to determination a Noise Impact assessment shall be
undertaken. The NIA shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the planning authority.
Has this been actioned and evidenced?

3. Contamination Risk. The Environmental Health consultant noticed that the intended play area is
located over the former agricultural buildings, where there is a potential risk of contaminated
land. Has this been checked and evidenced?

4. Air Pollution. Has this site been tested for air pollution on a still day, when the exhaust fumes
from the B4634 and 6 lanes of motorway traffic are in the atmosphere?

5. Drainage. As at 5% December 23, the Flood planning officer states that no surface water
drainage strategy plan had been received. As the plan is also to use a Package treatment plant
for sewage, not connected to mains, therefore discharging into the field, has the applicant
undertaken the Ground Percolation tests to BRE365 to ensure that ground conditions are
suitable and drawn up detailed plans as requested?

6. Wildlife. Bearing in mind that this site has been left wild for many years, has any wildlife
assessments been made in respect of Newts and other Amphibians, Bats, Voles, Birds of prey
and other wildlife and Fauna taken place? Diminishing green spaces in Tewkesbury Borough are
being eroded at an alarming rate and we feel it important to protect what we have left. We
strongly recommend that such assessments should be made before a determination is made on
this application.

7. Amenities and Transport. In terms of amenities such as Schools, Shops, Doctors, there are none
within the parish, the nearest being in Churchdown, being over 2 miles away. As there are no
bus routes on the B4634 and is a 2 mile walk to the nearest bus stop, it is likely that all journeys
to and from the site would be by motor vehicle. Highways recommend Refusal indicating that
the proposal conflicts with policy INF1 of the JCS 2011 to 2031, policies PD 0.1 and PD 0.4 of the
local transport plan 4 and would conflict with the sustainable transport aims of the NPP
Framework contained in paragraphs 110 and 112.

18



10.

11.

PL.19.03.24

Planning Policy for Gypsies and Travellers. As mentioned above, we fully understand the need
for the Council to provide suitable sites for Gypsy and Traveller families. We are not convinced
that this application justifies Very Special Circumstances. We don’t know what these very special
circumstances are of course and we do sympathize with any family who has to cope with illness
or disability of any description, but we would ask why is this family’s special circumstances
different to any other family who has a relative with special needs? The applicants of this
proposal would have the same access to doctors, hospitals and social services as any member of
the public. We conclude therefore, that the only Very Special Circumstance for this application is
the shortfall of suitable sites in the borough. This should not mean TBC take the path of least
resistance and permit any application on the basis of Very Special Circumstances. There is of
course a simple solution to this lack of sites. When applications are made for large
developments such as 10.000 houses in the new Garden town, 3000 at the Cyber Park, 4000 at
Elmstone Hardwicke, add in a space for Gypsies and Travellers. As demonstrated by the
application under discussion, gypsies don’t mind living close to settled communities. We fully
agree with the policy to ensure fairness for gypsy’s and travellers, but also agree with the part of
the policy which states “while respecting the interests of the settled community”. We ask you to
take into consideration the wishes of the settled community.

Nomadic Lifestyle. We agree and support the fact that travellers have a right to their nomadic
lifestyle and therefore areas need to be identified for them to use whilst travelling through,
please refer to the point made above about utilising some space as a part of new developments.
It seems in this situation this family are looking to settle and therefore poses the question to
why this family are not being referred to the housing association to provide suitable
accommodation which would give them the immediate access to the amenities they require and
would save avoidable development on green belt land.

Communication with planners. We are disappointed with lack of meaningful communication
with the planning officers. We were not informed by TBC in November 22 that this application
was in progress and heard in March 23 through the local grapevine. We asked your planning
department on numerous occasions from March 23 to keep the Parish Council updated on
progress in order that we could react as necessary to any issues that cropped up. No progress
reports were received.

JCS and Strategic Local Plan. The area of land on which this application has been made is not
identified as potential for development on the JCS or Strategic Local Plan consultation.

Prior to making your decision, we would ask you to answer the questions raised, if this cannot
be done before the planning meeting, may we respectfully suggest you postpone your

determination to ensure that all aspects of this application have been considered.

Please take into consideration the points made above and the 23 objections raised by the
settled community of Staverton and reconsider your inclination to permit.

Staverton Parish Council.

19



PL.19.03.24

Cheltenham, Gloucester

The countryside charity ilzcinﬁfemk:i)bu“srey L

Gloucestershire Ham Road

Charlton Kings
Cheltenham GL52 6NG

16 March 2024

Planning & Development Services,
Tewkesbury Borough Council
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury GL20 5TT

Dear NN

Planning Application 22/01220/FUL

Change of use of land to private Gypsy/Traveller site.

Land off Old Gloucester Road and South Part Parcel 5800, Old Gloucester Road, Boddington,
Cheltenham, Gloucestershire

| apologise for this very late submission regarding the above planning application. | would
be grateful if you would draw the contents of this letter to the urgent attention of the
Borough Planning Committee.

CPRE objects to the application for the reasons set out below. In this connection we
disagree with the designation of the land set out in your report to the 19" March Planning
Committee meeting. It would have been helpful if the report could have been available on
the Council website as a document associated with the application: as far as we can
ascertain it is only publicly available starting on page 102 of the papers for the Committee
meeting.

Planning Context

The site is undeveloped land lying within the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt. The area
is not allocated for development in either the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) or the Tewkesbury
Borough Plan to 2031 (TBP).

Paragraphs 152-3 of the NPPF (2023) state:

“Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not
be approved except in very special circumstances.

“When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure
that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special
circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the Registered Office

proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.” Community House

" . . . 15 College G

It goes on in paragraphs 154 and 155 to describe certain potential Glouie;g:r reen

exceptions, but none of these relate to a gypsy and traveller site. Note GL12LZ

however the conditional exception at Para 154 d): “the replacement of ‘”fO@ICpreg"’Sl-(‘"g-“k
cpreglos.org.u

a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not Fiee &

materially larger than the one it replaces” President
Madeleine Bunting

Chair
The Campaign to Protect Rural England Patricia Broadisst:CBE

Is a registered charity
Registered charity number 248577
The CPRE logo is a registered trademark

Business Manager
Louise Chandler-

20



PL.19.03.24

Planning Policy for Gypsy and Traveller Sites was published in August 2015. Paragraph 16
states: “Inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt and should not be
approved, except in very special circumstances. Traveller sites (temporary or permanent} in
the Green Belt are inappropriate development. Subject to the best interests of the child,
personal circumstances and unmet need are unlikely to clearly outweigh harm to the Green
Belt and any other harm so as to establish very special circumstances.”

Paragraph 4 of the NPPF states: “The Framework should be read in conjunction with the
Government’s planning policy for traveller sites, and its planning policy for waste. When
preparing plans or making decisions on applications for these types of development, regard
should also be had to the policies in this Framework, where relevant.”

The relevance of the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites was made clear by Mrs Justice Lieven
in her High Court judgement Royal Borough of Kingston Upon Thames v Secretary of State
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities & Anor [2023] EWHC 2055 (Admin) in which she
overturns a planning appeal which had allowed a gypsy and traveller site in a green belt
elsewhere. Note also that she dismisses an argument that the policy as applied in this case
was discriminatory against Gypsies and Travellers; she determined that residential
development of any kind and by anyone was deemed inappropriate.

National policies are reflected in the JCS Policies SD5 (Green Belt), and SD13 (Gypsies and
travellers). The TBP sets out the planned provision of gypsy and traveller sites at Policy
GTTS1,; this does not include the present site. In addition the development would be in
breach of JCS Policy SD6(Landscape).

The status of the site

This is a greenfield site which, apart from being adjacent to the M5 motorway, lies in open
countryside and is some considerable distance from other development. It is against this
situation that the above policies need to be applied.

From a number of comments submitted concerning this application, there seems to be
some dispute about whether or not the site has been used for equestrian purposes.
However, whether or not this has been the case (either recently or in the past) we strongly
disagree with the statement in your report (para 8.10) that “as it has been used for
equestrian purposes and the existing buildings are associated stables, the site is considered
to constitute previously developed land.” If this line of argument were valid, planning
authorities would be obliged to approve the conversion of stable blocks to dwellings all over
the country. In planning terms, the application site does not constitute previously
developed land.

Conclusion

The application is clearly contrary to both national and local policies regarding development
in the Green Belt, including those policies with respect to gypsy and traveller sites. And the
site is not ‘previously developed land’.

Accordingly, CPRE urges Tewkesbury Borough Council to refuse this application.

Yours sincerely

Chairman, CPRE Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury District

2

21



PL.19.03.24

Additional Late Representation circulated at the meeting

Item 6b - 23/00964/FUL - Land Adjacent Shurdington House Stables, Main Road,
Shurdington

Following the Planning Committee Site visit on Friday 15 March, the County Highways Officer
has recommended three additional conditions in relation to tactile paving, relocation of utilities
apparatus and Street furniture and dropped kerbs. These conditions will be added to the
decision notice should the Planning Committee recommend permission in line with the Planning
Officer recommendation. The applicant has agreed to these additional conditions.

1. No part of the development shall be occupied until details of a 2m wide Footway adjacent
the site and a dropped crossing facility with tactile paving from the site across Shurdington
Road have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No
part of the development shall be occupied until the Footway and dropped crossing have
been provided in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

2. No part of the development shall be occupied until details of the relocation of Utilities
apparatus and Street furniture within the visibility splay (BT posts and lighting columns) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of the
development shall be occupied until the Utilities apparatus and Street furniture have been
relocated to a point outside of the visibility splay in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

3. No part of the development shall be occupied until all redundant dropped kerbs adjacent the
site have been reinstated to full height kerbs.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

22



Agenda Iltem 5a

Planning Committee

Date

23 April 2024

Case Officer

Jonny Martin

Application No.

24/00129/PIP

Site Location

Land Off Bozard Land, Tredington

Proposal Permission in Principle application for the erection of between one and
seven dwellings, including 40% affordable housing on site.

Ward Severn Vale North

Parish Stoke Orchard and Tredington

Appendices - Site Location Plan 001

- Concept Masterplan C_02

Reason for Referral
to Committee

At the request of the Monitoring Officer

Recommendation

Refuse

Site Location

Tredington

23




1. The Proposal
Full application details are available to view online at:
http://publicaccess.tewkeshury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=summary&keyVal=REJZ8KQDKU200

1.1 The application seeks Permission in Principle (PIP) for the erection of between 1no. and 7no.
dwellings, including affordable housing.

2. Site Description

2.1 The application site is a rectangular field of approximately 2 hectares, situated to the rear of
the churchyard of St John the Baptist Church. The site is also adjacent to Bozard Lane which
leaves the village of Tredington to the north east. St John the Baptist Church is Grade 1 listed,
and there are several Grade 2 listed headstones and monuments nearby, including a
Scheduled 14™ Century stone cross.

2.2 The application site is bounded by public footpaths, though development (indicative) as
proposed would not obstruct their use.

2.3 Although at an ‘in-principle’ stage, a concept masterplan does accompany the application.
This shows how the proposed dwellings would be clustered around a central access point and
would provide a buffer between the proposed developable area and the adjacent Church
Yard.

2.4 The site is shown on the Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning to be located within
Flood Zone 1, an area at lowest risk of flooding. There are no other heritage or landscape
designations affecting the site.

3. Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision | Decision
Number Date
22/00791/PIP Planning in principle for the erection of REF 20.01.2023

between 1 and 9 dwellings.

4. Consultation Responses

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

Stoke Orchard and Tredington Parish Council — Objection based on the following:
- The reasons for refusal for 22/00791/PIP still stand;
- The development would cause harm to the villages linear structure;
- Impact on the views to the Grade 1 Listed Building;

Conservation Officer — Objection — The significance of the church lies in its age, historic
fabric, features and community value. It is a country church serving a local settlement within
a rural setting. The development of the adjacent land would enclose the church from its
historic connection with the open countryside and dilute a strong aspect of its setting. Even if
mitigation in terms of planting is offered it is likely that a sense of enclosure and separation

24


http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

from the rural landscape would be perceivable and detrimental.

The full potential impact of the proposal would not be known until details of design and
layout are applied for however, it is considered that the proposal in principle would cause a
moderate degree of less than substantial harm to the significance and setting of the Grade |
Listed church. As such the proposal would be contrary to national and local heritage policy.
The application should be refused.

Historic England — Objection — Historic England has concerns regarding the application on
heritage grounds. We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to
be addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 205 and
206 of the NPPF. In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty
of section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have
special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features
of special architectural or historic interest which they possess and section 38(6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to determine planning applications in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Ecologist — A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) would be required at Technical
Details stage and should demonstrate Biodiversity Net Gain.

Affordable Housing — A minimum Affordable Housing contribution of 40% would be
required. For a scheme of 7 this would be 3 units on site. The preferred tenures would be 2
Social Rent and 1 Shared Ownership. Should there be no interest from Registered Social
Landlords then the Council would accept three Discount Market Sale units as an alternative,
to be sold at 75% of market value with that condition held in perpetuity.

Highways — No objection but concerns have been raised about the lack of a footway
connection to the main village. Therefore the site suitability would depend on the provision
of safe and suitable footway connection from the site to the bus stops which is unclear from
the initial detail. | note the application is only in principle therefore would query if the
technical details stage can consider this as a link between the site and the nearest bus
stops.

National Highways - The development does not share a boundary with the SRN and any
traffic impact should be negligible therefore, National Highways has no objections.

Third Party Comments/Observations

5.1

5.2

Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21
days and has also been publicised through the posting of neighbour notifications. A total of
20 objection letters have been received and a total of 6 letters of support have been
received.

The objection comments are summarised as follows:
- Impact on highway safety;
- At odds with the linear village;

- Unsustainable location;
- Flooding impacts;

25


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

5.3

5.4

- Development outside the village boundary;

- Loss of historic ridge and furrow land,;

- Damage to the landscape;

- Duty to protect ancient buildings;

- Lack of amenities and public transport links;

- The Tredington and Stoke Orchard Parochial Church Council has objected to the
scheme.

The comments and concerns raised by the neighbours will be addressed throughout the
officer report.

The support comments are summarised as follows:

- Contribute to local school capacity;

- The proposal would be very welcome and in stark contrast to the ever expanding
industrial scale farms that dominate the village;

- Good location for family dwellings;

- Affordable housing will keep our villages alive and vibrant;

- Benefits to the school shop and public transport link.

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strateqy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

- SP1 (The Need for New Development)

- SP2 (Distribution of New Development)

- SD3 (Sustainable Design and Construction)
- SD4 (Design Requirements)

- SD5 (Green Belt)

- SD6 (Landscape)

- SD7 (AONB)

- SD9 (Biodiversity)

- SD10 (Residential Development)

- SD11 (Housing mix and Standards)

- SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
- INF1 (Transport Network)

- INF2 (Flood Risk Management)

- INF3 (Green Infrastructure)

26



6.4  Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
- RES2 (Settlement Boundaries)
- RES3 (New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries)
- RESS5 (New Housing Development)
- RES13 (Housing Mix)
-  GRB4 (Green Belt)
- DES1 (Housing Space Standards)
- LAN2 (Landscape Character)
- NAT1 (Biodiversity)
- ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)
- TRAC9 (Parking Provision)
6.5 Neighbourhood Plan
- None.

7. Policy Context

7.1  This application is for a Permission in Principle (PIP), as provided for in the Town and
Country Planning (Permission in Principle) Order 2017.

7.2  The PPG advises that this is an alternative way of obtaining planning permission for
housing-led development which separates the consideration of matters of principle from the
technical detail. This consent route has two stages, the first stage establishes whether a site
is suitable in principle, and the second stage, the technical details consent, is where the
detailed development proposals are assessed.

7.3  The current application is the first stage of the process and seeks solely to establish whether
the site is suitable in principle for the provision of between 1 and 7 dwellings.

7.4  The Government’s guidance sets out that the scope of the first stage of permission in
principle is limited to the location, land use and amount of development. The site layout,
design, access, landscaping, drainage and any other relevant technical matters would be
considered at the 'technical details' stage.

8. Evaluation
Five Year Housing Supply

8.1  The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply
of deliverable housing sites (or a four year supply if applicable). Where local authorities
cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11 of the
NPPF sets out that housing policies contained within development plans should not be
considered up-to-date.

8.2  Further to the recent Trumans Farm, Gotherington Appeal decision (ref. 22/00650/FUL), and

subsequently published Tewkesbury Borough Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement
October 2023, the Council’s position is that it cannot at this time demonstrate a five year
supply of deliverable housing land. The published position is that the Council’s five year
supply of deliverable housing sites is 3.4 years supply of housing land. Officers consider this
shortfall is significant. The Council’s policies for the provision of housing are therefore out of
date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF.

27



8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies and states that where policies which are
most important for determining the application are out of date, permission should be granted
unless: i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or ii) any adverse impacts
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole

Location - Principle of development

Policy SP1 (The Need for New Development) of the JCS states that provision will be made
for 35,175 new homes, within existing urban areas through District Plans, existing
commitments, urban extensions, and strategic allocations. Policy SP2 (Distribution of New
Development) amongst other requirements, states that dwellings will be provided through
existing commitments, development at Tewkesbury town, in line with its role as a market
town, smaller scale development meeting local needs at Rural Service Centres and Service
Villages. Tredington is in the remainder of the rural area, where Policy SD10 (Residential
Development) will apply for proposals for new residential development.

Policy SD10 of the JCS states that new housing will be planned in order to deliver the
scale and distribution of development set out in Policies SP1 and SP2. Para 4. of SD10 is
relevant to this application where, since being in a rural area, housing development on
other sites will only be permitted where:

- ltis for affordable housing on a rural exception site in accordance with Policy SD12,
or;

- It is infilling within the existing built up areas of the City of Gloucester, the Principal
Urban Area of Cheltenham or Tewkesbury Borough's towns and villages except
where otherwise restricted by policies within District plans, or;

- Itis brought forward through Community Right to Build Orders, or;

- There are other specific exceptions / circumstances defined in district or
neighbourhood.

In terms of JCS requirements, the proposed development does not meet any of the
exception criteria of SD10 and is therefore contrary to the requirements of SP1 and SP2.

Policy RES1 (Housing Allocations) of the adopted TBP sets out allocated sites for residential
(and mixed use) development. The application site is not allocated for residential
development and is therefore contrary to Policy RESL1.

Policy RES2 of the TBP states that within the defined settlement boundaries of the
Tewkesbury Town Area, the Rural Service Centres, the Service Villages and the Urban
Fringe Settlements (which are shown on the policies map) the principle of residential
development is acceptable subject to the application of all other policies in the Local Plan.

Tredington does not have a settlement boundary therefore the development is contrary to
the provisions of Policy RES2. Tredington does not fall within the settlement hierarchy of the
adopted TBP and is neither a market town, rural service centre or service village. For the
purposes of the TBP, Tredington is a rural settlement, where Policy RES3 (New Housing
Outside Settlement Boundaries) and Policy RES4 (New Housing at other Rural settlements)
are relevant.

28



8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

The proposed indicative development does not fall within any of its exceptions and is
therefore contrary to Policy RES3.

Policy RES4 states that only very small scale residential development will be acceptable in
principle, within and adjacent to the built up area. There are further limitations, namely:

a) ‘it is of a scale that is proportionate to the size and function of the settlement and
maintains or enhances sustainable patterns of development;

b) it does not have an adverse cumulative impact on the settlement having regard to
other developments permitted during the plan period; as a general indication no
more than 5% growth will be allowed;

c) it complements the form of the settlement and is well related to existing buildings
within the settlement;

d) the site of the proposed development is not of significant amenity value or makes a
significant contribution to the character and setting of the settlement in its
undeveloped state;

e) the proposal would not result in the coalescence of settlements

f) the site is not located in the Green Belt, unless the proposal would involve limited
infilling in a village, limited affordable housing for local community needs (in
accordance with Policy RES6) or any other exceptions explicitly stated within the
National Planning Policy.”

The development proposes between 1-7 dwellings. At the lower end of this range, (subject
to other criteria which also apply) development may be considered small in scale. Relative
to Tredington, 7 dwellings would not be considered small in scale.

The application site is located to the north of the linear built-up area of Tredington, where
either 1 or 7 dwellings if permitted could be positioned. However, the site is separated from
the core of the village by the church which provides a transition to the open countryside
within which the application site is most closely related. Therefore, officers are of the opinion
that the site is not located within and adjacent to the built up area of Tredington.

Several representations have been submitted which describe the linear pattern of existing
development as a desirable character of Tredington. From Apple Tree Cottage at the south
end of Tredington, to the existing development centred on St Johns Court (immediately
north west of the Church), the settlement has a well-defined boundary where it borders
agricultural land. The characteristic of this part of Tredington reinforces the linear pattern of
development overall. Regardless of the scale of development, any additional housing
outside of the existing pattern, would not complement the form of the settlement and would
not relate to existing buildings within the settlement, contrary to limitation (c) of Policy RES4.
Further, development of any scale would not enhance the sustainable pattern of
development in Tredington, contrary to Policy RES4 limitation (a).

For the above reasons, the proposed development is also considered contrary to Policy SD4
(Design Requirements) of the adopted JCS where it seeks to respect the character of, the
site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness, and addressing the urban
structure and grain of the locality in terms of street pattern, layout, mass and form.

Location — Heritage Impact
Chapter 16 of the NPPF seeks to conserve the historic environment in a manner appropriate

to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of
existing and future generations.

29



8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

Further, when determining planning applications this authority has a duty under Section
16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have regard to
the desirability of preserving listed buildings, their features of special architectural or historic
interest and their setting.

Paragraph 200 of the NPPF requires an applicant to describe the significance of any
heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting.

Paragraph 205 of the NPPF explains that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm,
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Substantial harm to Grade 1 listed
buildings should be wholly exceptional.

The Church of St John the Baptist is Grade | Listed and dates from the 12th Century and
was partially rebuilt in the 13th century. Externally it features an early tympanum above the
North Door and a fine and unusual timber framed bell tower rebuilt in 1883. The associated
churchyard contains several Grade Il listed headstones and monuments, including a
Scheduled 14th Century cross. The church sits in a churchyard adjacent to the proposal
site. The church currently overlooks open countryside to the East and there is the remains of
a processional avenue leading south towards the proposal site lined with box and yew trees.

The significance of the church lies in its age, historic fabric, features and community value. It
is a country church serving a local settlement within a rural setting. The development of the
adjacent land would enclose the church from its historic connection with the open
countryside and dilute a strong aspect of its setting. Even if mitigation in terms of planting is
offered it is likely that a sense of enclosure and separation from the rural landscape would
be perceivable and detrimental.

A Permission in Principle (PIP) application was refused by the Council under 22/00791/PIP
at this site for one of the following reasons:

“The proposed development of between 1 and 9 dwellings would cause unacceptable and
unjustified harm to the historic significance and setting of the Grade 1 listed Church of St
John the Baptist, contrary to the NPPF, Policies SD4 and SD8 of the adopted Joint Core
Strategy (2011-2031), and Policy HERZ2 of the adopted Tewkesbury Borough Plan (2011-
2031). There are no other material considerations of sufficient weight in favour of
development.”

(Emphasis Added)

The new proposal has reduced the total number of dwellings from 9 to 7 at the maximum
end of the PIP. Furthermore, the applicant has submitted a Historic Environment
Assessment (HEA) prepared by Heritage Archaeology (February 2024). This report has
been reviewed and assessed by the Council’'s Conservation Officer and by Historic England.

The Council’'s Conservation officer considers the proposal in principle to cause a moderate
degree of less than substantial harm to the significance and setting of the Grade | Listed
church. As such the proposal would be contrary to national and local heritage policy and
should be refused.

30



8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

Paragraph 205 states that in considering the impact of proposed development on
significance, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation and that the more
important the asset the greater the weight should be. Church of St John the Baptist is Grade
I, and as such is in the top 2% of listed buildings and is considered to be a heritage asset of
the highest significance. Paragraph 206 goes on to say that clear and convincing
justification is needed if there is loss or harm.

Historic England agrees with the conclusions of the HEA in that the principle of developing
the site with residential dwellings would result in less than substantial harm to the heritage
significance of the Grade | Church, and that a mitigated scheme is likely to result in at most
at the lower end of that scale of effects. While considering the mitigation measures
highlighted on the masterplan, and in the absence of detailed information, officers would
conclude and concur with the submitted HEA, that the principle would result in a degree of
harm, albeit less than substantial, under the definition of the NPPF.

Given both Historic England and the Conservation Officer consider the proposal will lead to
a less than substantial harm, the proposal needs to be weighed against the public benefits
as set out by paragraph 208 of the NPPF.

Public Benefits

Paragraph 208 of the NPPF 2023 states:

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of
a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.”

Based on the information submitted with this application, the applicant believes the proposal
would provide the following public benefits:

1. The delivery of housing and contribution to the Councils shortage in relation to a 5
Year Housing Land Supply.

2. The provision of 40% affordable housing which would equate to 3 units if the
development provided 7 units.

3. The provision of 10% Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG).

The Council have reviewed the public benefits put forward by the applicant and consider
that they do not outweigh the less than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage
asset. Taking each benefit in turn:

1. The application seeks permission in principle for the erection of between 1 — 7
dwellings. As such the applicant could proceed with 1 dwelling or the maximum of 7.
Taking the maximum provision of 7 dwellings, the Council give this benefit limited
weight as the provision of 7 dwellings would not provide a significant contribution
towards the shortage of houses.

2. The provision of 40% affordable housing is a policy requirement. It is recognised that
there is a Borough wide need for affordable housing and therefore the proposed
development would contribute to this need.

3. The provision of 10% BNG is a requirement for all small sites from 2" April 2024.
However, this application is a PIP and no details have been provided regarding this
element as it would be agreed via the technical details stage. As such, in the
absence of any information, the Council cannot give this perceived benefit any
weight as there is no guarantee that 10% BNG can be achieved on site.

31



8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

8.38

While appreciating there are some public benefits to the scheme in relation to the provision
of market and affordable housing, the Council do not consider these public benefits to
outweigh the less than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage asset. As
discussed above, the neighbouring property is a Grade 1 Listed Building and as such is in
the top 2% of listed buildings and is considered to be a heritage asset of the highest
significance.

Location — Conclusion

As set out above, the proposed development would result in the creation of housing outside
of the existing pattern, would not complement the form of the settlement and would not
relate to existing buildings within the settlement, contrary to limitation (c) of Policy RES4.
Further, development of any scale would not enhance the sustainable pattern of
development in Tredington, contrary to Policy RES4 limitation (a).

The proposed development of between 1 and 7 dwellings conflicts with the Council's
settlement strategy and does not meet any of the Council’'s exceptions to the presumption
against new housing development in rural areas. The proposed development is therefore
contrary to the NPPF, Policies SP1, SP2 and SD10 of the adopted Joint Core Strategy
(2011-2031), and Policies RES1, RES2, RES3 and RES4 of the adopted Tewkesbury
Borough Plan (2011-2031).

In relation to Heritage, the proposal will lead to a less than substantial harm and the public
benefits of the scheme do not outweigh the harm to the to the significance of the heritage
asset.

The proposed development of between 1 and 7 dwellings would cause unacceptable and
unjustified harm to the historic significance and setting of the Grade 1 listed Church of St
John the Baptist, contrary to the NPPF, Policies SD4 and SD8 of the adopted Joint Core
Strategy (2011-2031), and Policy HER2 of the adopted Tewkesbury Borough Plan (2011-
2031). There are no other material considerations of sufficient weight in favour of
development.

Land Use

The guidance sets out that housing led development is an accepted land use for the PIP
application process.

While residential use is acceptable for the PIP process, the proposal is in conflict with JCS
Policies SD4 and SD10 and Policies RES1, RES2, RES3 and RES5 of the adopted
Tewkesbury Borough Plan.

Amount

JCS Policy SD4 provides that new development should respond positively to, and respect
the character of, the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness, and
addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality in terms of street pattern, layout,
mass and form. It should be of a scale, type, density and materials appropriate to the site
and its setting.

32



8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

8.44

Criterion 6 of Policy SD10 ‘Residential Development’ of the JCS states the residential
development should seek to achieve maximum density compatible with good design, the
protection of heritage assets, local amenity, the character and quality of the local
environment, and the safety and convenience of the local and strategic road network.

The application proposes between 1 and 7 dwellings to be accommodated on site.
Notwithstanding the comments above and its conflict with the development plan, it is
considered that the plot is of a sufficient size to accommodate between 1 and 7 dwellings.

Affordable Housing

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that the planning system needs to perform a number of
roles, including a social role in supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
providing a supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations.

Policy SD12 of the JCS and Policy RES12 of the TBLP requires 40% of the proposed
houses to be secured as affordable housing given this site is within a rural area and could
provide 6 or 7 units. Policy SD12 of the JCS requires affordable housing to be provided on
site and to be seamlessly integrated and distributed throughout the development scheme.

The applicant is proposing to provide 40% AH for this application. The Council’s Affordable
Housing Officer has reviewed the proposal and a provision of 3 on site AH units would be
required if 7 units were to be provided. The preferred tenures would be 2 Social Rent and 1
Shared Ownership. Should there be no interest from Registered Social Landlords then the
Council would accept three Discount Market Sale units as an alternative, to be sold at 75%
of market value with that condition held in perpetuity.

However, these details cannot be secured at the PIP stage given the PIP only grants a
range of units, 1-7. Therefore, the affordable housing provision would be secured at the
Technical Details stage if permission in principle was granted for this application.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be
had to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70(2) of
the Act provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the
development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.

The application site is not allocated for housing development and does not fall within a
defined settlement boundary as required by Policy RES 2 of the TBP. Regardless of the
scale of development, any additional housing outside of the existing pattern, would not
complement the form of the settlement and would not relate to existing buildings within the
settlement, contrary to limitation (c) of Policy RES4. Further, development of any scale
would not enhance the sustainable pattern of development in Tredington, contrary to Policy
RES4 limitation (a).

Furthermore, the Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable
housing sites, having a significant shortfall at 3.24 years of deliverable supply, the most
important policies for determining the application are deemed to be out of date and less
weight can be given to them. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies.

33



9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development indicates
that permission should be granted unless policies for protecting areas or assets of particular
importance in the NPPF provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposed, or
any adverse impacts of permitting the development would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF confirms that policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets
of particular importance includes designated heritage assets.

Heritage Asset

The proposed development has been reviewed by Historic England and the Conservation
Officer with both parties considering the proposal would lead to a less than substantial harm
and as such the proposal needs to be weighed against the public benefits as set out by
paragraph 208 of the NPPF.

While appreciating there are some public benefits to the scheme in relation to the provision
of market and affordable housing, the Council do not consider these public benefits to
outweigh the less than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage asset. As
discussed above, the neighbouring property is a Grade 1 Listed Building and as such is in
the top 2% of listed buildings and is considered to be a heritage asset of the highest
significance.

In light of this, there is a clear reason to refuse the application in accordance with paragraph
11di and footnote 7 of the NPPF. The tilted balance is therefore not engaged.

Benefits

The public benefits of the proposal relate to, amongst others, the delivery of 1-7 dwelling
houses, provision of affordable housing, new construction jobs, increased economically
active population, and the associated social and economic benefits through construction and
tree planting through the soft landscaping proposals.

Given that these benefits are directly related to the development, to make the proposal
acceptable in planning terms, officers afford these benefits limited weight.

Harms

The proposed development of between 1 and 7 dwellings conflicts with the Council’s
settlement strategy and does not meet any of the Council’s exceptions to the presumption
against new housing development in rural areas. The proposed development is therefore
contrary to the NPPF, Policies SP1, SP2 and SD10 of the adopted Joint Core Strategy
(2011-2031), and Policies RES1, RES2, RES3 and RES4 of the adopted Tewkesbury
Borough Plan (2011-2031).

The proposed development of between 1 and 7 dwellings would cause unacceptable and
unjustified harm to the historic significance and setting of the Grade 1 listed Church of St
John the Baptist, contrary to the NPPF, Policies SD4 and SD8 of the adopted Joint Core
Strategy (2011-2031), and Policy HER?2 of the adopted Tewkesbury Borough Plan (2011-
2031). There are no other material considerations of sufficient weight in favour of
development.

34



Neutral

9.13 This application is a PIP and therefore no other material planning considerations have been
assessed bar the suitability of the site for the principle of 1-7 dwellings.

Overall Conclusion

9.14 As the Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply as such the approach
to decision making, the ‘tilted balance’ set out in paragraph 11 of the Framework would
be engaged as a starting point. However, this is a case where the policies of the
Framework relating to the setting of a designated heritage asset provide clear reasons for
refusing the proposal. It would therefore follow that paragraph 11 of the Framework would
not weigh in favour of the proposal.

9.15 Having regard to paragraph 11(d)(i) of the NPPF and having applied the policies in the
NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance, there is a clear reason for
refusing the development. The ‘tilted balance’ is not therefore engaged.

9.16 For the above reasons, the proposal would not accord with the development plan when
considered as a whole and, having regard to all material considerations including the
NPPF, there are clear reasons for refusing the development proposed, and as such it
would not constitute sustainable development and is therefore recommended for refusal.

10. Recommendation

10.1 Itis recommended that the application be REFUSED.

11. Reasons for Refusal

1 The proposed development of between 1 and 7 dwellings conflicts with the Council’s
settlement strategy and does not meet any of the Council’s exceptions to the presumption
against new housing development in rural areas. The proposed development is therefore
contrary to the NPPF, Policies SP1, SP2 and SD10 of the adopted Joint Core Strategy
(2011-2031), and Policies RES1, RES2, RES3 and RES4 of the adopted Tewkesbury
Borough Plan (2011-2031).

2 The proposed development of between 1 and 7 dwellings would cause unacceptable and
unjustified harm to the historic significance and setting of the Grade 1 listed Church of St
John the Baptist, contrary to the NPPF, Policies SD4 and SD8 of the adopted Joint Core
Strategy (2011-2031), and Policy HER2 of the adopted Tewkesbury Borough Plan (2011-
2031). There are no other material considerations of sufficient weight in favour of
development.

12. Informatives

1 In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has
sought to determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-
application advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the
Council’s website relevant information received during the consideration of the
application thus enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was
proceeding.

35



2

For avoidance of doubt the submitted Concept Masterplan has been treated as being for
illustrative purposes only

36



Boundary

title

Contract Plan

purpose of issue: Legal

scale 1:1250@ A4

projecttte  Bozzard Lane

date  Mar 22 Tredington
Blueprint Architecture © ::L:; 3}2;’22 2;;;25' drawn by drawing no. rev.
Willow End, Stoke Orchard Road, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, Glos, GL52 7DG svrre\ill ;‘:vow@greﬁz?rmﬁﬁfg&k checked by C H L2007_CP_001

37

(wn) wed

Dlugpant

Architecture



Issue:

8¢

© Pegasus Planning Group Limited. © Crown copyright and database rights OS 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449, EmapSite Licence number 0100031673. Terms & Conditions @ pegasusgroup.co.uk

25m

]

LAND NORTH OF TREDINGTON - CONCEPT MASTERPLAN

| PEGASUSGROUP.CO.UK | TEAM/DRAWN BY:LM | APPROVED BY:EJT | DATE: 20/12/2023 | SCALE: 11000@A3 | DRWG: P20-2538_DE_0O1_C_02 | CLIENT: BAYHILL PROPERTY |

ey
m
|.-$

N

RED LINE

EXISTING BUILT FORM

EXISTING PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

PROPOSED ACCESS

INDICATIVE BUILDING FRONTAGE

NEVIRSIZZIN

-

VIEW PROTECTED TO AND FROM CHURCH

\

BUFFER ZONE

PEGASUS
GROUPJ



Agenda Item 5b

Planning Committee

Date 23 April 2024

Case Officer Erica Buchanon

Application No. 23/00275/APP

Site Location Plots 3 & 4 Gloucester Business Park

Proposal Reserved matters application in relation to Plots 3 and 4 for the erection

of employment development of 16,481sgm (GIA), access
arrangements, servicing, parking including cycle provisions, electric
vehicle charging and landscape provision comprising of Class B2 and
B8 development with ancillary offices, alongside discharge of pre-
commencement conditions 8 and 11 to planning permission reference

11/01155/FUL.
Ward Churchdown Brookfield With Hucclecote
Parish Hucclecote
Appendices Amended Plans Received March 2024

Post-committee Response letter from Applicant - 14" March 2024
PLOO3B — Site Location Plan

PL 008B — Site Sections Sheet 1

PL 33A — Unit 3.1 Proposed Elevations & Sections
PL 040C - Plot 4 Site Plan

PL 045A — Unit 4.1 Elevations & Sections

PL 046A — Unit 4.2 Elevations & Sections

PL 140C - Landscaping 1 of 3

PL 141A — Landscaping 2 of 3

PL 142B — Landscaping 3 of 3

201A — Distances to adjoining properties

203A — Comparison building heights

Original Plans

11537 _PL_003A Plots 3 and 4 Site Location Plan
11537_PL_030A Plot 3 Site Plan

11537 _PL_040B Plot 4 Site Plan

033 Unit 3 Elevations

045 Unit 4.1 Elevations

046 Unit 4.2 Elevations

Reason for Deferred at February Planning Committee & Parish Council objection.
Referral to
Committee

Recommendation Delegated Approve

39



Site Location

e

.| an (' D1

COMMITTEE UPDATE (for 23 April 2024 meeting)

This application was deferred at the February 2024 committee meeting for a Planning Committee
Site Visit to assess the size and scale of the proposal and the impact on residential amenity.

Since the February committee meeting the applicant has reviewed the proposal and revised the
scheme as follows:

e Building 3.1: Reduction in height by 2m to 10.5m to the eaves / 12.5m to top of parapet /
13.5m to the ridge.

e Building 4.1: Reduction in height by 1m to 11.5m to the eaves / 13.5m to top of parapet /
14.5m to the ridge.

e Building 4.2: Reduction in height by 1m to 11.5m to the eaves / 13.5m to top of parapet /
14.87m to the ridge.

e It is also proposed to relocate the access to Building 4.2 further south from the signalised
junction and add in a footpath to the south of Lobley’s Drive

Consultation Responses

The Local Highways Authority were notified of the receipt of amended drawings. Their observations
are awaited. An update will be provided at committee.

The council's drainage adviser — has requested further information to clarify the surface water flood
risk of the site, water management and Suds details. An update will be provided at committee.

Third Party Comments/Observations

The occupiers of adjoining properties were notified of the receipt of amended plans. In response

40



four representation have been received and the comments are summarised below:

- Nos. 2-8 and 44,46,50,52,54,56 Martlet Way will lose all natural light
- Buildings would be significantly higher than the houses

- Would be overbearing

- Buildings remain a considerable size & out of character with the area
- Smaller buildings with bigger buffer would be more appropriate

- Parking is insufficient and workers would park in surrounding estate
- Noise from HGV’s

- Noise from staff on 3am breaks, picnic benches would encourage congregation
- Pollution and disturbance

- Disturbance from existing sites

- Traffic backlog from HGV’s that can’t access yards

- Roads can’t cope with more HGV’s/congestion

- HGV damage to local roads

- Highway safety

- Impact on landscape and character of Coopers Edge

- Access onto Gambet Road insinuates it is part of the housing estate
- School and local busses stop on Gambet Road

- Impact on wildlife & newts

- Outline showed buffer and buildings set farther away

Conclusions

While officers considered that the original application as submitted would have resulted in an
acceptable development, the applicant has nevertheless revised the scheme principally to reduce
the overall heights of buildings in response to member and local concerns. It is considered that
these amendments are appropriate and would result in an improvement to the proposed
development.

The additional objections are noted however it is considered that given the design, siting and scale,
the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of adjoining
dwellings and the proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning terms.

Recommendation

It is recommended that authority be DELEGATED to the Development Management Team
Manager to APPROVE the application subject to no adverse observations from the Local Highway
Authority and Drainage Officers, the Conditions set out below and any additional or amended
Conditions following advice from consultees.

Amended Condition 1 — (to reflect the revised drawings) and conditions set out at the end of this
report.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
documents:

Drawing Number 11537_PL_003B Plots 3 and 4 Site Location Plan

Drawing Number 11537 PLO30A Plot 3 Site Location Plan

Drawing number 11537 PL0O40B Plot 4 Site Plan

Drawing number 11537_PL_031 Unit 3 Ground Floor Plan

-Drawing Number 11537 _PL_032 Unit 3.1 First Floor Plan

-Drawing Number 11537_PL_033 Unit 3.1 Elevations and Section

-Drawing Number 11537_PL_034 Unit 3.1 Roof Plan

-Drawing Number 11537 _PL_041 Unit 4.1 Ground Floor Plan

41



-Drawing Number 11537_PL_042 Unit 4.1 First Floor Plan
-Drawing Number 11537_PL_043 Unit 4.2 Ground Floor Plan
Drawing Number 11537_PL_044 Unit 4.2 First Floor Plan

Drawing Number 11537 _PL_045 Unit 4.1 Elevations and Section
Drawing Number 11537_PL_046 Unit 4.2 Elevations and Section
Drawing Number 11537_PL_047 Unit 4.1 Roof Plan

Drawing Number 11537_PL_048 Unit 4.2 Roof Plan

Drawing Number 11537_PL_130 Plot 3 Landscape GA sheet 1 of 2
Drawing Number 11537_PL_131 Plot 3 Landscape GA sheet 2 of 2
Drawing Number 11537 _PL_140 Plot 4 Landscape GA sheet 1 of 3
Drawing Number 11537 _PL_141 Plot 4 Landscape GA sheet 2 of 3
Drawing Number 11537_PL_142 Plot 4 Landscape GA sheet 3 of 3
Drawing Number 2663-P-12 Plot 3 Tree Protection Plan

Drawing Number 2664-P-12 Plot 4 Tree Protection Plan

Energy and Sustainability Statement by Cudd Bentley Consulting Ltd March 2023

External Impact Lighting assessment, Document Ref: 6365-CBC-OR-RP-E-003 Revision PO3
dated 16/11/2023 by Cudd Bentley.

Noise Impact Assessment by Spectrum Plots 3 and 4 ref DP834/22259/Rev. 2 dated 09/02/2023
Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy (EMES) report (Focus Environmental Consultants,
November 2023)

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Focus Environmental Consultants, February 2023)
Ecological Impact assessment by Focus Environmental Consultants July 2023)

Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Opinion report (Focus Environmental Consultants, July
2023)

except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this permission.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans and
documents.

PREVIOUS REPORT TO COMMITTEE FEBRUARY 2024

1. The Proposal

Full application details are available to view online at:
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=summary&keyVal=RRMFA9QDGCV00

1.1 The application is for the approval of Reserved Matters (in relation to Plots 3 and 4) for the
Erection of Employment Development of 16,481sgm (GIA), access arrangements, servicing,
parking including cycle provisions, electric vehicle charging and landscape provision
comprising of Class B2 (general industrial) and B8 (Storage and distribution) Development
with ancillary offices. The reserved matters being considered relate to scale, appearance,
layout, access and landscaping.

1.2 In addition to seeking approval of reserved matters, there is a requirement to submit details
pursuant to Conditions 8 and 11 of the relevant consent ref 11/01155/FUL relating to
drainage and landscaping as part of the reserved matters application. The relevant
conditions state:

8. The reserved matters submitted pursuant to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by a

42


http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;

13

14

15

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

sustainable drainage scheme for the relevant part of the development. The drainage
scheme shall be in accordance with the approved Surface Water Drainage Strategy for the
whole site (Ref: JLWi/28049/02 Enc by Mouchel Parkman dated 3rd October 2005). The
approved scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the
first occupation of that part of the development and the scheme shall be managed and
maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved details.

11. The details of landscaping required to be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority in accordance with Condition 1 above shall include indications of all
existing trees and hedgerows on that part of the development and details of any to be
retained together with measures for their protection during the course of development.

Details in respect of these two conditions have been submitted with this application.

The proposal is for the erection 3 warehouses totalling approximately 17,010m2 GEA of
modern flexible employment floor space. The respective floor areas for each unit are Unit 3 -
4,287 square metres, unit 4.1 — 895 square metres and unit 4.2 - 7,828 square metres. For
each unit, around 93% of the total area will be at ground level consisting mainly of open
space suitable for a variety of employment uses, and circa 7% of the floor area will be at first
floor which is proposed for ancillary office accommodation.

The building on Plot 3 is on a site of circa 1.1ha, which represents a site density of 42% and
the buildings on Plot 4 are on a site of circa 2.9ha, which represents a site density of 43%.

Provision has been made for 39 car parking spaces (including 4 EV charging spaces) and
14 cycle spaces for the Unit on Plot 3.

Plot 4 would provide a total of 129 car parking spaces and 40 cycle spaces. This provision
is split by providing 50 car parking spaces (including 6 EV charging spaces) and 16 cycle
spaces for Unit 4.1, and 79 car parking spaces (including 8 EV charging spaces) and 24
cycle spaces for Unit 4.2. These car parking spaces include accessible and car share
spaces proportionate to the units and the cycle spaces will be provided in a covered cycle
shelter near the building main entrance, in compliance with LPA requirements.

The service yard areas are self-contained and sized to reflect the requirements of each
building floorspace, incorporating the required number of level access loading and dock
levellers and the necessary operational manoeuvring into the design, with 40 metre deep
service yards.

Plot 4’s two separate units are accessed from individual accesses for each unit formed at
either end of the site from Lobleys Drive. There are two additional accesses to be formed
from Gambet Road and Buccaneer Avenue to give an additional access to pedestrians,
cyclists, and the employeel/visitor car park to each of the units. Plot 3’s service yard and
non-HGV parking is located on the site’s frontage to Hurricane Road with a secondary
access to be formed for employees/visitors, cyclists and pedestrians from Buccaneer
Avenue.

The proposed buildings are overall up to 15.5 metres in height to ridge level and have a
footprints of circa 4,287 square metres for Unit 3, circa 4,895 square metres for Unit 4.1 and
7,828 square metres for Unit 4.2. The scale of these proposed buildings is comparable but
smaller than nearby developments in Gloucester Business Park. The buildings scale,
footprint and height are significantly less than those in the immediate vicinity, the footprint of
the largest Unit 4.1 being approximately 2.5 times smaller than the neighbouring

43



2.

Laithwaite’s warehouse by comparison. Each warehouse element has a parapet height of
circa 14.5 metres and lower than the ridge to reduce the perceived height and building mass
along the site boundaries.

Site Description

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

The site forms part of the Gloucester Business Park (GBP), which was granted outline
planning permission for B1, B2 and B8 development in March 1992 (ref: 88T/7689/01/01).
The permission was subsequently renewed in January 2001 to allow a further 10 years for
the submission of reserved matters for the remaining commercial developments on the site
(ref: 01/7689/0095/FUL). In 2012 a further extension of time was granted for the submission
of reserved matters applications for the remaining commercial plots up to March 2026 (ref:
11/01155/FUL). Gloucester Business Park is a strategic employment site in the region
covering over 111ha of land with a variety of uses comprising a mix of office, industrial, retail
and leisure. The site was formerly the factory and test airfield for the Gloster Aircraft
Company until 1965 and has been established as a business park since Arlington began
developing it in the 1990s.

The application site consists of undeveloped land known as Plots 3 and 4 situated
immediately south of Lobleys Drive and east of Gambet Road, defining the southern
boundary of the business park. Each plot consists of levelled vacant development land, its
northern and southern boundaries feature existing landscape buffers with established trees
and hedge planting. Currently there are no existing access point to either of the plots. There
are existing residential properties to the rear of both plots. There are no Listed Buildings
within or close to the site and the site is not located within a Conservation Area. There are
no Tree Preservation Orders affecting the site. The site falls within Flood Zone 1 which is
the zone at the lowest risk of flooding.

Plot 3 is located to the southern side of Gloucester Business Park (GBP) and comprises a
lhectare parcel of land. It is bound to the south by a footpath serving existing residential
properties located off Rodmarton Close and Martlet Way. To the east the site is bounded by
an existing industrial/ warehouse unit, Elite Extrusion Die Ltd, to the west is Buccaneer
Avenue which leads to the north to GBP and to the south to the existing residential area.
The northern boundary of the site is formed by Hurricane Road. Plot 4 is located adjacent to
plot 3 on the southern side of GBP and comprises of a site of approximately 2.9hectares.
The site is bound to its northern, eastern and western sides by existing roads, namely
Lobleys Drive, Bucanneer Avenue and Gambet Road.

Plot 3 site is dominated by species poor semi improved neutral grassland. There is a tree
line boundary to the north and south. Plot 4 site is also dominated by species poor semi
improved neutral grassland. There is a tree line boundary to the north. A wet woodland
fringe along the Wotton Brook tributary runs along the south of both plots.

44



3. Relevant Planning History

Application
Number

Proposal

Decision

Decision
Date

88T/7689/01/01

Outline application for Class B1, B2 and B8
Business/industrial use and residential
development on 107ha. Construction of new
access roads.

Permit

10.03.1992

01/7689/0095/FUL

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission
88T/7689/01/01.

Permit

25.10.2001

11/01155/FUL

Proposed Class B1, B2 and B8
Business/industrial use (Extension to time limit for
the submission of reserved matters applications
for planning permission ref: 01/7689/0095/FUL as
originally permitted by application ref:
88T/7689/01/01)

Permit

09.10.2012

23/00276/APP

Reserved Matters Application in relation to Plot 5
for the Erection of Employment Development of
6,773 sgm (GIA), access arrangements,
servicing, parking including cycle provisions,
electric vehicle charging and landscape provision
comprising of Class B2 and B8 Development with
ancillary offices, alongside discharge of pre-
commencement conditions 5, 6, 8, 9 and 11 to
planning permission reference 11/01155/FUL.

Pending

15/01378/0OUT

Development of up to 106 dwellings with
associated access, public open space,
landscaping and other infrastructure.

Not
proceed
with.

4. Consultation Responses

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at

https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

4.1  Hucclecote Parish Council — Objection.
- Concern about the visual impact, size and height of the units
- Overshadowing on adjoining residential development.
- Concern expressed about additional vehicle movements and congestion at peak times.
- Wish to see photo voltaic cells on entire roofs and buildings constructed to BREEAM
excellent standard.

4.2  Brockworth Parish Council — Objection.
- Concern over height of buildings and proximity to residential development, causing
overshadowing.

- Concern over traffic impact.
- Parish would wish to see more PV’s installed as part of proposals.

4.3 Environmental Health — No objection subject to the applicants submitted lighting report
being implemented.

- The applicants submitted noise report is considered satisfactory subject to the

45



https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

recommendations being implemented.

4.4  Tree Officer — No objection subject to implementation of applicants submitted landscape
and tree planting scheme.

45  Ecology Advisor — No objection subject to conditions.

4.7  Highway Authority- No objections in principle - further comments awaited.
4.8 Drainage Officer - Comments awaited.

49 Lead Local Flood Authority — No comment.

4.10 Archaeology - No comments received.

4.11 NatureSpace — No objection subject to conditions.

5. Third Party Comments/Observations

Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

5.1 The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21
days, neighbour notification letters and the publication of a press notice.

5.2 30 representations have been received objecting to the scheme and raising the following
concerns:-

Increase of traffic on Lobleys Drive

No need for the proposals, vacant warehouses on GBP.

Proximity to residential occupiers detrimental by reason of loss of light and
overbearing

Detrimental by reason of scale and style

Insufficient buffer for wildlife

Noise & pollution

Increase use of weight limited bridge over motorway using Lobley’s Drive
Loss of outlook

Insufficient drainage in times of heavy rainfall

Small number of PV’s

Neglect to explore alternative uses

Effect on house prices/sales

Negative effect on light to residential properties

Inconsistent with existing area by reason of materials and size

Detriment to wildlife

Detriment to existing townscape

5.3 1 letter of support from the Local Economic Partnership stating

The development proposals will provide for a good mix of much needed high
guality commercial/employment space for the county in a well-established and
well-connected location.

New jobs being created in close proximity to a large residential district providing
opportunities for sustainable/active travel to work for local residents.

46


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

Commend the attention to the green / landscaped features.

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strateqy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

- Policy SD1(Employment -except Retail Development)
- Policy SD3 (Sustainable Design and Construction)

- Policy SD4(Design Requirements)

- Policy SD6 (Landscape)

- Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)

- Policy SD14(Health Environmental Quality)

- Policy INF1(Transport Network)

- Policy INF2(Flood Risk Management)

- Policy INF3 (Green Infrastructure)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
- Policy EMP 1(Major Employment sites)
- Policy EMP 5(New employment development) (General)
Policy ENV2 (Flood risk and Water management)
- Policy TRAC1(Pedestrian Accessibility)
- Policy TRAC 2(Cycle Network& Infrastructure)
- Policy TRAC 3 (Bus Infrastructure)
- Policy TRAC 9 (Parking Provision)
- Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, geodiversity and Important Natural Features)
- Policy RES 1(Housing Site Allocations)

Neighbourhood Plan

None

Policy Context

7.1

7.2

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of 'made'
Neighbourhood Development Plans.

a7



7.3

7.4

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and its associated Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

Evaluation

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

Principle of development

The application site lies comprises an undeveloped parcel of land within Gloucester
Business Park. The site benefits from outline planning permission for class B1, B2 and B8
business/industrial use and therefore the principle of development has already been
established.

Gloucester Business Park is identified as a Major Employment site within Policy EMP1 of
the TBLP and Policy SD1 of the JCS supports employment related development. As the
site forms part of a Strategic employment site with an extant consent for development
matters for consideration of the application is restricted to the specific reserved matters
concerning these plots, which are details of scale, layout, appearance, access, and
landscaping.

As well as being part of the Strategic Employment site the plots have also been identified
under Policy RES1 of the TBLP as site BRO2 Nerva Meadows and allocated for residential
development for 106 dwellings. Both plots were the subject of an outline application in 2015
for residential development (application no.15/01378/OUT). However, the S106 was not
completed and as a result the decision was not issued.

Whilst the site does not benefit from any planning permissions for residential use and
notwithstanding it's status as an allocated site, it should be noted that the extant outline
consent of the Strategic Employment has precedence over its allocation in the plan as a
potential residential site. Furthermore, it is understood that the current owners of the
business park have no commercial interest in housing development and the land is not
available for residential use.

Scale

Policy SD4 of the JCS sets out requirements for scale and high-quality design to new
development and Policy EMP 5 of the TBLP states that development must respect the
character, scale and proportion of the proposal and the surrounding development’s
character. The proposed buildings comprise three units, one of which is detached (unit 3 on
Plot 3) whilst the other two being in close proximity to each other (units 4.1 and 4.2 on Plot
4).

The heights of the existing employment buildings throughout the Business Park range
between circa 16 metres to 24 metres. The proposed buildings are overall up to 15.5
metres in height to ridge level and have footprints of circa 4,287m2 for Unit 3, circa 4,895m2
for Unit 4.1 and 7,828m2 for Unit 4.2. The proposed units are of a smaller scale to those
immediately to the north, in order to respond to the specific plot locations on the edge of
Gloucester Business Park. It is considered that the scheme will provide an acceptable
transition between the larger scale buildings and the residential areas to the south.

48



8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

It is therefore considered that due to the height, width and depth of the buildings they are of
an appropriate scale to the Business Park and due to the location on the peripheral of the
Business Park form a suitable transition from the employment site to the nearby residential
properties.

Layout and Appearance

The layout of the proposed buildings is lengthways (east/west) across the sites and would
serve to provide acoustic screening from any noise created by the employment use of the
sites for the nearby residential properties situated to the south of the sites. This includes the
service yards of all the buildings which are located to the front (north) of the buildings with
vehicular access on to Lobleys Drive.

The proposed scheme comprises employment style buildings consistent with the overall
design of existing employment buildings on GBP. The elevations would comprise of
horizontal profile metal cladding of contrasting colours. The prominent street facing end and
corners to the building would include areas of glazing and the overall finish would result in
buildings of an appropriately high quality and visual interest.

There is a varied palette of materials across the Business Park, ranging from brickwork,
render, coloured composite panels and various forms of cladding. There is no prevailing
character as such it is considered that the proposed materials and colour of the buildings is
consistent with other buildings on the Business Park and is considered to be in accordance
with Policy EMP5 of the TBLP and Policy SD4 of the JCS which requires new buildings on
existing employment sites amongst other things to be of a scale and design to be
compatible with the character of the existing location and its setting.

Landscape and Visual Impact

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF highlights the importance of appropriate and effective
landscaping in achieving well-designed places. This advice is reiterated in JCS Policy SD6
which requires new development proposals to ensure that the design of landscaped areas,
open space and public realm are of high quality. Policy SD4 (iv) of the JCS requires that
new development should ensure that the design of landscaped area, open space and public
realm are of a high quality and Policy LAN2 of the TBLP requires new development amongst
other things for landscaping to be appropriate to and integrated into their existing landscape
setting.

The applicants landscape strategy in the submitted design and access statement seeks to
deliver long-term landscape, biodiversity and sustainability benefits within an established
employment estate. It is proposed that soft landscaping in the form of upright trees and
shrub planting is provided within the site. Planting will be incorporated either side of the new
service road and between car parking areas and service yards. This would provide visual
interest and separation, increasing legibility for users and soften the external areas ensuring
there are no large expanses of hard surfacing.

The Landscape strategy states that planting will be carefully selected to ensure that native
species are incorporated where possible and that slow growing, low maintenance species
are used. This is to enhance the biodiversity of the site and to ensure safety for pedestrian
and vehicle users by avoiding planting affecting visibility in circulation areas. The existing
landscape buffer on the southern boundary of the site is to be retained and enhanced to
ensure compliance with wildlife legislation and provide adequate protection of habitats and
species.

49



8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

The Councils tree officer has raised no objections to the scheme subject to a standard
condition to secure the implementation and maintenance of the proposed landscaping
strategy. It is therefore considered that the proposed landscaping scheme which includes
integrating planting into the existing landscape and the proposed new planting is of an
acceptable and high quality and would be in accordance with policies SD6 and SD 4 of the
JCS, policy LAN2 of the TBLP and the NPPF.

Access and highway safety

The NPPF at Paragraph 115 states that development should only be prevented or refused
on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe, Paragraph 114 of the
NPPF states:

“In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific applications
for development, it should be ensured that:

a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be — or have been
— taken up, given the type of development and its location.

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users;

c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of
associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National Design
Guide and the National Model Design Code; and

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an
acceptable degree.

JCS Policy INF1 requires that developers should provide safe and accessible connections to
the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. Policies TRAC1
and TRAC2 of the TBLP seek to protect and enhance pedestrian and cycle access. Policies
TRACS3 and TRAC9 provide guidance on bus connectivity and parking provision.

As this is a reserved matters application, the highway impact is limited to the suitability of
the site accesses and the internal layout as the principle of the employment land use has
already been established by the granting of the outline consent. As part of the proposal the
applicants are providing EV charging points, cycle stores and separate pedestrian access to
encourage convenient and sustainable modes of transport.

The County Highways Authority has been consulted on the application and having regard to
the Transport Statement and subsequent submitted technical note in June 2023 and
consider that the proposal is acceptable in principle, however the Highway Authority has
recommended that a condition with respect to vision splays on the non-main accesses to
both plots be imposed.

The proposal includes separate vehicular accesses for emergency use only. The precise
details of theses access are being reviewed by the Local Highway Authority and the
applicant to ensure they are satisfactory, and a condition is also recommended to ensure
that the access is for emergency use only. An update will be provided at committee.

50



8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

Residential amenity

Policy SD14 of the JCS requires that new development should not cause harm to local
amenity including the amenity of neighboring occupants. Policy EMP5 of the TBLP states
that development should not have an unacceptable impact on adjacent property and
residential amenity.

As a result of concerns raised by local residents and Parish Councils the applicant
submitted a daylight and sunlight report. The assessment was based on the various
numerical tests laid down in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) guide ‘Site Layout
Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: a guide to good practice, 3rd Edition’ by P J Littlefair
2022. The aim of the assessment is to consider the impact of the development on the light
receivable by the neighbouring properties.

This report was subsequently assessed by an independent specialist on behalf of the
council, who have confirmed that the Daylight and Sunlight Report (Neighbouring
Properties) dated 14" December 2024 adequately addresses concerns and that the
assessment results indicate that there will be no significant daylight and sunlight effects on
adjoining residential properties that would warrant a refusal of the planning application.

The applicant has submitted a noise impact assessment together with an external lighting
assessment and a ground conditions contamination assessment.

The noise assessment states that Predicted Rating Levels from the operation of the three
proposed industrial units at Plots 3 and 4 (and Plot 5 subject of a separate application)
under ‘typical busiest’ scenarios including general site-related activities, fixed plant and
indoor activity do not exceed the existing Background Sound Levels either during the
daytime or night-time. The potential noise impact from the use of the premises is therefore
considered to be low at the nearby noise sensitive receptors (NSR). Accordingly, the use of
the proposed development without any restrictions on hours of operation would not give rise
to a significant risk of disturbance for nearby residents.

The supporting external lighting report produced by Cudd Bentley dated 16" November
2023 notes that a combination of photocells & timeclocks could be installed to control all
external lighting. The time clocks will act as a master control and be set to switch off at times
when the development is not in operation. Outside of these hours photocells will control the
site external lighting according to daylight levels. This would prevent nighttime lighting
pollution and to comply with POL 04/L2A. Localised security lighting to the rear of units
bordering with ecological amenity areas shall utilise integrated local motion control sensors
to minimize the potential for un-necessary illumination of the local vegetation habitat.

It is therefore considered that the proposal would not harm residential amenity in terms of
loss of light, overshadowing or noise and complies with the requirements of Policy SD14 of
the JCS and Policy EMP5 of the TBP.

Drainage and flood risk
JCS Policy INF2 states development proposals must avoid areas at risk of flooding, in
accordance with a risk-based sequential approach that requires new development to

incorporate suitable Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) where appropriate to manage
surface water drainage.

51



8.28

8.29

8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

It was established during the consideration of the outline application that the site is at low
risk of fluvial flooding (Flood Zone 1) and that any surface water drainage issues could be
adequately addressed through an effective SUDS scheme. Planning conditions were
imposed requiring a SUDS scheme for the business park as a whole, including maintenance
and management details. This was conditioned with the renewed consent to be submitted
as part of the reserved matters applications. (Condition 8).

The development is classed as ‘less vulnerable’ usage and the proposed development is in
Flood Zone 1 and therefore a low risk of flooding and meets the Sequential Test. Therefore,
the Exception test is not required.

The current site is classed as greenfield for the purpose of calculating drainage rates. The
proposed Plot 3 development would have an impermeable area of 0.775 hectares and a
permeable are of 0.250 hectares. Levels will be set where possible to follow the contours of
the existing site so as to minimise the requirement for any retaining walls and adhere to best
practice and building regulation design standards.

The total attenuation required for the site is approximately 603 cubic metres which would be
provided via proposed cellular storage crates. The use of SuDS features has been
considered and can be incorporated within the design.

The strategy is to discharge the surface water into the existing watercourse located
southwest of the site. A Qbar discharge rate of 3.4 I/s has been proposed to meet LLFA
requirements. A model simulation has been carried out to ensure that the site meets the
proposed discharge rates on the return periods of 1, 30 and 100 year plus a 40% climate
change. The site does not pose any increased flood risk to the site itself or adjacent
developments and is not susceptible to flooding by other means.

The proposed Plot 4 development will have an impermeable area of 2.405 hectares and a
permeable are of 0.420 hectares. The levels will be set to follow the contours of the existing
site to minimise any surface water flooding from the new development to the drainage
network and ensure that should any flooding occur, it is controlled and kept within the new
development boundaries and does not affect neighbouring properties or highway land.

Storm water on site will be discharged into existing private sewers outside of the site
boundary. Surface water will be designed to cater for storm events up to 1 in 100 Year plus
40% climate change. Foul water will also discharge into the existing highway foul sewers.

The total attenuation required for the site is approximately 1,624 cubic metres, it is provided
via proposed cellular storage crates. The use of SuDS features has been considered and
can be incorporated within the design. The strategy is to discharge the surface water into
the existing watercourse located southwest of the site. A Qbar discharge rate of 9.4l/s has
been proposed to meet LLFA requirements. A model simulation has been carried out to
ensure that the site meets the proposed discharge rates on the return periods of 1, 30 and
100 year plus a 40% climate change. The site does not pose any increased flood risk to the
site itself or adjacent developments and is not susceptible to flooding by other means.

While the LLFA have been consulted they have declined to comment on the application as
the outline was permitted prior to their inception. The proposed drainage details are
therefore being reviewed by the council’s drainage engineer. An update will be provided
at committee.

52



8.37

8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

Biodiversity

The NPPF sets out, inter alia, that when determining planning applications, Local Planning
Authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by encouraging opportunities to
incorporate biodiversity in and around developments, especially where this can secure
measurable gains for biodiversity. Policy SD9 of the JCS seeks to protect and, wherever
possible enhance biodiversity, including wildlife and habitats. Policy NAT1 of the TBLP
states that development proposals that will conserve, and where possible restore and/or
enhance, biodiversity will be permitted.

Plot 3 has a boundary hedgerow along the eastern edge which was assessed as meeting
the criteria of a habitat of principal importance under the NERC Act 2006. The wet woodland
on Plot 3 and Plot 4 was also assessed as meeting the criteria as a habitat of principal
importance under the NERC Act 2006. The submitted Preliminary Ecological Assessment
(PEA) stated that the wet woodland habitats are due to be retained however initially the
hedgerow was to be removed.

A Hedgerow Regulations Assessment report (Focus Environmental Consultants, June 2023)
was submitted and the report concluded that the hedgerow along the eastern site boundary
of Plot 3 did not meet the criteria to be considered an ‘Important’ hedgerow under the
regulations. The submitted report has also stated that notwithstanding this, the hedgerow is
now to be retained under proposed amended plans.

Two Bat Transect Survey Reports have been submitted for Plot 3 (Focus Environmental
Consultants, September 2023) and Plot 4 (Focus Environmental Consultants, September
2023) which provides the results of bat transect and static detector surveys undertaken in
April, July, and September 2023. Bat species recorded during the surveys at both Plot 3 and
Plot 4 included common pipistrelle, soprano pipistrelle, a Myotis species and noctule. The
most commonly recorded species at both plots were common pipistrelle bats, and activity
levels were considered to be low. At Plot 3, four lesser horseshoe passes were also
recorded (this species was not recorded at Plot 4). At Plot 3 and Plot 4, bat activity levels
were higher at the southern site boundaries, and the Bat Transect Survey reports
recommended retaining a dark corridor along the south site boundaries at both Plots, and
retaining, protecting, and buffering trees along southern boundaries.

As such a revised External Impact Lighting Assessment (Cudd Bentley Consulting Ltd,
November 2023) was submitted. The revisions removed external lighting along the south
elevations of the buildings on Plot 3, thereby ensuring a dark corridor is retained along the
south boundary which was found to be used by lesser horseshoe bats, and ensuring the
proposed bat boxes would not be illuminated. External lighting has also been removed from
the south elevation of the buildings on Plot 4, ensuring the wet woodland habitat to the south
will not be illuminated.

In addition to the revised lighting assessment a Revised Ecology Mitigation and
Enhancement Strategy (EMES) report (Focus Environmental Consultants, November 2023)
has been submitted and the proposed bat box locations have been altered to ensure these
features are not illuminated, with four tree-mounted bat boxes proposed along the south
elevation of Plot 4. The council’s ecological adviser has confirmed that the proposed
locations are now suitable. These works can be secured by condition.

53



8.43

8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

8.51

Two Great Crested Newt Survey Report reports have been submitted — one for Plot 3 and
one for Plot 4 (Focus Environmental Consultants, May 2023). The reports included the
results of eDNA surveys undertaken on three waterbodies (Ponds 2, 3 and 4) within 500m of
the site and a positive result was returned for Ponds 3 and 4, with Pond 4 being adjacent to
the Plot 4.

A Natural England Rapid Risk Assessment was undertaken for Plot 3 and Plot 4 and the
results indicated an offence was ‘Likely’ for Plot 3 and ‘Highly Likely’ for Plot 4. The GCN
Survey Report stated a Natural England Mitigation licence or inclusion within the District
Licensing Scheme is required for the proposed development.

The applicant has opted for the District Licensing route administered by NatureSpace who
have confirmed that they have received appropriate information from the applicant and have
recommended necessary conditions to allow for the scheme to be permitted and appropriate
licence to be secured.

No biodiversity net gain (BNG) data has been submitted as the original outline consent was
submitted prior to the introduction of national legislation and policy in the development plan
and therefore does not form part of the consideration for the reserved matters application.

It was note that the application site could impact on the Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area
of Conservation and as such a Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Opinion report
(Focus Environmental Consultants, July 2023) was submitted. The HRA assessment
concluded that the proposed development is not considered to give rise to a ‘likely
significant effect’ on the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC and the Council’s ecological adviser
has confirmed that an Appropriate Assessment is not required.

Subject to compliance with conditions it is considered that the application would have an
acceptable impact on biodiversity.

Energy and Sustainability

The NPPF at section 14 deals with meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and
Coastal change seeking development which increases the use and supply of renewable and
low carbon energy. Policy INF5 of the JCS supports proposals where they are designed to
produce net energy savings. JCS policy SD3 requires development proposals to
demonstrate how development contributes to sustainability by energy efficiency and
adaptable for climate change.

The applicants have submitted an energy and sustainability report in compliance with Policy
SD3 of the JCS, explains that the recommended sustainability features for the development,
which from a dynamic energy model, would allow for an 19.86% energy saving from a base
(Building Regulations) Part L (2021) compliant build, and a 12.53% reduction in carbon
emission is anticipated through the incorporation of Air Source Heat Pumps and passive
energy efficiency measures. This exceeds the local planning requirement set out by policy
and complies with Policy SD3 (Sustainable design and construction).

The energy and carbon savings are to be achieved through passive design, energy efficient
measures incorporating design features such as energy efficient lighting, submetering of
relevant areas, upgrading of ‘U’ values and occupancy sensing in relative areas, as well as
the incorporation of Air Source Heat Pumps and 111 kW of Photovoltaic Array.

54



8.52

8.53

8.54

To reduce the energy demand of the development as well as help to conserve water
resources within the local area, it is proposed that the fit-out works will provide for sanitary
fittings which will be water efficient through measures such as dual flush toilets and low flow
taps. The design of the proposed development will take a holistic approach to the integration
of sustainable design from inception with commitment to achieve a BREEAM rating of ‘Very
Good’ as a minimum, with the aspiration for the scheme to achieve ‘Excellent’ and EPC B
rating. Constructed to modern standards and to provide adaptable and flexible workspace
suitable for future needs, the proposal also targets reduction in carbon emissions from
Building Regulation standards.

The development is located within Brockworth, and as such is in proximity to public transport
nodes, existing bus routes as well as a range of primary local amenities such as a postal
service, cash points and food outlets. These features allow for the reduction of car-based
travel and transport related pollution.

The incorporation of these sustainability measures along with the provision of EV charging
points and cycle stores allow for the proposed development to be deemed sustainable
whilst targeting compliance with local and national policy.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

The application site benefits from an extant planning permission for employment use and
the principle of development is already established. This application therefore stands to be
determined on the reserved matters thereto. It is considered that the submitted details,
(subject to no objections being raised by the Local Highway Authority or drainage officer)
are acceptable, would accord with the parameters of the extant outline planning permission
and relevant policies as outlined above.

Benefits

The benefits of the scheme would be to provide 16,481sqm GIA across the 3 buildings
contributing to the provision of appropriately sized buildings for occupiers seeking larger
premises to support business growth with 70-126 FTE jobs at plot 3 and a further 211-378
FTE jobs across the 2 buildings on plot 4.

The location of the buildings is close to existing residential properties and would provide
jobs in the local area enabling people to work and live in the area and in sustainable
manner.

Harms

The development of the site for employment would result in a reduction of allocated housing
land, however this is tempered by the fact that the land is not available for residential
development, and it does not benefit from a planning permission for such use which would
indicate that this was a likely prospect. This harm is therefore very limited.

Neutral

The site lies within the existing business park and the proposed buildings would be

compatible with the area. Furthermore the proposal would have no adverse impacts on the
living conditions of adjoining residents of the natural environment.

55



10. Recommendation

10.1 Itis recommended that authority be DELEGATED to the Development Management Team
Manager to APPROVE the application subject to no adverse observations from the Local
Highway Authority and Drainage Officer and any additional or amended Conditions.

11. Conditions

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following

documents:

Drawing Number 11537 _PL_003A Plots 3 and 4 Site Location Plan
Drawing Number 11537 PLO30A Plot 3 Site Location Plan

Drawing number 11537 PL0O40B Plot 4 Site Plan

Drawing number 11537 _PL_031 Unit 3 Ground Floor Plan
-Drawing Number 11537 _PL_032 Unit 3.1 First Floor Plan
-Drawing Number 11537_PL_033 Unit 3.1 Elevations and Section
-Drawing Number 11537_PL_034 Unit 3.1 Roof Plan

-Drawing Number 11537 _PL_041 Unit 4.1 Ground Floor Plan
-Drawing Number 11537_PL_042 Unit 4.1 First Floor Plan
-Drawing Number 11537_PL_043 Unit 4.2 Ground Floor Plan
Drawing Number 11537 _PL_044 Unit 4.2 First Floor Plan

Drawing Number 11537_PL_045 Unit 4.1 Elevations and Section
Drawing Number 11537_PL_046 Unit 4.2 Elevations and Section
Drawing Number 11537 _PL_047 Unit 4.1 Roof Plan

Drawing Number 11537 _PL_048 Unit 4.2 Roof Plan

Drawing Number 11537_PL_130 Plot 3 Landscape GA sheet 1 of 2
Drawing Number 11537_PL_131 Plot 3 Landscape GA sheet 2 of 2
Drawing Number 11537 _PL_140 Plot 4 Landscape GA sheet 1 of 3
Drawing Number 11537_PL_141 Plot 4 Landscape GA sheet 2 of 3
Drawing Number 11537_PL_142 Plot 4 Landscape GA sheet 3 of 3
Drawing Number 2663-P-12 Plot 3 Tree Protection Plan

Drawing Number 2664-P-12 Plot 4 Tree Protection Plan

Energy and Sustainability Statement by Cudd Bentley Consulting Ltd March 2023
External Impact Lighting assessment, Document Ref: 6365-CBC-OR-RP-E-003 Revision
PO3 dated 16/11/2023 by Cudd Bentley.

Noise Impact Assessment by Spectrum Plots 3 and 4 ref DP834/22259/Rev. 2 dated
09/02/2023

Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy (EMES) report (Focus Environmental
Consultants, November 2023)

Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report ref R300 First Issue February 2023
By Baynham Meikle Partnership Ltd

-Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Focus Environmental Consultants, February 2023)
Ecological Impact assessment by Focus Environmental Consultants July 2023)

Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Opinion report (Focus Environmental
Consultants, July 2023)

except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this permission.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans and documents

56



No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Council’s Organisational Licence (WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’) and
with the proposals detailed on plan “Plots 3&4, Gloucester Business Park: Impact Plan for
great crested newt District Licensing (Version 1)”, dated 12th September 2023.

Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately
mitigated and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the
Organisational Licence (WML[1]JOR112, or a ‘Further Licence’), section 15 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.

No development hereby permitted shall take place unless and until a certificate from the
Delivery Partner (as set out in the District Licence WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’),
confirming that all necessary measures regarding great crested newt compensation have
been appropriately dealt with, has been submitted to and approved by the planning authority
and the authority has provided authorisation for the development to proceed under the
district newt licence. The delivery partner certificate must be submitted to this planning
authority for approval prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved.

Reason: In order to adequately compensate for negative impacts to great crested newts,
and in line with section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and
the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with Part 1 of the
Great Crested Newt Mitigation Principles, as set out in the District Licence WML-OR112 (or
a ‘Further Licence’) and in addition in compliance with the following: - Works which will affect
likely newt hibernacula may only be undertaken during the active period for amphibians. -
Capture methods must be used at suitable habitat features prior to the commencement of
the development (i.e., hand/destructive/night searches), which may include the use of
temporary amphibian fencing, to prevent newts moving onto a development site from
adjacent suitable habitat, installed for the period of the development (and removed upon
completion of the development). - Amphibian fencing and pi all trapping must be
undertaken at suitable habitats and features, prior to commencement of the development.

Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately
mitigated and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the
Organisational Licence (WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’), section 15 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.

No work shall start on the construction of the buildings hereby approved until details of floor
slab levels of each new building, relative to each existing building on the boundary of the
application site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Thereafter the new buildings shall be constructed at the approved floor slab
levels.

Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring properties and to ensure that the proposed
development does not have an adverse effect on the character and appearance of the area.

57



Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of a construction
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the demaolition/construction
period. The plan/statement shall include but not be restricted to:

o Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to ensure
satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring properties during
construction);

¢ Advisory routes for construction traffic;

¢ Any temporary access to the site;

¢ Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction materials
* Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;

e Arrangements for turning vehicles;

o Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;

¢ Highway Condition survey;

¢ Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors and
neighbouring residents and businesses.

Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into
development both during the demolition and construction phase of the development.

All planting comprised in the approved details of tree/hedgerow planting shall be carried out
in the first planting season following the occupation of any building or the completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner. If any trees or hedgerows, which within a period of 5
years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased, these shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation. If any trees or hedgerows fail more than once they shall continue to be replaced
on an annual basis until the end of the 5-year period.

Reason: To ensure adequate provision for trees/hedgerows, in the interests of visual
amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until visibility splays are
provided from a point 0.6 metres above carriageway level at the centre of the accesses
including emergency accesses to the application site and 2.4 metres back from the near
side edge of the adjoining carriageway, (measured perpendicularly), for a distance of 43
metres in each direction measured along the nearside edge of the adjoining carriageway
and offset a distance of 0.6 metres from the edge of the carriageway. These splays shall
thereafter be permanently kept free of all obstructions to visibility over 0.6 metres in height
above carriageway level.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
No building hereby approved shall be brought into use until the access, parking and turning
facilities (to serve that building) to the nearest public highway has been provided as shown

on the approved drawings.

Reason: To ensure that a safe and convenient means of emergency access can be
provided in the interests of highway safety.

58



10

12.

The use shall not commence until details of a scheme to prevent access (by way of
retractable bollards, gates or other means), by motor vehicles through the emergency
access have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
retractable bollards, gates or other means shall then be constructed in accordance with the
approved plan and remain locked permanently thereafter unless otherwise required in an
emergency.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety

Informatives

The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will give consideration to how the proposed
sustainable drainage system can incorporate measures to help protect water quality,
however pollution control is the responsibility of the Environment Agency

Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter that will be dealt with by
the Local Planning Authority and has not, therefore, been considered by the LLFA.

Any revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA when resubmitted through
suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. Please quote the planning application number
in the subject field.

It is recommended that the Nature Space Best Practice Principles are considered and
implemented where possible and appropriate.

It is recommended that the NatureSpace certificate is submitted to this planning authority at
least 6 months prior to the intended commencement of any works on site.

It is essential to note that any works or activities whatsoever undertaken on site (including
ground investigations, site preparatory works or ground clearance) prior to receipt of the
written authorisation from the planning authority (which permits the development to proceed
under the District Licence WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’) are not licensed under the
great crested newt District Licence. Any such works or activities have no legal protection
under the great crested newt District Licence and if offences against great crested newts are
thereby committed then criminal investigation and prosecution by the police may follow.

It is essential to note that any ground investigations, site preparatory works and ground /
vegetation clearance works / activities (where not constituting development under the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990) in a red zone site authorised under the District Licence but
which fail to respect controls equivalent to those detailed in the planning condition above
which refers to the NatureSpace great crested newt mi ga on principles would give rise to
separate criminal liability under the District Licence, requiring authorised developers to
comply with the District Licence and (in certain cases) with the GCN Mi ga on Principles (for
which Natural England is the enforcing authority); and may also give rise to criminal liability
under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and/or the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (for which the Police would be the
enforcing authority).

59



10

11

12

The development hereby approved may include the carrying out of work on the public
highway. You are advised that before undertaking work on the public highway checking the
highway ownership and management arrangement that you must enter into a highway
agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 with the County Council, which
would specify the works and the terms and conditions under which they are to be carried out
if adopted highway.

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the preparation
and signing of the Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to cover the Councils costs in
undertaking the following actions:

Drafting the Agreement

A Monitoring Fee

Approving the highway details

Inspecting the highway works

Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement under
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured and the
Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any drawings will be
considered and approved.

It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate Constructors scheme and
comply with the code of conduct in full, but particularly reference is made to “respecting the
community” this says:

Constructors should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the public
¢ Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;

¢ Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;

¢ Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

o Working to create a positive and enduring impression and promoting the Code.

The CMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the local
community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should also confirm
how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an agreed Service
Level Agreement for responding to said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information shared with
the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact details for the site
coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any relief to obligations under
existing Legislation.

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to
determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

60



From: [

Sent: Thursday, March 14, 2024 3:09 PM
To:
Cc:
Subject: 23/00275/APP - Committee Rebuttal

Good Afternoon -

Further to the Planning Committee on 20t February 2024 and our subsequent discussion, |
enclose with this email our rebuttal on behalf of the Applicant.

Since the Committee Meeting, the Applicant has reviewed the heights of the proposed
buildings on Plots 3 and 4 and submits revised drawings for the following:

e Building 3.1: Reduction by 2m to 10.5m to the eaves / 12.5m to top of parapet
/ 13.5m to the ridge.

e Building 4.1: Reduction by 1m to 11.5m to the eaves / 13.5m to top of parapet
/ 14.5m to the ridge.

e Building 4.2 Reduction by 1m to 11.5m to the eaves / 13.5m to top of parapet /
14.87m to the ridge.

It is also proposed to relocate the access to Building 4.2 further south from the signalised
junction and add in a footpath to the south of Lobley’s Drive as discussed with the Highways
officer. The red line has been amended accordingly.

The letter provides the detail pertaining to these changes, which | trust is useful for updating
the report back to Committee for the 23" April.

The following drawings are submitted for approval:

e 11537_PL_033A Unit 3.1 Elevations and Section
e 11537_PL_040C Plot 4 Site Plan

e 11537_PL_045A Unit 4.1 Elevations and Section
e 11537_PL_046A Unit 4.2 Elevations and Section
e 11537_PL_140C Landscape Sheet 1 of 3

e 11537_PL_141A Landscape Sheet 2 of 3

e 11537 _PL_142B Landscape Sheet 3 of 3

The following are issued as Appendices for information to support the rebuttal letter:
e Appendix A — Proposed Heights
e Appendix B — Site Dimensions / Separation Distances
e Appendix C—Site Sections

61



Amended Plans

62



N SOl

Nl =
Iy 4 ,,;,,//"'7
B l l[//,‘«“

_ a0 ) - X S T~ L5 Vf*
= (6%, N

a1

&
S

.

b,

;,
i

{';' '): 2
/g 0, SN IR0, S
LN N LGOI
SN RN N\

>
¢
e
B
cudlf
% &
7
&
2

63

o |z O
N3 m
327
=Y c
ass H
]
. |E
s |f
)
Ag’g
s
5
0o
=
s%'g E £
-, =
8 ga |E 315
EE L] =
a - .
o
o
£
3
S
N 2
5
c
o 5 <
3s R
® s~ |2 S
238|232 2
s |g2 |5 a4
B~ |8~ |0 <™
=
2| 3
€|
(=] o =
Z| 2| &
Z 8 =
= = (5]
o | O
o > =
= o |-
ui x |2
o w=a
o wi—ﬁ'
|| o
LD |09 ™
T = = iie
2|30 |sO
il o " (Rpuspnt I o |
C<|a®|ad
A 2
o NN 2
s
52K 4
aOZ g
z= 2
2
foo
222
&
5
w“
o
c
o
£
e
©
232
T ©
e
5% H
c O
s s g
w® c 5
o
o2 H
o8 2
o H
AgRe] <
S a §
2 H
L] H
o 8 5
L w®
<
[}
23
>
s
e
8(“
®E
b <
z =
o2
co <
o0 3
28 HE
T T 2
o 0 K
T T °
c c g
0 o
£ E
© @©
2es
s EET <
< - 2
23878 °
EN 4 2
>
> .
x < m @

Offices

12 Warren Yard,
Warren Park,

®
s
°
@
z
©
<

Milton Keynes,
MK12 5NW

01908 305 246

info@prc-group.com

WWw.prc-group.com




011 o5

e erouoas
et ufy T/ R e |
o
o 'S LINN '3US NOLLYOIdd¥ NIRHOS IdVOSANYIONLLSDE HLVdL004 N3OS IAVOSANY ONLLSDA HVd1004 3S0T0 NIANT L'ON S3ULYIAOYd INFOVRaY
wwo W™ oNISG. NS
8 Wmu s
o b oy er
anr [
ko ovoues ugoo
= E 7’
Y%
Mid SSINISNBULSIN0TD
slosg
ONYTHLYON
304N3 VY
w10
deeg oo
oy
0 o
udees
WIRH >
1 =2 ssizg
Znouos
3113340ua 1EOVTOY M LRV ON HivaL004 NS 34VOSONY1 ONLSIXE 27 INN'3105 NOLLVOdaY
onilsnG:
wioro |
W [ EeRTR e b ko o SRS S |
sl
~ v 2o
e S 3
uisie wdore
iy 0ty o
6262 - aderegjo doy pasaon
oot
==L ==
| |
NS S
e -~ ~—_
WooHoBpRpesAey S T ———————— Flemssssas
TR IHOIIH 13dvaivd 014407 LIND ——
k(O3 LHOBH G3SSHZ¥ 1IN
LHOI3H Q35008 ATSNOINGH Z¥ LIN
sNousss
o LN S NoVorTa N3OS 34VOSGNYT ONLSIXE H1vai003 “AVM LIV o7 ON 314308 INTOWT QY
oNiLSHa

T

xw ...§M.i«m wgovo
\\\\\\\\\\\\ # . S—tl U s

f— 98982
IMOEHI3aMVAToHAOVEING —— | Bt R o]
Wz 03IONCIY LHOIFH O3SIAIY 1 S LINN -7
LHOI3H 0380d0Hd ATSNO3NA 1€ LN

V2N ONO. porpn e pououe o
@i 51 powessosengy
wiea_mome

s o wpo o s SO S S

i et s NS SR oA g
Pt R ]

64



mesie m] sopuss

seukey voum @ erosddy O wonewsojul

Mnﬁ. O Aeviwiesa [ wononnsuon

snimg onss

seoo0 00000

v €60 1d 2654

odeospue aoy oy Bumeiq :ebag oNGor
ssouem)

wissquean  €CNVI' E 0024

Buiuueld soise g faperayd WO

bowverg —

ey NOILO3S ANV

SNOILVAF13 03S0d0dd

Ve LINn

81111 Buimesg

womasagmen
oy dnoibadDom

9¥2 50880610

uvd SSINISNE ¥ILSIONOTO

‘preAuBLEM ZT 198f01d

odd QNVIHLYON
340NN VY
el

N NV1d 3ONIH343Y

S

s
ONIaav1o n_m_m___‘umomw__mmV J@MM._OV_NMV%%L [o]
IVHINON LINN H_N..__mv_\m_v,_«mm [s)
anvd ssvo aaunosao (7]
AdONYO JoNVAING a3zve (]
onaavio soou arson (@]

(A3¥9 31v1S)
ONIAAY10 3LISOdWOD

(A3 ILIOVIHINY)
¥3ITIAAT15000

(MOT13A) @¥v1108 1331S

(A3 ILIOVIHINY)
SHO0A AvE ONIQVOT

] [ E

(AFYO ILIOVIHINY)
S¥00A TINNOSY3d 133LS

(N33HD ANVTHOOW)
FUNLYI4 FONVHLNI NIVIN

(AFYO ILIOVIHINY)
ONIZY19 ANV $400a
JONVALNI GINVaA WNININNTY

& [

(A3 ILIOVIHINY)
SMOGNIM GIWVA WNININNTY

(A3 ILIOVIHINY)
ONIAAY1D F140¥d IVLNOZIMOH

(AF¥HO ¥IATIS)
ONIGAY1O 31408d VLNOZINOH

[

(A3¥9 31v18)
ONIAY10 a3 40¥d VLNOZIMOH

A SVIEELVIN

YZHYWN  OWO Wz Aq peonpa Jybiay esnoyesem 'y
218Q pioumel suoisiney

ino ous o pisn (3

‘Gn0i9) 9aid au 0 paydes 0q 0 sapue jo
oq pue SOy

‘SiorUaP Iy

002:} 3eds
—
woz 3 or S 0

NOILD3S ONOTIVOIdAL

w0000
44

wooszL
tedesed o o).

NOILVATTI 1S3IM

NOILVATTI HLNOS

w000 0
44

tpuneH sin
woos 04
v,

woogEL
151y 5Py

| 3evjel

woss'el
WBiey ebpry

[

w000'0
744

wooe'y
40014 3514

uigor's
1odesed jo doy.
wooszL —
jedesed jodoL wiss'el
WBley a6pry

H

NOILVA3T3 1SV3

NOILVATT3 HLYON

uigy's
1adeled Jo do,

woosz)
Jedeieg jo doy

woos'z)
Jedeied jo doy

wooszh
todesed jo oy

65



0 0W01d d LESLY

ackorpuey 10N Sonmgisbag awr
ssouew)

ssssss €T NVP an 008}

:::::::: 0 faporon Woms

Buwuey -
ANPYUY

Nv1d 3LIS

¥107d

aniL Buimesq
55555
reticero
v 505 80510
s Zoin

‘‘‘‘‘‘‘ Huvd SSINISNE ¥ILSIONOTO
“wequasem

ot 1eloid

Jdd QNVTHLNON
340HN3 VY
RN

“POPUBLUE SUI| P31 ‘SIUBWWOO
YUY OWO Vd 0 papuswie ssao0e UleW D

s

€ZAON OSV  Aiepuooss o) papustue ou 1 poy8
SluewLIo ] 0}

£ZAON DSV _Pepusuie $55008 apiljan Aiepuooes y

21eq pioumeg suoisiney

dror Qud oupanan (3)

‘Gnos9) a4 ou) o papodas 0q 0 sapuEb jo
aq pue SOy el

S

HLVYd1004 MaN

V1S-8NS M3N

QINHO4 $SIO0V MIN-

$S300V 30IAY3S I
ATNO AON3O¥aNT —

T T, 31IYE 310IHIA ONY 5300V
V " Ve \ R ATNO AONIOHINT~

TIVM

| ONNIvLI

M3aN

/////m




Suuueig 3 ANHAPIY DU

mesiepm

‘seukey uonn
wopuoy
Buom
s99140

v S0 d LESLY

odeospuey IO Baneiq :obag onaor
siouaw

wisequean  €C NVI E 002:4

Buiue|d seisen a8 lapapayy WS

oy ————————————————
amoayyy

NOILD3S 3 SNOILVAT3 03S0d0¥d

V1NN

s11L Buimerg
s Gt
et oy

9¥2 50890610
MNSZDW

“sauky uou uvd SSINISNE ¥ILSIONOTO

“Yed uaLem
‘PreAUILEMZT 1o8loid

odd QNVIHLYON

3d0¥N3 VY

1elio

Azmmmonzﬁ_moo:v
ONIGQVT0 014044 TWiNozZRioH (9]

Em>.__&
WINON LINN LT siove (5]

713NV SSY19 3¥N0S80

AJONVD 3ONVHLNI 3Zv19

(A349 ONIM3SO0D)
ONIGAY1O 4008 AF1408d

(A3¥9 31v1S)
ONIIAV10 LSOO

(A3 ILIOVIHINY)
EERETEIPRI]

(MOT13A) Q¥v1108 133LS

(AFYHO ILIOVIHINY)
S¥00A AV ONIOYO1

(A3 ILIOVIHINY)
$H¥00d TINNOSY3d 13318

(N33O ANV THOOW)
3¥N1LV3d JONVALNI NIVW

(AJYO ILIOVHHINY)

ONIZV19 NV S%00a 5]

JONVHLNI AIWVES WNININNTY

(A3 ILIOVIHLINY)
SMOGNIM QINVH- WNININNTY

(A3 ILIOVIHINY)
ONIGAY1O 31408d VLNOZINOH

(A3¥O ¥IAS)
ONIAAV1D F140¥d IVLNOZIMOH

(A3¥9 31v1S)
ONIGAYID A3 1140d TVANOZIMOH

ADA STVRIELYIW

YZUVN  OWO wl Aq paonpai ybley esnoyalem v

2120 pioumeg suoisiney

dnos9) O ot u patson
SuBual Uase) PoUEILD SUBSEP PUE SUMEIP o110 1Bk BUL

‘Gn0s9 94 ou) o papodas 0q 0 sapuEb jo

\oq pue SO

00Z:} 91298
0
NOILO3S ONOT IVOIdAL
wooo’0 wooo'o
44 44
WOooE'y
10014 1814
YouneH s/n 7~
woos kb wooy's.
~Z_ Jodesed jo doy.
woo0geL —s
jedesed jo doy weos'yl
b1y eBpry

NOILVYA3T3 N43HLNOS

wooy's.
Jodesed jo doL

wOOSEL
Jodeied jo doy

NOILVAITI N¥ILSIM

w0000
134

wsoS L
1B1oH 2Bpry

w00’
744

WOOE ¥
Jool4 3814

woosel
todesed jo doy

NOILVAIT3 N¥3L1Sv3a

wsosvi
1612 2Bpiy

ovNoIs

B M [ El ™

NOILVYAZ13 NY3IHLYON

wo00'0
T34

iy’
jedesed jo doy.

wG0g YL
JuBIoH 96pIy

woogEL
1odese Jo doj

w0o0'0
744

WOOE Y
40014 18114

wooY's
jedesed jo doy.

wG0s'ylL
1uBi2H 9Bpry

67



002:} 3eds

=
mesie woz
seukey uoum
wopuoy
Buxom
sea0
v 90 1d 1851
acospuy 124 SN Saiq ot oNgor
souowl .
wissquean  €CNVI' Ell 002:1
Buweig e @ fapersu) W oms
e —
PLETITENT
NOILO3S 8 SNOILVAZT3 03S0d0dd
T LINN
aniL Buimeig
woo bR
oo
9z 50880810
Mivd SSINISN ¥3LS30N0TO
‘preAuBLEM ZT 198f01d
odd NYHLNON
3d0dn3 vav
eno
N NV1d JONIWI434
m 3
s
(NIFHO ANVTHOOW)
ONIGAY10 Q3 1140d TVLNOZINOH
(¥3As)
TVHINNON LINA LI %OV
aNvd ssvio azunosso (]
AdONVO JoNvaINT Gazvie (2]
ay
(A349 ONIMIS00D) BT
ONIAQVTO 400¥ A 40¥d a4
(A3HO 31v18)
ONIGQV10 ALISONOD
(A3HO ILIOVHHINY)
YITEAIT00Q
(MOTTEA) Q¥VT108 13318
(AU ILIOVHHINY)
$¥00A AVE ONIGYOT
(A3HO ILIOVHHINY)
S¥O0O0A T3NNOSYHAd 133LS
(NIFHO NV THOOW) s
N1V FONVHINT NIVW ol

(A3HO IALIOVHHINY)
ONIZY19 ANV S¥00a
JONVHLNI QWY WNININNTY

(A3HO ALIOVHHINY)
SMOGNIM QIWVH4 WNININNTY

(AJHO ALIOVHHINY)
ONIGQV10 F11408d WLNOZIOH

(AFHO ¥IATS)
ONIGQV10 F11408d VANOZIOH

(A349 31v718)
ONIGAV10 a3 1140%d TVLNOZINOH

PESESIET]

YZUYIN  OWO  wi Aq paonpai yBiey asnoyaiem v
218Q pioumel suorsiney

inoo ous o pvsen ()

‘Gn0i9) Oaid o o) paydes 0q 0 sapuerd jo
oq pue SOy
‘SiorUaP Iy

b oF S 0
NOILO3S ONO11VOIdAL
io00 i000'0
44 144
wio0E'y
RS ERLE]
—~ Youney s/n
woow's e
jodesed jo doy ~Z_
woogeL
R wozgyL
Wbrey o6pry
NOILVA3T3 NY3IHLNOS
- e e m— e e
AN E - - - -
io00 E i000'0
144 E 144
- i00Ey
Ll e
E |
E AN
E uio0y's
E Jodesed J0 doL
I woogeL
wozgYL edasiloo.
Wbiay ebpry
[ (]
NOILVAZT3 N43LSIM NOILVAZT3 NY3LSv3
= AN
CT T T T T T T 0l 1111 T T T T T T T Ir T T T T T T [ [ Eﬂw.c
I o ] ] e P e g e e ) e e e e P ) P w
wozg YL
wbrey ebpry
NOILVAZT3 NY3HLION
AN ] 7N
0000 L =| i000'0
144 ) =| 144
= = -
WiO0Ey =
10014 15u14 =|
- 1
uio0y's =
Jodeied jo do. —— =
woogEl. : i = . |
Jedeled jo do) w8 vl
Biey 86pRy
B ol R [ [

68



mesiem
‘seukey uonn
wopuoy
Buom
soo0

0 o7l T1d 2654

Ay N bueiq :ebas onGor

€LINVP E 0sz/L

a8 faparay WS

€401 133HS ¥ 107d
NYd INFNIFONVIIY
VY3NIO 3dVOSANYT

1L Bumeig

uvd SSINISNE ¥ILSIONOTO

108f0id

ANVIHLYON
3d0dn3 vav
1elio

SIN veld uoyeoo

"€ 40 £199yS vO odeospuET gyl 1d LESLL
UMEIP O} Jojoi 858a1d jnpeyos Bupue(d 104

‘suoponaisuy
sinpejnuew Jed SE paelsul 8q oL
routuse! L

10} SIMONAS BJEALO 0} JoUEq INSNCOY
-SINV1d ONIBINITD G3SOdO¥d

sih 5z ® Adoue) 9aiL 153 NV 1d
NO SNIAVY AJONYD A3103r0¥d

sik 5z @ Adoued eaiL 183 NY1d
NO SNIavy AdONYD 03103r0¥d

ONILNY1d
8NYHS ¥3A0D ANNO¥D
IVLNIWYNYO 03SOdO¥d

spoag ejebsiow3 Aq 693 PUEIPOOM
PuE SMOIOBPSY 10} BINXIN SSEID B
21014 PUNOIO Yy pajueld JapUn 8q 01 -
ONILNY1d XIW L3XOIHL a3S0dOdd
sisieads
110s Aq papiroid q o} ajyosd
108 PUE SUONLISUI SBINOBJNUEW
Jod se pajleisul 8q o1 “panoidde enbe
4O JUSIUL Jin L JOMOBPI, UM HnL SRR
1OMOYPI AQ 9Z-UOR-58198dS- 1AM - [N NRNAN
AR
NMYTHOI S3I03dS 03S0dOYd  LXINNNY
bl
WZ' | Je paule)uew oq o} 86paH “MOI
eu

palue(d 'abpay paddioy - ONLLNVTd |«
3903H TVLNIWYNYO A3S0dOdd

QIWNELSILINW A3SOdO¥d

33ULNINIOIAS 03S0dOUd
‘NOUVIIOI -
ONLLSIX3 SV NIVW3Y OL ANV §
G3HONOLNN NIV OL SY3Y A
Q3NIVL3 3801 -
NOILYL3DIA /S3THL ONILSA

AYVANNOS
NOILYOIddV ONINNYTd TIV13a

“SJUBLILIOD V] O}
V2 HYIN W3 Papuswe yiedjoo; pue ssaooe UleN D

sss00e
€ZAON OSV  Aiepuooss o) papusiuie auj poy g

\\

N
//M///«/

N\
N\
\

////

\

\

-
=
=

1 i ueshy \\\\\\\JN\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ \ 1 LSS 7 /
1 £ 40 Z199Ys UB|d JuawaBueLly [e10UaD adedspueT Ly} ~1d ~LES LI BuIMEIp 0} JJau UOPENURUOD J04 \ \ /////M/M///MMM// M///////////// / ,1 ;,; y
/ 7 oL 7 s, g /

QWny L WO, Whijoynus) WuOdsopd “ON L1 //// / \\

3

P35S AoBhes esoy punoits wera
SUEBInA efnwld ‘ON 6

Ejesopo eniadsy ‘ON 6

X|Us 12A0OPUNOIB PU GRS J0j £10Y PUNCID
snindo wnuingiA, “oN 11

euues esoy 'ON 9

einbuey snuweyy oN 9

‘esouds snunid ‘oN 11

‘SseBinA wsndr]
wnjjoynbe xali ‘N 9
sneedoine snwAuong oN 9
'eukBouow snbaejel) ON ZZ
eugoAe SNIAIOD ON L1
esuinbues snuio) "o 21

A

1

XIW 3PIUL AN
IQE = BONY
PUBIpOOM puE SMO.IBBP3Y J0) BINIXIU SSEID —

gy = eary
4n] umeT oy Sa1oads

7,

_

@

sninjaq snuidieg “oN

. L b "ONEE
,quiny 1 wo, wny

Jwead 0012y, eASIOUD "ON-9Z
K109 uwniny, 8geH ON ¥E

el ON €;

oy je (jenbs Jo dip-joa Jeslpeoiq yiw B8) peddip-1001 8q pinoys sjue(d J0oi aJeq (e ég:o@a
2181 pajsabins s Jeimoeyn

~—___ HnL umeT yon ¢
Jedied usalo), siieulue) eipuesAyoed ON LZ ~ Mosiey, eiey
2al ewixew snikIo “oN 0Z 310 73
< .quinyy woy, wnjoynue) wniodsomd “oN 82
WogZ-0Z @SIMaallS, 2:1sadweD J8oy “ON | e
‘e
,ﬂlil
W elaud o} puey Aq IN0 PelLIED 8 IS S8} PUNOIE/IBPUN 1j0S PUE PIEY LJOG 'SU 6L

*SQNIYS PUE S981) SJEPOLILIOODE O} PAUBISEP 84 M SUOJEPUNO} PaANDaI BJoUM
‘9pING "O"E'H'N 8} 1O Z'p Blou 891eId Uy BIUEPICOE Uy UBSOLD UBeq eney suojsod sel ‘gl

i

o5
¥ O
=

s ke .

| % J a )

T Y, a \ oM pue sm
N W - e

Bunueid uodn
i Aieveipewwuy %0¢ Aq 1uBiey u uononpes e o} peunid eq fleys sejoeds eBpey cﬁ.,asauw soun 21

Jed Bog 4o wnwiuiw e je pajjdde oq 0} pees ‘UoRedyIdeds SIeINjOBJNUEBW
119} 6UIpossald "BIp WWOZE SAOG SOUOYS puE Suqep BujAowes ‘peiinbe se

Auog=ealy
=40 UMET YT SaD3

Wy ple] *0a1; peam 8q [[2YS 11N “UOEIOAUS SISINOBJNUEW O} JOZIue) Bupess-eid ppY “elp

WWOE BA0GE SUOIS PUE SLIGSP BA0W) “Paunbes Se 05O} [9A8] PUE BleAlol ‘Bun aiojed ‘Sl
“sjue(d oy Joyjoows

0110U UBXE} 0 1SN BIED ‘PRISIEM [[OM UBSG BAEY SJuE(d Jele WG, Jo idep Wi

20} yoinu diyo PO PINTEW SHEP PE5 WNIPaL & LW PoLOINL 8 O] SEale pail
“suoponJsul

‘sienjoRjNUEwW Ui BouEPICOdE Uy Buueid Jeye paidde og (leys JoZiiVe) eseslal MOISY ‘€L

“Bupueld Buunp sepuenb pepuswLIoR) SieMde}nUEW e paydde oq leys JBwiod pd ZL.
“Bunueyd Jeye panowes seyouelq

pebeep/peap pUE U passiem Pty 8q 0} SUBld *(EWLIOQE "UI) §100: 8y} BuiBewep nouym
1ue(d ) SjEpOLLISOE 0} yBnous Big sajoy i pajueld aq 0} SANIUS UMOIB Jaureuod payddns Iy “|
palalem pue popeys
1dey aq pjnoys Bugueid Jeurejuco 9ouBUAAOId SAEU J0 5q 0} OIS [l “JewAiod peuEles-elem
penoidde ue u paddip 1001 ©q [[eS %00}s 1001 B..q [ ‘BPEW BJE UORNYISANS J) ING poypeds
oG Sy %00iS 1001 218q OU “SPUIM BUIKIp PI0d J0 Spotiad BuiNp 1o puNoq 150 ‘pabbojielem
S| punoJB 8y UBYM o peuIes aq Jou |[eys Bufueld *3Sd0 AQq peanpoud se Bujpuey
1ueid 1o} 80119E1d 0 OPCD BU) LM BIUBPIOOOE Ul PELOdSUES) PUE PaYoed oq [[eus SIUEI IV 0L
“aUe0s UONEDIYLE0 AISINU V1 H 0} JOpUN peJelsiBel aq [leys sieddns
sepesInu IV (SdN) uopeaypads UOJEU BU) UM S0UBPIODOE U 8] PUE SQNIUS PUE S98J}
10} UopEOYRds YOOIS AIOSINU * Z66):1-9E6E S8 PIEPUEIS AISNPUI 8U) 0 @10UPE [[eyS SIUEM Y 6
“uoedyads ay) pue sojoesd Jo
$9p00 (BZYY/9E6E) SPIEPUEIS USIUE JUBAGISI U] O} ULIOJUOD O} Sl Sainpadaid [eLalew I
“80uBUBAC.d [EO0] UM POUIEIO 80 S(qISSOd BIOUM [[BUS SGTUUS PUB S981) SAfIEU
“spient Jouiw
*$50| Jojem Aesssoauun piore

Uim pey o [leys sselb uj pajueid seas

pue seels "ozss 1oy 0} ajeydodde se SANB pUNOIBIEPUN Ly PRINBS 8 [[EUS SI81} HOOIS
AisSInU PeOUEADE ‘PUNOIB BU) OJu| WUIOGY 1SES) JE PUSIXS [[BUS SSYEIS '[oA9] PUN0IB o} @A0qe
. SPUBIX® 1By} SSYEIS B(GNOP 0} $a1) 2IGePeIBaPOI LM PaINOSS 8 [[eUS S8al} PIEPUEIS [y
10 doj apeib doj Mau uw paye) oq uaY)

11eus Y U WIS 00 JouuI; © 10} Joke] 10Sans au) BuluBSO0] pue Zwiy Aq deep wWWODY §d

<

uopoedwooop

£q penaioe oq [leys seele pejoyses
Ued 1osans Aue yeaiq o} [oA8) Juelowns € o} paddy
20 Med) €65 SA YiM S0UBPIOD0E U] Juewdojensp

20 [[2US [0S POLINKO0 Sey Lo
Yy pejeroosse uojoedu
“uopeaypeds SieIENUEW

) Jez|j10} 001 1e10dio0u feus syd 81 "soulUOEW Aq UojORdWOD ewiuiw U Bupueld
0} Joud euIYBW 0 puey AQ PaleAINo oq 0} SEaIE (105 o) “opei [e1eusb ZGRESH O} 10SA0} IV P

SiuBWILID
SZAON OM  Vd1uns o} papusue Buideospuet v 5o ‘iiio ol sojas sy oan pepuels sy - seale qnuts
. p

210 Proweg Sworsiney 0055002 OS01554109p I BUNOIC) o4 1 POIOS o} o o4 S2010 odEoRpuo 5

05z 9fe3S o I
- B90] pue ey 8deaspUE| 8} 0 [eAoidde o) JnowM PaIBlE o I z

g (@) wez 3 3 S 0

N UM 30UBPIOI0E Ui PUE JORY K puE) U} o "
"dnao Jiid 8yl O papodal aq o) sepuend jo Z—— SIION

\oq pue SO

N



3uUURlg R NNPIY Dld

0521 90s ©

AN S

\ €40 £399Ys ue|d Juswab

- .y
s \\\\Y
sooy 5o , _/ W%WW/W/H/MM/W/W/M//H/&J

VoW e [ / \ e

\
\

S

\
Jay on Buneg <sbas oo

<

-~
.

ussoquean  E0/NVI El 0sz/b
Buuueld ssisen amg faparay WS
By ————————————————————————

aimoanyIy €407 133HS ¥ 10Td
NYd INJWIONVIY
VY3N3O 3dVOSANYT

211l Buimeig

6pa()/Jo) 2umxju SSBID - 69

.

woo o mAn
w3 860Dop

99250880810
saukay Vo Huvd SSINISNE ¥ILSIONOTO

“piRAUILEM ZT weloid

d NV HLION
340NN3 VY
jusnd

SIN Ueld uoeso]

.

=

-

@

_

Y

L ETosed
sueb|nA epnl

__

850y Sijeuwn
wogz-0z ,ebue

-

ds snunig "oN
@seBinA wnsn!

wnyoyinbe xelj “oN 1z
sneedaine snwAuong “oN 1z
euABouow snbeelei ON 18
eueljone sniki0) ON 19

Ppuelpoom pue qw sseo - 693
wogz-0Z esmeans, w_s&:_w_wo« Nk

_

UIGOY, BIOYPUEIB X JaIYOUERLLY “ON |
/0%, BIOWPUEID X JaIUDUZIRUY ON |
04 Sue14, snijeq snuidie N |

_

25991, 01158dWED J0OY ON |-
ON L

7

KR"W |

"0 £199US VO 0de0spUET Zp) 1d LESLE
Bumeip o} 1o}l osea]d BlNpayos Bupueld 104

“suogonssul
ainjoeynuew Jod se pafle}sul 8q o1

10} QINDIUIS BJEBID O} 1OLLIEG NSNOY | raaracate
~SINVd ONISIWITO G3S0dO¥d

ik 5z @ Adoue) sa1L 153 NV 1d
NO SNIAVY AJONYO a3103rO¥d

1k 5z @ Adoueg 2ai] SI NV |-
NO SNIAV¥ AJONVD Q3L03r0¥d

ONILNYId
ANYHS YIA0O ANNOHD
VANIWVYNYO 03S0dO¥d

$peeg ejebsiows Aq 693 PueIpoOM
10} AN SSEI0 B

10| PUNOID YyM pajueld Jepun 8q oL -
ONILNYd XIW 1350IHL 03SOdO¥d
sisiiepads

105 Aq papinoud aq o} ayosd

110S pue SuofoNSUI SBINjOBJNUBW

1ed se pajiejsul oq o] “penoidde [enbe

smosabpay 1oy aimxily mm\.e -697

/

“ubly
wZ'| Je pauleluiews oq 0} BpaH MOI
66e) u

pajueid ‘aBpay peddip v - ONILNVd # T
3903H WLNIWVNYO G3SOdO¥d -
el
QIWWILSILINW G3SOdONd H\"\m
£
()
3341 NIWIDIdS 03SOOUd

s/
‘NOILVLIO3IA
ONILSIX3 SV NIVW3¥ OL ANV §
Q3HONOLNN NIVIW3Y OL SYRY |
Q3NIVL3Y 38 0L~
NOILY1393A /3341 ONILSIXT
A¥YANNOS
NOLLYOI1ddV ONINNV1d Iv13a

pusba]

‘N
o

Jeainding, ewixew snikio) ‘oN 8
SIsuS[eXe) 8G8H ON ZL.

QWYL Wo L, Wijo}inua} winiodsopd “oN 9
sisualexe) aqoH
418D UBRID, SI[EUILLIG} BIPUESAUOE] "ON §
‘Seploujwse! winuiiedsojeudeIL "ON €1

auz| = eary
4n] ume? yory sapads
‘sepiouiuse! wnuuedso[eude1L “ON Z6

“SIBWIUIOO V] 0F
Y2 UYIN W3 papusuie yjedioo) pue sseooe UIBW 'Y

818Q  PRYO/UME] suolsiney

JedieD usaID, sifeuIuus) eIpuEsAYORd ON €2

h *““VV\/\WX ? £ § n.\vo\\—uzﬂz\zm Juswabuesly hﬁu\ﬁuuquzj sw_Al\:m 11 Bumesp 0} A“o:»::_u:ou ‘_Om\\\ \\ \\ % S
Z o Az zizizizzzzzzzizg /

An0JO) Dhid) O U pRISOA @

Y
o
"

_

.
_
.

_

-
O

7
2
-
9
o
-

%
_

‘dnoi9 Oaid ou o) paydes aq o sepuerbjo
45 pue 56U

07



Suuueig 3 ANHAPIY DU

052:1 oleos
— —

1IN | UMET YRy SoedS

mesie
<oukoy v wgz (3 St o (] oS
bl P// HNL UMET YR S9adS.
Suom =z -
// \ (W2 E6: [E10L
seowo 00000 - [ [15081-091[195H0 WGy 0 1 PaIoBBElS 81anod oS 0[SH 570 IGnoG: SUONoes BUO) W 9BpaHAPESY: T snudies]
- [ wbue1[ wBieH] Aususq] eSS | sapads|
] o d 1861 Snimaq SnUIdIED 86poH
ray on Bumeg :sbas oo
AT 052/ TS, o Sorotpor o S e 5]
(w0 o wews PUEIPOG: PUE SHOIGBPGH 10} SITHIIN S5870 - 653
€40€ 133HS 7 107d [
NYd INFNIFONVIIY
VHINIO 3dVOSANYT | I 19AGO PUNCIS § SAMIUS 10 810} PUNCIS
81111 Buimesg v
i 5 SIEIoIET UM 5pEDT Wnionbe xail
< 3 Wq ¢ 'S|elele Uy 1opes| _ ejnbuel snuwety
< pues snjndo wuINGIA
Mivd SSINISN ¥3LSION0TO pues eujue0 esoy
198foid < pues Esouids snunig
joueig|  aieBina wnjsnby
< X SnuAuong
< S¥Iq £ *poloLEs T o
ANVIHLYON € 5 5414 ¢ :payouel BUE(aAE SNIKIOD
3d0dn3 vav 3-09] D 'SYId € 1PAYOUEIG :PasIE] Peas - JUBIdSUBIL *|+} | BUABoUOW snboelen| 79/
uello IeH| Weoy) sepeds | JequinN| eary
AN GRIYS PUEIPOOMA SATIEN
[ Tg[owens "peuey [sepiouiwisel L[ G0l
SLN ued uoeoo] 025 10 ey I se108ds [1equinN
SIRQUIO
3 5%y Ausn Wnedwos, Snindo WhUINGIA 7]
P “Ausn: JUBIa114, eojuodel eaend 89|
5 5%iq ¢ Ausn, Ea|
5 5%iq G Aush, T 22
LT e[| [0 :5¥%1q 6 'SI00US [B1endS [ JedieD UsaID, SifeuluIa} A 082
O e[ _ewre] 0 5%q G Ausn, sisuoieyel 0GeH| 88l
G 6| /€[ WR0EC 0 'S%q g Ausn: Aol uuininy, 5GeH 29
AL 6| /2| WR09-C 3 W4 2 patpues EBinding, eweu Snikic 5|
IS0 €| S| [0 "5¥%Iq  'SI00US [EIoNS! 1osio3, eiBjuoIols Snuoo| vl
A9 /s 6] _W/E[wooy-C 0 5% G Ausn, ead oarzy, eASIoUD| 914
ea1y (9215 10d[ AUsuea 14BeH oyt ser0eds [1oquinN|
BT
S+ 101 ]
7001 [WI90E-6Z [W9009-056 [W00Z "UII WIS JESD 10 SIMEIN-WSS “UMOS 104y | EPied, £9ed0Ina X Efl |
700205+ [Wo5Z-0Z| 5002 ‘U WIS 18910 ‘g S| BUEI0 O, EVEPIOO ElLL
1002-061[W95Z-0¢| 07002 Uil WalS Ja1D: o 55| TSRO, BUEKiaI[ed SiAd
@Y X - Ul SWeIS ¢ AySNg ;PRLILIBIS-HINVY | 2950y SfeULININY, E[leHIyans X Snunid
ainpejnuew Jod se poll L T0z158 3 10580 0} paleU1ead ‘SIEISle T M JopEaT 1SoNAS Snulg
louuisel 002 37958 0 paiayea] SEIole] UM JopeaT | e
Joj W‘S—o::w 8jeasd 0} Jaueq AsnooY 1062-0G1 | Wo52-0Z | WIDQOT "UIW WRYS JESD D BINje -1 I [BUEJUOH SIS, SNIN3q SnuidIed
SLNY1d ONIBWITO G3SOdOdd 76 > UL SWeYS ¢ RS peLRIST epued emied
1002-004 [ w0281 07002 Ul WaS 1ed0: prepuels Area) JIH UIGOY, EI0yIpUE1B X 3| oUE[oLY 2
s 5z @ fdouen eai 153 Ny1d Y Xg "UIW SWaS G Aysng :poul SISUSPEUED 13| ouEelY 1.l—
NO SNIAV¥ AJONVO 3LO3rodd 1002-05 1| Wagz-02 07 XE? 00 UL WSS Jea)D; aInjel SSIMBaNS, a11SedUIED 10y
U Wes JeD Y XE PIEpuelS Area SN, o15edUEs 15
ik 57 ® Adoueo se1L 153 NV Td |- 57d ES.HM 110002 S 15910 By X¢ PISPURIS L uo_oam Eh:J.l
NO SNIavY AdONVO G3103r0¥d £ . s 1 s o

ONILNY1d
ENYHS YIA0O ANNOUD
IVLNIWYNYO 03SOdOdd

spees sjebsiow3 Aq 693 PUEIPOOM
PuE sMoJaBPaH 10} BINXIN SSEID B
1014 PUNOID Yy pejued Japun 8q o -

aInpayos Buueld

ONILNYd XIN LIXOIHL Dmn”m_v“\.nvv““ ' ’ \ / S /AM/””M”/W/////
1105 4q papinosd oq o) ajyosd & - o ////ﬂﬂ//ﬂ/ﬂﬁﬂ% 3

10S pUe SUONIISUl SBINPEJNUEW

Jod s pafleisul oq 0L ‘panoidde fenbo
10 JBUSIUL 1in | JOMOUPIA UM Jin |

1oMoYPINA AQ 9Z-Uony-se0eds- LM -

4 ~ (OIS SNUIOD “ON Z)
S MIOUNUG) WniodsONld “ON 9

A ON
eueAisiieo sniky, oN |

NMYTHOIY S3103dS 03S0d0O¥d L N E /
) uou /// ~— /
wg'| Je paulejuiew oq 0} 8Bpat Mol JUO[O}S SNUIOD "ON § ~~__ ~— /
P 1anop e ul 19, Sifeu3) ipuesAioed ONG- e
pajueid ‘obpay peddio v - ONILNYd |- © ~
3903H VLNIWVYNYO a3S0dO¥d ] Syfffos siR w1y saads —
| £ W€ = gAY ~—
| @”M//ﬂ””ﬁ : 4n1 ume? Yoy sepads T
QIWNELSILINW A3SOdONd | P Mﬁ/’///ﬂ%" / A K | L5202 J29PNUEND, BUBKISNED Sukd “ON
in uner o sopeds ﬂ”{ 7 : ,
3341 NIWIDIdS 0ISOdOUd ///44_' /
=2
‘NOILVY1IO3A e
ONLLSIX3 SV NIVWN3Y OL ANV \
G3HONOLNN NIVW3Y OL SY3dV \
/ p
Q3NIVL3 3801 - /
NOILVLIOIA /SIFUL ONILSIXI Nl /
AYVANNO8 /
NOLLYOIddY ONINNVd V130

Sisustexer agoH
Jedied ueeso,

R sisualee) GoH
W///%//////// | lExel 8GoH “ON 9

sisusieyel aqeH oN 8
GUINYL WO, WNIOHNUS} WNIodSOopid "N ¥

SO Vit OF
Y2 UYW W3 pepuswe yedioo) pue ssedoe UleiN ‘g

Sl
€ZAON OM  Vd1uns o} papuswe Buideospue 'y
218Q pioumel suorsiney !’ >
>

e isssmer & =22 \\\ \\\ \\ 2, \, ., Y ,\\\ 7 \
ron gt SR,




v Wz 1d LESLY
ey atag ‘oneer

eeeee

====== £2°¥dY El 00041
fap:

!!!!!!!!!! Y WO oS

Sy ———
[UNP3YYAUY

SNOISNANIQ 3LIS

,,,,,,,,,,,,,

O —
fraecrenii

s YA SSINISNG ¥3LSION0TO

o 1100f01g

oNd ANVTHINON

_____

“papuawe auy| pas

ISUILICO Vil ] SE PPPE Ujedioo)
W OWO PopuBLLE SSE30E Ulew  101d Y
woumey  isuoisiAey

o ug e pvsn (5
SuBual Uase) PoUEILD SUBSEP PUE SUMEIP o110 1Bk BUL

‘anoso Owd ath o1 popodes 0 o sepuerd o
4.0 vnmsypeds s shup Ueomedus Shane sonts et
‘IS0 POYORLE 00 01 SUOISUBLIP ly "POSN 0q 0} 1E AUO SUOISUOUIP PADLS




S
N 5]
CDLO
o
£ E E =) - o
e g 2 9 < < Q<
o < 5 >
TR T2 S 3= 5
w S W o 2
¥ « o < < « g
. E
s |8
o o |
S 2
® H
a8
OO
=
3wl, |§
8= 52 |E 32
o 5 |o |3 g
o [N o
N B
(]
2
=1
o]
BN o
£
c
o L o =
S o 20 gi
“le 92|55 |8 ¢l
O |z®|gL |5 2[4
n |8+ S~ |0 <™
i
i o
I
3]
ollp
w
=
pu
1<
w
x
©
=
(=)
< | =
o 2
ol | 2
=
= (2] w
5 7] €D
£ @| &
= = a
2| 3| 2
= m-ﬂ)-COL
wl K2
S| BIFZ
2.90
2|50 | =
csWio > |3 =
o< |50 |52
-2 |2 a|2%
sZ|lao sl
.S H
S
s < 2
8 s g
3
Zo
2=
g O
&
E
I
S
£
2
i
8
2
H
N
<~
°
2
@
-
<~
-
)
°
H
5 1
8 13
3 §
8
E}
3
jd
] s
z g
=) &
> @
2T g
2 < ©
{7 EE
) © §&
) ONG S ~ < 88
Sy LIRS ST T . «~ sga
WSS &8 Seg 2 8
5
459 QLB —aN 8sgzs £¢
"Ig’." \“'I“’“\‘*\s‘ SS8cano %
) & N 2822 ¢t
/8 NSSSC =3
°
H
S
e
=
2
<
°
°
°
73 :
=
o




Original & Superseded Plans

74



”i"“*'i:‘% Iy

&l s
& 5

L

g '.~
b O
(Ge¥ =
)

e =

Sy
5
¢/

117
S
SN
(5%
I/,' .
SIS
~.,,{{{,#
l”’"’f’ [os
B
~ &5,

S

1

=/
i

&
2
"’#;/
R
IS

\40’

75

D5
7%

S

1y
=

5

0l
775:
£

oz |0
.Sl <
L=
83 5

H
E
s |
2 =
«
£8
g
&
oo
=
= > ool
A g K
27|82 |E &5
© @ T 5
a - .
]
o
2
=
o)
O NEH
£
” 5 4
< zesﬁ
. g
f% 5% ¢Y
SR (gL |5 &l
D~ S~ O <N
=
203
<< o
2| £| 3
S| 8 B
=
L <
g| 5| 8
o

S| 3| =

= msu'__j

i ox|2E

I W= o

S L

€D o=
t@R|sQ s
= e s
£5|35|:8
o< |a O | o
£z H
a0 H

z g

°
5
[$)
50
§<
&

2

©

o

o

5

c

S

T

1S3

L]

»

3

Q

3

©

2

)

=

Q

>

el

<

°

<

o

o

o

7

2

3 z

c d

k-] 3

9 2

(] e

3 B

2

o

£

©

]

2 .
P g
23 20
N4 38
2z 4
: .

e < ©

o &5

5 + 88
2 - o~ ag
Sgg_w» 83
c5 523 o
L= o8
28 £E
$Eecf &
¥=E=55 =3
°

5

=

s 3

z =

Offices







g
R T

HLVd1004 M3N

e
. :
e ———— =
4 001 d 18611
- 1oy on Gumeig :ebeg ONqor
Ay mam s e
bsequean €0 NI awn

008:.

=========== g Taposr DS [ X\
By [T7A
aunpepyY
Nv1d 3L
¥107d
te|yiL Buimelg

a3WH04 SSIOOV MIN

.
visans man h - (
- E . A
£ /

M4vd SSINISNE ¥3L$30N0TD

BELICYP)

QANYTHLYON
3d0O¥N3 Yav
Huel

BALTIMORE COURT

'

Ve
F10HIA

77



sy R LMY Dd

nesiem

soufoyyuoa
uopuo
Buviom
seo0

€60 1d 1851

sy " TN bane s v
siouown

wosoquewn X NVI ELll 00Z:4

Suumd s 980 Tapopory Wwows

L E—

aimayyory NOIL3S ANV

SNOILYA313 03S0d0¥d

Ve LIND

sspuL Buimesg
wntata
froteorevioon

uvd SSANISNE ¥3LS30N0TD

‘12af01d

QONVTHLYON
3d0YN3 Vv
Huellg

N NV1d 3ON3¥343y

s

(N3T¥D ONVTHOON)
ONIAAVTO GF140Md TYANOZIMOH

(43ATIs)
IVEENNN LINN L7 0VE

3NV SSYIO a3WN0SE0

AONVO 3ONVAINI 432v19

(A2 ONIM3SO09)
ONIQAV1O J00d a3 1H0¥d

(A3 31V1S)
ONIGAVTD 3LISOdWOO

(ATHO FLOVHHINY)
¥ITIFAIT %000

(MOT13A) Q¥vTI08 133LS

BEEEE

(AZYO ILIOVIHINY)
$¥00A AVE ONIQVO'T

(ATUO FLOVUHLNY)
SO0 TANNOS¥Ad 133LS

(N335 ONVTHOON)
FNLYI JONVHINT NIV

(AZYO ILIOVHHINY)
ONIZV19 NV SH00a
SONVMING G3WVRA WNINIANTY

(AT LIOVUHLNY)
SMOGNIM QINVX NNININNTY

(AT FLOVIHINY)
ONIGAY1O F1IH0d TVINOZRIOH

L& EE

(AZ¥O ¥3ATIS)
ONIGQYO F140¥d TYINOZIMOH

(A3¥9 31v1S)
ONIAAVD GF1140¥d TVINOZINOH

ADISVIRELVW

81EQ poumeIQ suolsiAey

G010 g o povson
SUBUR) U] POUECD SUBISOp PUS SEUNED a5 ABLALOD UL

00019 g o4} 0 papode 7 ) seyEny o
5119 0 Uogeayeeds b Supke.p Usami30 P SBUNE USR] sSUARYQ

00Z:1 3feas
woz E oF S 0

NOILO3S ONOT VIIdAL

wgo00 0000
44 44
YouneH sin
woog'zh
~Z_
woos'y L —~—
Jodeied jo doy. woos'sh
Broy oBpry
[
NOILVAZ13 HLNOS
=— AN
= woo0'0
= a4
3 =
= ey
B uiooy's
Jedeed Jjo do,
—~— wooS L
wogE'SL Jodeied jo doy
Biey 8BpRy
NOILVAZT3 1S3M
T T T T T T T T T T TTT T T T T T T VYT T T :x.Hd
—~_ wos'yL 7~ woos'yL
WSESL , , ﬁ , ﬁ R So oo T
W62y 2BpR 1WBioy aBpr
v] [g] [z] [oM [ & [s]
NOILVAIT3 HLYON
ey B VAN
uigo0'0 ——yr uigo0'0
=4 == 134
—
AN =—
wio0E T
40013138114 —
s i 1
wooy's !
todeie jo doy | —_— =
| ==
| ——
—~ _ i i | | | | i | woosL
woggs) i i i i 1edesed jo do).
Wbiay aBpy
(] 2]

78



50 d i
- 1oy oN Gumeig :sbes oNgor
s —
wsauean  ECNVI ELl 00z
::::::: e awg o poypouy DS
g ——
aunpaydIY
NOLLO3S $ SNOILVAZ13 03S00¥d
V7 LINA
telyL Buimelg
J—
e
e
i NéVd SSINISNE ¥3LSIONO1O
“peq uasem .
e uos 7T BELICYF]

Jud ONYTHLYON
J40uN3 VY
el

(N3TD ONVTHOON)
ONIQQY1O Ga40xd VINOZOH  [9t]

(¥3nus)
IVHIWNN LINN 11 OveE @
T13NVd SSV19 aRNOSE0 E

Adonvo ToNvaiNa azvie (2]

(A349 ONIMIS009)
oNIaav1o Z00u gzt 9]

(AF49 3LV1S)
oniaavio auisoanoo [V

(A3¥9 ILOVUHINY)
wamannsiooa (%)

(moT13A) avTIo8 13aLs [6]

(AFUO ILIOVHHLNY)
Si000 Av8 SNivo1 8]

(A2¥9 ILIOVHHINY)
S4000 TNNOSURd Al 2]

(N3FUO ANVTIOON)
aun1vas sowveina v (2

(A2¥9 3LIOVIHINY)
ONIZv19 ANV s¥00a  []
SONVALNG GIVAA WNININNTY

(A3UD ILIOVHHLNY) E
SMOGNIM GV WNININNTY

;mxow:oéx»zs E
ONIAV10 F140¥d TVANOZINOH

(AFu9 ¥: )
oNIaavIo T0xd iNozRoH [Z]

(A349 ALv1s) o
©ONIQAV1D QI 140¥d TVANOZINOH
A SN
te1eq PHONEG isuolsiney

e oo monn
o s o e soomes Sa S o, Q)

00019 g o4} o) poposes 07 ) sepueny o
51190 Uogeayeeds b SDupNeIp Usami30 P SBUNE USR] SSPURYQ

oF

NOILD3S ONOT TVOIdAL

NOILYAZT3 N¥3IHLNOS

79



sy R LMY Dd

mesiem sepusl

soutoy oy 0

vopuor
oo =

s onsef
o0

90 d 1851

sdopuey " TN banm s v
siouau

usoquean €0 NVI ELll 00Z:4

Supueggsesen a0 Tapopay Wows

Buugy —————————————————————
aimapyory

NOILI3S 8 SNOILVAF13 03S0d0¥d

Ty LNN

tequL Buimesg

uvd SSANISNE ¥3LS3ON0TD

‘12af01d

QONVTHLYON
3d0YN3 Vv
Huellg

N NV SONZIL3

NOILO3S ONOT TVOIdAL

3

[

(N33uD ONVTHOOW)
ONIGY10 A3 140%d TYANOZRIOH

(3ATS)
IVHINNN LINN LI %0vE

Tanve ssvio azunosso (1]

AdONYD JONVYINI Q3ZV1

(A9 ONIM3S009)
ONIGavTD 400¥ A3 1408d

(A9 31v18)
ONIGaYTD 3LISOdNOD

(A3MD ALIOVIHLNY)
WITIEATI000

(MOT13) ¥V TI08 1331

(AU ILIOVHHLNY)
SH00U AVE ONIGVOT

(AO ILIOVHHINY)
SM00Q TINNOSYId T331S

(NJO ANVTHOON)

2WNLYE3 JONVIINS NVW

(A4 ILIOVHHINY)

ONIZV19 ANV SH000 [ ]
‘SONVRING G3NVRI WNININNTY

(AZMD JLIOVIHLNY)
SMOGNIM Q3N WNININNTY

(A9 ILIOVEHINY)
ONIGQVTIO F140¥d VINOZINOH

(AZ¥O ¥3AUS)
ONIGAVTD FTI40¥d TVNOZINOH

;mxow::&
NI0aV10 a3 40xd WINozivoH (1]

73 SVIEIVA

2180 PHioumeIg “suoisiney

1020 g o povsan
SUBLR) iU POUIEIIO SUBSP U SBUND o5 OIS UL

019 2 o4 o pouos
51190 Uogmyads pus SOUNEID UsaA PUE SOUND U

L

144

400} 18114

Jdeseq Jo o).

Ay Y
10000 10000
R R

Ay
uigOE Y
100l 1814
ANy
uwoov's wouneH s/n
tedesed o doL wooszL
A
WSy,
e jo do, 7
1edesed o doy woZgs)
WBKBY 36pry

NOLLYAZT3 NY3HLNOS

H =)
ig

NOILYAST3 NY3Lsv3a

Nl g‘

NOLLVAZ T3 NYIHLHON

ui000'0
T

uiOE'y
00l 18114

uiooy's

19dei2d jo doL.

woos'yL

18deseq jo doy.

144

wozg's,
1Btoy 96p)

o] W[ il v o]

80



Agenda Iltem 5c

Planning Committee

Date 23 April 2024
Case Officer Erica Buchanan
Application No. 23/00276/APP

Site Location

Plot 5 Gloucester Business Park

Proposal

Reserved matters application in relation to Plot 5 for the erection of
employment development of 6,773 sgm (GIA), access arrangements,
servicing, parking including cycle provisions, electric vehicle charging
and landscape provision comprising of Class B2 and B8 development
with ancillary offices, alongside discharge of pre-commencement
conditions 8 and 11 to planning permission reference 11/01155/FUL.

Ward

Churchdown Brookfield With Hucclecote

Parish

Hucclecote

Appendices

Site Location Plan

Site Layout Plan

Elevations & Sections

Ground Floor Plan

First Floor Plan

Existing & Proposed Building Heights Plan

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Parish Council objection

Recommendation

Delegated Approve

Site Location

81



The Proposal

Full application details are available to view online at:
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=documents&keyVal=RRMFAWQDGCX00

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

15

The application is for the approval of Reserved Matters (in relation to Plot 5) for the Erection
of Employment Development of 6,773 sgm (GIA), access arrangements, servicing, parking
including cycle provisions, electric vehicle charging and landscape provision comprising of
Class B2 (general industrial) and B8 (Storage and distribution) development with ancillary
offices. The reserved matters being considered through this application relate to scale,
appearance, layout, access and landscaping.

In addition to seeking approval of reserved matters, there is a requirement to submit details
pursuant to Conditions 8 and 11 of the relevant consent ref 11/01155/FUL relating to drainage
and landscaping as part of the reserved matters application. The relevant conditions state:

8. The reserved matters submitted pursuant to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by a
sustainable drainage scheme for the relevant part of the development. The drainage scheme
shall be in accordance with the approved Surface Water Drainage Strategy for the whole site
(Ref: JLWIi/28049/02 Enc by Mouchel Parkman dated 3rd October 2005). The approved
scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the first
occupation of that part of the development and the scheme shall be managed and maintained
thereafter in accordance with the approved details.

11. The details of landscaping required to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in accordance with Condition 1 above shall include indications of all existing trees
and hedgerows on that part of the development and details of any to be retained together with
measures for their protection during the course of development.

Details in respect of these two conditions have been submitted with this application.

The proposal is for the erection 1 warehouse building with a footprint of circa 6,977 square
metres with an overall height of 15.6 metres to ridge level (See Proposed Elevations &
Sections Plan). The scale of the proposed building is comparable but smaller than nearby
developments in Gloucester Business Park. (See Existing & Proposed Building Heights
Plan)

The building would be set to the western part of the site and would retain a landscaped buffer,
separating the development from nearby residential properties. The proposal would create a
service yard to the east of the building, accessed from Pioneer Avenue, along with a further
access to a separate carpark which would provide 65 parking spaces including EV charging
provision and 22 cycle spaces. A further emergency access would be provided onto Lobleys
Drive.

82


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RRMFAWQDGCX00
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RRMFAWQDGCX00

2.

Site Description

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

3.

The site forms an undeveloped plot to the southwestern corner of Gloucester Business Park
(GBP), which was granted outline planning permission for B1, B2 and B8 development in
March 1992 (ref: 88T/7689/01/01). The permission was subsequently renewed in January
2001 to allow a further 10 years for the submission of reserved matters for the remaining
commercial developments on the site (ref: 01/7689/0095/FUL). In 2012 a further extension
of time was granted for the submission of reserved matters applications for the remaining
commercial plots up to March 2026 (ref: 11/01155/FUL). Gloucester Business Park is a
strategic employment site in the region covering over 111ha of land with a variety of uses
comprising a mix of office, industrial, retail and leisure. The site was formerly the factory and
test airfield for the Gloster Aircraft Company until 1965 and has been established as a
business park since Arlington began developing it in the 1990s.

The application site consists of undeveloped land known as Plot 5 and comprises an
undeveloped 1.58 hectare parcel of land situated north of Lobleys Drive and west of Pioneer
Avenue. There is a car park associated with the ecclesiastical insurance offices to the north
and a residential area to the West. Between the site and the residential area in the West is a
footpath avenue which is bounded by a dense tree line.

The South and West boundary of the site are vegetated providing a green buffer between
the site and the adjacent residential areas and enclosing the site and wider business park. A
tributary to the Wootten Brook is also located to the West of the site.

The plot consists of levelled vacant development land. Currently there are no existing
access points. There are no Listed Buildings within or close to the site and the site is not
located within a Conservation Area. There are no tree preservation orders affecting the site
and the site falls within Flood Zone 1 which is the zone at the lowest risk of flooding.

Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision | Decision
Number Date

88T/7689/01/01 Outline application for Class B1, B2 and B8 Permit 10.03.1992

Business/industrial use and residential
development on 107ha. Construction of new
access roads.

01/7689/0095/FUL | Variation of condition 2 of planning permission Permit 25.10.2001
88T/7689/01/01.
11/01155/FUL Proposed Class B1, B2 and B8 Permit 09.10.2012

Business/industrial use (Extension to time limit for
the submission of reserved matters applications
for planning permission ref: 01/7689/0095/FUL as
originally permitted by application ref:
88T/7689/01/01)

23/00275/APP Reserved Matters Application in relation to Plots 3 | Pending

and 4 for the Erection of Employment
Development of 16,481sgm (GIA), access
arrangements, servicing, parking including cycle
provisions, electric vehicle charging and
landscape provision comprising of Class B2

83




(general industrial) and B8 (storage and
Distribution) Development with ancillary offices,
alongside discharge of pre-commencement
conditions 8 and 11 to planning permission
reference 11/01155/FUL.

Consultation Responses

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

Hucclecote Parish Council — Concerned

- Building is excessive in height

- Location is close to residential buildings in Arlington Rd
- Would feel overpowering, result in overshadowing

- Detrimental to the residential area

- Noise and light pollution

- Restrictions on the hours of use recommended

- Restriction on external lighting hours recommended

- Impact on traffic and existing logistic companies

- Updated traffic modelling study should be undertaken

- Concern about additional vehicle movements and congestion at peak times.
- Wish to see photo voltaic cells on entire roofs

- Buildings should to BREEAM excellent standard.

Brockworth Parish Council - Objection

- Height of the building and its proximity to residential housing

- Potential to overshadow neighbouring properties and affect light
- Height of the building should be reduced and position amended
- Increase in traffic

- More PV’s should be installed

Environmental Health Officer — No objection

- Submitted lighting report recommendations to be implemented.
- Submitted noise report recommendations to be implemented
Tree Officer — No objection

Ecology Advisor — No objection subject to conditions.

Highway Authority- No objections subject to conditions.
Drainage Officer — Further information required.

Lead Local Flood Authority — No comment.

Archaeology - No comments received.

Nature Space — No objection subject to conditions

84



https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

5. Third Party Comments/Observations

Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

5.1 The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21
days, neighbour notification letters and the publication of a press notice.

5.2  Sixteen representations have been received objecting to the scheme. The comments
raised are summarised below:

- Proximity to residential occupiers

- Loss of light and overbearing

- Loss of outlook

- Detrimental by reason of scale and style

- Inconsistent with existing area by reason of materials and size

- Would detract from residential area

- Increase use of weight limited bridge over motorway using Lobley’s Drive
- Noise and vibration

- Increased traffic, HGV’s and congestion

- 2 accesses would impact safety

- Neglect to explore alternative uses

- Detriment to wildlife

- Detriment to existing townscape

- Should use brick and render not metal cladding

- Already unused units on estate

- Should provide for an alternative use

- More and higher screening/trees should be provided to Martlet Way

5.3  One letter of support from the Local Economic Partnership (LEP). The comments raised
are summarised below:

- Proposals will provide for a good mix of much needed high quality employment space
- Well-established and well-connected location.

- New jobs close to a large residential district

- Opportunities for sustainable/active travel to work for residents

- Commend the attention to the green / landscaped features

6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1 Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

6.2  National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

85


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

6.3

6.4

6.5

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strateqy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

- Policy SD1(Employment -except Retail Development)
- Policy SD3 (Sustainable Design and Construction)

- Policy SD4(Design Requirements)

- Policy SD6 (Landscape)

- Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)

- Policy SD14(Health Environmental Quality)

- Policy INF1(Transport Network)

- Policy INF2(Flood Risk Management)

- Policy INF3 (Green Infrastructure)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
- Policy EMP 1(Major Employment sites)
- Policy EMP 5(New employment development) (General)
Policy ENV2 (Flood risk and Water management)
- Policy TRAC1(Pedestrian Accessibility)
- Policy TRAC 2(Cycle Network& Infrastructure)
- Policy TRAC 3 (Bus Infrastructure)
- Policy TRAC 9 (Parking Provision)
- Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, geodiversity and Important Natural Features)

Neighbourhood Plan

None

Policy Context

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides
that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of
'made' Neighbourhood Development Plans.

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and its associated Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

Evaluation

8.1

Principle of development

The application site comprises an undeveloped parcel of land within Gloucester Business
Park. The site benefits from outline planning permission for class B1, B2 and B8
business/industrial use and therefore the principle of development has already been
established.

86



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

Gloucester Business Park is identified as a Major Employment site within Policy EMP1 of
the TBLP which supports proposals for employment uses. Policy SD1 of the JCS supports
employment related development. As the site forms part of a designated Strategic
Employment Site with an extant planning consent for employment related development,
the principle of development is therefore acceptable and it remains that the matters for
consideration as part of this application are those specific reserved matters concerning
this plot, which are details of scale, layout, appearance, access, and landscaping.

Scale

Policy SD4 of the JCS sets out requirements for scale and high-quality design to new
development and Policy EMP 5 of the TBLP states that development must respect the
character, scale and proportion of the proposal and the surrounding development’s
character.

The heights and sizes of the existing employment buildings throughout the Business Park
vary considerably and range from 11 to 24 metres in height. The proposed building for
this site would have an overall height of 15.6 metres to ridge level and would have a
footprint of circa. 6,977 square metres.

The scale of the proposed building would be comparable to the two buildings to the north
and significantly smaller in both footprint and overall height when compared to buildings to
the east and the more central part of the business park.

The proposed building would be set away from the western boundary of the site, which
then adjoins residential properties beyond. It is considered that as a result of the
separation from neighbouring properties, the height and positioning on the site would
provide an appropriate transition in scale of development which would be consistent with
that of adjoining buildings to the north, resulting in an acceptable relationship to nearby
commercial and residential properties.

Layout and Appearance

JCS Policy SD4 sets out that new development should respond positively to and respect
the character of the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness and
addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality in terms of street pattern, layout,
mass and form, which should be of a scale, type, density and materials appropriate to the
site and its setting.

Buildings within Gloucester Business Park comprise a varied design and palette of
materials, ranging from brickwork, render, coloured composite panels and various forms
of cladding and there is no single prevailing character to this part or the wider business
park.

The proposed building would have a linear form with a north-south orientation across the
site. The southern part of the building fronting the junction of Gambet Way and Lobleys
Drive would include a glazed office section which would serve to add visual interest to the
building and would contrast with the more utilitarian appearance of the main warehouse
element of the building which would comprise of framed horizontal profile metal cladding
of contrasting colours. It is considered that the overall design and finish would result in
buildings of an appropriately high quality and visual interest.

87



8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

The proposed layout, with HGV access and servicing area being located to the eastern
side of the building onto Pioneer Avenue would have the benefit of the building providing
both acoustic and visual screening from the residential properties to the west.

The staff and visitor parking would be set to the southern part of the site behind a
landscaped buffer and would be set a significant distance of over 52 metres from the
nearest residential property.

The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy EMPS5 of the TBLP and Policy
SD4 of the JCS which requires new buildings on existing employment sites amongst other
things to be of a scale and design to be compatible with the character of the existing
location and its setting.

Landscape and Visual Impact

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF highlights the importance of appropriate and effective
landscaping in achieving well-designed places. This advice is reiterated in JCS Policy
SD6 which requires new development proposals to ensure that the design of landscaped
areas, open space and public realm are of high quality. Policy SD4 (iv) of the JCS
requires that new development should ensure that the design of landscaped area, open
space and public realm are of a high quality and Policy LAN2 of the TBLP requires new
development amongst other things for landscaping to be appropriate to and integrated into
their existing landscape setting.

The applicants landscape strategy seeks to deliver long-term landscape, biodiversity and
sustainability benefits within an established employment estate. It is proposed that soft
landscaping in the form of upright trees and shrub planting is provided within the site.
Planting will be incorporated either side of the new service road and between car parking
areas and service yards. This would provide visual interest and separation, increasing
legibility for users and soften the external areas ensuring there are no large expanses of
hard surfacing.

The Landscape strategy states that planting will be carefully selected to ensure that native
species are incorporated where possible and that slow growing, low maintenance species
are used. This is to enhance the biodiversity of the site and to ensure safety for pedestrian
and vehicle users by avoiding planting affecting visibility in circulation areas. The existing
landscape buffer on the west boundary of the site is to be retained and enhanced to
ensure compliance with wildlife legislation and provide adequate protection of habitats and
species.

The landscape proposals have been revised since following initial observations from the
Council’s Tree Officer including additional new meadow grass planting within the western
landscape buffer and addition of climbing plants.

It is therefore considered that the proposed landscaping scheme would integrate well with
existing established landscaping throughout the business park and would be in
accordance with policies SD6 and SD 4 of the JCS, policy LAN2 of the TBLP and the
NPPF.

88



8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

Access and highway safety

The NPPF at Paragraph 115 states that development should only be prevented or refused
on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe, Paragraph 114 of the
NPPF states:

“In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific applications
for development, it should be ensured that:

a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be — or have
been — taken up, given the type of development and its location.

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users;

¢) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of
associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National Design
Guide and the National Model Design Code; and

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an
acceptable degree.

JCS Policy INF1 requires that developers should provide safe and accessible connections
to the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. Policies
TRAC1 and TRAC2 of the TBLP seek to protect and enhance pedestrian and cycle
access. Policies TRAC3 and TRAC9 provide guidance on bus connectivity and parking
provision.

As this is a reserved matters application, the highway impact is limited to the suitability of
the site accesses and the internal layout as the principle of the employment land use and
associated traffic generation has already been established by the granting of the outline
planning permission.

The County Highways Authority has been consulted on the application and having regard
to the Transport Statement and subsequent submitted technical note in June 2023,
consider that the proposal is acceptable in principle. The Highways Officer has noted
possible impacts of HGV’s obstructing the highway if site gates are closed however this
can be addressed via a condition requiring gates to be left open during peak daytime
hours.

It is also noted that the proposal includes separate vehicular accesses for emergency use
only. The restricted use of this access directly onto Lobleys Drive can be controlled by
condition.

Subject to compliance with conditions it is considered that the proposed development
would have an acceptable impact upon the highway network and would accord with the
requirements of JCS Policy INF1.

Residential Amenity
Policy SD14 of the JCS requires that new development should not cause harm to local
amenity including the amenity of neighboring occupants. Policy EMP5 of the TBLP states

that development should not have an unacceptable impact on adjacent property and
residential amenity.

89



8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

8.31

8.32

Following concerns raised by local residents and Parish Councils, the applicant submitted
a daylight and sunlight report to assess the impacts of the proposal on nearby residential
properties. The assessment was based on the various numerical tests laid down in the
Building Research Establishment (BRE) guide ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and
Sunlight: a guide to good practice, 3rd Edition’ by P J Littlefair 2022. The aim of the
assessment is to consider the impact of the development on the light receivable by the
neighbouring properties.

This report was assessed by an independent specialist on behalf of the council, who has
confirmed that the Daylight and Sunlight Report (Neighbouring Properties) dated 14™
December 2024 adequately addresses concerns and that the assessment results indicate
that there will be no significant daylight and sunlight effects on adjoining residential
properties that would warrant a refusal of planning permission on these grounds.

The applicant has submitted a noise impact assessment together with an external lighting
assessment and a ground conditions contamination assessment in support of the
application.

The noise assessment states that Predicted Rating Levels from the operation of Plot 5
under ‘typical busiest’ scenarios including general site-related activities, fixed plant and
indoor activity do not exceed the existing Background Sound Levels either during the
daytime or night-time. The potential noise impact from the use of the premises is therefore
considered to be low at the nearby noise sensitive receptors (NSR). Accordingly, the use
of the proposed development without any restrictions on hours of operation would not give
rise to a significant risk of disturbance for nearby residents.

The supporting external lighting report produced by Cudd Bentley dated 16" November
2023 notes that a combination of photocells & timeclocks could be installed to control all
external lighting. The time clocks will act as a master control and be set to switch off at
times when the development is not in operation. Outside of these hours photocells will
control the site external lighting according to daylight levels. This would prevent nighttime
lighting pollution. Localised security lighting to the rear, bordering the ecological amenity
area should utilise integrated local motion control sensors to minimize the potential for un-
necessary illumination of the local vegetation habitat. These details are considered to be
acceptable and compliance can be secured by condition.

It is therefore considered that the proposal would not harm residential amenity in terms of
loss of light, overshadowing or noise and complies with the requirements of Policy SD14
of the JCS and Policy EMP5 of the TBP.

Drainage and flood risk

JCS Policy INF2 states development proposals must avoid areas at risk of flooding, in
accordance with a risk-based sequential approach that requires new development to
incorporate suitable Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) where appropriate to manage
surface water drainage.

It was established during the consideration of the outline application that the site is at low
risk of fluvial flooding (Flood Zone 1) and that any surface water drainage issues could be
adequately addressed through an effective SUDS scheme. Planning conditions were
imposed requiring a SUDS scheme for the business park as a whole, including
maintenance and management details. This was conditioned in the renewed consent with
details to be submitted as part of the reserved matters applications. (Condition 8).

90



8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

The development is classed as a ‘less vulnerable’ use and the proposed development is
in Flood Zone 1 and therefore a low risk of flooding.

The current site is classed as greenfield for the purpose of calculating drainage rates. The
proposed Plot 5 development would have an impermeable area of 1.285 hectares and a
permeable are of 0.280 hectares. Levels will be set where possible to follow the contours
of the existing site so as to minimise the requirement for any retaining walls and adhere to
best practice and building regulation design standards.

The total attenuation required for the site is approximately 712 cubic metres which would
be provided via proposed cellular storage crates and permeable parking bays. The use of
SuDS features has been considered and can be incorporated within the design.

The drainage strategy is to discharge the surface water into the existing watercourse
located southwest of the site. A Qbar discharge rate of 5.3 I/s has been proposed to meet
LLFA requirements. A model simulation has been carried out to ensure that the site meets
the proposed discharge rates on the return periods of 1, 30 and 100 year plus a 40%
climate change.

It is concluded that the site is unlikely to pose any increased flood risk to the site itself or
adjacent developments and is not susceptible to flooding by other means.

While the LLFA have been consulted, they have declined to comment on the application
as the outline was permitted prior to their inception. The proposed drainage details are
therefore being reviewed by the council’s drainage engineer who has requested further
clarification and details. This is being reviewed by the applicant and an update will be
provided at committee.

Biodiversity

The NPPF sets out, inter alia, that when determining planning applications, Local Planning
Authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by encouraging opportunities
to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments, especially where this can secure
measurable gains for biodiversity. Policy SD9 of the JCS seeks to protect and, wherever
possible enhance biodiversity, including wildlife and habitats. Policy NAT1 of the TBLP
states that development proposals that will conserve, and where possible restore and/or
enhance, biodiversity will be permitted.

A preliminary Ecological Appraisal was submitted with the application and confirms that
the habitats onsite included species poor semi-improved grassland, with a tree lined
boundary to the south, wet woodland and stream to the west. The wet woodland was
assessed as meeting the criteria as a habitat of Principle importance under the NERC Act
2006.

A Bat Transect Survey Report has been submitted (Focus Environmental Consultants,
September 2023) which provides the results of bat transect and static detector surveys
undertaken in May, July, and September 2023. Bat species recorded during the surveys
included common pipistrelle, a Myotis species and noctule. The most recorded species
were common pipistrelle bats, and the most activity was recorded along the south side
boundary. The report recommended that the south site boundary be retained as a dark
corridor, and that removal of boundary vegetation along the southern boundary be
minimised, with additional planting along the remaining boundaries. It should be noted that

91



8.42

8.43

8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

the wet woodland along the west site boundary also recorded bat activity, and it is
important that this boundary is also retained as a dark corridor.

As such a revised External Impact Lighting Assessment (Cudd Bentley Consulting Ltd,
November 2023) was submitted. The revisions include removal of external lights on the
west elevation of the building, thereby retaining a dark corridor along the west site
boundary. Propose lighting along the south site boundary has also significantly reduced
ensuring the proposed bat boxes will not be illuminated. Compliance can be secured by
condition.

A Great Crested Newt Survey Report (Focus Environmental Consultants, July 2023) has
been submitted. The report included the results of eDNA surveys undertaken on four
waterbodies (Ponds 1, 2, 3 and 4) within 500m of the site. A negative result was returned
for Ponds 1 and 2, and a positive result was returned for Ponds 3 and 4, with Pond 3
being adjacent to the proposed development site boundary.

A Natural England Rapid Risk Assessment was undertaken, and the result indicated an
offence was ‘Highly Likely’. The GCN Survey Report stated a Natural England Mitigation
licence or inclusion within the District Licensing Scheme is required for the proposed
development.

The applicant has opted for the District Licensing route administered by NatureSpace who
have confirmed that they have received appropriate information from the applicant and
have recommended necessary Conditions to allow for the scheme to be permitted and
appropriate licence to be secured.

The trees and scrub offer nesting opportunities for birds, and several species were
recorded during the PEA survey. Appropriate mitigation measures are outlined within the
PEA reports to avoid potential harm to nesting birds.

Plot 5 offers suitable habitat for reptiles such as slow-worms and grass snakes. A Reptile
Survey Report (Focus Environmental Consultants, July 2023) was submitted confirming
no reptiles were recorded during the reptile survey site visits. However, the Common toad,
a Species of Principal Importance under the NERC Act 2006, were recorded on site. The
mitigation measures outlined for reptiles in section 5.2.2 of the EMES report are
considered to be appropriate to avoid potential harm to reptiles/other amphibians (e.g.
common toad) in the event that they are present on site at the time of construction.

The site also offers some suitable habitat for badgers and hedgehogs. It is considered
that the mitigation measures outlined in section 6.2. of the EMES report are appropriate to
avoid potential harm to badgers and hedgehogs

No biodiversity net gain (BNG) data has been submitted as the original outline consent
was submitted prior to the introduction of national legislation and policy in the
development plan and therefore does not form part of the consideration for the reserved
matters application.

It was note that the application site could impact on the Cotswold Beechwoods Special
Area of Conservation and as such a Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Opinion
report (Focus Environmental Consultants, July 2023) was submitted. The HRA
assessment concluded that the proposed development is not considered to give rise to a
‘likely significant effect’ on the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC and the Council’s ecological
adviser has confirmed that an Appropriate Assessment is not required.

92



8.51

8.52

8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

Subject to compliance with conditions it is considered that the application would have an
acceptable impact on biodiversity.

Energy and Sustainability

The NPPF at Section 14 deals with meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and
Coastal change seeking development which increases the use and supply of renewable
and low carbon energy. Policy INF5 of the JCS supports proposals where they are
designed to produce net energy savings. JCS policy SD3 requires development proposals
to demonstrate how development contributes to sustainability by energy efficiency and
adaptable for climate change.

The applicants have submitted an energy and sustainability report in compliance with
Policy SD3 of the JCS, explains that the recommended sustainability features for the
development, which from a dynamic energy model, would allow for an 6% energy saving
from a base (Building Regulations) Part L (2021) compliant build, and a 5% reduction in
carbon emission is anticipated through the incorporation of Air Source Heat Pumps and
passive energy efficiency measures. This exceeds the local planning requirement set out
by policy and complies with Policy SD3 (Sustainable design and construction).

The energy and carbon savings are to be achieved through passive design, energy
efficient measures incorporating design features such as energy efficient lighting,
submetering of relevant areas, upgrading of ‘U’ values and occupancy sensing in relative
areas, as well as the incorporation of Air Source Heat Pumps and 74 kW of Photovoltaic
Array.

To reduce the energy demand of the development as well as help to conserve water
resources within the local area, it is proposed that the fit-out works will provide for sanitary
fittings which will be water efficient through measures such as dual flush toilets and low
flow taps. The design of the proposed development will take a holistic approach to the
integration of sustainable design from inception with commitment to achieve a BREEAM
‘Excellent’ and EPC B rating. Constructed to modern standards and to provide adaptable
and flexible workspace suitable for future needs, the proposal also targets reduction in
carbon emissions from Building Regulation standards.

The development is located within Brockworth, and as such is in proximity to public
transport nodes, existing bus routes as well as a range of primary local amenities such as
a postal service, cash points and food outlets. These features allow for the reduction of
car-based travel and transport related pollution.

The incorporation of these sustainability measures along with the provision of EV charging
points and cycle stores allow for the proposed development to be deemed sustainable
whilst targeting compliance with local and national policy.

Conclusion

9.1

The application site benefits from an extant planning permission for employment use and
the principle of development is already established. This application therefore stands to be
determined on the reserved matters thereto. It is considered that the submitted details,
(subject to no objections being raised by the drainage adviser) are acceptable, would
accord with the parameters of the extant outline planning permission and relevant policies
as outlined above.

93



9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

10.

Benefits

The benefits of the scheme would be to provide 6,773 sgm GIA contributing to the
provision of an appropriately sized building for occupiers seeking larger premises to
support business growth providing 115-206 FTE jobs.

The location of the buildings is close to existing residential properties and would provide
jobs in the local area enabling people to work and live in the area and in sustainable
manner.

Harms

The proposal would result in the loss of an undeveloped area of grassland and there
would be some impact on wildlife and habitats however this harm would be limited given
the site’s condition, the fact the site already benefits from outline planning permission and
that the impacts can be appropriately mitigated against compliance with conditions and
appropriate licence.

Neutral

The site lies within the existing business park and the proposed buildings would be
compatible with the area. Furthermore the proposal would have no demonstrable adverse
impacts in planning terms on the living conditions of adjoining residents or visual amenity
of the area.

Recommendation

10.1

11.

It is recommended that authority be DELEGATED to the Development Management
Team Manager to APPROVE the application subject to no adverse observations from the
Council’s Drainage adviser and any additional or amended conditions arising.

Conditions

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
documents, except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this
permission:

- Drawing Number 11537_PL_004 Site Location Plan

- Drawing number 11537 PL 050B Site Plan

- Drawing number 11537 _PL_051 Ground Floor Plan

- Drawing Number 11537_PL_052 First Floor Plan

- Drawing Number 11537_PL_ 053 Elevations and Section

- Drawing Number 11537_PL_054 Roof Plan

- Drawing Number 11537_PL_151 A Plot 5 Landscape GA sheet 1 of 2
- Drawing Number 11537_PL_151 A Plot 5 Landscape GA sheet 2 of 2
- Drawing Number 2665-P-12 Tree Protection Plan

- Energy and Sustainability Statement by Cudd Bentley Consulting Ltd Document Ref:
6365-CBC-IC-RP-S-004-P04 Rev 004 dated March 2023

- External Impact Lighting assessment, Document Ref: 6365-CBC-OR-RP-E-004 Revision
PO2 dated November 2023 by Cudd Bentley.

94



- Noise Impact Assessment by Spectrum ref: DP835/22259/Rev. 2 dated 09/02/2023

- Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy (EMES) report (Focus Environmental
Consultants, October 2023)

- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Focus Environmental Consultants, February
2023)

- Ecological Impact assessment by Focus Environmental Consultants September 2023)
- The Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy (EMES) report (Focus
Environmental Consultants, July 2023)

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans and documents

No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Council’s Organisational Licence (WML-OR112, or a ‘Further
Licence’) and with the proposals detailed on plan “Plot 5, Gloucester Business Park:
Impact Plan for great crested newt District Licensing (Version 1)”, dated 12th September
2023.

Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately
mitigated and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the
Organisational Licence (WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’), section 15 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.

No development hereby permitted shall take place unless and until a certificate from the
Delivery Partner (as set out in the District Licence WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’),
confirming that all necessary measures regarding great crested newt compensation have
been appropriately dealt with, has been submitted to and approved by the planning
authority and the authority has provided authorisation for the development to proceed
under the district newt licence. The delivery partner certificate must be submitted to this
planning authority for approval prior to the commencement of the development hereby
approved.

Reason: In order to adequately compensate for negative impacts to great crested newts,
and in line with section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005
and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with Part 1 of the
Great Crested Newt Mitigation Principles, as set out in the District Licence WML-OR112
(or a ‘Further Licence’) and in addition in compliance with the following: - Works which will
affect likely newt hibernacula may only be undertaken during the active period for
amphibians. - Capture methods must be used at suitable habitat features prior to the
commencement of the development (i.e., hand/destructive/night searches), which may
include the use of temporary amphibian fencing, to prevent newts moving onto a
development site from adjacent suitable habitat, installed for the period of the
development (and removed upon completion of the development). - Amphibian fencing
and pi all trapping must be undertaken at suitable habitats and features, prior to
commencement of the development.

Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately
mitigated and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the
Organisational Licence (WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’), section 15 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural

95



Communities Act 2006.

No work shall start on the construction of the buildings hereby approved until details of
floor slab level relative to each existing building on the boundary of the application site
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter the new buildings shall be constructed at the approved floor slab levels.

Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring properties and to ensure that the
proposed development does not have an adverse effect on the character and appearance
of the area.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of a construction
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the demolition/construction
period. The plan/statement shall include but not be restricted to:

¢ Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to ensure
satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring properties
during construction);

¢ Advisory routes for construction traffic;

e Any temporary access to the site;

¢ Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction materials
¢ Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;

¢ Arrangements for turning vehicles;

¢ Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;

¢ Highway Condition survey;

¢ Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors and
neighbouring residents and businesses.

Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into
development both during the demolition and construction phase of the development.

All planting comprised in the approved details of tree/hedgerow planting shall be carried
out in the first planting season following the occupation of any building or the completion
of the development, whichever is the sooner. If any trees or hedgerows, which within a
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased, these shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written
consent to any variation. If any trees or hedgerows fail more than once they shall continue
to be replaced on an annual basis until the end of the 5-year period.

Reason: To ensure adequate provision for trees/hedgerows, in the interests of visual
amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until visibility splays are
provided from a point 0.6 metres above carriageway level at the centre of the accesses
including emergency accesses to the application site and 2.4 metres back from the near
side edge of the adjoining carriageway, (measured perpendicularly), for a distance of 43
metres in each direction measured along the nearside edge of the adjoining carriageway
and offset a distance of 0.6 metres from the edge of the carriageway. These splays shall
thereafter be permanently kept free of all obstructions to visibility over 0.6 metres in height
above carriageway level.

96



10

11

12

13

14

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

No building hereby approved shall be brought into use until the access, parking and
turning facilities (to serve that building) to the nearest public highway has been provided
as shown on the approved drawings.

Reason: To ensure that a safe and convenient means of emergency access can be
provided in the interests of highway safety.

The use shall not commence until details of a scheme to prevent access (by way of
retractable bollards, gates or other means), by motor vehicles through the emergency
access have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
retractable bollards, gates or other means shall then be constructed in accordance with
the approved plan and remain locked permanently thereafter unless otherwise required in
an emergency.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety

Notwithstanding the submitted details. 10% of parking spaces for each unit shall be
provided with electric vehicle charging points and marked out as electric vehicle charging
spaces close to entrances including at least 5% prior to occupation and 5% within three
years of occupation. All electric vehicle charging points shall comply with the latest
building regulations for commercial electric charging spaces, and Manual for
Gloucestershire Streets. Buildings and parking spaces that are to be provided with
charging points shall not be brought into use until associated charging points are installed
in strict accordance with such details and are operational. The charging points installed
shall be retained thereafter unless replaced or upgraded to an equal or higher
specification.

Reason: To promote sustainable travel and healthy communities.

The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the accessible car
parking spaces have been provided and thereafter shall be kept available for disabled
users as approved.

Reason: To provide safe and suitable access for all users.

The Development hereby approved shall not be until sheltered, secure and accessible
bicycle parking, and showers have been provided in accordance with submitted plans.
Notwithstanding submitted details lockers for staff shall also be provided. These facilities
shall be maintained for their purposes thereafter.

Reason: To promote sustainable travel and healthy communities.

The gates to the servicing yard shall remain open between the hours of 0700-1900
Monday to Friday.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety.

97



12.

Informatives

The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will give consideration to how the proposed
sustainable drainage system can incorporate measures to help protect water quality,
however pollution control is the responsibility of the Environment Agency

Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter that will be dealt with by
the Local Planning Authority and has not, therefore, been considered by the LLFA.

Any revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA when resubmitted through
suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. Please quote the planning application
number in the subject field.

It is recommended that the Nature Space Best Practice Principles are considered and
implemented where possible and appropriate.

It is recommended that the NatureSpace certificate is submitted to this planning authority
at least 6 months prior to the intended commencement of any works on site.

It is essential to note that any works or activities whatsoever undertaken on site (including
ground investigations, site preparatory works or ground clearance) prior to receipt of the
written authorisation from the planning authority (which permits the development to
proceed under the District Licence WML-OR112, or a ‘Further Licence’) are not licensed
under the great crested newt District Licence. Any such works or activities have no legal
protection under the great crested newt District Licence and if offences against great
crested newts are thereby committed then criminal investigation and prosecution by the
police may follow.

It is essential to note that any ground investigations, site preparatory works and ground /
vegetation clearance works / activities (where not constituting development under the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990) in a red zone site authorised under the District
Licence but which fail to respect controls equivalent to those detailed in the planning
condition above which refers to the NatureSpace great crested newt mi ga on principles
would give rise to separate criminal liability under the District Licence, requiring authorised
developers to comply with the District Licence and (in certain cases) with the GCN Mi ga
on Principles (for which Natural England is the enforcing authority); and may also give rise
to criminal liability under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and/or the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (for which the
Police would be the enforcing authority).

The development hereby approved may include the carrying out of work on the public
highway. You are advised that before undertaking work on the public highway checking
the highway ownership and management arrangement that you must enter into a highway
agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 with the County Council, which
would specify the works and the terms and conditions under which they are to be carried
out if adopted highway.

98



10

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the
preparation and signing of the Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to cover the
Councils costs in undertaking the following actions:

Drafting the Agreement

A Monitoring Fee

Approving the highway details

Inspecting the highway works

Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement
under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured and
the Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any drawings
will be considered and approved.

It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate Constructors scheme
and comply with the code of conduct in full, but particularly reference is made to
“respecting the community” this says:

Constructors should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the
public e Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;

¢ Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;

¢ Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

¢ Working to create a positive and enduring impression and promoting the Code.

The CMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the local
community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should also confirm
how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an agreed Service
Level Agreement for responding to said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information shared with
the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact details for the site
coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any relief to obligations
under existing Legislation.

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought
to determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

99






=l

e

W\
”‘?“:wi‘
4 N

B8/,
i

1
) a

101

O

Qs
IR
£
ig 5
- S
]
E
s $
2 =
23
£8
B
&
0ogd
) >
EEEAA S
£ |8 |E &5
° @ I S
[ O
o
o
<
g
OB
£
<
o s H
g _ Y <
s |2 3
f‘z’émﬁe
FR (325 5
3< (8% |8 &)
&
=4 =
[= a <
2 gl =
=
i}
£| 2| 8
x| B &
S| 2
2| 2.8
ui x |23
o| W Zw
S| BiFeE
X .| o®n
2|50 | w
sllo 213 =
252328
S aO|ad@
° 2
=
a
2
2
& H
s H
H
2
3!
2
¢ §
s 38
2 28
3
e ©
o &5
s - 88
. & dd
Sg8_ o 88
8523 oo
L &
EcX 6o as
Sfcao &%
=52g2 sk
S8===c E3
°
]
S
H
=z
S
<

Offices
Woking




nesio
seufos| uou
wopuoy
Bupom

S0

edeospue
siouow)

uBisaq ueqn
Buueig siseny
Buueig
aimeyyoIy

w0y 08 s mn
fréfroreer

9¥2 508 80610

Buuuelg R 2nDAYY DHd

O iencsdey [ won
O fevw 1000 [ von:

a 050 d L€G11

ray con Sameg :sbes ot

€CNVP a 0054

orQ fapoxosud WO

Nv1d 3LS
§107d

a1l Buimesq

Nuvd SSINISNE ¥ALSIONOTO

1990014

ONYTHLYON
3d0¥N3 vavY

welo

VD GILVAIOSNOD TIIM

auvA
‘30IN3S IO GIHSNUE
svauy

NVINISIO3d OLONAYA X008
svauy

‘ONDIYVA 0L ONIYd Y00 ™8

‘S2LYD ONHOLYIN HLM 30N34
HSINTTIMNOWTE HOM Ur T

‘ONISSOMO NVRLSI3d OL
‘ONIAVA TULOVL HLM B3 dO¥a

‘SIHONI QY T18VL ONOK
UL HLM 3OVS ALINIWY.

[ERENE By
J0VdS ONDRIVA TIESIO0V
‘30VS ONDRIV FUVHS YD

(1504 ¥3d S39vas 0UZ)
INIOA ONIDNYHO A3

Of@e 5 | EEOBO

@

Q30N SIIUL ONUSIA

Q3NIVLZY S33UL ONLSIA

‘STIULMIN 0350d0Ud
LIS NOLLYONddY

A

SJuBWWO0 ¥d1 0}

£ZAON DSV Pepuewie $s8008 SIaA AIEpU029S g

£2100 Osv

adeospue| pajepdn o}

sjeq Puoumelg

dror Qugsuupenn (3

'Gn0s9) G4 040} payodas 0q 0 sapUEnb jo
o0 0

b4

INNIpy d33NOIg

=

TIvM
ONINIVLIY
M3N

[Cr—m

QaIWH04
$S300V M3N

3INOZ
ONLINY1d
g
3dVOSANYT w9 vis-gns
MaN

HIHVE JILSNODY
[EENTINEENY
HOIH Wy MaN

H3AVE OLISNOOY

M HOIH WSy M3N

=}

_m

\

i

3NOZ ONIINV1d
3dVOSANYT Wg

$§30vds

ONDYd T1DA0

"ON ZZ HLIM ¥3113HS
F1DAD ¥3ILOML

Balancing Pond




i YA SSINSNEXILSINOTD
0slosg

oud NVTHLYON
3d0uN3 VaY
Swei

ONIIQY1 400% Ga11H0Nd.

ONIGAVIO LSO

Um0 AoV 5]
‘SUOQNIM QY2 WININNTY

(o IOV 7]
ONOOYTD 31140%d TVINOZRIOH

a0 7]
ONOOYTD 31140%d TVINOZRIOH

‘ONIGOYID G31140¥d TVINOZROH

Srapossaapeiekisa b

NOILO3S ONOT T¥OIdAL

|

103



[ 3uuuedg amdanpay Oud |

mesiEp, a sepusy
okt vy @ ienossdy [ vonewsojul
”.__n.oﬁ O Aseuiwnesd [ vononnsuoy
snie onss)
seoWo
150 1d L6811
sy %N fomen csbag oo
siouap
wsequean € NVI' El 002:4
buweg oSN (a6 fapapaiy WS
g ———————————————————————
aimoeyyary
NY1d 40074 ANNOYO A3S0d0dd
VG LINN
a1 Buimesq
et
arzs0c 60810
ST
sauko) uolIW Mdvd SSANISNE ¥31S30N019
i 190f01d
ANVIHLYON
3d0dn3 Vv
ello
2WB0'ELL'O/ HG06'ZL [BIOL
WGE'/9Y / MLED'S EE|
AUpL'GOE'9/ H898'L9 4D
VIO
WEY'9/6'9/ H960'GL [BIOL
MITYLS [ HGES'S 44|
AUZY'ZHY'9/ BL9S'69 4D
v3Io
L'G LINN
2120 promeg suoisiney

dror Qug oy pwon (3

G059 G4 o4} 0)payde1 00 0 sapuEb jo

B wsoa

ntis

002:| 9/e0s

woz

Sk

oF

0

34

NV1d 40074 ANNOYHO

403NN ‘[_

1ous|

anoay
301440
40 3NN

ISNOHIEVM

'S 1INN

34

104



[ 3uuuedg amdanpay Oud |

mesiem o sopusy
‘soukey uou A enosdey [0 wonewsoju
wpuor
Soom O kewiwnesg [ wonsnnsuoy
s st
SO
250 1d L6811
ackospuey NN Bomen isbag onasr
siouawn
wsequean € NVI' El 002:4
Buueld eise a*q fa parayd WO
g ————————
sy
NY1d 40074 1S4 43S0d0dd
VG LINN
an1L Buimeig
et
sv250800810
NS 2N
sauko) uolIW Mdvd SSANISNE ¥31S30N019
i 190f01d
ANVIHLYON
3d0dn3 Vv
Wl
2WB0'ELL'O/ HG06'ZL [BIOL
WGE'/9Y / MLED'S EE|
AUpL'GOE'9/ H898'L9 4D
VIO
WEY'9/6'9/ H960'GL [BIOL
MITYLS [ HGES'S 44|
AUZY'ZHY'9/ BL9S'69 4D
v3ao
L' LINN
2120 pioumag Suosiney

dror Qug oy pwon (3

G059 G4 o4} 0)payde1 00 0 sapuEb jo

B wsoa

ntis

002:| 9/e9S

woz

Sk

oF

0

anoav i
AdONVD !

40 wz:\‘J
|

NV1d ¥0014 LS¥Id

301440

{aron

L'S 1INN

105



¢

£
7
TN
G AN AN
S 79N [ (& VS
RS0 A
e P\
LTSN
S NN/=Sa el A\

4]

S
N

KEY

TN
’iz{{i}.l

SS
5
AS

106

1-4.9m

10-14.9m

15-19.9m

200 300 400 500m

100

o

Revisions:

Architecture

Offices

12 Warren Yard,
Warren Park,

A. Heights reduced for Units 3.1, 4.1 and 4.2

Milton Keynes,
MK12 5NW
01908305246

Planning

Keynes

o | O
LN <
2x|*

82 5
E
s |2
o=
28
I3
S
oo
=
Twl, |
2= |8 |E BfE
S |2 e 5fd
[ O
o
[
£
=1
ol
[N} o
S
. s <

o 2o §Tﬂ

S 98|25 |8 ¢ Y

O |[s®|g<L |5 5[4

0 |6+ |8% |8 2=

-

Q@

©

o

(2]

w
=
X
&3
w
x
O]
=
a
x| =2
x| 2
ol | ®
= ol e
= w L
S @ €D
| w| o
Bl 2| &
(%]
o 2 o
= cn-o-g
Wl H|==
S| KhlI-S
.8l
zD|lso|==E
cWioe 5 |3
2Z(59|=2
sElio|ad
<
LN
°
= <
as g
2
5
59
€=
g0
s
2
H
)
£
H
i
H
£
]

info@pre-group.com

a

Figured dimensions only are to be used. Al

PRC Group.

©

www.pre-group.com




Agenda Iltem 5d

Planning Committee

Date 23 April 2024
Case Officer Frank Whitley
Application No. 23/00441/FUL

Site Location

Land to the West of Twigworth Court Farm, Tewkesbury Rd,
Twigworth

Proposal Installation of ground mounted solar to export up to 16 MW (AC)
electricity, comprising photovoltaic panels and associated
infrastructure and works.

Ward Innsworth

Parish Twigworth

Appendices Location plan

Layout

Array details
Panel dimensions
Access track
Control room
DNO customer substation
Inverter station 1
Inverter Station 2
Inverter Station 3
Inverter Station 4
Landscaping plan

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Parish Council objection

Recommendation

Permit.

Site Location
Sandhurst

Abbot's Lodge
Cottage

Twigworth

Longford 4 o

K ol ey vy,

107




1. The Proposal

1.1 Full application details are available to view online at:
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=documents&keyVal=RU38KGQDHDV00

1.2 The application seeks planning permission for Installation of ground mounted solar to export
up to 16 MW (AC) electricity, comprising photovoltaic panels and associated infrastructure
and works.

1.3 It is proposed that at the end of the operational life of the solar farm (40 years) the
development would be decommissioned.

1.4  The application follows pre-application advice provided under ref 22/00021/PRE, where the
principle of solar development on the application site was found generally acceptable by
Officers.

1.5 A Screening Opinion (application ref 23/00004/SCR) decided that an Environmental
Assessment is not required.

1.6 The development would comprise:

e 38,000 photo voltaic (PV) panels between 1.8m to 4.3m above ground level,
depending upon maximum depth of flood water

e 4 x inverter containers each 10m long, x 2.6m wide x 3m high

e Control building container 10.5m long x 2.6m wide x 3m high.

e District Network Operator (DNO) substation container 8.1m long x 2.7m wide x 3.2m
high

e Customer substation container 8.1m long x 2.7m wide x 3.2m high

e Containers would be mounted on raised platforms depending on maximum depth of
flood water

e Distribution cable network

e 1.5km new access track

e 2m high perimeter security fence and CCTV cameras

e Temporary Construction compound (approx. 900sgm area)

¢ Landscaping and biodiversity enhancements

1.7 The solar farm would be accessed by vehicles from the A38 Tewkesbury Road, 1.3km north
of the A40 Longford roundabout. The access is currently a gated field entrance, immediately
north of the filling station/store/car sales garage at Twigworth, and opposite St Matthew’s
Church. From here a new vehicle track would be laid, to connect close to the southern end
of the solar farm.

1.8 There would be a second access off the A38 to the DNO facility, customer substation and
auxiliary transformer, where there is an existing gated opening from the A38. From here, a
cable would connect to the solar farm underground, with the exception of the Broadboard
Brook crossing where it would be carried overhead between two poles. There would be no
vehicle access to the solar farm from the DNO facility.

1.9 A buffer strip is incorporated into the PV array layout either side of a high-pressure gas

pipeline which runs through the southern end of the site.

108


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RU38KGQDHDV00
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RU38KGQDHDV00

1.10

In addition to location/layout plans, the application is supported by:
o Planning Statement

o Design and Access Statement

o Environmental report

o Landscape proposal

o Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA)

o Settings Impact Assessment

o Sequential Test

o Residential and Amenity Visual Assessments

o Noise Assessment

o Landscape and Ecological Management Plan

o Glint and Glare Assessment

o Geophysical Survey and Archaeology reports

o Flood Risk Assessment

o Construction Traffic Management Plan

o Arboricultural Assessment and Land Classification Report
o Ecological Management Plan and Shadow Habitat Regulation Assessment
o Access Study

o Statement of Community Involvement

o Visibility Assessment

o Residential Visual Amenity Assessment

Site Description

2.2

2.3

24

25

2.6

2.7

2.8

The application site is approx. 26ha of flat agricultural land, bounded on its western edge by
Cox’s Brook and on the southern edge, by Broadboard Brook. The site is 1.2km from the
northeast to southwest corners, consisting of five agricultural fields enclosed by hedgerow
(hereafter referred to as fields 1-5, numbered north to south).

The red line of the application site connects to the A38 by two projections, one of which would
comprise cable/substation infrastructure and the other would be for vehicle access.

The site is almost entirely within Twigworth Parish, though a small section to the south is
within Longford Parish. The land is flat and currently is arable/grassed.

A high-pressure gas pipeline runs through field 5, and continues north, running parallel and
just outside the eastern boundary of development.

The land is almost entirely within Flood Zone 3 (highest risk of flooding), according to
Environment Agency Flood Maps. According to the Agricultural Land Classification System,
the land is graded 3b.

The application site is outside of any landscape designation. The Cheltenham/Gloucester
Green Belt extends as far west as the A38.

There are no public rights of way crossing the site, though the route of a footpath borders the
eastern side of field 1, for a distance of 125m. There is a network of paths locally and the
Gloucestershire Way passes 100m to the south of field 5 and the substation facility.

The site is bounded entirely by open agricultural land on its eastern side, and set back from

the A38, though in the intervening space is some development on the western side of the A38
comprising residential dwellings, commercial buildings and a school.

109



29

2.10

2.11

2.12

3.

Residential dwellings closest to the solar arrays (160m across open field)) would be Nos. 1-
3 Twigworth Views, which are located to the rear of Twigworth Court and Business Centre
(Grade 2 listed). Twigworth Primary School, nursery to the rear, and a group of residential
dwellings on the A38 adjacent would be approximately 230m from the nearest array.
Twigworth Lodge Hotel (Grade 2 listed) is also on the western side of the A38 and separated
over a distance of approximately 270m.

The most northern part of the development would be within 200m of the approach lane to
Wallsworth Hall (Grade 2* listed), part of which is occupied by an art gallery and tea room.
Adjacent to the northeastern side of the lane, planning permission has been granted in outline
for up to 85 dwellings by an appeal decision dated 21 February 2024 (23/01343/0OUT).

The nearest settlement is Twigworth which for the most part is on the eastern side of the
A38. Significant residential development has been approved, most notably relating to
outline planning permission granted in 2016 for up to 750 dwellings (15/01149/0OUT) and
several later applications for reserved matters.

To the west of the A38, and in the context of the application site, the area is predominantly
rural in character, comprising open arable land, hedgerows, small pockets of woodland,
scattered residential properties/farm buildings between small villages and a network of narrow
lanes. There are no protected trees within the application site, though there is a group Tree
Preservation Order opposite St Matthews Church, and immediately north of the proposed
vehicle access point.

Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision Decision
Number Date

23/00004/SCR Construction of a solar farm and associated EIA not 12.4.24

infrastructure (Coxs Brook SPV) required

Consultation Responses

4.1

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.
A site notice has been displayed.

Twigworth Parish Council- objection
In summary:

o Inappropriate close to residential properties of Twigworth
visual impact to the outlook of nearby residential properties
Contrary to policies of Neighbourhood Development Plan
impact to the character of the local landscape
impact for users of public rights of way
Loss of productive arable land
Impact to heritage assets
Loss of wildlife habitat
Traffic impacts, including noise and vibration
Development is not temporary
No direct benefit to local community

O 0O O O OO OO0 OO O0

110



https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

Longford Parish Council- objection
In summary:
Flooding, traffic and noise

Natural England- no objection
Summary: Mitigation Measures should be secured as set out in the Shadow Habitats
Regulations Assessment

Environment Agency- no objection
Summary:

e Site is almost entirely Flood Zone 3 functional flood plain

e Sequential Test (ST) should be applied: ‘Development should not be allocated or
permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed
development in areas with a lower risk of flooding’. (para 162 of archived NPPF now
para 168)

e Exception test should be applied

¢ Condition should be applied to ensure that solar panels and buildings are installed
above design flood level

e If the Local Planning Authority is minded to approve, conditions are recommended
to keep the voided area free of water flow obstruction

¢ No objection to raised access track above flood level

e Concerns highlighted about flood levels around infrastructure buildings. The EA
recommends consultation with emergency planners and emergency services and
compliance with national policy guidance

e Asregards Flood Evacuation Management Plan (FEMP), EA operates a Flood
Warning Service. EA recommends consultation with emergency planners and
emergency services to determine whether FEMP would secure safe and sustainable
development.

National Highways- no objection
Based on the location of the proposal we do not consider that the application will result in a
severe or unacceptable impact on the Strategic Road Network

Historic England- no objection

We confirm that while the visual impact of the proposed development from the estate
approach to Wallsworth Hall is limited (and could be further mitigated through augmented
hedge/tree planting), the change to the landscape, as historically associated with the estate,
would result in a small degree of harm. Your authority should take these representations
into account and seek amendments, safeguards or further information as set out in our
advice.

Health and Safety Executive - no objection

Cotswolds National Landscapes- no objection
The Board has no comments to make on the proposed development

Gloucester Airport- no objection
The submitted glint and glare study has stated that there would be no adverse effects from
the proposed solar farm. In this case therefore GAL would have no objection to the proposal

Exolum Pipeline System Ltd- no objection

County Council Highways- no objection

111



412

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

Lead Local Flood Authority- no objection

The proposal is for structures identified as Essential Infrastructure largely in Flood Zone 3.
The NPPF allows such development when supported by an exception test. The exception
test is satisfied by constructing panels, control rooms, inverter stations, substations and
transformers on structures above the 1:100 flood levels. The LLFA has no objection to this
proposal.

County Archaeology- no objection
Acceptable mitigation strategy has been provided and can be secured through condition

Public Rights of Way- no objection

Tewkesbury Borough Council Emergency Planning Team- no objection

Summary: Development should not have an impact on other properties by increasing
flooding elsewhere, and should not create additional loss of power locally in the event of
flood event.

Tewkesbury Borough Council Landscape Adviser - no objection
Some adverse landscape harm, though no objection overall.

Conservation Officer- no objection

The impact of the proposed development would generally be insufficient to generate
anything above minor harm to the setting of surrounding Heritage assets.

Ecology- no objection

Newt Officer — no objection

Environmental Health- no objection

Third Party Comments/Observations

A site notice has been displayed
12 Objections have been received on the following grounds in summary:

e Landscape harm- eyesore and blight on countryside

e Solar farm would be entirely visible from Twigworth Court- clear violation of the
Neighbourhood Development Plan states public views from the A38 to May Hill
should be maintained
Risk of flooding and required elevation of equipment
Outside of settlement boundary
Fails to protect views according to neighbourhood development plan
Emergency access issues during flood event
Impact on wildlife
Proximity to airport, risk to aircraft traffic from glint and glare
Potential expansion of solar farm
Loss of agricultural land
Noise and light pollution
Reduction in property values and visual impact
Should be sited in alternative locations such as roof tops and non-agricultural land
Development would change the tranquil character of the area creating adverse
impact along public right of way. Panels would tower above walkers blocking
views.

112



¢ Harm to heritage assets

¢ Would consume what little green space Twigworth has left. Would engulf the area
and cause harm to the countryside

e Current beautiful vistas across Severn Vale countryside

e Solar arrays up to 4.33m will appear like a robotic army standing in perfect formation
ready to advance on Gloucester

e 4 container buildings up to 5.68m above predicted flood level of 11.58m will look like
command centres for the robotic army

e Connecting cables will short circuit during flooding and could be damaged by

burrowing animals

Could harm drainage of Cox’s Brook into River Severn

No reason given to support lifespan of 40 years

Poor energy performance

Installation will take longer than 6 months if flooding occurs

Increase in construction traffic on A38

Cumulative impact of other solar farms

New planting to screen development would take 10 years to mature

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG).

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

Policy SP2 (Distribution of New Development)

Policy SD3 Sustainable Design and Construction

Policy SD4 Design Requirements

Policy SD6 Landscape

Policy SD8 Historic Environment

Policy SD9 Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Policy SD14 Health and Environmental Quality

Policy INF1 Transport Network

Policy INF5 Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
Policy NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity, and Important Natural Features

Policy HER? Listed Buildings

Policy LAN2 Landscape Character

Policy ENV2 Flood Risk and Water Management

Policy ENV3 Solar Farms

113



6.5 Down Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Development Plan
Policy E2 Landscape protection in the open countryside
Policy E3 Landscape and new developments

7. Policy Context

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan,
so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

7.2 The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBP), and a number of 'made’
Neighbourhood Development Plans

7.3 The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

7.4 Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG)

MAIN ISSUES

e Principle of Development
e Site selection

e Loss of agricultural land
e lLayout

e Effect on Landscape Character and Visual Amenity
e Flooding and Drainage

¢ Residential Amenity

e Historic Environment

e Access and Highways

e Ecology and Trees

8. Evaluation
Principle of Development

8.1 Under the Climate Change Act 2008, the government seeks to promote renewable energy
production in order to reduce greenhouse emissions. The UK is committed under legislation
to become the first major economy to achieve Net Zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.

8.2 The UK Government published its ‘Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy’ in

November 2023 and came into force in January 2024. Para 3.3.20 states that:

Wind and solar are the lowest cost ways of generating electricity, helping reduce costs and
providing a clean and secure source of electricity supply (as they are not reliant on fuel for
generation). Our analysis shows that a secure, reliable, affordable, net zero consistent
system in 2050 is likely to be composed predominantly of wind and solar.

114



8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

Chapter 14 of the NPPF seeks to meet the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change. Para 157 states that

The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing
climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape places
in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise
vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the
conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and
associated infrastructure

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) explains that increasing the amount of energy from
renewable and low carbon technologies will help to make sure the UK has a secure energy
supply, reduce greenhouse gas emissions to slow down climate change and stimulate
investment in new jobs and businesses. Planning has an important role in the delivery of new
renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure in locations where the local environmental
impact is acceptable.

Tewkesbury Borough Council declared a Climate Emergency on 1 October 2019. In achieving
its vision for a ‘good quality of life’, the Tewkesbury Borough Plan incorporates the
environment into the three dimensions of sustainable development. The Plan recognises
that addressing climate change contributes to achieving its vision.

Policy INF5 (Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development) of the adopted JCS
states:

Proposals for the generation of energy from renewable resources, or low carbon energy
development (with the exception of wind turbines), will be supported, provided the wider
environmental, social or economic benefits of the installation would not be outweighed by a
significant adverse impact on the local environment.

Policy ENV3 of the adopted TBP (Solar Farms) states that in considering proposals for large
scale, stand alone solar photovoltaic installations priority will be given to sites on previously
developed land or non-agricultural land. Where the proposed use of agricultural land is shown
to be necessary, priority will be given to poorer quality agricultural land.

Subiject to further determining criteria below, in principle, the development is supported by
national, local policies and associated guidance.

Site Selection

The planning application is supported by an Alternative Site Assessment (ASA) Document
comprising a Sequential Test required specifically in relation to flooding.

The ASA explains that Developments with a generating capacity roughly in the range 2 to 25
MegaWatts (MW) will typically require a connection to the 33,000 volt (33kV) network. The
first stage in site selection is to identify a suitable connection point before assessing planning
and environmental considerations. In dialogue with National Grid, the applicant has identified
capacity for 16MW in the overhead line between Rotol Road (off Down Hatherley near
Gloucestershire Airport) and Castle Meads. Sites greater than 1.5 km from the overhead
power line are economically unviable.

115



8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

Stage 3 of the applicant’s ASA excludes land which is subject to statutory designations, in
terms of landscape, ecological and/or heritage value. Green Belt (other than in exceptional
circumstances), Country Parks, built up areas, Registered Common Land, National Parks,
and land crossed by public rights of way is also excluded. Best and Most Versatile Land is
also screened out the process.

Site Suitability Investigations at Stage 3 of the ASA process includes an assessment of Flood
Zones (at this juncture Officers note that the NPPF does not exclude land at risk of flooding
from solar development, (see paragraph 8.64 below).

Stage 3 also includes an assessment of existing land use, where preference is given to
brownfield land. However no suitable brown field sites were located within the refined search
area.

Preference is given to sites where the overall landscape and visibility of the site is limited, or
can be made so with appropriate screening.

Taking into account the size and number of the proposed construction vehicles that will be
used, the application explains it is necessary to find a site which has suitable road access
with minimal highway improvements required.

In terms of topography and shading characteristics, a site that is mostly flat or south facing is
preferred to a site with a north facing slope, as the area of land required is reduced and the
amount of electricity generated per hectare of land used is higher. Generally, smaller sites
are preferred because this minimises land take and visual impacts. Fewer field boundaries
are preferred to minimise shading from existing hedgerows and trees.

The findings of the Stage 3 ASA investigations demonstrated there were no suitable sites in
Flood Zone 1 in the refined search area. They were not of sufficient size to be viable and
were largely in use for housing and/or commercial purposes. A site in Flood Zone 2 was
considered a possibility but was in an existing industrial estate/business park and could not
be developed as a solar farm. The only land identified as being potentially suitable within the
refined search area was identified as being in Flood Zone 3.

Finally, thorough dialogue with a number of landowners, and carrying out site inspections,
the search for suitable sites was narrowed down still further. The outcome of these
discussions led to the final section of the proposed application site.

Loss of Agricultural Land

Chapter 15 of the NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the natural environment.
Paragraph 180 states that amongst other things, planning decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment by recognising the benefits of natural capital,
including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land.
Similarly, Chapter 11 of the NPPF seeks to make effective use of land, where planning
decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other
uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment, and encourage multiple benefits
from both urban and rural land.

Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality) of the adopted JCS amongst other things
states that new development must take into account the quality and versatility of any
agricultural land affected by proposals, recognising that the best agricultural land is a finite
reserve.

116



8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

Policy AGR2 of the adopted TBP is also relevant where it states any proposals (for
diversification) must be of a scale and use appropriate to the rural setting and be in keeping
with the character of its surroundings.

The agricultural holding is approximately 189 hectares. The proposed development would
cover approximately 69% of total arable land and 12.4% of the overall holding. Land is
currently used in the application site for arable and silage purposes.

According to the submitted Agricultural Land Classification report, the application site is
Grade 3b, which is described as Land capable of producing moderate yields of a narrow
range of crops, principally cereals and grass, or lower yields of a wider range of crops or high
yields of grass which can be grazed or harvested over most of the year.

According to the NPPF, Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMV) is defined as land
within Grades 1,2 and 3(a) of the Agricultural Land Classification. The application site is not
therefore BMV. There is no conflict with the NPPF, Policies SD14 or AGR2.

Layout

The basic solar module unit would be formed of 27 panels fitted together to form a rectangular
array measuring in total 10.4m long x 6.7m wide and 35mm depth. Each array would be
angled between 15-35 degrees from horizontal and mounted on a metal frame fixed into the
ground. There would be 1407 array modules distributed across the site in parallel rows east
to west. The height above ground of each array would be a maximum of 4.3m in the western
and central parts of fields 3 and 4, where flood water depth is likely to be at its highest.
Elsewhere in fields 2,3,4 and 5, arrays would mostly be up to 4.1m high. The majority of
arrays in field 1 would be mounted up to 1.8m height above ground level where the depth of
flood water would be least.

The solar panels would connect to four combined inverter/transformer units which would then
transfer energy to the grid. There would be one unit in field 1 (inverter station 1), and three in
field 4 (inverter stations 2-4).

The inverter station containers would all be the same size (see paragraph 1.5 above) though
each would be mounted on a raised platform, taking account of maximum flood water depth
in their proposed position. Platforms would be constructed on frames, to allow water to move
underneath and to minimise the displacement of water. Table 1 shows the floor level of each
inverter container and the roof height of each inverter container above ground level.

Table 1: Inverter container heights above ground level.

Container floor level above | Container roof level
ground (ie maximum flood | above ground.
water depth)

Inverter 1 1.4m 4.6m
Inverter 2 2.9m 6.1m
Inverter 3 2.7m 5.9m
Inverter 4 2.9m 6.1m

Members should note that the maximum predicted flood water depth includes a margin taking
into account predicted climate change impacts, and an additional 300mm as requested by
the Environment Agency. As also noted by the Environment Agency, this represents 500mm
above the highest recorded flood level at the Sandhurst gauge, recorded in July 2007.

117



8.29

8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

Each inverter container would have an external platform at its floor level, measuring 13.5m x
5.6m accessed by steps from the ground.

Alongside the inverter station in field 1 would be a control room, raised 1.4m off the ground.
Total height would be 4.6m above ground.

The application site comprises a single access track from the A38 which would be routed to
the outside of the field 5 boundary (where there would be a construction compound) and then
through a gated entrance into field 4. Here the access track crosses the oil pipeline over a
30m buffer strip (total width), crossing field 5 and part of field 4. Although the layout buffer
strip equates to 15m either side of the pipeline, the applicant has provided a letter from Wales
and West Utilities which confirms the minimum ‘no excavation’ distance either side of the
pipeline is 10m. This enables new planting to take place inside the layout buffer strip. The
access track runs inside the eastern boundary, past each inverter unit and terminates at the
control room in field 1 to the north. The access track would be constructed from crushed
stone, and would be at ground level.

The solar array development would be entirely bounded by a 2m dark coloured galvanised
wire mesh fence (colour specification to be confirmed at the condition discharge stage), held
between wooden posts at 4m intervals. The high pressure pipeline would also be protected
by the same specification of fence, on the edge of the buffer strip. There would be gates
through the perimeter fence into fields 1 and 5.

The entire solar array fence would be screened on its outside either by the existing
strengthened hedge, or by a new hedge, maintained with tree planting to a height dependent
upon the height of the solar panels intended to be screened.

The submitted layout indicates that (in approximation) field 1 would be bounded on its eastern
side by a 2.5m hedge, field 2 by a 3m hedge, field 3 by a 4m hedge, field 4 by a 6m hedge,
and field 5 by a 4m hedge.

The standard hedgerow mix would comprise hawthorn, hazel, field maple, dogwood,
blackthorn and crab apple. Hedges would be planted in a staggered row of three
transplants, in order to achieve additional depth once established. Where a hedge is
intended to reach 6m high, the Trees Officer has discussed a solution directly with the
applicant’s landscaping consultant. It has been agreed that new tree planting within the
hedge would take place at approximately 15m centres, of heavy standard (12-14cm girth) of
field maple and wild pear.

DNO and Customer Substation

The DNO and Customer substation facility would be located adjacent to the A38, 75m south
of the School House belonging to with Twigworth CofE Primary School. In the intervening
space is Hatherley Brook and its bankside vegetation, and an existing car park. The
compound is situated almost directly underneath the route of the 33kV overhead power line
to which the facility would connect. The much larger 132kV power line is 50m further south,
though there would be no connection made to it.

The two substation buildings would each be 8.1m long x 2.7m wide x 3.2m high, each
mounted on raised platforms in the same way as the inverter units, taking account of
predicted flood water depths. Table 2 shows the shows the floor level of substation
containers and transformer, and the roof height of each above ground level.

118



8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

Table 2: Substation containers and equipment heights above ground level.

Floor level above ground (ie | Maximum height above
maximum flood water depth) | ground
DNO Substation container 2.1m 5.3m
Customer Substation 2.1m 5.3m
Container
Auxiliary Transformer 2.1m 3.8m
Control Room 1.4m 4.6m

The containers and the transformer would have an external platform at floor level, accessed
by steps from the ground.

The substation facility would be screened on its northern, eastern and southern boundaries
by the existing and new hedge. In response to concerns about achieving timely effective
screening, the revised landscaping strategy includes a proposal to plant 2.4m high feathered
trees of native species in the area of the substation.

Connection from Solar arrays to DNO Substation facility

The solar arrays in field 5 would connect to the DNO substation by an underground cable
(approx. 275m), except where crossing the Broadboard Brook. Here the cable would run
35m overhead, 8m above ground, between two poles either side of the brook.

Effect on Landscape Character and Visual Amenity

The NPPF at Paragraph 130 states amongst other things that decisions should ensure that
developments are sympathetic to local character and history. At Paragraph 174, the NPPF
states that decisions should protect and enhance valued landscapes and sites of
biodiversity in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the
development plan. The NPPF also states in Para 174 that decisions should recognise the
intrinsic beauty of the countryside. and the wider benefits from natural capital and
ecosystem services — including trees and woodland.

Policy SD6 (Landscape) of the adopted JCS in summary:
e seeks to protect landscape character for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to
economic, environmental and social well-being.

e states proposals will have regard to the local distinctiveness and historic character of
the different landscapes in the JCS area, drawing, as appropriate, upon existing
Landscape Character Assessments and the Landscape Character and Sensitivity
Analysis.

¢ applications for development will consider landscape and visual sensitivity, supported
by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment as appropriate. Proposals should
include appropriate mitigation and enhancement.

Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character) of the adopted JCS states all development must, through
sensitive design, siting, and landscaping, be appropriate to, and integrated into, their existing
landscape setting. Relevant landscape features and characteristics must be conserved and
where possible enhanced.

119



8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

8.51

8.52

8.53

Policies E2 and E3 of the Down Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood
Development Plan 2011 — 2031 seek to protect the landscape in the open countryside, and
where new planting is proposed, to incorporate a majority of native species. Amongst
other important vistas and landscape features , the enclosed tree-lined drive to Wallsworth
Hall is identified in the Development Plan.

The application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment where it explains
the Vale of Gloucester provides a largely flat, broad floodplain rising to the north to form
Sandhurst Hill, and to the west, beyond the River Severn to form Spring Hill, north to the
settlement of Maisemore. Gloucester and Innsworth also lie in the floodplain, before the land
rises to form the Cotswold Escarpment to the south east.

The land is flat, and sparsely wooded across the landscape, and is characterised by frequent
hedges and hedgerow type trees, parkland, and orchards. There is also unimproved
grassland and other grazing marshes.

In the Gloucester Landscape Character Assessment of 2006, the application site is identified
as being in Landscape Character Type (LCT) 12, (Floodplain Farmland), with LCT 18 (Settled
Unwooded Vale) lying to the west, north and east.

LCT Floodplain Farmland is characterised by:

Areas subject to winter flooding which provides fertile pastures for summer grazing.
Flat landform and limited tree cover

Extensive pattern of ditches, streams and brooks

Pastoral landscape with unimproved and improved grassland

Urban and industrial land uses in the vicinity of Gloucester

LCT Settled Unwooded Vale is characterised by:
¢ Gently undulating to flat landscape with intermittent locally elevated areas
¢ Mixed arable and pastoral land
¢ Limited woodland cover with mature hedgerow and trees
e Bordered by large urban and suburban areas and interspersed with commercial and
industrial premises
e Major transport corridors
¢ Network of pylons and transmission lines

In terms of landscape character, Twigworth Farmed Floodplain is assessed as having a
medium sensitivity value, with low susceptibility to change.

The LVIA concludes that in terms of landscape character, there would be an adverse effect
but the significance of the effect would be graded moderate-minor.

Specific to the application site, is the presence of a number of listed buildings near to the
application site, and of particular note is Wallsworth Hall (Grade 2*). The conclusion of the
Settings Impact Assessment is that the proposed development would not harm the
significance of any of the heritage assets in the wider area.

In terms of Visual Receptors, 12 viewpoints have been selected within the Zone of Theoretical

Visibility (ZTV). Six are located on public rights of way, and six on nearby roads. A separate
Residential Visual Amenity Assessment accompanies the application.

120



8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

8.58

8.59

8.60

Visual receptor harm has been identified from the following viewpoints:

¢ Viewpoint 1 from the A38- moderate to minor harm, decreasing to minor after 15 years

e Viewpoint 3 from public footpath on north east boundary- moderate, decreasing to
negligible after 15 years

e Viewpoint 7 from public footpath to north west of site- moderate to minor decreasing
to negligible after 15 years.

e Viewpoint 8 from public footpath (Gloucestershire Way) — major to moderate
decreasing minor after 15 years

o Viewpoint 9 from public footpath (Gloucestershire Way) — major to moderate
decreasing moderate after 15 years

e Viewpoint 10 from public footpath west of site —moderate decreasing moderate to
minor after 15 years

The Gloucestershire Way is considered a particularly sensitive route due to its popularity with
walkers. Harm from all other viewpoints is considered in the LVIA to be minor or negligible.

Officers comment on the submitted LVIA having regard to the opinions of the Borough
Council’'s own appointed landscape Adviser who has reviewed the application and visited the
application site.

The Adviser acknowledges there will be adverse impacts because landscape positives do
not outweigh the negatives. In his opinion, even though there is a sizeable change where
the alteration would occur, it is relatively discrete and is to an intensively managed agricultural
landscape with limited landscape amenity appeal. The Adviser adds that the local landscape
feature of note, Wallsworth Hall, would not have its landscape setting altered. Adverse
impacts are mitigated by the duration of the effect and once the site is decommissioned, new
hedgerow and tree planting would remain as a more lasting beneficial change.

The landscape Adviser also comments that flatter landscapes generally are better hosts for
solar farms. Primarily, the edge of the development affects ‘human perception’ rather than
the ability to see a greater area of arrays ranging up a slope or hillside. However, this opinion
is qualified by potential cumulative effects where wider landscape character harm may occur
from a proliferation of solar farms. In relation to an approved solar farm at Maisemore, the
Adviser believes there should be no visual link.

The landscape Adviser has stated that generally, he agrees that 15 years after development,
the effect on landscape character for the Twigworth Farmed floodplain would be moderate to
minor, adverse, but reversible. The description of effects and sensitivity levels given to
receptors in the LVIA is found to be fair and reasonable. Additional planting and increased
husbandry of landscaping could increase benefits still further.

In terms of visual effects, arrays would be visible in ‘middle distance’ views from a number of
residential, commercial buildings on the west side of the A38.
e The residents of Twigworth View looking west to the eastern edge of Fields 1, 2 & 3
¢ Residents and workers on the upper floor of the Oakwood Hotel
¢ From the occasional residential properties set to the west side of the A38 set between
the Twigworth Service Station and The School House
Arrays would also be visible from Mary P’s Nursery School.

121



8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

8.66

8.67

Some concerns are raised about the views from the approach lane to Wallsworth Hall,
though not from the Hall itself. The landscape Adviser acknowledges that away from the
A38 corridor, the edge of the array development would be visible and would appear
‘unnatural, uniform and repetitious in appearance’. Housing development approved by
23/01343/0UT on 21 February 2024 would not be affected by the solar farm as there is
sufficient separation over approximately 100m and the dividing feature of Wallsworth Hall
Lane.

However Officers comment that this visual harm would be limited to a small number of
properties, and not from close range. New planting and enhancement of existing hedgerows
would mitigate the visual harm. Further solar arrays closest to the approach lane to
Wallsworth Hall in field 1 would for the most part be 1.8m off the ground. Only a small
number of panels on the western edge of field 1 would be up to 3.6m off the ground, due to
a higher predicted flood water depth closer to Cox’s Brook. According to the landscaping
plan, the existing hedge of the northern boundary of field 1 is 6m high, and would be
maintained at that height.

In terms of the substation facility adjacent to the A38, Officers comment that it would be highly
visible at least initially after installation, though in time visibility would be reduced. Given the
speed of traffic and screening, only glimpses of the 5m high structures are more likely. Views
from the School House to the north are not considered significantly harmful, given the existing
proximity of the A38, proximity of power lines and intervening vegetation.

Officers acknowledge the development would lead to significant landscape change, resulting
in some adverse harm to character, particularly before and during the establishment of
effective screening. However having regard to comments from the Council Landscape
Adviser, Officers do not believe impacts to the character of the landscape are sufficiently
harmful to warrant refusal of the application.

Solar arrays and the substation would be visible from relatively few local locations due to flat
topography and existing field boundaries. Where some visual harm is identified, the
landscaping strategy submitted demonstrates that harm can be controlled to an acceptable
level. Subject to implementation of a landscaping plan secured by condition, Officers
consider there is no conflict with Paragraphs 130 and 174 of the NPPF, Policy SD6
(Landscape) of the adopted JCS and Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character) of the adopted
TBP.

Flooding and Drainage

The NPPF states that inappropriate development at risk of flooding should be avoided by
directing development away from areas at highest risk.

The Sequential Test required by the NPPF Technical Guidance, forms part for the Alternative
Site Analysis (ASA), which has been submitted as a separate document. The ASA explains
that proximity to and availability of electricity grid is essential for viability and environmental
reasons. A number of alternative sites within the ASA document have been discounted. The
selected location of the solar farm includes consideration of a number of constraints and has
concluded that the proposed site is the most reasonable within the search area (Paragraph
8.17)

122



8.68

8.69

8.70

8.71

8.72

8.73

8.74

8.75

The application site is within functional floodplain. NPPF Technical guidance states that only
water-compatible uses and essential infrastructure should be permitted in functional
floodplain. It should be designed and constructed to:

 remain operational and safe for users in times of flood

* result in no net loss of floodplain storage

* not impede water flows

* not increase flood risk elsewhere

Essential infrastructure in this zone should pass the Exception Test.

According to NPPF Technical Guidance, Essential Infrastructure includes:

e Essential transport infrastructure (including mass evacuation routes) which has to
cross the area at risk

e Essential utility infrastructure which has to be located in a flood risk area for
operational reasons, including electricity generating power stations and grid and
primary substations; and water treatment works that need to remain operational in
times of flood.

e Wind turbines.

For the avoidance of doubt, and as acknowledged by the Environment Agency and LLFA,
solar farms are considered to fall within these exceptions.

The application is supported by a Flood Risk Exception Test which in summary, explains
there are local, regional and national benefits from the proposed development, and that the
solar farm can operate safely, without increasing flood risk elsewhere.

Policy INF2 (Flood Risk Management) of the adopted JCS states that development proposals
must avoid areas at risk of flooding, in accordance with a risk-based sequential approach.

Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management) of the adopted TBP seeks to manage the
risk of flooding to and from new development.

The vast majority of the application site is in Flood Zone 3 (highest risk) from fluvial flooding
and is functional floodplain. Only a small part of field 1 is in Flood Zone 2. According to the
landscaping plan, the existing hedge of the northern boundary of field 1 is 6m high, and would
be maintained at that height.

The submitted Flood Risk Assessment explains that according to British Research
Establishment (BRE) planning guidance, large-scale ground mounted solar panels do not
increase the impermeable area of a site and it is generally considered that they do not
contribute to an increase in surface water runoff from the site. Panels are typically mounted
in double horizontal rows and are separated by a horizontal rainwater gap. These gaps allow
rainwater to drain freely to the ground between the ground. Officers comment that there is
anecdotal evidence that more permanent ground vegetation underneath and between panels
helps to increase holding capacity of the ground, stabilises soil, and reduces silt and water
run off which can otherwise be a consequence of cultivated arable land. In relation to
infrastructure equipment and buildings, backfilled trenches and swale features are
incorporated into the drainage strategy. These measures are intended to intercept and
attenuate runoff, thus preventing unrestricted runoff. Notwithstanding, it is recommended
that a surface water disposal scheme is secured by condition.

123



8.76

8.77

8.78

8.79

8.80

8.81

8.82

8.83

8.84

As a point of clarification, the maximum predicted flood level is the same across the entire
application site. Equipment is installed across the site at different heights above ground,
because of different ground levels, and hence water depths. The maximum predicted flood
level takes into account the latest recommended climate change allowances. Equipment is
designed to stand at this flood level (design flood level) which in this case is 11.58m above
ordnance datum (AOD). This figure is the precautionary worst case design flood level
against which the site has been assessed and is accepted by the Environment Agency.

As an additional safeguard, the Environment Agency has recommended the floor levels of all
buildings should be designed 300mm above the maximum predicted flood level. All
buildings have been designed accordingly. Electrical connections of each solar panel would
be at least 300mm above the design flood level thus avoiding the risk of immersion.

All associated buildings would have their base levels and access doors raised above design
flood level (ie maximum predicted depth) to ensure equipment is not damaged. This will be
achieved by the use of plinths and ‘stilts’, with access provided by stairways and ramps.

Permeable gravel tracks would ensure that surface water runoff is reduced to acceptable
levels.

Drainage systems are likely to remain in private ownership and therefore the site operator
will be responsible for the maintenance of drainage equipment.

The FRA concludes:

e Site topography and taking into account of climate change flood levels, it is feasible
to design the farm, taking the appropriate flood risks into account, primarily by raising
the infrastructure above the design flood level.

¢ Analysis of the likely effects on floodplain storage has concluded that the development
will have a negligible impact

o All other forms of flood risk have been considered and assessed as low or very low.

No objections have been received in relation to flooding and access arrangements, by either
the Environment Agency, Lead Local Flood Authority, County Council Highways, Tewkesbury
Borough Council Emergency Planning Team.

Officers consider that a satisfactory sequential test has been provided, and there are no other
appropriate alternative sites where development of this nature could realistically take place.
Officers consider the proposed development is essential infrastructure and is in principle
appropriate in the functional flood plain. Further, Officers are satisfied the development would:

¢ remain operational and safe for users in times of flood

¢ result in no net loss of floodplain storage

e not impede water flows

e notincrease flood risk elsewhere
Accordingly, the flood risk exception test is deemed to have been met.

Officers consider that refusal of the application on drainage and flood risk grounds would be

unwarranted, and that the proposed development where relevant complies with the NPPF,
its associated Technical Guidance, INF2 of the adopted JCS and ENV2 of the adopted TBP.

124



8.85

8.86

8.87

8.88

8.89

8.90

8.91

8.92

8.93

8.94

Residential Amenity

Policy INF5 of the adopted JCS (Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development)
supports low carbon energy development, provided the benefits are not outweighed by a
significant adverse impact on the local environment, taking account of users and residents of
the local area in terms of ‘emissions, noise, odour and visual amenity’.

Policy SD4 (Design Requirements) of the adopted JCS seeks to avoid visual intrusion, noise,
smell, and pollution in development. Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality) goes
further to ensure that new development causes no unacceptable harm to local amenity
including neighbouring occupants.

Policy HEA 1 (Healthy and Active Communities) of the adopted TBP seeks to ensure that
potential impacts to health and wellbeing are considered in new development.

A noise impact assessment has been submitted which explains that 30 noise sensitive
receptors (all residential dwellings) were identified within a study area of 500m around the
application site.

The noise impact assessment explains a low background noise level of 25dB is appropriate
for a typical low noise rural night-time setting. The day-time background noise levels are
assumed to be higher than 25dB and therefore the night-time assessment is considered a
worst-case scenario. 25dB is considerably less than the Night Noise Guideline value of
40dB as set out in the World Health Organisation Night-time Guidelines.

An assessment of the acoustic impact showed that a low and negligible impacts during night-
time periods are anticipated and therefore no mitigation is required.

The planning application had been assessed by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer
who has raised no objection regarding noise impacts to nearest sensitive receptors during
day and night. Only during the construction phase, the Environmental health Officer has
requested a method statement as part of the Construction and Environmental Management
Plan, which may be secured by condition.

The application is supported by a Glint and Glare Assessment which in part considers impacts
to nearby residential properties. The Assessment has found that eight residential properties
within 1km of the site could potentially be affected. Taking into account existing vegetation,
only three residential properties would be affected by low level impacts. Once proposed
additional screening is taken into account, no impacts are predicted to all eight properties.
Officer consider there is very low risk of residential properties being affected by glint and
glare.

Officers consider the proposed development complies with requirements where relevant of
the NPPF, INF5, SD4, SD14 of the adopted JCS and HEAL1 of the adopted TBP.

Historic Environment and Archaeology

The NPPF at Chapter 16 (Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment) states that
when considering impacts, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.

125



8.95

8.96

8.97

8.98

8.99

8.100

8.101

8.102

8.103

Policy SD8 (Historic Environment) of the adopted JCS states that designated and
undesignated heritage assets and their settings will be conserved and enhanced as
appropriate to their significance, and for their important contribution to local character,
distinctiveness and sense of place.

Policy HER2 (Listed Buildings) of the adopted TBP states that development within the setting
of listed buildings will be expected to have no adverse impact on those elements which
contribute to their special architectural or historic interest., including their settings.

Policy HER4 of the adopted TBP states that Scheduled Monuments and sites of national
archaeological importance will be preserved in situ and provision should be made for
excavation and recording.

A Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA and incorporated into the Settings Impact Assessment)
has been submitted.

The assessment identifies the following designated heritage assets, due to their proximity to
the study site, and potential for intervisibility with the proposed development:

» Wallsworth Hall and gate piers (Grade II*)

» Twigworth Court

« Stable Blocks north of Twigworth Court

» Twigworth Lodge Hotel

* Bengrove Farm

In addition to the listed buildings the following non-designated historic buildings are identified
* The Church of St Matthew
* Former Twigworth Primary School (60m north of the A38 substation)

Wallsworth Hall is situated 500m northwest of the nearest edge of field 1. The HIA recognises
it is a heritage asset of the highest national significance and its setting comprises several
distinct elements.  The first element is the experience obtained between the bridge over
Cox’s Brook and the Hall itself. (280m separation on the approach lane) Here, the
architectural interest is best experienced with glimpses of the facade, in conjunction with its
gate piers. Secondly, views from the remainder of the approach lane before Cox’s Brook are
the clock tower, visible over trees. The final element noted in the HIA are the long views of
the surrounding landscape, which demonstrates the relationship of the Hall with the
surrounding rural area.

Historic England has been consulted and report that visual impacts of the proposed
development are limited, though could be further mitigated through augmented hedge/tree
planting. The change to the landscape, as historically associated with the Wallsworth
Estate, would result in a small degree of harm. It is recommended that more discussion
takes place with the Council’s landscape Adviser. The formal position adopted by Historic
England in respect of Wallsworth Hall and its setting is that development is likely to remain
harmful, albeit at the lower end of less than substantial, as defined by the NPPF. Historic
England advise that it would be for the Council to weigh any harm against the public benefits
of the scheme, as required by the NPPF.

The Conservation Officer has been consulted and reports as follows, and that in his opinion,
heritage impacts are limited to the following assets:

126



8.104

8.105

Bengrove Farm (Grade 2 listed)

The farm sits in an area of open countryside north west of the proposed development. Due
to distance and topography, it is likely that some distant views of the solar farm will be
possible, but not of sufficient magnitude to impact upon the setting of the historic asset.

The Setting of Twigworth Lodge Hotel (Grade 2 listed)
Due to distance and topography, and its position next to the A38, harm to the significance of
the building would be limited.

The Approach to Wallsworth Hall (Grade 2*listed)

The Conservation Officer acknowledges the experience of the approach to Wallsworth Hall

is particularly sensitive to change and visual intrusion where the private drive passes through

open countryside. Accordingly, any views of the solar panels would be unacceptable. In
response to the Conservation Officer concerns, Officers point out the following:

e The edge of the approach road to Wallsworth Hall is entirely within the applicant’s control
and therefore it would be possible to augment existing landscaping proposals where
considered necessary. Additional planting along the edge of the approach road and to
the northern edge of field 1, could be secured by way of an appropriate landscaping
condition. According to the landscaping strategy plan, the hedge on the northern
boundary of field 1 is already 6m high and would be maintained at that height. The
arboricultural survey confirms the northern boundary currently comprises a group of ash
trees, a group of field maple trees, a lime tree as well as the hawthorn/blackthorn field
boundary hedge.

e Approximately 80% of solar panels in field 1 would be no higher than 2.3m above ground.
Only a small number would be up to 3.3m above ground level. The Conservation Officer
appears to have assumed a worst case scenario of 4.3m high in field 1.

e At the point of discharging a landscaping condition, Officers would be entitled to insist on
larger transplants, in order to achieve more rapid screening.

e Discussions have taken place between the applicants landscaping Adviser and the
Council's Tree Officer. This discussion has led to development of an enhanced
illustrative landscaping scheme which will be presented to Members at Committee.

The Setting of the Old School (Location of Substation)

The Conservation Officer has confirmed the Old School House is not listed but is a historic

Victorian village school building of stone and brick with neo gothic styled details. The building

is in a prominent location and contributes positively to the historic character of the area. The

building is considered a non-designated heritage asset. The Conservation Officer's opinion
is that the substation buildings would have the potential to appear prominent, dominant,
utilitarian and industrial. In response to the Conservation Officer concerns, Officers point
out the following:
e Land surrounding the substation forms part of the enhanced illustrative landscaping
scheme which will be presented to Members at Committee.

e The substation would be sited on land within the control of the applicant, so a more
effective landscaping screen could be planted as required at the point of discharging a
landscaping condition.

e The existing road side hedge along the edge of the A38 is well established and for the
most part is an effective screen. Where a gap exists, further tree/shrub planting is
possible.

Paragraph 208 of the NPPF requires that where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

127



8.106

8.107

8.108

8.109

8.110

8.111

8.112

8.113

Officers consider there are very significant public benefits from the proposed development by
its contribution to addressing the harmful effects of climate change, and the need to meet the
government’s targets under the Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order
2019 of reducing greenhouse gases. Further, The UK Government published its
‘Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy’ in November 2023 and came into force
in January 2024. Paragraph 3.3.20 states that Wind and solar are the lowest cost ways of
generating electricity, helping reduce costs and providing a clean and secure source of
electricity supply (as they are not reliant on fuel for generation).

Members will also recall that Tewkesbury Borough Council declared a Climate Emergency
on 1 October 2019.

For the above reasons, Officers consider the proposed development carries very significant
weight in terms of the balancing exercise required by Paragraph 208.

In terms of the significance of Wallsworth Hall, it should be noted that Historic England has
assessed the level of harm as the lower end of less than substantial. Concerns have been
raised by the Conservation Officer, though clarification has been provided against the
consultation response. Further, additional mitigation can be secured by way of an
appropriate condition. No concerns have been raised by the Council's Tree Officer
regarding the means to achieve this mitigation.

Officers consider there are clear public benefits from the proposed development and the
balancing exercise required by Paragraph 208 of the NPPF weighs in favour of the
application.

Paragraph 209 of the NPPF requires that the effect of an application on the significance of a
non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account. For these assets, a balanced
judgement will be required having regard to the scale of harm and the significance of the
asset.

For the same reasons which apply to Paragraph 208, Officers consider there are very
considerable public benefits in favour of development. The Conservation Officer has
expressed concerns about level of harm to the significance of the Old School building.
However, Officers consider the substation facility should be viewed in its immediate context
which includes the A38 and large electricity pylons very close by. Officers also refer to the
Landscape Character Type ‘Floodplain Farmland’ which includes in its character (amongst
others) ‘urban and industrial land uses in the vicinity of Gloucester’. Accessible alternative
sites which would avoid either landscape, environmental, and heritage harms appear very
limited. On balance and taking into account that harm can be further mitigated by additional
landscaping and by controlling colour of buildings and equipment, Officers consider the
balanced judgement lies in favour of development. For this reason, there is no conflict with
associated legislation, namely the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990.

In terms of archaeology, a desk-based assessment, geophysical survey, and trial trenching
evaluation have been carried out and results submitted in accordance with Paragraph 200 of
the NPPF. Three areas of interest have been found, two dating from the Roman period and
one of Medieval origins. Assessments have been carried out under the supervision of the
County Council archaeologist who has advised that in these areas of interest, works are
limited in depth to avoid damage to archaeological assets. Elsewhere, targeted trial
trenching has been completed.

128



8.114

8.115

8.116

8.117

8.118

8.119

8.120

8.121

8.122

Further to trial trenching, an archaeological management plan has been completed and its
scope has been agreed with the County Council archaeologist who has no objections, subject
to development proceeding in accordance with the management plan.

Subiject to the above procedures being followed, Officers consider the development complies
with the NPPF and Policy HER4 of the adopted TBP.

Access and Highways
The NPPF at Chapter 9 seeks to promote sustainable transport.

Policy INF 1 (Transport Network) requires that developers should provide safe and accessible
connections to the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters.
Chapter 10 of the adopted TBP states that an efficient and safe transport system is critical to
the success of the Borough and the quality of life of its residents and visitors.

The application is supported by a:
¢ Draft construction traffic management plan,
e Code of construction practice,
e Technical note comprising and access study and personal injury collision review
(updated following initial Highways holding objection)
e Delivery route plan

In relation to access and highways, the application concludes that construction is expected
to last six months. Deliveries would approach from the south only, according to the
submitted delivery route plan. Access to the main site would be by an existing field entrance
adjacent to the filling station/store/car sales garage at Twigworth, and opposite St Matthews
Church. Access to the substation facility would be from the A38, in a position between the
bridge crossings of the Broadboard Brook and Horsbere Brook.

During construction, (and decommissioning) an average of 6-10 HGV delivery vehicles
would arrive at the site per day. Where possible, deliveries would be made outside of
typical network peak hours and only between daytime hours Monday to Friday and
Saturday mornings. Officers recommend a further control to preclude any activity on
Sundays and public/bank holidays. There would be approximately 50 workers on site
during construction with up to 30 associated vehicle trips involving smaller car and minibus
movements.

The layout of a temporary construction compound has been provided, which would be
situated at the western end of the access track, immediately outside of the main solar site.
The compound measuring approximately 30m x 30m would comprise a storage area, drying
room, canteen, offices, car park, wheel wash area, and turning area within for articulated
vehicles.

National Highways has been consulted and has raised no objections.

129



8.123

8.124

8.125

8.126

8.127

8.128

8.129

8.130

Gloucestershire County Council Highways has been consulted and initially expressed some
concerns with the following, leading to holding objection.

e Concerns that approaching HGVs to the access on the A38 would have to cross the
centreline of the highway without additional clarification on access dimensions and
visibility

¢ Clarification required on speed surveys

o Clarification required on car and vehicle parking arrangements

o Clarification required on road surfacing proposals

Following the initial concerns, the applicant has submitted a revised highways technical
note which has been reviewed by the Highways team. Additional access drawings have
been provided and additional explanation provided to the satisfaction of the Highways team.
Conditions are recommended to secure a finalised Construction Management Plan, access
treatment and confirmation of visibility splays, to be secured prior to the commencement of
development.

In terms of Glint and Glare impacts to Highways receptors, 21 locations have been
identified where solar reflection could be visible. Taking into account existing built form and
vegetation, solar reflection would only be experienced at three highways locations, and to a
low level. Once landscaping is established, there would be no impact.

Where other travel modes are considered, there would be no impact to train drivers. The
Glint and Glare Assessment has also addressed potential aviation impacts. The approach
paths of Gloucestershire Airport have been investigated and impacts are deemed
acceptable. There are no views of the development from the Air Traffic Control Tower.
The impact to aviation assets is deemed not significant. The Airport Safety Officer has
been consulted and has confirmed there would be no adverse effects from the proposed
solar farm.

Subject to recommended conditions, Officers consider the proposed development complies
with relevant aspects of the NPPF and Policy INF1 of the adopted JCS.

Ecology and Trees

Chapter 15 of the NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the natural environment, in part by
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value and
soils, and minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.

Policy SD9 of the adopted JCS (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) states amongst other things
that the biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be protected and enhanced
in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that are resilient to current and future
pressures. Similarly, the adopted TBP Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and
Important Natural Features) requires amongst other things that proposals will, where
applicable, be required to deliver a biodiversity net gain across local and landscape scales,
including designing wildlife into development proposals.

Policy INF3 (Green Infrastructure) of the adopted JCS states that Development proposals
that will have an impact on woodlands, hedges and trees will need to include a justification
for why this impact cannot be avoided and should incorporate measures acceptable to the
Local Planning Authority to mitigate the loss.

130



8.131

8.132

8.133

8.134

8.135

8.136

8.137

8.138

Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features) requires amongst
other things that proposals will, where applicable, be required to deliver a biodiversity net
gain across local and landscape scales, including designing wildlife into development
proposals.

The application is supported by

Ecological Impact Assessment (EclA)

Draft Landscape and Ecological Management Plan
Shadow Habitat Regulation Assessment (SHRA)
Wintering Bird Scoping Report Assessment
Breeding Bird Survey

The submitted sHRA concludes that two potential sites could be affected by development,
namely Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) and secondly the River Severn Special
Area of Conservation (SAC), together with the nearby watercourses Cox’s Brook and
Hatherley Brook.  The applicant has reviewed Natural England documents regarding
wintering and passage roosts of functionally linked land and concluded the application site is
not of particular importance to bird species associated with the Severn Estuary. Where
wetland birds fly over solar panels, there is very low anecdotal evidence that wetland birds
mistake solar panels for water. The sHRA explains that there are no pathways for adverse
impact on qualifying species of the SPA as a result of development. Equally, and subject to
the implementation of a Construction and Environmental Management Plan, the development
would not have an adverse impact on the River Severn and its tributaries.

Natural England has been consulted and agree with the conclusions of the sHRA. There
are no objections to development, subject to the imposition of appropriate ecological and
environmental conditions.

The EclA has identified three SSSIs and one Local Nature Reserve within 5km of the
application site. Innsworth Meadow SSSI is within 1km.

The ecological survey has included investigations for the presence of badger, great crested
newts, bats, otter, dormouse, water vole and breeding birds. A summary of impacts is set
out in the EclA, which concludes that in terms of existing habitats, bats, birds and reptiles,
impacts would be ‘not significant’ in each case, though plainly there is scope for
considerable enhancement as required by Biodiversity Net Gain policies and legislation
through the production of a Landscape and Environmental Management Plan (LEMP).

The wintering bird scoping report concludes there are no species cited in the Severn
Estuary SPA designation were recorded during the survey.

Submitted ecological information has been assessed by the Council’s own ecological
Adviser, who has raised no objection to the development subject to conditions to secure an
updated Code of Construction Practice, and a revised Landscape and Environmental
Management Plan. The submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment Results metric
indicates that development would be expected to achieve an 11% increase in hedgerow
units and a 56% increase in habitat units in accordance with required policy and legislation.

131



8.139

8.140

In terms of trees, an arboricultural impact assessment has been provided. The
assessment confirms no individual trees would be removed in order to facilitate
development. Only small sections of six hedgerows (Category C, low quality) are proposed
to be removed to create gaps to route the access track through or to enable the
construction of the security/deer fencing. One lime tree on the eastern boundary would be
subject to a 2.5m crown lift in order to construct the security/deer fence. The group of
trees opposite St Matthew’s Church protected by a Tree Preservation Order are sufficiently
distant from the access and set back from the A38 that they would be unaffected by
development.

Officers consider appropriate biodiversity net gain would be secured. Ecological harm is not
considered significant. Subject to appropriate conditions the development complies with
Chapter 15 of the NPPF, Policies SD9, INF3 of the JCS and NAT1 of the TBP.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

10.

The application states that with the assumed output of 16MW, it is estimated the solar farm
would produce enough electricity to supply the average annual electricity needs of around
4955 households. The generation of renewable energy supports the UK’s transition to a low
carbon economy.

Officers consider that policies of the Development Plan which support renewable energy
attract very significant weight.

Against the benefits of development, harms have been identified in terms of landscape
character and visual amenity impacts. However, these harms are localised and affect
relatively flat land where existing and enhanced landscaping would further screen solar arrays
and infrastructure. New hedgerow and tree planting is likely to persist beyond 40 years at
which time the development would be decommissioned and the land restored to agricultural
condition.

The development is proposed in a functional floodplain, though in this case Officers consider
the sequential and exception tests required by the NPPF and adopted JCS have been met.
It has been sufficiently demonstrated there are no realistic alternative sites available, and by
appropriate design, development would not impede water flows or increase flood risk
elsewhere.

Subiject to further details to confirm detailed aspects, Officers consider development would
not cause significant harm to residential amenity, heritage or ecological assets or the
transport network.

On balance, the harms of development are not considered to outweigh the very significant
benefits of renewable energy generation. Officers consider the proposal would accord with
relevant policies as outlined above. Therefore, it is recommended that planning permission
be granted subject to the recommended conditions.

Recommendation

10.1

The proposal accords with relevant policies as outlined above, it is therefore recommended
the application be permitted subject to the following conditions:

132



Conditions

The development hereby permitted shall not be begun after the expiration of three years from
the date of this consent.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the
following approved documents:

Received 3 May 2023

Location Plan 1.1 PLAO1

General Layout 2.1 PLAO1

Overhead line details 2.13 PLAO1

Deer Fence and gates 2.11 PLAO1

Security Camera Details 2.10 PLAO1

Received 24 July 2023

Array details amended 2.2 PLAO2

Mounted Panel Dimensions amended 2.3 PLAO2
Access Track amended 2.12 PLAO2

Received 22 March 2024

Inverter Station 1 amended 2.5 PLAO3

Inverter Station 2 amended 2.6 PLAO3

Inverter Station 3 amended 2.7 PLAO3

Inverter Station 4 amended 2.8 PLAO3

DNO Customer Substation amended 2.14 PLAO2
Control Room amended 2.9 PLAO2

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans.

Prior to commencement conditions

Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to commencement of the development hereby
permitted details of a revised construction management plan shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The plan shall include but not be restricted to:

¢ Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to ensure
satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring properties during
construction);

e Details of daily, hourly and total vehicle movements types with scheduling and
management arrangements.

¢ Routes for construction traffic;

¢ Any temporary access to the site;

¢ Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction materials;

e Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;

e Arrangements for turning vehicles;

¢ Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;

¢ Pre and post construction highway condition surveys with photographic evidence based
on evidenced start and finish dates immediately before and after works;

133



¢ Method Statement for the installation of PV mounting frames and substation to include
noise assessment

¢ Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors and

neighbouring residents and businesses.

Reason: In the interests of maintaining highway safety, residential amenity and to protect
the environment.

The development hereby approved shall not be commenced until visibility splays are
provided from a point 0.6m above carriageway level at the centre of the access to the
application site and 2.4 metres back from the near side edge of the adjoining carriageway,
(measured perpendicularly), for a distance of 109 metres north and 116 metres south
measured along the nearside edge of the adjoining carriageway and offset a distance of 0.6
metres from the edge of the carriageway. These splays shall thereafter be permanently kept
free of all obstructions to visibility over 0.6m in height above carriageway level.

Reason: In the interests of maintaining highway safety, residential amenity and to protect
the environment.

The development hereby approved shall not be commenced until pedestrian visibility splays
of 2m x 2m measured perpendicularly back from the back of footway where existing shall
be provided on both sides of the access. These splays shall thereafter be permanently kept
free of all obstructions to visibility over 0.6m in height above the adjoining ground level.

Reason: To ensure motorists have clear and unrestricted views of approaching pedestrians
when pulling out onto the adopted highway, in the interest of highway safety.

Notwithstanding submitted details, an amended Code of Construction Practice (CCP) shall
be submitted prior to the commencement of works. The CCP shall not be implemented
other than in accordance with approved details.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecological assets.

The development hereby approved shall not be commenced until the existing and any
temporary access gates have been removed and set back over 20 metres from the
adjoining carriageway edge and made to open inwards only.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety to ensure no waiting vehicles obstruct the
highway.

No development including demolition, site clearance, materials delivery or erection of site
buildings, shall start until measures to protect trees/hedgerows on and adjacent to the site
have been installed in accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

These measures shall include:

1. Temporary fencing for the protection of all retained trees/hedgerows on and adjacent to
the site whose Root Protection Areas (RPA) fall within the site to be erected in accordance
with BS 5837(2012) or subsequent revisions (Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and
Construction). Any alternative fencing type or position not strictly in accordance with BS 106
5837 (2012) shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the start of
development. The RPA is defined in BS5837(2012).

134



10

11

12

2. Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ): The area around trees and hedgerows enclosed on
site by protective fencing shall be deemed the CEZ. Excavations of any kind, alterations in
soil levels, storage of any materials, soil, equipment, fuel, machinery or plant, site
compounds, cabins or other temporary buildings, vehicle parking and delivery areas, fires
and any other activities liable to be harmful to trees and hedgerows are prohibited within the
CEZ, unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The approved tree protection measures shall remain in place until the completion of
development or unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate protection measures for existing trees/hedgerows to be
retained, in the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance)
until a construction and environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved CEMP shall not
be implemented other than as approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of protecting and enhancing ecological assets.

The site access points onto the highway shall be widened with surfaced hardstanding in
accordance Rappor Technical Note 22-0469 Issue 02 received 8th April 2024 to allow for
swept path HGV turning with bound hardstanding within 15 metres of the highway and
drainage within the site.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety to ensure no vehicles waiting obstructing the
highway.

Prior to commencement of the development a management and maintenance plan to
ensure surface water flows across the site are not unduly impeded during the operational
phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall include details of regular management measures and specific measures to be
incorporated following a flood event, to be undertaken by a suitably qualified party, including
inspection and cleaning of backfilled trenches and swales and clearance of vegetation
debris. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved
plan.

Reason: To ensure the continued operation and maintenance of drainage features serving
the site and avoid flooding.

Prior to First Operation conditions

Prior to first operation of the development, a SuDS management and maintenance plan
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
SuDS maintenance plan shall be implemented in full in accordance with the agreed terms
and conditions.

Reason: To ensure the continued operation and maintenance of drainage features serving
the site and avoid flooding.

135



13

14

15

16

17

Notwithstanding the submitted details, no above ground development shall take place until
a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment using the Defra Biodiversity Metric (or any updated or
replacement metric used as the industry standard) including a schedule for implementation
of works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The assessment shall include details to demonstrate the development would secure
measurable net gains for biodiversity and its future maintenance. The development shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details and thereafter be similarly
maintained.

Reason: To ensure the development would deliver a biodiversity net gain across the local
and landscape scales.

Prior to first operation of the development, a Flood Evacuation Management Plan shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved management plan
shall not be implemented other than as approved, and for the lifetime of development.

Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the development.

The development shall not become operational until details of the landscaping have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details no later than the first planting
season following the development becoming operational. The landscaping shall thereafter
be maintained as approved for the lifetime of development. If during this time any trees,
shrubs or other plants are removed, die, or are seriously diseased these shall be replaced
during the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

Prior to first operation of the development a landscape and ecological management plan
(LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The LEMP
shall be written in accordance with BS42020. The LEMP shall also include details by which
the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured and who is responsible for its
delivery. The plan will detail how habitats on site will be managed including remedial actions
where necessary, to ensure that that the development meets its aims and objectives. The
LEMP should also detail how a positive net gain in biodiversity habitat units can be
achieved and maintained in the long term. The LEMP is to include details set out within the
Ecological Impact Assessment (Environmental Solutions Ltd, April 2023). The LEMP shall
not be implemented other than as approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of protecting and enhancing ecological assets.

Prior to their installation, a colour finishing specification for PV mounting panels, control
room, inverters, substation containers, platforms, supporting frames and fencing shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. Development shall not take place
other than in accordance with the approved colour specification, and shall be maintained as
approved for the lifetime of development.

Reason: In the interests of maintaining visual amenity

136



18

19

20

21

22

12.1

The bottom of solar panels shall be set no lower than 11.88mAQOD. This level is 300mm
above the design flood level of 11.58mAOD.

Reason: To allow freeboard to protect the development from flooding and ensure it remains
operational over its lifetime

Voided areas underneath buildings, containers and equipment shall be kept free from
additional obstruction for the lifetime of development, other than where and to the extent
permitted by approved plans in Condition 2.

Reason: To ensure flood water flows are not obstructed.

Not less than 12 months before the end of life of the development hereby permitted, or not
less than 12 months from the cessation of electricity production by the development,
whichever is the sooner, a Decommissioning Method Statement shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Decommissioning Method
Statement (DMS) shall include details of the removal of the solar PV equipment and all
associated cabling, buildings, infrastructure and access tracks, together with a timetable for
these works. The DMS shall also include details of the proposed site restoration. The site
shall be decommissioned, and the site restored in accordance with the approved DMS and
timetable within 6 months of the expiry of the 40 year period of planning permission, or
within 18 months of the cessation of electricity production by the development, whichever is
the sooner.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to return the site to agricultural land.

Development shall not proceed other than in full accordance with the Landgage Heritage
Archaeological Management Plan (2" issue dated 6 December 2023).

Reason: In the interests of preserving and recording archaeological assets on the site.
No removal of trees/scrub/hedgerows shall be carried out on site between 1st March and
31st August inclusive in any year, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the nature conservation interest of the site is protected

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to
determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

The Local Highway Authority has no objection to the above subject to the applicant
obtaining a section 184 licence. The construction of an access will require the extension of
a verge and/or footway crossing from the carriageway under the Highways Act 1980 -
Section 184 and the Applicant is required to obtain the permission of Gloucestershire
Highways on 08000 514 514 or highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk before commencing any
works on the highway. Full Details can be found at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk .

137



The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is likely to
impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and any demolition
required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities Network Management Team
at Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before undertaking any work, to
discuss any temporary traffic management measures required, such as footway, Public
Right of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking restrictions a minimum of eight
weeks prior to any activity on site to enable Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders to be
prepared and a programme of Temporary Traffic Management measures to be agreed.

The applicant's attention is drawn to the need to ensure that the provision of the visibility
splay(s) required by this consent is safeguarded in any sale of the application site or part(s)
thereof.

Construction Management Plan (CMP) It is expected that contractors are registered with
the Considerate Constructors scheme and comply with the code of conduct in full, but
particularly reference is made to “respecting the community” this says: Constructors should
give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the public

¢ Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;

¢ Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;

¢ Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

¢ Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting the Code.

The CMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the local
community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should also confirm
how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an agreed Service
Level Agreement for responding to said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information shared with
the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact details for the site
coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any relief to obligations under
existing Legislation.

138



0001

P T =0
R

s R | o Aanosa0

s | o Ao

Nolvooraus o

[Er—— AWVa0D

0048 SX00 | 1103r0ud

mm_nm,gw:,mm, sd @

Nouvaraon

AYVANNOE NOILYOIddY

[NEGER]

WeuybiH

PLOIPIY.
%00.8 X0l

naisaly

weynos,

000001:1 &f€o8

000011 ¥V IIVIS

00004:4 31E38.
uype3 8ioon

upe3 21600

Nw0Og1ZZ—

Nw000ZZZ—

W—J[L

piua g

e
|

ER——
+ —uoszree

abenon

"\,

ebpoisioqay &

Sugz8E—

000:1 9feds

139

e




oo |

Aocoeag o) pis v s

29030

onmyoq Dpism
v Ao e e

omanoem

Aanos30

omarmt |

manoe

Aamwi0

1N0AYI WaNTD.

1noAv1

[Er—

ANVANOD

M00¥E SX00

:103ro¥d

sajgemauay Sd @

n ave

Nouvaraon

(S3103dS IALYN HUM G3LNVd)
ONLNVId 8NYHS MIN

(83103dS IALLYN HLIM G3LNVId)
ONLINY1d MOY3DAIH MIN

$30Q3H/ S3TL

500H8 40 ¥NVE dOL / 39a3H
ONISSOYO SYO/VOY JITHONOO
V3HY ONIONVASTHYH MIN
avod WNALE

[ CRENTY

BAE AVHYY Ad ¥V10S
HIWHOISNYUL AIVITIXY
NOLLYLSENS ¥3NOLSNO
NOILYLSENS ONG
(MSoUUOjSUEIL + YA NOILYLS MALHIAN
WOOY T0MLNOD

MO¥d

3ovNIvia

3did 110X

3did SYO INSSTUd HOH
ANIHO Mee

ANIHO Mgt

SIONVHVETO

30N34 43S0dO¥d
AMVONNOS NOLLYOIddY

|

ECE]]

C ol 4




Ty =y

- @
ot S | oo s ONLNVId SNEHS AN
ewseses | e o (S3A03dS INLVN HIM GLNVId)
Ry~ anown e
53503 53341 ®
e Aawvanoo OO0uE 40 YNVE dOL / 30a3H
: onssouo svarovon a13woNG0
HOO0¥E X0 “103rodd L]
300 [
avou s
sswrssns K6sous vasio o
sajgemauay Sd e -
~ HINHOISNVAL AUVIXNY B
Nouvissusnoist R
ET T ey Nowusnsond Em
T e o =3
o~ szozmane. JOVURS"L | 0 pasmasous Budy 48 oy v WOO¥ TONLNOD ==
S ——

OWNVHO

IAINNIOXT v

MNHomes s=====
Moz s=====
F0NII0IS0A0Ud A
AUVONNOR 3115

.

’:)o”%&“

v

Er

E N A

——

!WWV‘W\LJ __VSE.HE&_

e

. S S S

e

141




i R0
- B o s | sarom
'SNOISNIWIC T3NVd G3LNNOW IAILYDIANI 'LNOAVT
sejgemauay Sd “ANVAINOD
MO0Hd S X002 1103royd
sa|gemauay Sd \\\
R s
oo S A ——— oo

v € z

09:} ¥vdE 3TVIS

wG6/.'9

uose'e

wyeltl

wooe0l

WEEy XeN
sleyeq ey 22
Jad sy

As per
2.2 Array Details

M3IA dOL
2
K
|53
R 53
=5 Q>
gz > 9B
232 <&
=]
898 N
g
2

wyelL'L

wgge ol

M3IIA V3LV

M3IA LNOYH4

STIV13d AVHAY Ad

142



o |

=)

oneyes S
ot S | e com

vtz

‘o sa | e aom

e

(@VOU TINVMID NSN3 XDV 5300V

“nown

[——

ANvanoo

5008 SX00

‘103roud

sa|gemauay Sd \w

ey Nolvotacon

o

[ e e e

(SHOSINWHIMGENID)
ONLLNYId MOY¥IDAIH MIN .

S3003H) 5331 @
500ME 40 9V doL 1 3003H

Vauv WOIS0103HOUY

NISS0Y0 SVOIAVOY 3URONCO

VIV ONIONVLSA¥VH ONILSIX3

QvOy TYNYALX3

avouranwe

A0SV AUVITIXNY

NolLvsans uaHo1sND

NolLv1s8ns ONG

WS+ AL o) NOLYLS VLKA

WOON T0HINGD
Mowd

FOVNIVIG

FAIWNTOKT e s oo

3l SVO UNSSTUSHOM  mm i s e
NNHoMEE ======
MNHOMZEL  ======
30NIAISOAOUd  ~rarann
AMVONNOR LIS

[ECE]

TR ~ A
i JI3
o
oo pagpo 456 o buseduos,
T 800 1 P WS 5 D
ov:L aleos
EEE

052:} 9eds

UOREISANS JOWOJSND/ONG ) O} PEoy 55890y

WOLE :(WPIMOG'E) UBId Ad 8L 0} PEOY 55800y

B1ON
g/
~ s R
i JI3
W
oo poypou 5o o Bueduos,
T
ov:L ofeds
EEE

001:L afeds

WQOL L :(UYIPIM WOG'E) PEO [BUIGIUI UBLd Ad

(2a1y [£9160j0BYOAY UJ) 1UE]d Ad O} PEOY S5800Y

‘810N
g/
- ~ s e
i JIF
s
a0 PO %56 0 Bueduo0)
i} ot 10 Yo WS s i,
[ ]
steleq

001 2feds

PeOJ [EUIBJUI JUBId Ad PUE (891 [€0160J08UDLY BPISING) 1UBld Ad O} PEOY §S800Y

143



wogc

-

wos oL

08:} 3|eds

20v1d o azs ¥0008ad GROUEYD PUB UoWIH Auiosor A8 %03HO
A3y V6 010M
o8t 308 2ausyog Lplel aleH epoan ouoeN A@NoIs3a
62 oue Aol L
WoN|  veozeozz alva STTBYMINTY Sd epaqn oweN A8 Mvaa P v z L °
——
WOOY TO¥LNOO LNOAVT ! —
08} ¥va I3TVIS
soigEmeusy Sd ‘ANVAINOD
%0048 SX02 1103roydd
-
cAIORPMALIAY P
Sd m =
3NYN 31va NOLLYOIJIQOW NOISIAZY
N c20uvonz anssl 4 Lovid
N yeozeozz QOVW PIBOGER1; WGE'L | O} PESIE) SNOUIS BUIPING 18940913 20v1d
[I'4 1einonis3 lI'4 reinyonsas3y
UOIJEeABOXS U} Woly UOIJeABOXS U} Woly
[ZZEETIIEN] [ZZREWIEN]
B\% 0050 = a0V & TPUneIS
£
Q|
«
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ Woge T = qOvW preogealy
T
& g
] @
ol @
|
£
g
30UsS P
| ——
woo'L wo9'T
wog'e

08:} 9|eas

1.50m

1.90m

mai doj eAjesipu)

1.38m

WS 0F = GOV TAST PUGIS

=

N

3.00m

0.20m
4.58m

wos oL

WORE T T = GOV PIECAEeT]

08:} 9jeds
MBI/ JUOI4 BANEDIPU|

MBIA By BAnedIpul

wooy |04juo)

144

L5




Aocoeag o) pis v s 29030

oo |
onmyeg er e wmano x s 3 £ z ) [}
oo s e W o | ]
rmouorss e Jomvsa
0S.:1L ¥vaE ITVIS
Nouvisans uaoLsnoona 1nown
[R— avanoo

§
5
3
£
g
=

3O00¥E SX00 | :103ro¥d

145

TN | \\Aﬁdﬂxl&
s - JOEL'E = GOV BT pUneIS. G e ot
B [y =— o \N\\ = —
sa|gemaua ( [ = ] s 2 —] —
1q Hsd (¢= e == 5 \\ /U = =
b = —
3 : )
5 = T o : T T o = T
- i) Il &2 d
o auva NOLIYI 200N Mo = t<d — i< — _W
o~ veouzoer orenmar 1ona 30N34 |2 3 ; 7 El ul
o ez o RS 13t e BB e E] e wiopeid el e B
] . 5] = WioReld SlleisN
s = = °
HIWHOASNVYHL A¥VITIXNY D -
| R | SR
WOL'T W0L'T
NOLLYLSENS ¥IWOLSNO NOLLYLSENS ONG
avou T3AVED 070 MBIA 8-9 MIIA VY MIIA
HINHOSSNYHL AYVITIXNY B
NOILY1S8NS ¥3IWOL1SNO ==
NOILY1S8NS ONG = \ GelS S1eIou0D. \ QEIS 8jaiouo)
3ON34 Q3S0dO¥d AAAAAAAAAN
AUVONNOEALS ¢ =N \ A O SEoTIREEETEES
S N\ | N\ 7
S— I~ 5N N e 30vds ONDRIVANNY wz,z«iﬂ N $
NE 2N 8 \,A/ $
{ //,,////H S AN S N §
S = : : ¢
o ///,//,////L nd T o ~ // < I~ T T
FoNad |3 il Il | [ | 3 [ | [ Il 30N34
o = = w = =
] Y
g WwiopEld Te g wioReid eI
L e L o
Woor's wWoor '8
NOLLYLSENS ¥3WOLSNO NOLLY.SENS ONG
MaIA JU0I3
GL'| 8eag
S|lejap uoejsqns Jawojsn) / ONA
M AN A AN NN NN SN AN AN s PO AN AN AN AN NN A NNNNNNA AN AN NN AN NN
1
g
I § ;o I
S S
2 2
< <
2 8 MBIA 5
2 W = o2
|
1 | i J
T
3
Y MOIA §
H i TG
H = i
> C H
o) w
2 Z =
ZzZ
§ = ® o
b £ >
$ P
b
.m_._ — >m 3
El o > -
5 m — =
§ ]
3 = g MIIA ¢
3
3
g Y MBIA W
g
§ H
b
ke
%W& §
§ W
A AN AN AN AN NN AN NN NN NN NN NN NN NN NN AN NN NN NN NN NN NN AN NP AN

5.1} Sleds
inofe| uonelsaNs Jewoisnd / ONG




£0Vd o azs ¥0008ad GROUEYD PUB UoWIH Auiosor A8 %03HO
A3y VY8 0I0Y
P — 015198 'IEH SiEH epoan oweN A@NoIs3a
5z oue Aol L
WON ¥202E0ZZ aLva STTBVMENTY Sd Podn apeN ‘A8 Mvya s v € k4 3 [
——
1 NOILYLS ¥3L¥IANI LNOAVT ! —
08} ¥va I3TVIS
selqemausy Sd ‘ANVAINOD
%0048 SX02 1103roydd
@ E
SalOeMaAUSY - JajaUiad 5UF pUNGCIE 39Us4 | ]
Sd (= | |
i g
2
13
SINYN 31va NOLLYOIJIQOW NOISIAZY mv
N £2021v0107 anssl 4 Lovid
nN £2021901L2 PPPE S|EIAP 2IMONIIS (eI Pue patepdn 20udy 5727 A R | St & 2 S5 aTaTaTATATATATATATATATATATATAIATATA| | ATATATATATATATATATATATATATATAISIAIATAI81 i 1ATATSTATAIATATaTAIATAIATATTaTaTa RIDES : S ——
N Y20ze0zT QOVW PIBOGER1; WGE'L | O} PESIE) SNOUIS BUIPING 18940913 covid
o (N
o |2
o O
3 3
13y
=
3 ! ! !
ﬁ wos’L wogob wos’L ﬁ
wosEL
wiogeid dlesN
08:| 9|edg
mai doj anieoipu|
[I'4 1einonis3 '3 Temnpngs3 g £
ol
UOIJEeABOXS U} Woly UOIJeABOXS U} Woly 3 2
[ZZEETIIEN] [ZZREWIEN] =
K\% 0050 = a0V & TPUneIS T W00 01 = aovuT: TPundr
t
& W , &
@ | | !
- y : : .
- Woge T = qOvW preogealy ﬂ WOBE 1T = QOVW prevgssr
o7 S EelVER BT a =
ESERREE O —HEETE S & — — W\EH. 5 S
ini ] _ s & 0RNRER alidl [ o2
E== i
7 & &
™ ==
30UsS b= b=
woo’L] wos'L wo9'¢ wog'L wog'| wos 01 wos'|
wo9's
wp9'9 wog'el

146
140

08:} 9|eas

08} 9|eds

MBIA By BAnedIpul

MB3IA JUOI BAIEDIPU|

| UONE)S JouaAU|




£0Vd o azs ¥0008ad GROUEYD PUB UoWIH Auiosor A8 %03HO
A3y VB 019M
P — 015198 'IEH SiEH epaqn oweN A@NoIs3a
9z oue Aol L
WON ¥20Ue0IZZ aLva S318YMINTY Sd Podn apeN ‘A8 Mvya S |4 Zz —I e,
ZNOILVLS ¥3L¥3ANI LNOAVT —
08} ¥va I3TVIS
selqemausy Sd ‘ANVAINOD
%0048 SX02 1103roydd
sa|gemauay m& JajaUiad 5UF pUNGCIE 39Us4 i
| :
2
o
SINYN 31va NOLLYOIJIQOW NOISIAZY mv
N £2021v0107 anssl 4 Lovid
nN £2021901L2 PPPE S|EIAP 2IMONIIS (eI Pue patepdn 20udy 5727 A R | St & 2 S5 aTaTaTATATATATATATATATATATATAIATATA| | ATATATATATATATATATATATATATATAISIAIATAI81 i 1ATATSTATAIATATaTAIATAIATATTaTaTa RIDES : S ——
N Y20ze0zT QOVW PIBOGER1; WGE'L | O} PESIE) SNOUIS BUIPING 18940913 covid
o (N
o |2
o O
3 3
a
=
3 ! ! !
ﬁ wos’L wogob wos’L #
wosEL
wiogeid dlesN
08:} 3|eds
mai doj anieoipu|
[eInonisy 4 [eimongs3 g £
[=]
UOIJEABOXS Y} Wol) UOIJEABOXS Y} Woly 3 2
[elSjew oy [eLsew sy N
B\ﬁ J WE006 = OV 18RS T PUNOTS W T WO006 = OV [5k8 T PUNaIS
W i z
€| ! €|
| i |
\! 0| I A )
o I o~
35084 1830 EelEE BT \nﬁ /
& Tﬁjuﬁﬂaﬁﬁd
03[ WOEE T = QOVW PIEogeRry =
[0 o] o L3 (=]
= g © 5 = £ o
T m Iid I3
O DUl [ 1) = LD = e i |l Dl e
—r— E il P £
30UsS b= il m b=
wgLo
08193H
woo’L] wos'L wo9'¢ wog'L wog'| wos 01 wos'|
wo9's
wp9'9 wog'el

08:} 9|eas

147
|

08:} 9edg
MB3IA JUOI BAIEDIPU|

MBIA By BAnedIpul

Z UONE)S Jouanu|




£0Vd o azs ¥0008ad GROUEYD PUB UoWIH Auiosor A8 %03HO
A3y VY8 0I0Y
P — 015198 'IEH SiEH epoan oweN A@NoIs3a
1z oue Aol L
WON ¥20Ue0IZZ aLva S318YMINTY Sd Podn apeN ‘A8 Mvya S |4 € Zz —I e,
€NOILV.LS ¥3LYIANI LNOAVT ! —
08} ¥va I3TVIS
selqemausy Sd ‘ANVAINOD
%0048 SX02 1103roydd
sa|gemauay m& JajaUiad 5UF pUNGCIE 39Us4 | i
| :
2
o
SINYN 31va NOLLYOIJIQOW NOISIAZY mv
N £2021v0107 anssl 4 Lovid
N szozo0zz Pappe S1e19p OIS Do pue pajepdn 20uay 20v1d 51 SEreema:
N vz02E0ZT QOVW PIBOGER1; WGE'L | O} PESIE) SNOUIS BUIPING 18940913 covid
o (N
D (D
o O
3 3
a
=
3 | ' i
e wos’L wogob wos’L @
wosEL
wiogeid dlesN
08:| 9|edg
MaIA do] aAnedlpul
[eInonis3 4 [eimongsy 4 £
o
UOIJEeABOXS U} Woly UOIJeABOXS U} Woly 3 2
[elISjew [y [elSjeW 3oy N
@\b Wp0c'e = OV TPUneIS W % il Wpoc'e = aovdT TPundrs
m
2 , i 2
| T = @
< / I <
o | 4 iz o
35084 1830 EelEE BT I v‘\\
%ﬁ%@m Q £ WOBE T = qOVW PengEeT
o | = £l 9
£l w g v
| T J
_ i o ] [ L D=t il Dl e
== £ i £
30UsS b= il m b=
wgLo
08L93H
woo'l] wos'l wo9'T wos'} wos b wog ok wog'l
wo9's
wp9'9 wog'el

08:} 9|eas 08} 9|eds

148
140

M3IA JYBIY aAneIpU| MBI JUOI4 SAlEdIpU|

€ UONE)S Jouanu|




£0Vd o azs ¥0008ad GROUEYD PUB UoWIH Auiosor A8 %03HO
A3y VY8 0I0Y
P — 015198 'IEH SiEH epaqn oweN A@NoIs3a
8z oue Aol L
WON ¥20Ue0IZZ aLva S318YMINTY Sd Podn apeN ‘A8 Mvya S |4 Zz —I e,
#NOILLV.S ¥3.L¥3ANI LNOAVT ! —
08} ¥va I3TVIS
selqemausy Sd ‘ANVAINOD
%0048 SX02 1103roydd
SaldMAUIXH mn__ Jejawiad sy} punole adua4q a
| :
2
o
SINYN 31va NOLLYOIJIQOW NOISIAZY mv
N £2021v0107 anssl 4 Lovid
nN £2021901L2 PPPE S|EIAP 2IMONIIS (eI Pue patepdn 20udy 5727 A R | St & 2 S5 aTaTaTATATATATATATATATATATATAIATATA| | ATATATATATATATATATATATATATATAISIAIATAI81 i 1ATATSTATAIATATaTAIATAIATATTaTaTa RIDES : S ——
N Y20ze0zT QOVW PIBOGER1; WGE'L | O} PESIE) SNOUIS BUIPING 18940913 covid
o (N
o |2
o O
3 3
a
=
3 ! ! !
ﬁ wos’L wogob wos’L #
wosEL
wiogeid dlesN
08:} 3|eds
mai doj anieoipu|
[eInonisy 4 [eimongs3 g £
[=]
UOIJEABOXS Y} Wol) UOIJEABOXS Y} Woly 3 2
[elSjew oy [elSjeW [[§oY N
B\ﬁ J WE006 = OV 18RS T PUNOTS W T WO006 = OV [5k8 T PUNaIS
W i z
£| ! £|
| i |
\! 0| I A )
o I o~
35084 1830 EelEE BT \nﬁ /
& Tﬁjuﬁﬂaﬁﬁd
03[ WORE T = QOVW PIeogeary =
[0 o] o L3 (=]
= g © 5 = £ o
I =] la I
WY ' || il ol NI = LD = e i || i Dl e
e— o A1.3: =
7 & &
30UsS b= il m b=
wgLo
08193H
woo’L] wos'L wo9'¢ wog'L wog'| wos 01 wos'|
wo9's
wo9'9 WO el

08:} 9|eas

08:} 9edg
MB3IA JUOI BAIEDIPU|

MBIA By BAnedIpul

 UONE)S JouaAU|

140
E e v




QL7 dHSHANLNVd 3dVOSONY 3HL Wukdoo
PoLides 60 1 S9UBIASP AUy a1 UOPOPUD 8
won 01018 59121 SUOIOWIP Iy ‘BUNER O ORS100 00
€20Z-V0°1T  opq
49 poparo
8 e
LVDO000E L oeog
3/001'€20228 oy g |esodoid adeospue
€20228 oy qor Bumeiq
Liezooi0 wmon
a0zszLozo  uopor yuomBim| ‘yoolig sx00
60S08¢ ¥6EL0  @BpUGPOOM
SIELZ PEZIO Piojpog j00f01d

mveinie sy ein s v

aeq ] RquIN uosiey
£20zW0¥T 49 v Bugued qruos o} JuawpuBLY.
sz0z05 8y 8 N0Ae! $3UB1 NS O} PoPUBY.
£0TIPL 4D 9 810U pUE UofEIsaNs o) BugUEId 0 UOIPPY.
€0TI0C 49 a Sej0 [EUONPPY
v20zE00z 49 3 uopeoyreds e6pay 0} sabuUEo pLE Bulke(d [UONPPY
vo0ze08 49 4 ads o

Burspo ot o w0} Uk UBESP Bupuerd peyERq

“apeu 5q pinom sabueyo 1oLy ou ‘Jussaxd si puefsselb Bujsixe
eeyp, ‘seBpay pesodoid ay) Jo S96pe BUOlE pUE SPIRY SIGEJE JO Seale
Bugsixe o Ui pesn o 0} BUIPSas puBISSeIS MOpEB|Y ‘pauleip Sey pue|
8} 80U0 Bupids uj Jo UIMNE Aee Ul UsYeRSPUN 8] O} BuIMOS “Peljol uBLy
PUE ‘Ui WNIpsw e sonpaid 0} MoueY B Ag PSMOII0} ‘UOGRAINO pajeadal

owes 513 Aq pasedeid 8q o} punaip “,w/By Je uMos 8q oL
10) SPUERO J0} SINIXIIY MOPESIN XIW 8IN3 ‘SPees elebsiow3

PUEISSEID MOPESN 1M Pesodosd _H_

(‘spient yqqes feiids uym
petoejoid pue /| ® sdiym wooz|-06 Peloos aleq se pejuerd oq 01)

%0Z (12150) StieuwIA XIS

BURUEId GUUS SATEN

('sp:enB yqqes [eiids yum pajosjoid g 0} S994) |l 'S80 PaIeLes)
PeSUSUIEIICO YBIY WG'ZZ ©q O} 5991} J8YIO [l “MOISBPeY JO Su0Ies
UBIY W9 8} UILRIM SSIIUSO WIGL"D J& S8} POSUSLIEIICO UMIB Wop|-Z) SE
‘Juswabuelie wopuel (einjeu e i pajueid oq o} Jead pyw pue sdew plat)

(w uowiwioo) eadaina X el
(mom xoe) siibey xies
(4e0) JnqoJ SoseND

“BURUE|d 9811 GATEN
aniys / see1) enjeN pesodoid I§k —

pede woQg Je paveds SMOJ g BPaY oIl BIXS e 1oj MoJ oidlg
& Buipinosd Aq eouBPING siy) peeoxe o} pejepdn Leeq mou aney siesodoid
8y “(auerd-or
4080 UBEMBG WOGH-0P M ‘Uede Wo0G smoJ 1o 8eds “weped
Bez bz & uj S9a1) Jo M1 6IGOp € Jueid 9BPeY OIY) © J0j , SSIADE LOIUM
‘SouEpING S)SN1 | PUEIPOOM B} puE ,epind dels-Aq-dels v :Buuerd ebpay
PUE 8011, 519UN0D 8811 BY} Ul N0 J8s siybley pue Buroeds ‘syipw Buguerd
‘aBpay 10} 8ouEpING papuBLULICO: o) Y Spioooe Buuerd pesodoid eyl

“spiend yqges [eads uym paposioid pue Mol
pasebbeys oiqnop & ul w/py ® sdiym wopzZ|-06 PeIo0s sleq se pejuerd oq oL
%01 (wouppe(q) esouds snunig

%S (opdde qeso) sujsaniks sniew

%05 (Woumey) euABouow snBeejesd

%S (19Zey) euejjene snikiod

%01 (poomBop) esunbues snuiod

%0} (eidew piey) exseduwied oy

BpeH paxiiy enjeN pesodoid I
pueisseo Bupsp _H_

eBpoH Bursa

aniys /see1 1 Buyspa E
Auepunog eys N

A

e

2

|esodoud adeospue]




Planning Committee

Agenda Item 5e

Date 23 April 2024
Case Officer Frank Whitley
Application No. 23/01078/FUL

Site Location

Land North Of A417, Brockworth Road, Churchdown

Proposal Construction and operation of an Energy Reserve comprising Battery
Energy Storage System (BESS) together with associated
infrastructure, access, landscaping and cabling, for a temporary
period of 40 years (amended description).

Ward Brockworth East

Parish Brockworth

Appendices Site Location Plan

Site Layout Plan

Landscape Mitigation Plan

Section Views Through Site Layout
Battery container elevations

Large Substation Building elevations
Small Substation Building elevations
Transformer Elevations

Inverter Unit Elevations

Container Elevations

Palisade Fence and access

CCTV and Lighting

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Parish Council Objection

Recommendation

Permit

Site Location

151



The Proposal

11

1.2

1.3

14

15

1.6

Full application details are available to view online at:
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.qov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=documents&keyVal=S4AMWUGQDMGJ00

The application seeks planning permission for the Construction and operation of an Energy
Reserve comprising Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) together with associated
infrastructure, access, landscaping and cabling, for a temporary period of 40 years (amended
description).

The proposed facility would have a capacity of approximately 20MW and would connect by
an underground cable to the existing 33kV overhead electricity distribution line which crosses
the western end of the site.

The energy reserve facility would comprise:

e 16 containerised lithium-ion battery units housed in containers (each 2.5m wide x 6.1m
long, x 3.1m high)

e 8 x inverter units housed in containers (each 2.5m wide, x 6.1m long, x 3.1m high)

e 2 auxiliary transformers, (each 2.1m wide, x 3m long, x 2.6m high)

Ancillary buildings/works include:

e Applicant and District Network Operator (DNO) Substation and switchgear building
measuring 7m wide, x 13m long x 5m high. and

Smaller substation measuring 7m wide, x 7.5m long, x 5m high

Spare Parts Container 2.5m wide, x 6.1m long, x 2.6m high

Permeable surfaced access 4m wide track and vehicle parking

Palisade security fencing for substation compound 2.4m high

4 x Pole mounted CCTV cameras 5m high

Access track measuring 4m wide

Perimeter fence and entrance gates 2.4m high

Landscaped bund on eastern and southern boundary (outside of perimeter fence)

The application is supported by:

Transport Assessment

Statement of Community Engagement
Site Selection Justification Report
Shadow Habitats Regulation Assessment
Design and Access Statement

Surface Water Drainage Strategy

Battery Safety Management Plan
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Historic Environment Impact Assessment including Archaeology
Geophysical Survey

Ecological Impact Assessment

Flood Risk Assessment

Construction Management Plan

Noise Impact Assessment

Air Quality Assessment

Land Classification Report

Tree Survey

O 0O 0O 00O O0OO0OO0OO0OO0OO0OO0OO0oOO0oOO0oOOoOOo

152


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S4MWUGQDMGJ00
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S4MWUGQDMGJ00

1.7

The proposal follows pre-application advice, issued by Tewkesbury Council on 18 September
2023. Based on the pre-application submission at the time, Officers advised a follow-on
application would unlikely be supported. Members should note that the proposal was for a
Battery Energy Reserve Facility in the Green Belt of approximately 50MW comprising 20
battery containers. No Very Special Circumstances (VSCs) were advanced in the pre-
application submission, to counter the presumption against inappropriate development in the
Green Belt (see explanation of VSCs at Para 8.40 below).

Site Description

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

The application site is approx. 2.3ha of agricultural land immediately north of the A417 and
between the M5 Junction 11a which is 800m to the west and the Brockworth Road 260m to
the east. The slip road from the M5 leaves at Junction 11a and then runs parallel to the
A417, before joining the carriageway approximately under the Brockworth Road overpass.

The site is on the southern edge of the Cheltenham/Gloucester Green Belt. The Green Belt
boundary is the A417 which also defines the edge of the built up area of Gloucester and
Brockworth. The Green Belt area extends north from A417 covering a large area of relatively
undeveloped land, wrapping around Churchdown and Shurdington up to the southwestern
edge of Cheltenham. The site does not fall within any landscape designations.

The nearest residential properties on the north side of the A417 are Pressmead Farm (710m)
directly to the north, and Dean Farm (550m) to the north east. Woodlands Farm is 1.2km to
the north. Henley Bank Community Wood is 760m to the east.

A public footpath runs between the A417 and the application site.

Immediately to the south of the A417 is the settlement of Brockworth and land approved for
new residential development in 2016 under 12/01256/0OUT, known as Perrybrook. In periods
of phased development, a nhumber of reserved matters applications followed. Residential
development has been approved up to the southern edge of the A417, albeit outside of a
significant landscaping amenity buffer through which runs the Horsbere Brook.

The application site is entirely within Flood Zone 1 which represents the lowest risk of flooding.
The land is classified entirely as Grade 3b which is described by the Agricultural Land
Classification System (ALC) as being of ‘moderate’ quality. The ALC does not recognise

Grade 3b land as being ‘Best and Most versatile’.

The proposed energy reserve facility is more commonly known as a battery energy storage
site and is referred hereafter as a ‘BESS'.

153



3.

Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision | Decision
Number Date
23/00005/SCR Screening Opinion: Development of a battery EIA not 21.12.23
energy storage project to be known as required

Brockworth Road Energy Reserve including a
Battery Energy Storage System (BESS),
comprising of battery containers, inverters and
transformers, and substation allowing a
connection into the existing 33kV overhead
powerline which crosses the western part of the
Site.

23/00014/PRE A Battery Energy Storage System with associated | completed | 10.10.23

infrastructure and equipment, including fencing,
security cameras, cabling, and access tracks. The
proposed development would have a storage
capacity of approximately 50 megawatts. The
proposed development would be temporary with
an operational period of 40 years.

Consultation Responses

4.1

4.2

4.3

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.
A site notice has been displayed.

Brockworth Parish Council- objection

Following consideration of this application at our Planning and Highways Committee on
20th December it was proposed to OBJECT to this application on the following grounds:
Whilst council appreciate the efforts made to limit the effects of this installation to the local
community council still feel it is yet another development eating into the precious little
green space left around Brockworth. The large Perrybrook estate has been built on what
was previously Green Belt land. The border for this was moved to allow for this
development. It is not acceptable that yet more development is being allowed on the
green belt. We feel this will have a detrimental and negative impact on the village. Despite
assurances about the limited highway impact, we have learnt from the Perrybrook
development that construction traffic will still come through the village whether by accident
or on purpose. Other concerns which were raised at the consultation were the proximity of
the new housing development to the site, the proximity of the road. The fact that this will
mean a loss of prime agricultural land in an area where we have limited agricultural space
left. Concerns over the ecology, wildlife and environmental impact of such a development
both during the construction phase and also during the normal operation and functioning
of the site.

Natural England- no objection

Environment Agency- no objection

154



https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

4.4

National Highways- no objection

4.5 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue- no objection

4.6 County Council Highways- no objection

4.7 Lead Local Flood Authority- no objection

4.8 Cotswolds National Landscapes- no objection

4.9 County Archaeology- no objection

4.10 Environmental Health- no objection

4,11 Conservation Officer- no objection

4.12 Trees Officer — no objection

4.13 Ecology- no objection

4.14 Severn Trent Water- no objection

4.15 County Council Minerals and Waste — no objection

4,16 Public Rights of Way- no objection

5.0 Third Party Comments/Observations

5.1 No objections have been received.

6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1 Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise
The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

6.2 National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG).

6.3  Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) — Adopted 11

December 2017

Policy SP2 (Distribution of New Development)
Policy SD4 (Design Requirements)

Policy SD8 (Historic Environment)

Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
Policy INF1 (Transport Network)

155



6.4 Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
Policy HER2 Listed Buildings
Policy GRB4 Cheltenham- Gloucester Green Belt
Policy HER4 Archaeological Sites and Scheduled Monuments
Policy NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features
Policy ENV2 Flood Risk and Water Management

6.5  There is no Neighbourhood Plan relevant to the application.

7. Policy Context

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides
that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

7.2  The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of
'made’ Neighbourhood Development Plans

7.3  The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

7.4  Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG).

8. Evaluation
Main Issues
e Principle of Development
e Green Belt
e Site Selection and Very Special Circumstances
e Effect on Landscape Character and Visual Amenity
e Flooding and Drainage
¢ Residential Amenity
e Historic Environment
e Ecology and Trees
¢ Highways
e Fire and Pollution Risk
Principle of Development

8.1 Under the Climate Change Act 2008, the government seeks to promote renewable energy

production in order to reduce greenhouse emissions. Planning Practice Guidance states
that renewable and low carbon energy technology will assist climate change mitigation.

156



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

The proposed development is not directly associated with the production of renewable
energy, such as for example, a solar farm. Even so, it is recognised that battery storage
facilities are a key component of energy facilities in the UK, since they are able to store
excess electricity generated by renewable energy facilities when demand is low and release
energy to the grid at periods of high demand, or when electricity generated by renewable
sources is low.

The UK requires electricity storage facilities in order to balance demand without resorting
to fossil fuel generation.

The UK Government published its updated ‘Overarching National Policy Statement for
Energy’ in November 2023. Para 3.3.25 states that:

Storage has a key role to play in achieving net zero and providing flexibility to the energy
system, so that high volumes of low carbon power, heat and transport can be integrated.

In achieving its vision for a ‘good quality of life’, the Tewkesbury Borough Plan incorporates
the environment into the three dimensions of sustainable development. The Plan
recognises that addressing climate change contributes to achieving its vision.

Tewkesbury Borough Council declared a Borough-wide climate emergency in 2019, and
furthered this commitment in May 2023 by (amongst other things), committing to doing
everything possible to make Tewkesbury Borough Council carbon-neutral by 2030.

According to the submitted planning statement, the benefits of the proposed development
will make a significant contribution to support the delivery of renewable and low carbon
energy to achieve targets set locally and nationally.

The NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to promote renewable energy
development and identify appropriate sites for it. In meeting the challenge of climate
change, flooding and coastal change, the NPPF states the planning system should support
transition to a low carbon future.

Chapter 14 of the NPPF seeks to meet the challenge of climate change, flooding and
coastal change. Para 154 states that new development should be planned for in ways (in
part) that can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The NPPF also states (Para 155)
that plans should consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy
sources and supporting infrastructure.

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) was updated in August 2023 to reflect that BESS is
considered to be categorized within ‘Renewable and low carbon energy’ noting the benefits
of BESS developments as being ‘flexibility and decarbonisation of the energy system
through grid balancing and maximising solar and wind output’. The Development would
support the achievement of nationally set renewable energy targets and contribute to the
Council’s commitments to achieving ‘Net Zero’.

Policy INF5 (Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development) of the adopted JCS
states:

Proposals for the generation of energy from renewable resources, or low carbon energy
development (with the exception of wind turbines), will be supported, provided the wider
environmental, social or economic benefits of the installation would not be outweighed by
a significant adverse impact on the local environment.

157



8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

Subject to further determining criteria below, in principle, the development is supported by
national, local policies and associated guidance.

Green Belt

According to the NPPF, Green Belt serves five purposes:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;

b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;

¢) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;

d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and

e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban
land.

The NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition harmful to the Green
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. Local Planning
Authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt.
‘Very special circumstances’ (known as VSCs) will not exist unless the potential harm to
the Green Belt is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

In relation to renewables, the NPPF states its position at Para 156:

When located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable energy projects will
comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need to demonstrate
very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special circumstances
may include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased production of
energy from renewable sources.

Policy SD5 (Green Belt) of the adopted Joint Core Strategy (JCS) seeks to ensure the
Green Belt continues to serve its key functions, namely its protection from harmful
development. Within its boundaries, development will be restricted to those limited types
of development which are deemed appropriate by the NPPF, unless very special
circumstances can be demonstrated.

Policy GRB4 (Cheltenham — Gloucester Green Belt) of the adopted Tewkesbury Borough
(TB) Plan states development on land designated as Green Belt will be severely
restricted. The essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their
permanence. Substantial weight will be given to any harm to the Green Belt when
assessing planning applications.

Officers’ position is that the proposed development would be, by definition inappropriate

unless the application demonstrates:

e very special circumstances (VSCs), and;

o the wider environmental benefits associated with increased production of energy from
renewable sources.

Site Selection Justification and Very Special Circumstances
The application is supported by a Site Selection Justification Report (SSJR). Section 9 of
the Design and Access Statement includes an explanation of Green Belt and Very Special

Circumstances. Although a separate document, the Design and Access Statement should
be read in conjunction with the SSJR.

158



8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

The SSJR explains the land requirements for BESS development, and the rationale for the
need of development of this type. The SSJR outlines the process which has been followed
to identify a suitable location for the development in the context of NPPF guidance, relevant
opportunities and constraints. The SSJR seeks to demonstrate that the site has been
chosen with proper consideration of all relevant factors.

The SSJR explains the key criteria which have led to the site being selected for BESS
development as follows:

Proximity to an available grid connection;

Avoiding statutory landscape, heritage, and ecological designations;

Separation from residential areas and designated heritage assets;

Suitable access for construction;

Agricultural land classification, avoiding the use of BMV land;

Minimising impacts on sensitive landscapes by focusing on landscapes of lower
sensitivity and benefiting from existing woodland and hedgerow screening;
Minimising development in areas of flood risk; and

e Avoiding areas of ecological sensitivity and looking for enhancement opportunities

The SSJR has sought to demonstrate there are no suitable alternatives within categories
e ‘Previously Developed Land’ (PDL) and land within an existing industrial area
e Non-Green Belt greenfield land.

In terms of PDL and existing industrial areas, the applicant has reviewed the brown-field
registers of Tewkesbury, Gloucester, Cheltenham and Stroud Councils. Three alternative
sites have been considered:

1: An area north of Gloucester Airport has been discounted for reason that it is a major
employment site, allocated under the adopted TBP (policy EMP1).

2: 2.1ha area of brownfield land but falling under Policy A2 of the adopted JCS as a
strategic allocation for approximately 1100 new homes and 17 ha of employment land.
Further, the site is also 1.9km from the nearest suitable overhead power line, so has been
discounted.

3: A site within Gloucester Business Park which also contains the Brockworth Substation.
However, the land is allocated as a major employment site under the adopted TBP (EMP1)
and also is designated under Policy RET1 which seeks to maintain the vitality and viability
of the town, borough and local centres. The development would be incompatible with
RET1. For these reasons, alternative site 3 has been discounted.

In terms of non-green belt greenfield land, six alternative sites have been considered, all
outside of the Green Belt and previously undeveloped.

1: The site is immediately west of Down Hatherley. Large areas of the site are in Flood
Zones 2/3, it is 1.75km from the nearest suitable overhead power line, designated under
the TBP as an ‘Area of Restraint Safeguarded Area (Policy SD5 7), and mostly classified
as Grade 2 agricultural land.

159



8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

8.38

2: The site is immediately north and Gloucester Airport and adjacent to Ashville Business
Park. The land has been released from the Green Belt, but likely would be prioritised for
employment uses. The site was approved in 2016 for use by Spectrum Medical and
Stratstone Landrover and more recently for a warehouse with ancillary office and staff
facilities. The site is also very limited in size and over 500m from the overhead power line,
creating difficulties to achieve a viable connection.

3: The site is west of Badgeworth Road, and immediately south of the A40 within
Cheltenham Borough Council’'s area. The site has sensitive receptors nearby, and a
portion of the site has been approved for a commercial hybrid unit and is 1.6km from the
nearest suitable overhead power line.

4: The site lies between Cheltenham Rd East (B4063) and the A40 and to the west of Pirton
Lane. The site is proposed for a residential development of 145 dwellings by an
undetermined planning application and is within Policy A2 Strategic allocation South
Churchdown under the adopted JCS. Itis 1.6km from the nearest suitable overhead power
line.

5: The site is immediately south of the A40, positioned opposite No.4 above. It is
immediately adjacent to a designated ‘Special Landscape Area’ according to the adopted
TBP and within the strategic allocation Policy A2 South Churchdown, where a future use of
housing and/or retail would be preferred. It has more sensitive receptors, and part of the
site has been approved for a ‘Park and Ride’ facility. Itis 1.15km from the nearest suitable
overhead power line.

6: The site is immediately south of the application site, on the far side of the A417 on the
edge of Brockworth. The site is close to the overhead power line, but has already been
approved for significant mixed development by Tewkesbury Borough Council in 2015. The
site would therefore have sensitive nearby receptors.

The SSJR concludes there are no alternative locations for development within proximity to
the point of connection which are outside of the Green Belt designation, or on brownfield
(previously developed) land.

The Design and Access Statement (Section 9.1) acknowledges that development would
disrupt the ‘openness’ of the Green Belt in a field and in an area north of the A417 which
has generally been protected from harmful development by Green Belt designation. The
operational phase would be for a fixed period of 40 years, at the end of which time,
development would be removed and the site returned to its agricultural use. Officers
accept that while restoration would be secured by condition, the openness would still be
disrupted for a significant period of time. The ‘non-permanent’ nature of development
attracts some, though limited weight.

The Design and Access Statement explains the development should be seen in its context,
which includes the A417 and the built up area of Brockworth immediately to the south.

The development is proposed within a 4.6ha field, bounded by established hedgerow.
Overall, Officers consider that localised inward views would be limited due to the relatively
flat topography.. Through mitigation and site enhancements, the existing eastern field
boundary would be strengthened, and new hedgerow would be planted outside the
perimeter palisade fence.

160



8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

Officers consider the development should be viewed in the context of the A417 which at the
point of passing the application site, comprises eight traffic lanes, including the slip road for
the M5. lllustrative cross sections have been submitted which demonstrate only glimpses
of the upper sections of the containers would likely be viewed from passing traffic.
Agricultural land beyond would remain open in character. Although the existing settlement
of Brockworth and additional approved housing is outside of the Green Belt boundary, the
combined effect of existing development and the dominant feature of the A417 is
considered to mitigate the additional impact of BESS development on the openness of the
Green Belt.

Notwithstanding the impact upon openness VSCs need to be demonstrated. In this regard
the application seeks to demonstrate the following VSCs, to which Officers respond.

e The urgent need to secure renewable energy to be deployed at a scale to support
the UK’s legally binding commitment to achieve ‘Net Zero’ target. Officers attribute
significant weight to this VSC.

o The declared climate emergency of the UK government and Tewkesbury Borough
Council. Officers attribute significant weight to this VSC.

e Proximity to an existing grid connection with capacity. As has been explained
above, the need for proximity to an appropriate overhead power line has resulted in
alternative sites being discounted. Officers attribute significant weight to this VSC.

e The delivery of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). Officers note the development is
expected to achieve a net gain of 37% in habitats and 22% in hedgerows. Officers
attribute some, though limited weight as a VSC. Although welcomed, additional
BNG over and above the required gain of 10% does not justify development in itself.

e Temporary and Reversible Impact. Officers attribute some, though limited weight
as a VSC due to the 40 year lifespan of development.

e Localised and Limited Landscape Impact. Officers generally consider that harm to
the openness of the Green Belt is limited given the close proximity of the A417 trunk
road and new residential development in Brockworth. Harm is further limited by
proposed additional screening and mitigation.

e Limited scale of Development. Officers generally consider that the BESS
development of 16 battery containers/20MW output (with additional infrastructure)
is of moderate scale.

Given site requirements for BESS development, and constraints which would preclude
development from taking place elsewhere in the wider Tewkesbury area, Officers consider
that sufficient justification for selection of the Brockworth site have been demonstrated.
Officers acknowledge the presumption against inappropriate development in the Green
Belt. However, in this case, there are very special circumstances, which have been
sufficiently demonstrated. Officers to not consider the development would conflict with the
purposes of the Green Belt, as set out in the NPPF and at Paragraph 8.13 above.

Layout

The 16 battery containers would be laid out in a row, side by side from south to north. To
their side would be the 8 inverter units, laid out end to end. Nearest to the southern
boundary would be 3 substation units. At the northern end would be a spare parts
container. All the units would be sited on a crushed aggregate base, and enclosed within
a track, outside of which would be a palisade security fence measuring 28m x 137m. A
secure gate would be installed in the perimeter.

161



8.43

8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

Save for the gated access, the palisade fence would be enclosed entirely within a new
native hedgerow, scrub, wildflower grassland, and improved habitat areas. The existing
field boundary hedgerow to the east of the battery containers would be retained and
strengthened. The space between the development and the eastern field boundary is
excluded from the application site because this land is committed to a Countryside
Stewardship Scheme agreement and cannot form part of the proposed development.

The part of the application site connecting to the 33kW Overhead power line (130m
approximately) would be retained as arable land.

The public right of way would pass between the new hedge on the southern end of the site
and existing scrub below the M5 slip road. The route of the footpath would not be altered.

BESS units would be 3.1m high, and two substation buildings would be 5m high. There
would be a palisade security fence of 2.4m. Four security and monitoring cameras would
be mounted on 5m poles. BESS units would be coloured green, and would be secured by
condition.

The site would be accessed from Brockworth Road to the east. There are two proposed
access points:

1. A new access track would be installed 500m north of the BESS. The access track
would be used during the period of construction only and removed when no longer
required for this purpose. Officers recommend a condition is imposed to secure a
method statement for the restoration of the land to its previous condition.

2. The closest access point would make use of the existing 200m farm track
immediately to the east. This route is designated for emergency vehicles during
the period of construction, and for maintenance of the site once it becomes
operational. The Highways Officer has commented that whilst the closer access
point would be acceptable for occasional use by maintenance vehicles, it would be
unsuitable for construction vehicles.

Effect on Landscape Character and Visual Amenity

The NPPF at Paragraph 130 states amongst other things that decisions should ensure
that developments are sympathetic to local character and history. At Paragraph 174, the
NPPF states that decisions should protect and enhance valued landscapes and sites of
biodiversity in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in
the development plan. The NPPF also states in Para 174 that decisions should
recognise the intrinsic beauty of the countryside. and the wider benefits from natural
capital and ecosystem services — including trees and woodland.

Policy SD6 (Landscape) of the adopted JCS in summary:
e seeks to protect landscape character for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to
economic, environmental and social well-being.

e states proposals will have regard to the local distinctiveness and historic character of
the different landscapes in the JCS area, drawing, as appropriate, upon existing
Landscape Character Assessments and the Landscape Character and Sensitivity
Analysis.

o applications for development will consider landscape and visual sensitivity, supported
by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment as appropriate. Proposals should

162



8.50

8.51

8.52

8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

include appropriate mitigation and enhancement.

Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character) of the adopted JCS states all development must,
through sensitive design, siting, and landscaping, be appropriate to, and integrated into,
their existing landscape setting. Relevant landscape features and characteristics must be
conserved and where possible enhanced.

A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted and assessed by
Officers.

The nearest boundary of the Cotswolds National Landscape is 1.5km to the east. Chosen
Hill/Churchdown Hill Special Landscape Area extends within 700m of the site to the
northwest where it adjoins Junction 11a of the M5 motorway.

The majority of the site falls within the National Character Area Severn and Avon Vales,
summarised in character by ‘The lower valleys of the rivers Severn and Avon dominate this
low-lying open agricultural vale landscape made up of distinct and contrasting vales’.

At a local level, the Joint Core Strategy Landscape Characterisation Assessment and
Sensitivity Analysis is relevant (LCASA). The LCASA divides the landscapes of the
County into Landscape Character Types (LCTs). The application site falls within LCT 18,
namely Settled Unwooded Vale, though Chosen Hill/Churchdown Hill falls within LCT17,
Wooded Outlier. Key characteristics of Settled Unwooded Vale which are particularly
relevant to the site are:

o Soft, gently undulating to flat landscape, but with intermittent locally elevated areas
that project above the otherwise flatter landform.

e Mixed arable and pastoral land use enclosed by hedgerow network, in places
forming a strong landscape pattern.

¢ Limited woodland cover with mature hedgerow trees and occasional orchards

o Rural areas bordered by large urban and suburban areas and interspersed with
commercial and industrial premises
Varied mix of building materials

o Proliferation of modern ‘suburban’ buildings styles and materials.
Major transport corridors pass through the Vale.....beyond which is a network of
local roads and lanes linking villages and hamlets.

¢ Widespread network of pylons and transmission lines.

In terms of susceptibility to change and value, the LVIA attributes low to medium sensitivity
to change on the Severn and Avon Vales. The Settled Unwooded Vale (LCT18) is graded
medium, and the Wooded Ouitlier (LCT 17) is graded high sensitivity.

The overall landscape sensitivity of the site to the proposed change is judged to be low to
medium.

Fifteen viewpoints have been selected within a ‘Zone of Theoretical Visibility’ covering near,
middle and long distance views from around the site. Visual receptors with a high
sensitivity are those within the AONB, Chosen Hill, and residential dwellings, though
generally, the resulting visual harm significantly diminishes as distance increases.
Equally, other visual receptors may be very close but have low sensitivity, eg A and B Class
roads.

163



8.57

8.58

8.59

8.60

8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

Of the viewpoints examined, the highest level of adverse effect would be experienced by
users of the public footpath where it follows the southern boundary of the site. Initially, the
level of harm would be up to moderate to major, though would decrease to minor to
moderate once screening is established. Users of footpaths on Chosen Hill would
experience minor to moderate adverse harm, at a distance of approximately 1.6km, though
partial views and glimpses from this area would also include in the foreground the M5 and
its junction 1la.

Residential receptors are sufficiently distant such that any partial views of the development
are likely to cause insignificant harm.

The LVIA concludes that inevitably, the development would result in some adverse effects
on the landscape character and visual amenity. However, the LVIA also explains that
effects would largely be limited to the site and its immediate setting, within 500m. Visitors
to Churchdown Hill and the Cotswold escarpment would also experience some impacts.
However over time as mitigation screening becomes established, the level of harm would
diminish.

Officers are satisfied that the LVIA process has been followed correctly in accordance within
established guidelines. Officers agree with the conclusions that the level of harm to the
character of the landscape would be no greater than moderate. Similarly, visual harm
would be no greater than moderate, and is largely confined to within the immediate setting
of development due to topography. Visual harm, especially from the public footpath would
likely diminish over time as new planting matures. Further, the proposed development
would have to be considered in the context of new residential and transport related
development in the immediate vicinity.

Officers conclude that landscape impacts resulting from the development are acceptable.
Proposed hedgerow and tree planting around the perimeter and field boundaries would
provide additional mitigation, and would be secured by condition. For these reasons there
is no conflict with relevant paragraphs of the NPPF, Policy SD6 (Landscape) of the adopted
JCS, or Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character) of the adopted TBP.

Flooding and Drainage

The NPPF states that inappropriate development at risk of flooding should be avoided by
directing development away from areas at highest risk.

Policy INF2 (Flood Risk Management) of the adopted JCS states that development
proposals must avoid areas at risk of flooding, in accordance with a risk-based sequential
approach.

Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management) of the adopted TBP seeks to manage
the risk of flooding to and from new development.

The application site is in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk). The application is supported by a

Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy which has been reviewed by
the Lead Local Flood Authority. No concerns have been reported.

164



8.66

8.67

8.68

8.69

8.70

8.71

8.72

8.73

8.74

The BESS compound would be laid on top of an impermeable membrane to protect
groundwater. As ground infiltration rates are low, shallow cellular storage will be used for
attenuation storage of high intensity rainfall. Cellular storage has capacity for 1 in 100 year
rainfall events, plus an additional margin for climate change. As required, discharge
water would be pumped to an unnamed tributary of the Horsebere Brook (to the north of
the site). The cellular storage would also store fire suppression water in the unlikely event
of a battery fire.

Residential Amenity

Policy INF5 of the adopted JCS (Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development)
supports low carbon energy development, provided the benefits are not outweighed by a
significant adverse impact on the local environment, taking account of users and residents
of the local area in terms of ‘emissions, noise, odour and visual amenity’.

Policy SD4 (Design Requirements) of the adopted JCS seeks to avoid visual intrusion,
noise, smell, and pollution in development. Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
goes further to ensure that new development causes no unacceptable harm to local amenity
including neighbouring occupants.

Policy HEA 1 (Healthy and Active Communities) of the adopted TBP seeks to ensure that
potential impacts to health and wellbeing are considered in new development.

A Noise Impact assessment has been submitted which explains that the development site
is in a semi-urban location where noise levels in the area are dominated by road traffic from
both the A417 and the M5. Noise monitoring taking into account predicted levels took
place both adjacent to the site and in a position the same distance north as Pressmead
Farm (710m). The assessment concludes that predicted noise levels would be at least
6dB below the existing background (taking into account quieter night time periods) noise
levels resulting in a low noise impact. The development would not change the character
of the existing acoustic environment.

Subject to the submission of a Construction and Environmental Management Plan and
limitation of construction hours, the Environmental Health Officer has raised no concerns.

Officers consider the proposed development complies with requirements where relevant of
the NPPF, INF5, SD4, SD14 of the adopted JCS and HEAL of the adopted TBP.

Historic Environment

The NPPF at Chapter 16 (Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment) states that
when considering impacts, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation.
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of
a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.

The NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage

asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should
require clear and convincing justification.

165



8.75

8.76

8.77

8.78

8.79

8.80

8.81

8.82

8.83

Policy SD8 (Historic Environment) of the adopted JCS states that designated and
undesignated heritage assets and their settings will be conserved and enhanced as
appropriate to their significance, and for their important contribution to local character,
distinctiveness and sense of place.

Policy HER4 of the adopted TBP states that Scheduled Monuments and sites of national
archaeological importance will be preserved in situ and provision should be made for
excavation and recording.

A Historic Impact Assessment (HIA) has been submitted which has identified 15 designated
assets withing a 1km search area, and most of these associated with Brockworth Court on
the south side of the A417. There are no listed buildings within 400m. The HIA concludes
there would be no impact to the historic setting of any listed buildings. The Conservation
Officer has been consulted and agrees with the conclusions.

The HIA does acknowledge however there is potential for significant archaeological
remains in the area of the application site. In this regard, further trial trenching has been
completed, under the supervision of the County Council archaeologist. An interim
archaeological evaluation has been submitted and assessed. The County Council
archaeologist has concluded that details submitted are sufficient to establish that the
Roman remains previously identified on the south side of the A417 at Perrybrook do not
continue into the application area. No further investigation or recording need be secured
by condition.

Officers consider the development complies with the relevant requirements of the NPPF,
Policy SD8 of the adopted JCS and Policy HER4 of the adopted TBP.

Ecology and Trees

Chapter 15 of the NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the natural environment, in part
by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value
and soils, and minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.

Policy SD9 of the adopted JCS (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) states amongst other things
that the biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be protected and
enhanced in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that are resilient to current
and future pressures. Similarly, the adopted TBP Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity
and Important Natural Features) requires amongst other things that proposals will, where
applicable, be required to deliver a biodiversity net gain across local and landscape scales,
including designing wildlife into development proposals.

An ecological impact assessment (EclA) has been completed which identifies the following
ecological assets: proximity (2.5km) to the Cotswolds Beechwoods Special Area of
Conservation, nearby trees and hedgerows, and habitats which could support amphibians,
bats, birds, dormouse and reptiles, though none were found during the survey.

A Shadow Habitats Regulation Assessment (SHRA) has been submitted which concludes
no impacts are anticipated during operation, and any impacts during construction can be
mitigated by Management Plans. No impacts are anticipated to Hucclecote Meadows
SSSI. Natural England has responded to consultation and expressed no concerns.

166



8.84

8.85

8.86

8.87

8.88

8.89

8.90

8.91

8.92

The EclA explains that habitats of negligible importance would be lost to development
(arable crop fields and margins) which requires no specific mitigation. Habitat would be
more than compensated by replacement tree, hedge planting and formation of grassland.

An Arboricultural Assessment has been submitted which explains no trees would be felled
to facilitate development, though the installation and upgrading of access tracks would
result (to a limited extrent) in incursion into the root protection areas (RPAS) of 7 existing
trees, four of which are categorised as of moderate ‘B’ quality. Some root compaction may
occur, though the Trees Officer has raised no objection. Approximately 10-15m hedgerow
would be lost to facilitate installation of the northern access track.

Overall, the biodiversity net gain assessment predicts a gain of 37% in habitat units, and
22% in hedgerow units.

Ecological mitigation and enhancement is illustrated on the Landscape Mitigation Plan.
This includes the creation of a new native species hedge which would fully enclose the
BESS perimeter palisade fence, leaving aside the entrance gate. There would be new
native tree planting along the northern and eastern field boundaries, and along the edge of
the access tracks. A new hedgerow of approximately 150m would be formed for the first
section of the northern access route, to connect with the existing field boundary hedge.

The Council's ecologist and Tree Officer have been consulted with no concerns raised.
Notwithstanding the submitted landscape plan, hedgerow and tree planting details, together
with protection measures would be finalised by means of an appropriate landscaping
condition. Officers consider the development accords with Chapter 15 of the NPPF, Policy
SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) of the adopted JCS, and Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity,
Geodiversity and Important Natural Features) of the adopted TBP.

Highways
The NPPF at Chapter 9 seeks to promote sustainable transport.

Policy INF 1 (Transport Network) requires that developers should provide safe and
accessible connections to the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and
commuters. Chapter 10 of the adopted TBP states that an efficient and safe transport
system is critical to the success of the Borough and the quality of life of its residents and
visitors.

A Transport Statement has been submitted. The application proposes to use two
accesses from Brockworth Road via existing field entrance gates. During the period of
construction, and after installation of the new track, the northern primary access would be
used, which provides safe visibility on Brockworth Road for construction vehicles. The
secondary existing southern access would be available for emergency vehicles only.

The Transport Statement proposes that HGV traffic would be routed to avoid congestion
and highway weight restrictions in Brockworth. HGV vehicles would exit from the M5 and
travel west on the A417 where they would exit onto Cheltenham Road East (B4063), and
then onto Pirton Lane, Barrow Hill, and Brockworth Road. The site would be accessed
from the north only by HGVs.

167



8.93

8.94

8.95

8.96

The period of construction would be approximately 6 months which would equate to
approximately eight two way HGV movements per day. Itis likely there would be 30 non-
HGV movements per day. There would be no construction activity on Saturday afternoons
or on Sundays (nor Bank/Public holidays as recommended by condition to secure the
Construction and Traffic Management Plan)).

In the interests of reducing harm to the openness of the Green Belt, it has been agreed with
the applicant the new access track would be removed when no longer required for
construction purposes. Itis proposed that the method of reinstatement and timing of work
would be secured by condition. After reinstatement the secondary access would be used
during the operational phase of development. According to the Transport Statement, traffic
movements during the operational phase would be up to eight two way LGV/4x4 vehicles
per month. The Highways Officer considers there would be no risk to Highway safety.
Accordingly, the development complies with the NPPF, Policy INF1 (Transport Network) of
the adopted JCS.

Fire and Pollution Risk

The applicant confirms that lithium-ion batteries will be used within the development. It is
stated that these are extremely safe with the technology well developed. Each system will
be designed with both automatic fire detection and suppression systems. Neither National
Highways (in relation to proximity to the adjacent trunk road) or the Environmental Health
Officer have raised concerns. A condition is recommended which would require details
of this to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, and
implemented, prior to first operation of the development.

The Environment Agency has been consulted and has commented on pollution risk.
Whilst not objecting, the development has raised the potential of pollution and the
responsibilities of the developer/operator to deal with any incident. Similarly,
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue has raised concerns, though has not objected.

Officers recommend that should the application be permitted, the decision notice refers to
the Environment Agency and Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue consultation response by
way of an informative. Officers consider this is a reasonable and proportionate
safeguard.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

Battery energy storage is fully recognised as a key component of the UK’s transition to a
low carbon economy and the supply of renewable energy. Batteries of the type proposed
are able to store energy when electricity demand is low, and also during periods when
electricity generation exceeds demand. Officers consider that policies of the Development
Plan which support renewable energy attract very significant weight.

The development is proposed in a countryside location and in the Green Belt. However, in
this case Officers consider that very special circumstances have been demonstrated, which
counter the limited harm to the openness of the Green Belt. The application site should
be viewed in the context of the adjacent major trunk road which bounds existing and
approved development in Brockworth.

Harms to landscape character, amenity and ecological assets are not significant. Further
mitigation and enhancements would be delivered by hedgerow and tree planting.

168



9.4

10.

On balance, the identified harms of development are not considered to outweigh the very
significant benefits of energy storage.

Recommendation

10.1

11.

The proposal accords with relevant policies as outlined above, it is therefore
recommended the application be permitted subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

The development hereby permitted shall not be begun after the expiration of three years
from the date of this consent.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than in accordance with
the following approved documents:

Received 24 Nov 23:

Location Plan K001 P01

Site Layout Plan K001 P02

Received 18 Mar 24:

Medium Inverter Unit K002 P02

Spare Parts Container KOO8 P02

Site Fence and Access K006 P02
Auxiliary Transformer Building K005 P02
Small Substation Building K004 P02
Large Substation Building KO0O3 P02
Battery Container K001 P02

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans.

Prior to Commencement Conditions

Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction and Traffic Management Plan
(CMTP) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The plan shall
include but not be limited to:

¢ Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to ensure
satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring properties
during construction);

¢ Routes and management of construction traffic;

e Any temporary access to the site;

¢ Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction materials;
¢ Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;

e Arrangements for turning vehicles;

e Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;

¢ Highway Condition survey to include Brockworth Road, Barrow Hill, Pirton Lane, B4063
(Cheltenham Road East). The highway condition survey shall be carried out immediately
prior to the works commencement date and following works completion which shall be

169



notified to the Local Planning and Highway Authorities at least a month in advance of the
evidenced start date. Highway conditions surveys shall include photographic records of
current road condition and verges/kerbs with any existing issues. The
developer/contractor shall rectify any damage caused, recorded and reported as soon as
possible to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority.

e Lighting during construction;

o Working days and hours of construction

¢ Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors and
neighbouring residents and businesses.

Reason: In the interests of maintaining highway safety, residential amenity and to
protect the environment.

No development including demolition, site clearance, materials delivery or erection of site
buildings, shall start until measures to protect trees/hedgerows on and adjacent to the site
have been installed in accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

These measures shall include:

1. Temporary fencing for the protection of all retained trees/hedgerows on and adjacent to
the site whose Root Protection Areas (RPA) fall within the site to be erected in
accordance with BS 5837(2012) or subsequent revisions (Trees in Relation to Design,
Demolition and Construction). Any alternative fencing type or position not strictly in
accordance with BS 106 5837 (2012) shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to the start of development. The RPA is defined in BS5837(2012).

2. Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ): The area around trees and hedgerows enclosed
on site by protective fencing shall be deemed the CEZ. Excavations of any kind,
alterations in soil levels, storage of any materials, soil, equipment, fuel, machinery or
plant, site compounds, cabins or other temporary buildings, vehicle parking and delivery
areas, fires and any other activities liable to be harmful to trees and hedgerows are
prohibited within the CEZ, unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The approved tree protection measures shall remain in place until the completion of
development or unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate protection measures for existing trees/hedgerows to be
retained, in the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the
area.

Prior to the commencement of development, a specification of the temporary northern
construction access track (as set out on Plan Ref KOO1 P02 received 24 Nov 23) shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The temporary access track shall
not be installed other than as approved.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding visual amenity in the Green Belt.

170



Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the installation of CCTV
cameras and lighting shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.
The scheme shall not be installed other than as approved. No additional CCTV cameras
or external lighting shall be installed without prior consent from the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of protecting ecological assets.

No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation
clearance) until a construction and environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity)
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
CEMP shall not be implemented other than as approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of protecting and enhancing ecological assets.

Prior to the commencement of development, details of a system for fire detection and
suppression including the management of contaminated water shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Environment
Agency. The approved system shall be implemented in full prior to first operation of the
development and shall be retained thereafter during operation of the development.

The submitted details shall include the following:

- evidence of discussions with the fire service to confirm the expected volume and nature
of contaminated water which would need to be managed in the event of a fire on site;

- evidence of how the surface water drainage system will be isolated in the event of a fire
or leak;

- further details of the nature of any contaminants which could be present from a failure
and leak from the batteries and/or transformer on site;

- evidence that a plan is in place to remove and safely dispose of any contaminated water
stored on site in the event of an incident.

Reason: In the interests of public safety, security, and to protect the surrounding natural
environment.

Prior to Operation Conditions

The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use or commenced until
visibility splays are provided as illustrated in the Transport Statement and Construction
Traffic Management Plan from a point 0.6m above carriageway level at the centre of the
access to the application site and 2.4 metres back from the near side edge of the
adjoining carriageway, (measured perpendicularly), for a distance of 215 metres in each
direction measured along the nearside edge of the adjoining carriageway and offset a
distance of 0.6 metres from the edge of the carriageway including the inside bend of the
highway north of the access. These splays shall thereafter be permanently kept free of all
obstructions to visibility over 0.6m in height above carriageway level.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety according to INF1 of the Local Plan Core

Strategy, PD 0.1 and 0.4 of the Local Transport Plan and paragraphs 114 and 116 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

171



10

11

12

13

14

Prior to first operation of the development, a SuDS management and maintenance plan
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved SUDS maintenance plan shall be implemented in full in accordance with the
agreed terms and conditions.

Reason: To ensure the continued operation and maintenance of drainage features
serving the site and avoid flooding.

The development shall not become operational until details of the landscaping have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Landscaping
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details no later than the first
planting season following the development becoming operational. The landscaping shall
thereafter be maintained for a period of 5 years. If during this time any trees, shrubs or
other plants are removed, die, or are seriously diseased these shall be replaced during
the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation. If any plants fail more than once they
shall continue to be replaced on an annual basis until the end of the 5 year maintenance
period.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity

Prior to first operation of the development a landscape and ecological management plan
(LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The LEMP
shall be written in accordance with BS42020. The LEMP shall also include details by
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured and who is responsible for
its delivery. The plan will detail how habitats on site will be managed including remedial
actions where necessary to ensure that that the development meets its aims and
objectives. The LEMP should also detail how a positive net gain in biodiversity habitat
units can be achieved and maintained in the long term. The LEMP is to include details set
out within the Ecological Impact Assessment (Tyler Grange, November 2023). The
LEMP shall not be implemented other than as approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of protecting ecological assets.

Containerised battery units, medium voltage inverter units, spare parts container,
perimeter palisade fence and entrance gate shall not be finished in colour other than in
Moss Green (RAL6005).

Reason: In the interests of maintaining visual amenity of the area.

Not later than three months of the development becoming operational, a scheme for
removal of the northern construction access track (as set out on Plan Ref KO01 P02
received 24 Nov 23) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The
scheme shall also include details of reinstatement of associated agricultural land and
timescales of reinstatement. The approved scheme shall not be implemented other than
as approved.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding visual amenity in the Green Belt.

172



15

16

17

18

12.

If, during the course of development, any contamination is found which has not been
identified in the site investigation, measures for the remediation of this source of
contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved measures.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors

Not less than 12 months before the end of life of the development hereby permitted, or
not less than 12 months from the cessation of energy storage, whichever is the sooner, a
Decommissioning Method Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Decommissioning Method Statement (DMS) shall include
details of the removal of the battery equipment and all associated cabling, buildings,
infrastructure and access tracks, together with a timetable for these works. The DMS shall
also include details of the proposed site restoration. The site shall be decommissioned,
and the site restored in accordance with the approved DMS and timetable within 6 months
of the expiry of the 40 year period of planning permission, or within 18 months of the
cessation of energy storage, whichever is the sooner.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to return the site to agricultural land.

Notwithstanding the submitted details, no above ground development shall take place
until a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment using the Defra Biodiversity Metric (or any
updated or replacement metric used as the industry standard) including a schedule for
implementation of works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The assessment shall include details to demonstrate the development
would secure measurable net gains for biodiversity and its future maintenance. The
development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and thereafter
be similarly maintained.

Reason: To ensure the development would deliver a biodiversity net gain across the local
and landscape scales.

No removal of trees/scrub/hedgerows shall be carried out on site between 1st March and
31st August inclusive in any year, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the nature conservation interest of the site is protected

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought
to determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

173



Construction Management Plan (CMP) It is expected that contractors are registered with
the Considerate Constructors scheme and comply with the code of conduct in full, but
particularly reference is made to “respecting the community” this says: Constructors
should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the public

¢ Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;

e Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;

o Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

¢ Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting the Code. The
CEMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the local
community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should also
confirm how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an agreed
Service Level Agreement for responding to said issues. Contractors should ensure that
courtesy boards are provided, and information shared with the local community relating to
the timing of operations and contact details for the site coordinator in the event of any
difficulties. This does not offer any relief to obligations under existing Legislation.

The Local Highway Authority has no objection to the above subject to the applicant
obtaining a section 184 licence. The construction of a new accesses will require the
extension of a verge crossing from the carriageway under the Highways Act 1980 -
Section 184 and the Applicant is required to obtain the permission of Gloucestershire
Highways on 08000 514 514 or highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk before commencing
any works on the highway. Full Details can be found at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk.

The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is likely
to impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and any
demolition required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities Network
Management Team at Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before
undertaking any work, to discuss any temporary traffic management measures required,
such as footway, Public Right of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking
restrictions a minimum of eight weeks prior to any activity on site to enable Temporary
Traffic Regulation Orders to be prepared and a programme of Temporary Traffic
Management measures to be agreed.

Drainage arrangements shall be provided to ensure that surface water from the driveway
and/or vehicular turning area does not discharge onto the public highway. No drainage or
effluent from the proposed development shall be allowed to discharge into any highway
drain or over any part of the public highway.

The applicant's attention is drawn to the need to ensure that the provision of the visibility

splay(s) required by this consent is safeguarded in any sale of the application site or
part(s) thereof.

174


http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/

The attention of the applicant is drawn to Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980 which
allows the Highway Authority to recover additional costs of road maintenance due to
damage by extraordinary traffic. Before any work is commenced upon the development
hereby approved representatives of Gloucestershire County Council, as the Highway
Authority and the applicant, shall carry out a joint road survey/inspection on the roads
leading to this site. Any highlighted defects shall be rectified to the specification and
satisfaction of the Highway Authority before work is commenced on the development
hereby approved. A further joint survey/inspection shall be undertaken following
completion of development hereby approved and any necessary remedial works shall be
completed to the specification and satisfaction of the Highway Authority within 1 month or
other agreed timescale.

175






100X-0-00-00-9X3-V10019

Jequinu Bumeiq

2poa smiels

000S:} €coz/ii/oz
£V je ojeos aleq

uoyeoiddy Bujuueld
snes

an1esay ABlaug peoy ypomoolg
Yeloid

Ueld uoeoo sis
o Bumesq

paywi uswdojeraq uabexy

wand
3IN°00"USBEX MMM dOV dLMS Uopuo]
00 usBexa@ojul NI bZ-12

5¥5 004 00€€(0) Pr+

JeMmol YUBQIIN

M uswdojeneq uebexa

usabpxe

uonduosaq ieq Aoy

Aiepunog uopeoyddy Buiuue|q D
Koy

'£0086914 JOqUINN
selep @ pue|bu3 i peieisiBey €20z peyw] Juswidojeneq Uebex3 @
“pr1 wewdojanag

ueBex3 0} Bunum ut powoda. q 0} SaloUEdELOSIP PUE SUOISSILID Iy

“PBULEp SSEJUN S8.JEL Ul 8JE SSJEUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|OAS| ‘SUOISUBLUL
“uoissjuued uenM INoUIM _Ee

Aue uj paonpoidal 1o peido oq 10U 1SN UjeIY) PUIEIUOD UOREULIOJ) Bl ]
“payoeds sjeys eu) 1o AJuo pesn eq o

oM U Bupee20.d 810Jaq 8IS U0 PXBYD ] O SUOISUBWY
“SJUSLIN20P JUBASIR [[E UM UOROUN[UOD Uy M >

:SelON

sonew

w ¥°0

€0

o

0

177




€15¥90001 Jquinu sousoI *

pansasal sybul |1y €202 3BuAdoo umoi) @ Buiddew Asaing soueuplQ wouy paonpoiday

¢0d 100%-A-00-70-9X3-VY10J1O

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq

uoneolddy Bujuue|d
sniels

anIasay ABlaug peoy yuomyoolg
j09loid

ue|d Inoke sls

iy Bumeig

pajywi juswdojaasq usbex3

welo
3n°00°usbexs mmm dOv dLMS uopuo]
n°00°usbexa@oul MUBQIIN ¥2-1T

G¥S 004 00€€(0) ¥+ Jomo | yueqiiin

paywi juswdojaasq usbexgy

uabboxa

uonduosa@ aleq | Aoy

IMoLIEU ‘BInjorujselul paublieay €colle 20d

(lenusyod 3soo1 jeq ybiy) saau woly Jagng wg|
$931) WoJy 1aPng wo}
sabpay woly Jayng wg
ealy U0IJ03}J0Id J00Y
Aem joybuolgng ===
uo1308Uu09 Jo julod 0} 3|qed pasodoid
2INJoNJJSeyul Uoloauu09 4o julod pasodoid _H_
a)eb aousy pasodoid
3sod Bunybi| / ALDD pasodoid
2ous) apesijed pasodoly ——
syoeJ) sseooe pasodold
Jauleju0d abelo)s pasodoid
sBuiping uonejsans pasodoid [
JawJojsuel) Aseyjixne pasodold [ |
Jun JapsAul pasodold
Jaulejuoo abeiojs Alajeq pasodord N
aul Aouioale peayiano Aee Bunsixy ===
panowal aq o} ok sseooe Bunsixg
papeibdn aq 0} yoey sseooe Buisixy
peosolgnd Buysixy
paulejal 8q o} puejsselb buysixg §
Mmosobpay Bunsixg s
pue|poom pue seox Bunsixy (D
Asepunoq uoneoidde Buluuely ——
Koy

"€008691 | 49QUINN S3EM B PuE|Bul

ul passysibay £z0z paywi juswdojeasq usbex3y @
‘py] Juswdojanag uabex3 o) Bunum

ul papodal 8q 0} salouedalosip PUE SUOISSILIO
“Ajuo oAl ul pue ajewixoldde ale seale |
‘paulep ssajun

S3J}0W Ul SJ& SSJeUIPIO0D PUE ‘S[SAS] ‘SUDISUBWUIP (Y
‘uoissiwiad uspum Jnoyym wioy Aue ul psonpoidai Jo
paidoo g J0u JSNW UIBIaY) PAUIEJUOO LOHEWIOI 8Y]
‘payloads snjejs ay) Joj Ajuo pasn aq o1

oM yym

Buipesooid 21048 8)Is UO Pa308YD 8 O} SUOISUBWIP |1
‘SJUSLUNOOP JUBAS(J |[B YJIM UOROUNIUOD Ul MBIA
:s9l0N

[ T
¥S 0szy:b  ecoz/soloe | ¢
9pod snjeig £V Je 9[edg sjeq

R
gﬁ,w
o

,

R
R

X
%
R

%
AN
o
R

L

é\%
W

=
Q\




¢0d 100%-a-00-¥0-©X3-V1001O

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq
S oscl:L €coc/oLieL
3poo snjeig £V je ajeog aieg

uoneolddy Buiuueld
smeis

anIasay ABlaug peoy yuomyoolg
Jo9foid

ue|d uonebiyy adeospue
o Bumeg

pajywi juswdojaasq usbex3

welo
3n°00'uabexa mmm dOv dLMS uopuo]
3n°00°usbexa@oul MUBQIIN ¥2-1T

S¥S 001 00EE(0) v+ Jomo L Yueq|iin

pajwi juswdoasg usbexy

uabboxa

uonduosaq aeq Ay
sjue(d 931} pue Saj0U [BUOIPPY ¥Z20¥L | 20d
MOISBpaY panoway -

saa1) moJabpay aAneu pasodold

Qco punodwoo) wcmeEwE 9|geaw.adw
q ulelapun pue|sselb [esnau pasodold

qgnuos pasodold

(3s1B0j0oa ue Aq payads aq 0} Xiw)
pue|sselb Jamoyp|im pasodold

smoltabpay aneu pasodold

e

2ous) apesijed pasodold ——
a)eb aousy pasodoid

sBuipiing uoneysgns pesodold [ |

SyoeJ) $$300€ pasodold

Jaulejuoo abelojs pasodold

ainjonJysesyul punodwoo Aiayeq pasodold

Noel} ss800e UIp papesbdn/paulejay

(anneaipul) Kep 4o 1yBry oliand peureloy

YoNPp peLaAINS Allelied pue Jom pauleley

puod paurejey

eale jejigey panoidwi pauieley

uibiew pue pjay s|qele paule}ey

Mmolebpay pauleay

391} paureloy

uonejabanqgnios pauleley

aull Aouiosle peaysano Aee Bunsixg ===

peosolgnd Buisixg -

[

Asepunoq uoneojdde Buiuue|q
Aoy

'€008691 | J9qUINN S3[eA B pue|Bul

ur pasgysibay “yz0z paywi juswdojersq usbex3 o
‘py] Juswdojanag uabex3 o) Bunum

ul papodai 8q 0} salouedaldsIp pue SUOISSIWO |y
*Auo aAesipul pue ajewixoidde aie seale ||y
‘paulep ssajun

S31JaW Ul BJE SBJEUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9AS] ‘SUOISUBLIP (1Y
‘uoissiwiad uspum JnoyIm wioy Aue ui paonpoidas 1o
paldoo 3¢ Jou }sn UISISY} PSUIBJUOD UOIBWLIOJUl 8y
‘payoads snjejs ay} Joj AJuo pasn aq oL

HIom

BuIpaa001d 81040 B)IS UO PAXBYD 84 0} SUOISUBLI
*SJUSWINJOP JUBASIS |[B Y)IM LUOROUNIUOD Ul MBIA
:S3jON

€V ® 006} 9/eos

punodwo) ulep o ieyeq - }es

ul

‘Mol
paiabbeys s|gnop se pajueld anoqge payioads syueid molabpay aaneu Buisn
paiinbau se pa|jyul / dn-padded aq o} ays ay Buiuiolpe smolebpay Bunsixgy

%G (8s0y Japjeng) snindo wnuingIA
%S'C (esoy BoQ) eulueo esoy
%S (uloypoe|g) esourds snunid
%S'C (AlloH) wnijoyinbe xaj|
%0L (utoymeH) eukBouow snbaejes)
%01 (lezeH) euejjone snjkiod

%SG (aide pia14) ansadwed Jsoy

% se1edg

:mouaBpay jo yjbus| yoes Buoje paynquisip Aluane

aq 0} sal0ads ||y ‘saloads awes ay} Jo Jaquinu Q-G Buluiejuoo dno.b yoes
yim sdnoub Jo Xiw wopuel e ul jueld ‘ybly wo 09-0f palddns sjuejdsues)
Ansaioy Buisn (aspw Jeaul| Jad sjued g) saiuyeo ww 00g Ajerewixoldde
Je paoeds sjue|d yym ‘Wede ww Qog Mot paiabbess ajgnop e se jueld
SoXI|N MoJaBpaH anleN

%09 (3eQ) Ingos shosenD
%S (a1ddy qe1D) siysanjhs snjepy
%ST (arde pie1d) ansadwed Jsoy
% sal0adg

‘sapads ainguisip Auan3 ‘ybly wo00g-052
paliddns saay psepuess Jybl Buisn moseBpay Bugsixe 0} Jusoelpe jueld
$9a11 MOIaBPaH SANEN

“Jefiwis 1o (suysenlhs sniepy) ojddy
qelD oq |im pajueld seroads ‘punodwios paousy
B} JO }SaM 8y} 0} umoys sI Bunueid sa aleym

“pue| skemybiH [euoneN
UM A1EpUnOg SU) WO WGZ J0 Winwiuiw

o

B Yoeq }os aq |[eys seaJ) Juswioads pasodold 2

‘pue| skemybiH
[EUOHEN JO WO} UM pajueld 84 Jou [leys
salpads (esouldg snunid) uioype|g pesodold -

3
PY

'S3J0U [BUORIP




€15790001 Jaqunu sousolT ‘pansssal siybul || 20z 3BlAdod umoi) @ Buiddew Asaing soueuplQ woy paonpolday

:rowwmm Noox.o._w.wo-ovmmgrﬂww%zﬂ_mw “ajdew pjay Se yons ‘ASAINS [BINYNOLIOGIE BU) UIYNM PajIe)ap Saioads Jo aAealpul uonejaban Bunsixg e | HY 05 FAw_Mom : SUOEI0| MBIA UOROSS - | Josul
- ‘Buiddey Jajse|y Aaning @oueuplQ woly uonounf peos difs /LY Jo Juaxg e ~ sanew
S 0G¢:L ¥202/€0/82 =S l
3p0o snjels LV 1& Sjeog aeq "$HJOM UOIONIISUOD 0} Jolid pesibe , || Soo 3
29 0} S| YoIyMm Jo UonedyDads JoBX 8U) “IN0J0D Je|IWIS B Jo aAejussaldal aie umoys sinojod Auy e | 0CH 06 09 < 3 0
uoneoyiddy Buiuueld ‘ubisap |IAID [euly 0} 108[gns ale Ajuo aAlledIpUl 818 UMOYS S|9A8| pasodold |y e \v
Smeis ‘uoisioald W
UM uonipa zz0z 1oselep LA ¥yl Aousby juswuosiaug woly 8)is o sjaas| olydesbodoy Bunsixg e
onIesaY ABIou3 peoy :togv_mm_m_m ‘kanins ojydeiBodo) oiy0ads-a)is wody Ys Uo s|aAd| olydelbodo) Bunsixgy e

"PaRILIGNS SB Z0d-L00M-A-00-70-DX3-V L0019 Buimelp ue|d Jnofe s)is uo paseq suoosg e
‘ueld siy} yum uonounfuod uj pamaia aq

(Buousy ou) ynoke sy ybnoay | pInoys pue gooM-1L00M-A-ZZ-S0-OX3I-V1L0DT1O sbuimelp je punoj SmalA uoioas jusuodwod pajielag e

.d-a .0-0 '8-9 "V-V SMaIA uoioes

3y Buimelq 'S9JON
Sallowl
payLT juswdopAsq usbexs | [ —
ua||
e W0 1oy 3 0z 0
3n°00°usBexs mmm 4OV dLMS Uopuo
3n"00°usbexa@ojul SUBQIIA ¥2-1Z
G¥S 001 00€€(0) v+ 19MO | SUEIIA
peywi Juswdojeraq usbex3 98/°9% "ulw uoljeAs|3 &
Vil R
€21/ "Xew uoneas|q oY
. NN
m WNLYQ Woo0 Sy A
uonduosa@ aleq | Aoy
RGN
NN
€8 [1usixs sou5 3 | \\///\M//M\M\///\\/\\ ]

M .d-@ uonoes

Sly'8p "ulw uoneAs|3
G6.'8 "Xew uoneas|3
ANL1vQa Wooo'sy

- /

. (

180

sy

€5 [— ,
Aem jo1ybu olgng ===

-
uo1308uu09 Jo julod 0} 3|qed pasodold E .mlm u O_Homw
9)eb aousy pasodold = E

3sod Bunybi| / ALDD pesodoid

@oua) spesied pasodold —— 290° LY "uiw uoneas|3
syoel} ssaooe pesodold G906 'Xew uoljeAs|q
Jaulejuoo ebeiols pasodold INNLYQd wo00' sy

sBuiping uonejsans pasodoid [
Jawlojsuel) Aseljixne pasodold [ |

Jun JapeAUl pasodold
Jaulejuoo abeloys Aiapeq pasodoid [ |
aull Aouiosle peayiano Avee Bunsixg === L 3 |

-
papesbdn aq 0} yoey sseooe Buisixy . m
2 0-0 uonoes
jw

eol oljgnd Bunsix: —]
peol oljq iy nsixa seon dis
paulejal aq 0} puejssesd bunsix3
LIYY-SIN
MoJabpay Buisixg e

5 ¢68°9¥% "ulw uoneAs|3q
puejpoom pue seay bunsix3 (D Z61°8b ‘Xew uoneas|q
Asepunoq uoneoidde buluuely ——

NNLvd w00 sy
(Lyesup ey | gy,

"€008691 | JoquInN sajep B pueibus | /{7
ul paig)sibay 'yz0z paywi juswdojersq usbex3 o 6t
‘P11 Juswdojanag usbex3 o) Bunum 4
ul payodai aq o} safouedaiosip pue suoissiwo Iy | FG
*Aluo aAledIpul pue sjewixoidde ale sesle ||y €G-
‘paulep ssajun -

Sa1JaW Ul 316 S3JeUIPI000 PUe ‘S[aA3] ‘suoisuawip Iy |
‘uolssiwiad usjuM JnoyIm wioy Aue ul peonpoidal 1o M <l< u O_Howw

paidoo g Jou JSNW UIBIaY) PaUIEJUOD UoRew oI 8yl | [Ti eos diis ! .
‘payioads snjejs ay Joy Aluo pesnagqoy | p i

Hom LIYV-SIN
Buipasooid 210J9q 8)Is UO Pa¥I8YD 8 0} SUOISUBW
‘SJUSLUNOOP JUBAS(J |[B YJIM UOROUNIUOD Ul MBIA
:S9J0N

|
eI ot




¢0d 100M-A-ZZ-G0-O9X3-V1L0D01O

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq
S 0S:1L €20¢/11/0C
9p0od snjelg €V e 9|eos |jeqg

uoneolddy Buluueld
snjeis

anBsay ABiaug peoy yuomyoolg
Jaloid

suoleAs|3 Jauleyuo)

Asepeg yoz

o)} Buimeiq

pajwi juswdojereg uebexg

Lo

n'00°usbexa’ mmm dO¥ dLMS uopuoT]
3}n°00°usbexa@oyul NUeqiiiiNl vZ-Le

G¥S 001 00€E(0) Ph+ JSMO L SueqilIN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uonduosaq sjeg A9y

Buipiom [edidA} panoway A 2od

'€00869} L JoquInN sajep g puejbuz

ur passjsibay 'pz0z pawi Juswdojanag usbexs @
py] Juswdojeasq usbex3 oy Bunum

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO ||y
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y
‘paulap ssajun sl

Ul 1€ S3)BUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9A3] ‘'SUOISUSWIP ||y
‘uoissiwiad USPLM JNoYIM w0y Aue ul paonpoidai Jo
paidoo 8 Jou JSNW UIBISY) PAUIEJUOD UOHEWIOMI BY |
‘payoads snjejs ay 1oy Ajuo pasn 8q o)

Spom yim Buipescoid

21043q 3YiS UO Pa¥O8YD 8q O} SUOISUBWIP ||y
'SJUSLLINOOP JUBASIS] [[€ Y)IM UOHOUN[UOD Ul MIIA
1S9J0N

ww
[ I [ I | NOILVYA3T3 MOvd
000t 000¢ 000¢ 0 «\EEOON
o]
wwoe0¢e wwoe8e
o] o]
wwgs09
¢ - NOILVAZT3 3AIS NOILVAITI LNOYH4
- WwooZ XYW |- .
[O] 5 * [ 5 {0
I ﬁ L [ ﬁ\g w?
wwoe8z wwo682
I (1) <
i
L I his <
= [ I ]
L] T T0]
e WW8EY e ———= wwgsg09
M3IA NV1d
wwgeye
wwgs09

L - NOILVA3T3 3dIS

wwoe68e

[

wwgeye

181

-




¢0d €00X-0-ZZ-50-9X3-V10019

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq
S 00}:L €20¢/11/0C
9p0od snjelg €V e 9|eos |jeqg

uoneolddy Buluueld
smeis

anBsay ABiaug peoy sto\sv_owhm
Jo8foid

suoleas|3
Buip|ing uonejsqng abie]

o)} Buimelq

pajwi Juswdojeaag usbexy

810
n'00°usbexa’ mmm dO¥ dLMS uopuoT]
3n'00°usbexa@ojul NueqiiN ¥2-L2
S¥S 004 00€€(0) ¥i+ Jamo UediiiN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uonduosaq sjeg A9y

Buipiom |eoldA} panoway Y2 €0'SL 20d

0008

'€00869} L JoquInN sajep g puejbuz

ur passjsibay 'pz0z pawi Juswdojanag usbexs @
py] Juswdojeasq usbex3 oy Bunum

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y
‘paulap ssajun saew

Ul 1€ S3)BUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9A3] ‘'SUOISUSWIP ||y
‘uoissiwiad USPLM JNoYIM w0y Aue ul paonpoidai Jo
paidoo 8 Jou JSNW UIBISY) PAUIEJUOD UOHEWIOMI BY |
‘payoads snjejs ay 1oy Ajuo pasn 8q o)

Spom yim Buipescoid

21043q 3YiS UO Pa¥O8YD 8q O} SUOISUBWIP ||y
'SJUSLLINOOP JUBASIS] [[€ Y)IM UOHOUN[UOD Ul MIIA
1S9J0N

ww
, I ——
0009 000 0
NOILVATT3 MOvd
wwooos
wwoooek
¢ - NOILVA3T3 3dIS NOILVATT3 LNOY4
wwooos

wwoooek

M3IA NVd

NOIS3a
a37vL3A ONIMOTIO4

NOLLNgIbLSIa
A8 GaIWHIINOD

38 OL N9IS3a WOOH
IVYNY3LNINOLLYLSENS

wwooock

I - NOILVA3T3 3dIS

e WwwIig00.

wwoo00.

182




¢0d ¥00M-A-ZZ-50-9X3-V1 0019

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq
S 00}:L €20¢/11/0C
9p0od snjelg €V e 9|eos |jeqg

uoneolddy Buluueld
smeis

anBsay ABiaug peoy sto\sv_owhm
Jo8foid

suoneAs|g
g uoneisgng |lews

o)} Buimelq

17 juswdojenaq uabex3
s

payl

x:.ou.:mmmxw.\s\s\s
3}n°00°usbexa@oyul
S¥S 004 00€€(0) ¥i+

dOv dIMS uopuoT

JUBQIIN 21T

19MO | ueq|iN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uonduosaq oleq | Aoy

Buipiom |eoldA} panoway Y2 €0'SL 20d

'€00869} L JoquInN sajep g puejbuz

ur passjsibay 'pz0z pawi Juswdojanag usbexs @
py] Juswdojeasq usbex3 oy Bunum

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO ||y
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y
‘paulap ssajun sl

Ul 1€ S3)BUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9A3] ‘'SUOISUSWIP ||y
‘uoissiwiad USPLM JNoYIM w0y Aue ul paonpoidai Jo
paidoo 8 Jou JSNW UIBISY) PAUIEJUOD UOHEWIOMI BY |
‘payoads snjejs ay 1oy Ajuo pasn 8q o)

Spom yim Buipescoid

21043q 3YiS UO Pa¥O8YD 8q O} SUOISUBWIP ||y
'SJUSLLINOOP JUBASIS] [[€ Y)IM UOHOUN[UOD Ul MIIA
1S9J0N

0008

0009

000

¢ -NOILVYA3T13 3dIS

wwoo00s

NOILVATT3 MOvd

wwooos

,ﬁ wwoos.z

NOILVATT3 LNOY4

wwoos.
M3IA NVd

NOIS3a
a37v13a ONIMOT104
HOLVY3dO ¥HOMLIN

NoLLNgILSIa
A8 Q3INWHIINOD
39 0L N9IS3a WOOH
TYNY3LNI NOLLYLSENS

wwoos.L

wwo00.

L - NOILYA3T3 3dIS

wwoooL

183




¢0d G00M-A-ZZ-50-9X3-V1001O

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq
S 0S:1L €20¢/11/0C
9p0od snjelg €V e 9|eos |jeqg

uoneolddy Buluueld
snjeis

anBsay ABiaug peoy yuomyoolg
Jaloid

suoljeAs|3 Jawlojsuel] Al

o)} Buimelq

pajwi juswdojarag uabexy

10

n'00°usbexa’ mmm dO¥ dLMS uopuoT]
3}n°00°usbexa@oyul NUeqiiiiNl vZ-Le

G¥S 001 00€E(0) Ph+ JSMO L SueqilIN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uonduosaq sjeg A9y

Buipiom [edidA} panoway A zod

'€00869} L JoquInN sajep g puejbuz

ur passjsibay 'pz0z pawi Juswdojanag usbexs @
py] Juswdojeasq usbex3 oy Bunum

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO ||y
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y
‘paulap ssajun sl

Ul 1€ S3)BUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9A3] ‘'SUOISUSWIP ||y
‘uoissiwiad USPLM JNoYIM w0y Aue ul paonpoidai Jo
paidoo 8 Jou JSNW UIBISY) PAUIEJUOD UOHEWIOMI BY |
‘payoads snjejs ay 1oy Ajuo pasn 8q o)

Spom yim Buipescoid

21043q 3YiS UO Pa¥O8YD 8q O} SUOISUBWIP ||y
'SJUSLLINOOP JUBASIS] [[€ Y)IM UOHOUN[UOD Ul MIIA
1S9J0N

000 000€ 000¢

wwoooe

M3IA NVd

wwoooe

NOILVATTI MOvd

wwoo9e

NOILVATT3 3AIS

wwosoe

NOILVATT LNOYd4

wwoole

wwoose

184

]

wwoo9

I

T




¢0d 2¢00X-0-ZZ-50-9X3-V10019

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq

S 0S:1 €20¢/11/0C

9poo snjels £V Je 9[eos sjeq

uoneolddy Buluueld
snjeis

anBsay ABiaug peoy yuomyoolg
Jaloid

suoneAs|3
Jlun JauaAu| abejop wnipajy
o)} Buimelq

17 juswdojenaq uabex3
Lo

payl

3N°00°UaBEXS MMM dO¥ dLMS uopuoT
»n"00°usBexa@ojul JUBQIIN 21T
S¥S 004 00€€(0) ¥+ 19MO | ueq|iN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uopduosag

sjeg

A9y

Buipiom [edidA} panoway

Y2 €0'SL

20d

000

000€ 000¢

¢ -NOILVAZT13 3dIS

NOILVATT3 MOvd

t

.| w0z XY

f

wuw
WW9EeZ 960€

wwgs09

NOILVATT3 INOY4d

L - NOILVATT3 3dIS

t

e T e jwwig0og XYIN

] » (0]

wwoe0e

wwo/8¢ wwoe8e

il

Wweeyz ——= wwigs09 wwgeyz

M3IA NVd

wwgeye
'€00869} L JoquInN sajep g puejbuz

ur passjsibay 'pz0z pawi Juswdojanag usbexs @
py] Juswdojeasq usbex3 oy Bunum

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO ||y
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y
‘paulap ssajun sl

Ul 1€ S3)BUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9A3] ‘'SUOISUSWIP ||y —
‘uoissiwiad USPLM JNoYIM w0y Aue ul paonpoidai Jo - =
paidoo 8 Jou JSNW UIBISY) PAUIEJUOD UOHEWIOMI BY |
‘payoads snjejs ay 1oy Ajuo pasn 8q o) wuwigso9

Spom yim Buipescoid

21043q 3YiS UO Pa¥O8YD 8q O} SUOISUBWIP ||y
'SJUSLLINOOP JUBASIS] [[€ Y)IM UOHOUN[UOD Ul MIIA
1S9J0N

185




¢0d 800X-0-ZZ-50-9X3-V10019

uoisiney Jaquinu Buimesq
S 0S:1L €20¢/11/0C
9po2 snjejg £V Je seog 8jeq

uoneolddy Buluueld
snjeis

anBsay ABiaug peoy yuomyoolg
Jo8foid

SUOljeAd|3 JaUleju0D
abelo)g sped aiedg

o)} Buimeiq

pajwi juswdojereg uebexg

ICTTe)

n'00°usbexa’ mmm dO¥ dLMS uopuoT]
3}n°00°usbexa@oyul NUeqiiiiNl vZ-Le
S5 001 00£€(0) b+ JamoL YUEqIIN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uonduosaq sjeg A9y

Buipiom [edidA} panoway YZ'€0'GL 2od

000 000€ 000¢

¢ -NOILVAZT13 3dIS

NOILVATT3 MOvd

wwoese

«

wwo609

NOILVATTT INOY4

wwooe Xvin

[

'€00869} L JoquInN sajep g puejbuz

ur passjsibay 'pz0z pawi Juswdojanag usbexs @
py] Juswdojeasq usbex3 oy Bunum

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO ||y
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y

Ul 8JE S3}BUIPIO0D PUB ‘S|SAS| ‘SUOISUSWIP ||y
‘uoissiwiad uspm jnoypm wioy Aue ul psonpoidal Jo
pa1dod 99 Jou JSNW UleISY} PSUIEJUCD UOIBLLIOMI Y|

‘paiyoads snjejs ay} Joj Ajuo pasn aq o)

Spom yim Buipescoid

2102 8YIS UO Pa¥O8YD 84 O} SUOISUBWIP [V
*SJUSWINOOP JUBASIaI ||B Y}IM uoiounfuod ul maip
:S9JON

wwovyye

!

wwoese
I
— o]
wwoe609
M3IIA NV'1d
wwovyve
wwoe609

L - NOILVA3T3 3dIS

wwoese

(1]

Lo

wworye

186




¢0d 900X-0-ZZ-50-9X3-V10019 ww

il soqunu buweiq | | | —
S 0S:1 €20¢/11/0C |oooY 000€ 0002 0
9p0od snjelg €V e 9|eos |jeqg
uoneayddy Buiuuely (SLN) I1dvX3
smeig MOVHLl SS300V

anBsay ABiaug peoy sto\sv_owhm
Jo8foid

NOILVATTE 31VO

SS900Y pue aoua apesiied
o)} Buimelq

pajwi Juswdojeaag usbexy

LI NN nEn oo e
3n°00°usbexs mmm dO¥ dLMS uopuoT] w N L L HEERERRINREREEEIn \\ TN =
»n‘0o°uabexe@ojul SUBQIIIN 2-L.2 FHHHAAAEHAAA HHHHEHHHBEHHE
G¥S 001 00€E(0) Ph+ JSMO L SueqilIN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uopduosaqg aeq Sy 11v13d davod
Buipiom [edidA} panoway vZ'€0SL z0d SS3OIV VOIdAL
AMWHHHHHHHHHHH HEHEHAHMEABRHHBEE
\ RTRTRTRT T TR T T T
l|EEom;|L
X wwoooy
ajebalbbe paoinos-A||eoo
NOILVATTI 43INHOO ION34 NOILVATT3 3ON34
T v \\\\.\\\v« \\\\\\\\\\\ .v..
wwoore wwoovye
'E008691 | J9QUINN S[EM B pue|Bu3 eErHHHHAHAHAAAAABAAHE B HOHHHHHHHHEHHHEHHAAH E
ul pausysibay ‘pz0z paywi Juswdojarag uabexy @ J e
“py] Juswdojersq uabex3 o} Bunum (AL TATA TR, (RTRATRTRTR (RTRTRT A

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO ||y
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y
‘paulap ssajun saew

Ul 1€ S3)BUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9A3] ‘'SUOISUSWIP ||y
‘uoissiwiad USPLM JNoYIM w0y Aue ul paonpoidai Jo
paidoo 8 Jou JSNW UIBISY) PAUIEJUOD UOHEWIOMI BY |
‘payoads snjejs ay 1oy Ajuo pasn 8q o)

Spom yim Buipescoid

21043q 3YiS UO Pa¥O8YD 8q O} SUOISUBWIP ||y
'SJUSLLINOOP JUBASIS] [[€ Y)IM UOHOUN[UOD Ul MIIA
1S9J0N

i wwos/e |

187




¢0d £00X-0-ZZ-50-9X3-V10019

uoisinay Jaquinu Buimelq
S 0S:1L €20¢/11/0C
9p0od snjelg €V e 9|eos |jeqg

uoneolddy Buluueld
snjeis

anBsay ABiaug peoy sto\sv_ooxm_
Jo8foid

sisod Bunybi pue ALDD SS34

o)} Buimelq

pajwi Juswdojeaag usbexy

a0
n'00°usbexa’ mmm dO¥ dLMS uopuoT]
3}n°00°usbexa@oyul NUeqiiiiNl vZ-Le
S¥S 001 00€€(0) Ph+ JSMO | SUEQ|IIN

pajiwi] juswdolanaq usbexy

uaboxa

uonduosaq sjeg A9y

Buipiom [edidA} panoway A zod

'€00869} L JoquInN sajep g puejbuz

ur passjsibay 'pz0z pawi Juswdojanag usbexs @
py] Juswdojeasq usbex3 oy Bunum

ul papodal aq 0} salouedalosip pue SUOISSIWO ||y
*Aluo aAesIpul pue sjewixoidde ale seale ||y
‘paulap ssajun saew

Ul 1€ S3)BUIPIO0D PUE ‘S|9A3] ‘'SUOISUSWIP ||y
‘uoissiwiad USPLM JNoYIM w0y Aue ul paonpoidai Jo
paidoo 8 Jou JSNW UIBISY) PAUIEJUOD UOHEWIOMI BY |
‘payoads snjejs ay 1oy Ajuo pasn 8q o)

Spom yim Buipescoid

21043q 3YiS UO Pa¥O8YD 8q O} SUOISUBWIP ||y
'SJUSLLINOOP JUBASIS] [[€ Y)IM UOHOUN[UOD Ul MIIA
1S9J0N

, , [ , |
000 000€ 000¢ 0

(S319:ALLYE)
NOILYATT3
1S0d ONILHOIT

wwoooe

(S3143.L1vE)
NOILYAT 13
1S0Od ALDD

wwoooe

(NOILY1SansS)
NOILYAT13
1S0Od ONILHOIT

wwoo0s

(NOILY1SansS)
NOILYAT13
1S0d ALDD

wwoo0s

188




Agenda Item 5f

Planning Committee

Date 23 April 2024
Case Officer Sarah Barnes
Application No. 23/00673/FUL

Site Location

Box Farm Stockwell Lane Woodmancote

Proposal Technical Details Consent for the construction of one self-build
dwelling following approval of Permission in Principle ref:
21/00144/PIP

Ward Cleeve Hill

Parish Woodmancote

Appendices Existing Site location plan and block plan

Existing topographical site plan
Existing street scene
Proposed block plan

Proposed site plan

Proposed floor plans

Proposed elevations

Proposed street scene

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Parish Council objection

Recommendation Permit
Site Location
Beech
Cottage
&
mount
Box
Farm
The Mill

189



1. The Proposal
Full application details are available to view online at:
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RY520WQDOPB00
1.1 The latest proposal is for the Technical Details Consent for the construction of one self-build
dwelling following the approval of Permission in Principle ref: 21/00144/PIP (plans attached).
2. Site Description
2.1 The application site is located to the north side of Stockwell Lane in Woodmancote which is in
an elevated position above the highway (site plan attached). The site is located within the
Cotswolds National Landscapes (formerly AONB).
2.2 The site measures approximately 0.15 hectares and comprises part of the farm complex of
Box Farm which lies to the east. The land within the site rises towards the north. There are
residential dwellings to the west of the site and the Mill and Liberty Farm are located to the
south side of Stockwell Lane.
2.3 The site has a boundary hedge to the south, and a lower managed hedge towards the west
and north boundaries. To the north of the site and east of Box Farm lies open countryside.
2.4 A Public Right of Way (PROW) runs from Stockwell Lane to the west of the farm to
approximately 90m to the north of the site.
2.5 There is a new replacement dwelling immediately to the west of the site which has nearly
been completed (as shown on the proposed block plan).
3. Relevant Planning History
Application Proposal Decision | Decision
Number Date
91/96422/FUL Demolition of existing single storey flat roofed PER 06.03.1992
extension and construction of new two storey
extension,

92/00093/FUL Conversion of existing barn into a dwelling PER 23.09.1992
(revised scheme).

97/00795/FUL Conversion of existing redundant barn to form a PER 09.12.1997

self contained unit of accommodation.

98/00339/FUL Variation of access conditions (7 & 8) attachedto | PER 23.06.1998

planning permission 97/0245/0795/FUL which
related to the residential conversion of a
redundant barn.

04/01339/FUL Erection of 4 bay storage and garage building in PER 08.03.2005

place of existing sheds and garaging.

190



http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;

08/00262/FUL Erection of 2 no. loose boxes. PER 30.04.2008

21/00144/PIP Application for Permission in Principle for the PER 21.04.2021

Construction of 1 Dwelling

Consultation Responses

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

Parish Council — supports the application in principle but not the detail. The reasons are
summarised as follows:

- The design is not compliant with the Woodmancote Neighbourhood Development
Plan especially in matching the special qualities of the AONB in the immediate area.

- Suburban contemporary aspects with a lack of traditional materials to help the
dwelling assimilate into the local character.

- The proximity to Beech Cottage and the fact that it would be at a higher level
introduces a very unwelcome overpowering suburban impact on the street scene in
this part of Stockwell Lane.

- Too close to the road.

- The third storey roof ridge is too high and roof windows are unnecessary.

- There is a need for clear clarification of the proposed materials and colours.

- Box Farm would share the driveway access with the new dwelling which would
create additional transport movements.

- Detrimental impact on the AONB

- Requests that all vegetation indicated as ‘optional’ is retained and therefore the
existing landscape is enhanced. Mitigation of harm to the AONB is paramount.

- Drainage is a major issue. The submitted report has not been prepared in
accordance with SPD 2018.

Ecology — An update Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Focus Environmental Consultants,
October 2023) and Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement strategy (Focus Environmental
Consultants, October2023) has been submitted following initial consultation. Overall, no
objections subject to the specified conditions being attached to the decision.
Gloucestershire Highways Officer — no objections.

Landscape Officer — no objections.

Tree Officer — no objections.

Drainage Officer — no objections.

Natural England - not able to provide specific advice on this application and therefore has
no comment to make on the details.

Conservation Officer — no objections.

Environmental Health — no objections subject to the specified conditions.

191



https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

4.10 Cotswolds National Landscapes - The Board recommends that, in fulfilling this ‘duty of

regard’, the LPA should: (i) ensure that planning decisions are consistent with relevant
national and local planning policy and guidance; and (ii) take into account the Board
publications.

Third Party Comments/Observations

5.1

Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

Two letter of objection has been received from local residents. The reasons for objection are
summarised as follows:

- This stretch of the lane is characterised by detached dwellings in a scattered,
sporadic ribbon development. Two large new dwellings of a similar design, located
within 3 metres of one another could appear almost as a pair of semi-detached
houses. Such a development is more typically found inside of the main part of
Woodmancote.

- Impact on the AONB

- Impact on nearby heritage assets

- Impact on the light into the neighbours lower ground bedroom and nursery room

- Potential noise from the 2 air source heat pumps that would be located on the west
side of the new dwelling

- Agrees with the objections raised by Woodmancote Parish Council.

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strateqy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

Policy SP1
Policy SP2
Policy SD4
Policy SD6
Policy SD7
Policy SD9
Policy SD10
Policy INF1

192


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

6.4  Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
Policy RES3
Policy RES4
Policy RES5
Policy NAT1
Policy ENV2
Policy DES1

6.5 Neighbourhood Plan
Woodmancote Neighbourhood Development Plan — 2020-2031
Policy 1
Policy 3
Policy 5
Policy 6
Policy 7
Policy 8
Policy 9

7. Policy Context

7.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

7.2  The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of 'made'
Neighbourhood Development Plans.

7.3  The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

7.4  Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and its associated Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

8. Evaluation
Principle of development

8.1  The overall principle of siting a single dwelling on this piece of land has already been

established by the PIP application (21/00144/PIP) and this application is for the approval of
the technical detalils.

193



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

Layout and appearance

Section 12 of the NPPF sets out that the creation of high-quality buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is
a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work
and helps make development acceptable to communities. This is echoed in JCS policy SD4
and Policy RES5 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan which states that new development
should respond positively to, and respect the character of, the site and its surroundings,
enhance local distinctiveness and the grain of the locality.

The proposed layout includes one detached, two storey dwelling plus detached garage. The
dwelling would create four bedrooms plus a study. The bedrooms would meet the space
standards as set out in Policy DES1 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. Given the nature of
the site and the context of the surrounding area, the layout is considered to be logical and
acceptable. It would be very similar to the neighbouring property to the west which is a new
replacement dwelling.

The Parish Council have raised objections on the grounds that the proposed dwelling would
be of an unsuitable design and wouldn’t be in-keeping with the character of this part of
Woodmancote. The Woodmancote Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP) Policy 9
states that “Development proposals that are in keeping with the local character as
demonstrated in the Woodmancote Character Assessments in Appendix 5 of the WNDP will
be supported.” It goes on to say that "Design of new development, including extensions,
outbuildings and renovations, will be expected to incorporate positive local design features
identified in Boxes 8 and 9 of the WNDP and avoid the negative design features especially
in prominent locations.”

Whilst the concerns raised by the Parish Council are noted, in terms of the appearance, the
proposed dwelling has been designed with traditional architectural features reminiscent of
vernacular Cotswold design with modern additions. The external materials (natural Cotswold
stone walls, a stone tiled roof and traditional Cotswold stone window frames) would be
appropriate to the character of area. On the rear elevation, the rear dormer would be
constructed from zinc with timber cladding between the windows which would be a more
contemporary feature, however, it's not considered that such materials would be detrimental
to the appearance of the dwelling, particularly as it would be at the rear of the site. Indeed,
several aspects of the proposal would comply with the positive design features as set out in
Box 9 of the WNDP. These include Cotswold Stone walling, generous sized garden, off
street parking only, soft landscaping, two storey home, generous plot size and a garage that
is subservient to the main building.

The residential properties in the vicinity of the site are predominantly two storey detached
dwellings varied in size, scale and design, and there is no prevailing architectural style
which serves to unify the street scene. It would however be of a very similar size and design
to the approved replacement dwelling next door (22/00109/FUL) as shown on the submitted
street scene elevation (see plan).

Drainage
JCS Policy INF2 sets out that development proposals must avoid areas at risk of flooding.

Proposals must not increase the level of risk to the safety or occupiers of a site, the local
community or the wider environment either on the site or elsewhere.

194



8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

A drainage strategy for foul and surface water drainage has been included with this
application. The drainage strategy provided by Rappor demonstrates the compliance with
Policy INF2 of the JCS. Foul water would be discharged via a traditional below ground
gravity system and would flow to the existing Severn Trent asset via a new Manhole
connection in Stockwell Lane.

The Parish Council have raised concerns about the drainage details that have been
submitted. The Parish Council’s concerns are noted, however, the Drainage Officer has
raised no objections to the proposed drainage strategy subject to conditions. Furthermore,
the technical details would also be subject to building regulations approval as a separate
consent.

Residential amenity

JCS policies SD4 and SD14 require development to enhance comfort, convenience and
enjoyment through assessment of the opportunities for light, privacy and external space.
Development should have no detrimental impact on the amenity of existing or new residents
or occupants.

The neighbouring property to the west has objected on the grounds of loss of light into their
lower ground bedroom and nursery room. The new dwelling would however be 3.7 metres
away from their nearest side elevation so the loss of light is not considered to be harmful /
detrimental. This neighbour has also raised concerns about potential noise from the two air
source heat pumps on the west side elevation. Environmental Health have been consulted
and have raised no concerns / objections. The Environmental Health Officer did recommend
attaching a condition with regards to the burning of waste and an informative regarding the
heat pumps. However, these are elements that are suitably covered by Environmental
Health legislation. Planning Practice Guidance advises that conditions should only be
attached to decisions if they are necessary. In this case, given that they are covered by
other legislation, they are not considered to be necessary.

The proposed dwelling would not include any first-floor side windows in order to prevent
overlooking in the direction of Beech Cottage and Box Farm.

In terms of the residential amenity for future occupiers, the dwelling would be afforded good
outdoor amenity space along with off road parking and a garage.

Overall, it is considered that subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions, the
proposed development would result in acceptable levels of amenity for future residents of
the development and the nearby existing residents in accordance with the relevant
development plan policies.

Highway Matters

Policy INF1 of the JCS advises that proposals should ensure safe and efficient access to the
highway network is provided for all transport modes and that the impact of development
does not have a severe impact upon the highway network. Policy SD4 also requires
development to be well integrated with the movement network within and beyond the
development itself, ensuring links by other modes and to green infrastructure.

195



8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

The site benefits from direct vehicular access from Stockwell Lane with a driveway leading
up the existing property at Box Farm. The existing access would be utilised for the proposed
dwelling with a new driveway being extended from the existing one. Parking would be
available in the two-bay garage. There would also be space for on-site turning for vehicles to
leave the site in a forward gear and additional parking for guests / visitors.

The Gloucestershire Highways Officer has been consulted and has raised no objections,
confirming that the Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the planning
application. Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway Authority
concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway Safety or a severe
impact on congestion and the proposal is considered acceptable.

Landscape impact

The application site is located within the Cotswolds National Landscapes, an area of high
scenic quality that has statutory protection in order to conserve and enhance the natural
beauty of its landscape. The NPPF makes clear that great weight should be given to
conserving landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs, which have the highest status of
protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty (para 182).

Policy SD7 of the JCS states that all development proposals in or within the setting of the
Cotswolds National Landscapes will be required to conserve and, where appropriate,
enhance its landscape, scenic beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and other special qualities.
Proposals will be required to be consistent with the policies set out in the Cotswolds AONB
Management Plan

Landscape character assessments for the area have been carried out at national, county
and AONB level by Natural England; National Character Area, Gloucestershire County
Council; Gloucester Landscape Character Assessment, LDA Design, 2006, and the
Cotswolds AONB Conservation Board; Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character
Assessment, 2006, respectively. In addition, a district level landscape character
assessment: Landscape and Visual Sensitivity Study - Rural Service Centres and Service
Villages, (LVSS) was published in 2014.

The LVSS puts the proposal within the landscape parcel Cotswolds AONB Landscape
Character Area 2E: 'Winchcombe to Dovers hill - (Escarpment)’. The "Escarpment”
landscape is characterised as a narrow landscape type, forming a dramatic, prominent and
well-known landscape feature as part of the distinctive topography of the area. A key
characteristic is "small scale settlement generally confined to lower shallower slopes of the
escarpment, in sheltered locations and adjacent to spring lines"

The site is on the north side of Stockwell Lane with residential properties on the west and a
farmhouse to the east. The site forms part of the garden of the farmhouse with a small
orchard to the north west. To the south lies the dwelling of Liberty Farm which was allowed
at appeal in 2015. The Inspector considered the Council’s Landscape and Visual Sensitivity
Study (2014) which concluded that the land parcel in which the appeal site is located is of
high sensitivity but includes the qualification that:

196



8.23

8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

“there may be small scale opportunities for sensitive development immediately adjacent to
the settlement edge. Whilst it is noted that the fidelity of the study is not sufficient to identify
such opportunities, the appeal proposal would be located close to the settlement edge on
the lower escarpment slopes, following the general pattern of development along Stockwell
Lane and would be constructed from materials respective of the local vernacular.
Consequently, the appeal proposal would not appear as a strident addition to this part of the
AONB, thereby being in general conformity with the above studies that seek to guide rather
than stymie, appropriate development.”

The Parish Council have raised objections on the grounds that the proposed dwelling would
be harmful to the surrounding landscape.

Whilst the Parish Council’'s concerns are appreciated, care has been taken to ensure that
the proposal would not harm open spaces or gaps that make a positive contribution to the
character of Woodmancote.

The southern boundary of the site is screened from Stockwell Lane by a boundary hedge
and trees. There is a public right of way 90 metres to the north. The site would be visible
from the public realm however, within the context of existing development. The site would be
screened from the north in part by the orchard and due to the topography of the site views
would be directed beyond the site to the open countryside to the south.

The visual impact of the development from distant views would not be considered prominent
or substantial due to its relationship with existing development.

The Landscape Officer has been consulted and requested further information prior to the
determination of this application, specifically, an Arboricultural Method Statement. An
Arboricultural Method Statement was submitted on the 11" December 2023. The apple tree
(T5, grade B1) to the side of the new house is now proposed for retention. Along with the
retained trees and hedgerows on the site, the Landscape Officer is happy with the new trees
proposed. These are set out on the MHP Tree Protection and Arboricultural Method
Statement Plan (drawing no 23096.503). It’s considered that the combination of the retained
vegetation and new planting is sufficient to provide an acceptable level of landscaping to the
new property.

Suitable Tree and landscaping conditions would be attached to the decision.

Overall, it is considered that there would be limited harm to the Cotswolds National
Landscapes that would not, in this instance, provide a clear reason for refusal.

Ecology

Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) specifies that the protection and enhancement of
the biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS will be achieved by encouraging new
development to contribute positively to biodiversity and geodiversity whilst linking with wider
networks of green infrastructure. In this respect, Policy NAT1 of the Tewkesbury Borough
Local Plan 2011-2031 explains that proposals that will conserve, restore and enhance,
biodiversity will be permitted.

197



8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

The level of protection and mitigation should be proportionate to the status of the feature,
habitat or species and its importance individually and as part of a wider network.
Development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitat, including (but not
restricted to) ancient woodland and ancient and veteran trees, will not be permitted unless
there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists.

A preliminary ecology appraisal was submitted as part of this application. The ecology team
have been consulted and requested further information prior to the determination of this
application. A revised PEA was submitted on the 18™ October 2023. The ecologist was re-
consulted and is now satisfied with the submitted information and has no objections to the
proposal subject to the specified conditions.

Subject to the recommended conditions being attached, the scheme is therefore considered
to be complaint with policy SD9 of the JCS and policy NAT1 of the TBLP.

Impact on Heritage

The Parish Council consider that Box Farm is a hon-designated heritage asset and that the
principle of a dwelling in this location would impact the setting of a heritage asset. Box Farm
is an attractive, unlisted building in the Cotswold vernacular and is understood to have 19th
Century origins. Historic maps indicate that the original curtilage of the farmhouse was
drawn tightly against the western wall of the house. The application site is shown to have
been part of a larger field (orchard) and does not appear to have had an intimate, functional
link to the house. Even at the turn of the 20th Century there was wayside development
along Stockwell Lane, including those dwellings to the west of the application site. The
guality of the farmhouse is considered to come from its architectural attractiveness in the
vernacular Cotswold style. Even if the Farmhouse were considered to be a non-designated
heritage asset, it is not considered that the proposal would unacceptably harm the setting of
that asset as there is sufficient space around it to maintain its presence and integrity as a
standalone building

Overall, it is considered that the development, by virtue of its location and general design
would not cause harm to heritage assets within proximity of the site. The Conservation
Officer has been consulted and has raised no objections.

Conclusion

9.1

10.

Overall, it is considered that the proposed dwelling, subject to compliance with conditions,
would accord with the parameters of the originally permitted Planning in Principle and
relevant policies as outlined above. As discussed, the proposed dwelling would be of a
suitable size and design and the impact on the surrounding landscape would not be
detrimental. Therefore it is recommended that the application be permitted subject to the
following conditions:

Conditions

The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this consent.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

198



The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
documents:

— Plans 3330 P (0) 02 REVB (Proposed Block Plan) dated 17" July 2023

— Plans 3330 P (2) 01 REVB (Proposed Site Plan) dated 17th July 2023

— Plans 3330 P (2) 02 REVB (Proposed floor plan) dated 17th July 2023

— Plans 3330 P (2) 03 REVB (Proposed elevations) dated 17th July 2023

— Plans 3330 P (2) 04 REVB (Proposed Street Scene) dated 17" July 2023
— Drainage Strategy

— Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated 18" October 2023 by Focus

— Arboricultural Method Statement dated 11" December 2023

— Design and Access statement dated 28" March 2024

Except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this permission.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans.

Notwithstanding the submitted details, no work above floor plate level shall be carried out
until samples of the external stone, roof slates, timber cladding and zinc proposed to be
used have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that materials are in keeping with the surrounding area and to provide
for high quality design.

The development shall proceed in strict accordance with the Mitigation and
Enhancement Measures provided in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Focus
Environmental Consultants, June 2023) and Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement
strategy (Focus Environmental Consultants, October 2023).

Reason: To ensure there is no adverse ecological impacts.

Prior to commencement, details of all proposed external lighting are to be submitted
to the local authority for review and is to include the location and specification. All
external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations
set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with
the strategy.

Reason: To ensure there is no adverse ecological impacts.

The species ‘Variegated Yellow Archangel’ shall be controlled to prevent the spread of this
plant and a specialised contractor should be contacted to deal with this invasive species.

Reason: To ensure there is no adverse ecological impacts.

199



10

12.

No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the surface water drainage scheme for
the site has been completed in accordance with the details shown on the approved plans
and documents (Drainage Strategy Technical Note 13" June 2023 prepared by Rappor).
The drainage scheme shall be managed and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
approved management and maintenance plan submitted with the application.

Reason: To ensure development would not result in unacceptable risk of pollution or harm to
the environment and to ensure the proposed development does not exacerbate flood risk
and deals with surface water run-off from the site in a sustainable manner

The trees/hedgerows to be removed shall be replaced during the first planting season
following removal by trees/hedgerows of a species, size and in locations that have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any replacement
trees/hedgerows which, within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development,
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation. If any plants fail more than once they shall continue to
be replaced on an annual basis until the end of the 5 year period.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shall be undertaken in
accordance with the approved details specified in the Tree Protection Plan 23096.503
before any development including demolition, site clearance, materials delivery or erection
of site buildings, starts on the site. The approved tree protection measures shall remain in
place until the completion of development or unless otherwise agreed in writing with the
local planning authority. Excavations of any kind, alterations in soil levels, storage of any
materials, soil, equipment, fuel, machinery or plant, site compounds, latrines, vehicle parking
and delivery areas, fires and any other activities liable to be harmful to trees and hedgerows
are prohibited within any area fenced, unless agreed in writing with the local planning
authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate protection measures for existing trees/hedgerows to be
retained, in the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

The dwelling shall not be occupied until the means of enclosure to that plot have been
installed in accordance with details that have first been approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall include a plan indicating the positions, design, materials
and type of boundary treatment to be erected and shall be similarly maintained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure adequate provision for privacy and in the interests of visual amenity

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to
determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

200



If at any time nesting birds are observed on site then certain works which might affect them
should cease and advice sought from a suitably qualified ecological consultant or Natural
England. This is to comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and avoid
possible prosecution. You are additionally advised that tree or shrub removal works should
not take place between 1st March and 31st August inclusive unless a survey to assess
nesting bird activity during this period is undertaken. If it is decided on the basis of such a
survey to carry out tree or shrub removal works then they should be supervised and
controlled by a suitably qualified ecological consultant. This advice note should be passed
on to any persons/contractors carrying out the development.

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) makes it an offence to Kill, injure or
take any wild bird, and to intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird
while that nest is in use or being built. It is also an offence to take or destroy any wild bird
eggs. In addition the Act states that it is an offence to intentionally or recklessly disturb any
wild bird listed in Schedule 1 while it is nest building, or at (or near) a nest containing eggs
or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a bird. This advice note should be passed
on to any persons/contractors carrying out the development.

201






IMOUS SY g Lo(0)Md 0gEE

] ] oN B
Nd /I £202 A Buney
Ag weig owg n'g

ug|d %20|g § uoleooT aug Bunex3

o) Gumes)

SI00UBLIPOOM

‘auBT 1OMYO01S Wik XOg 1B pue
1o6lony

o)

HOBNE D0 L L3615 165104
ARINOD nogr
e UZTNIOL 600 01 €001
Py wou

WO SPONYNBRIBSINDLD 3
vIEGIC CKEI0L

vag oo

‘Weweey)

“w00s0x) |ehoy o)

£17 SI09NUAY YHY

LoNduUISeQ UOISIAY

,.?..i 309U @eqg
v Nd  £202/90/% onss| Buuuely

] Nd  £202/£0/20 TURUPUSUNY JOUI

SV I8N0 NI 31
uorssIwad <mx NOYLIM paanpoidas
9q 0} 10U 81 PURIYBLAGOD 81 BuweIp S|

3B edd s4uIo P

-

199140y 944} O) FOLOIO 0
Bume

-

wJe
og

l —1 llowro0;g

weeol

/

/

OL WZLSAS 3OWNIVHA LOZdSNIOL A3HINO3H SI HOLOVHINOD ‘AlH3dOHd

EVIE005'L e~

eld %20ig Bunsixg ©

A @Y L

omp BupnoqyBioN

abepon
yoaag

LNIN3ONINWWO0O OL HOId YHOM ATHL HO3IHO,

—

3HL ONIAINGNS HONCHHL 314N 393M STTOHNVIN ON 3LON 35v3d

NOLLYOIJIOIJS SUIINONI TVHNLONYLS OL Y343U 38Vad

S380duNd

NOLLYNIQHO-00 HO4 NMOHS AINO 3ALLYOIAONI NOLLYWHOANI TYHNLONYLS

_‘
W 09 ov

0¢

=)

[ONINNV1d

£V ® 00S:1 ITVOS
[ ] I 1 ]
0C 0

EV3Ie 0SZTL:L

ue|d uonesor bunsixg

N 00l 08 09 oy w 0

4 —

W 3YL

UnNuwesUy

o
£V e 0sz}:L 3VOO

8]29s 0} JON
MIIA |eLIdy




4.3 @ <&

558 e ol

<8 g £Es P
BEdice 8 8 § R
se5ets g §s 33 i3
BEgel 8 8| I
Socogtd s
38558 §
e28Best
32850 g s

@z:ﬂ;b 2 |
e s |8 § ozl
FaE=3EdR 538 £y 82 g :

°O S 2! z g §
G £els Bf S8 S 3 :
IR Bl HHEE R
e e @ = g |« 288 muw ] 3= |l O

400M

30.0

200

0

1
‘\\.\_
)

e W5
vy (LU TN

e

)
B
A

!

eighbouring dwelling
under construction.

ﬁ

Ref: 22/00109/FUL

I T T

1:200 atA1
PLEASE NOTE NO MANHOLES WERE LIFTED THACUGH SURVEYING THE PROPEFT Y. GONTRAGTOR

IS REQUIRED TO INSPECT DRANAGE SYSTEM TO CHECK THEY WORK PRIOR TO
e ————
ROSENONT

STRUCTURAL INFORMATION NDICATIVE ONLY SHOWN FOR CO-ORDNATION PURPOSES
COMM ENCEMENT

PLEASE REFER TO STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS S>ECIFICATION

204

Draan By
JL/IPN

e
1:200 &t A1

Date

July 2023
Revision
B

Land at Box Farm, Stockwell Lane,

Woodmancote

Dawing Title
Existing Topogrephical Site Plan

3330 P(1)01

Project
Sutus
Planning
Deawing No

EXISTING

Existing Site Plan

1:200 at A1

1




NILSIX3

Né/
g uweig

‘BUE ||amO0IS

_vie00z:L

auaog j9a43s bunsixg

I

205

INIFAIDONSWNOD

OL HOMd XHOM ASHLXO3HO OL W3LSAS FOVNIVHA LI3ESN OL 03HINOD3Y S

HOLOVELNOD ‘ALb3dOtkd JHL DNIASANNS HONOUKL 0314 3¥3M S3I0HNYIWON 3LON 3SV3d
NOUYDIJOIAS SHIINIONT TVENLONKLS DL H3436 3SV3d

S3S0dtiNG NCLLYNIGHO-00 604 NMOHS AINO SALLVOION| NOLIYWHOANI TYHNIONMIS

= ' ONINNY'1d

LV 1e 00Z:)
[ | | jm—

woor o o 0




MOUS SY g zololdoges

orog ] on Buwo)
Nd /0 €202 An Buusey
Ag uveng oy no'g

uBlg %00|g pasodoid

o) Gumes)

BI00UBPOOM

‘euen 1IamMy201S ‘wie4 xog 1e pue
+ 1oaloxy

wen)

HOBNE D0 L L3615 15101
RRRIOND oy
AT HII0L 610 061 EDL
PN woun

s10ajiydieen

WO SPONYNBRIBSINDLD 3
VIE6IC ZrI0L

F17 S108)UdlY YHY

A3Y  0BU)
v Nd
] Nd

@eg LoNdUISBQ UOISIADY
£202/90/92 onss| Buuugly
ET0T/LO/LD TURUPUCUNY SOUI

G0 I P
Panss| SBUMEIP B PUB SUO

118 LM U0GIUN[U0D Ul pED) Q 0} 51 Bunep sy
1901494y 94} OF 9100 O] OF

ued0s0%:p Auy
UMBID SU) O RIS 10U 00

abepnon
yosag

EVie 00S:L
ue|d }o0|g pasodoid

NN ®UL

206

JUNoOWasSoy

l

/

AN3INGON3IWWOD OL HOIEd HHOM AIHL X03HD

OL W3LSAS IOYNIVHA LO3JSNI OL G3:IND3Y SI HOLOVHINOD ‘ALH3dOHd
FHL ONIAINGNS HONOYHL 03131 353M STTOHNVIN ON 3LON 35v3d
NOLLYOIJIOIJES SUIINIONI TVHNLONKLE CL ¥3J3Y 3svad

©3804HNd
NOLLYNIQHO-0O HO4 NMOHS ATNO 3ALIYOIONI NOLLYWHOANI TYHNLONKLS
.

=) ' ONINNV1d

€V e 005:} 3TvOS




e 13S0d0¥d ueld ayig pasodoid '

uE

ot T

ST e
fes

‘aue ||amO0S ¢

PR
oy

PISHEZYILO0 L
09000

(0 BLZTERIOL

D

- ) aleq
Nd  £202/0002
8 Nd £202:010

v

ANIWE INBNOO
OLHOIMd YHOM AZHL }O3FHO OL W3L1SAS IDYNIVHO LO3SNI OL G3HINO3Y 1
HOLIWH INOD ALHIOH IHL ONIAIAHNG HONOHHL O3 14N IHIM STIOHNYIN ON FLON 38N

0,

NOUYDIIOICS SHIINIONT TVHNLONEULS OL H3434 38v3d
$390dbNG NOLLYNIGHO-0D HO3 NAMOHS ATNO ALLYOIONI NOLLYIHO AN TYHNLONELS

INSSTONINNYd

LV18 00L L
[ |  — I
ow oS oo 0

HSV 'LENOANI 1

“uossiuwad ﬁx INOLIM PRONDOITES

€0 01 30U §1 cue 1WHLAGED $1 BumEsD sy
SISIRID0CS JOUR PUB DOILIY 94

PONSS! SCUIMBID JDUP PUR SUCHEIYIDAIS JURNSDI

11 Ul 9oUUN[u0D Ut PEel 8Q a 51 Bumesp suL

0RNYOIY 4 O PE3JA) 8] O} SHUBCAINSID AUy

IMED SIlf 4O 908 104 0Q

e ©




Wwie oL q

(o5 e
Na/ €20z Aine
Ag wvig omg

‘BUET [|aMIO0S ¢

PISBEZYZL0 L
0AE9000

ASY RO aleq
v Nd £€202/0092

9 Nd  €2022020

34S0d0dd

£V 12 002:4 1V 1€ 00811 N

ue|d 400| }sJi4

V3 002:4 'LV IR 004°1 F

ue|d 100|4 puno.s)

208

LNSWEONIWNOD

QL HOMEd ¥HOM AIHL XO3HD OL WS 1SAS 39VNIVHA L934SNI OL 03BINO3Y S1

HOLOVHINOD ‘ALH3d0Ud 3H1 DNIAIANNS HONOKHL G3.14M 3¥3M STIOHNYINON 3LON 3SVId
NOILYDISIOIS SHFINIONS TYENLONYLS OL H343H 3SVId

S$3S0OdHNd NOLIYNIGHO-0D 104 NMOHS AINO 3ALIVIIONI NOLIYWHOINI TYHNIONKLS

3NSSI ONINNY'1d

€V1ie 0021 'LV I8 0011}
——————1 T T I
Wooz oSt 00k 0




Wie L
65

zA:ﬂ Qom\._%
Ag weig ong

3S0d0Odd

Suo

‘aue ||am0S ¢

PISBEZYZL0 L
018554503000

(0 BLZTERIOL
(LY

Nd  €2022020

WSV 'LENOANI I

UOSSILLED WY INORM PBONDIIdas

€0 Q1 3ou 1 cue 1WHUAde 51 Buwesn sy
SISIRI9CS JOUN PUB OILY 94l AQ

Poesst SEUMBID JOYY PUB SUCHEBIY: WeASR)
11 Ul 9OIOUNIUOD Ut PERI 8Q G 51 Bumesp SuL
109NYIY Sl O} PaLI)EI 8 0} SEIURCRIDSID Auy
UMERD SIY 4O 9RDS 104 0Q

e ©

e

£VIC 0074 ‘LY IR 004:L v EVIC 00214 bV ¥ 0044 n

uoneAs|g jse3 uoneAs|3 yuoN

4 _J

EVIC 001 BV IR 004:1 N EVIZ 00234 bV W 00L:L —‘

uoIjeAd|3 }SOM uoljeAd|3 yynos

209

INFNIDNSNNOD

OL HOMd XHOM ASHLXO3HO OL W3LSAS FOVNIVHA LI3ESN OL 03HINOD3Y S

HOLOVELNOD ‘ALH3dOtd FHL DNUIANNS HONOWKL 0314 3¥3M STIOHNYINON LON 3SV3d
NOWYOIJOIJS SHIINIONS TVENLONKLS DL H¥243H 3SV3d

S3SOtiNG NOLLYNIGHO-00 04 NMOHS AINO SALLVIIONI NOLIYWHOSNI TWHNIONKIS

3 ' ONINNY'1d

€Vie 002} ‘LVie 001 L
1 .eI T IO

wooz osE 0




1Y 2 002 g v0(2)d oeee

i ARy oN SumeQ
Nd /" €202 Ay Buuey
1g uweig omg g

8U80g 188415 pasodold
oy Sumeq
8)COUBWPOOW

‘BUET (|aMN00IS ‘Wied XOg je puE]

1olag

Wwar

w6982 Zv2i0 A I8 BSWSIEL
SRS wogm

Lz EnIA BOL0 081 £0CS &
PopI wea

WO S|DONYIIEE LS MM

WO SRR L@SBUINbUG S

0L 8L22EVI0L
VOLOSW)
]
W0 W 94
YT SIeYIIY Vit
>
i
5
&
ney HRUD aeg uonduosag) LasINaY
v Nd  £202/00/02 anss) Bupuery
8 Nd  £20&/20/20 SIUBUPUBLY JOUIY
MWV 18N0aN Al §

voissiwad ﬁm INOLIM PIDNDOIIDS
90 O 10U SIDUE X iasm_u:;m_evx_

SSI[RID0AS JOLGO PUR DAY ay1AQ

PONSS SBUWRID JOYI0 PUE SUCHEIYIITS JUBADRDS
11 W LoNouniuod ut PB) 8Q a S1 Bumesp suL
108ULDIY Bl OF PALB)A 8Qq 0 SEIUBDNISID AUy

IMED SILY 4O B8 10u0Q

d3sododd

bR 00z
auadg Joa4)s pasodoad

210

ANAWADNANWNDD

01 HOIEd HHOM AIHL XO3HO OL WILSAS ISWNIVH] LO3JSNI OL Q303 SI

HOLOVELNOD Al3dOHd JHL DNIAIAENS HONOBHL 03111 3¥3M STNDHNYIW ON JLON ISV
NOUVOHID3JS SYIINIONI TVHNLINELS OL H343H ISYIW

S3S0dNG NOLLYNIGHD-00 HOJ NMOHS ANO SALLYIIONI NOLYWHONI TYHNLONELS

= ['ONINNY 1d

LV i€ 00z:L
I I e

woor 00e o 0




PLANNING APPEALS RECEIVED (04/03/2024 - 05/04/2024)

area

Appeal TBC Planning .
Start Date Number Inspectorate Number Proposal Site Address Appeal Procedure
Erection of a new dwelling in the rear garden to be 151 Ermin Street
5-Mar-24 23/00481/FUL | APP/G1630/W/23/3335831 utilised as part of the assisted living based at 151 Ermin Brockworth Written Representation
Street.
Conversion of existing barn to a dwelling house, with Hardwicke House
6-Mar-24 23/00466/FUL | APP/G1630/W/23/3335876 . & & - Elmstone Hardwicke Written Representation
associated open garden space and car parking
Tewkesbury
Land Adjacent
Outline application for the erection of 5 dwellings with Greenacres . .
6-Mar-24 21/01282/0UT | APP/G1630/W/23/3329664 access from Green Acres, with all other matters reserved. Hillend Written Representation
Twyning
Y
A . . . .
12-Mar-24 | 23/00678/FUL | APP/G1630/W/24/3336496 | Crectionofanoutbuilding tobe used forthe applicants 39 Gretton Road Written Representation
dog grooming business Gotherington
Permission in Principle for residential development of 1 Hawthorn House
13-Mar-24 23/00864/PIP APP/G1630/W/24/3337894 P . P Main Road Written Representation
new dwelling. .
Minsterworth
T
Application for the replacement of an existing commercial The Oxstalls «Q
22-Mar-24 | 23/00270/FUL | APP/G1630/W/24/3336867 building and construction of an extended vehicle parking Teddington Written Representa‘cioﬁD

9 Way epu



22-Mar-24

23/00699/PIP

APP/G1630/W/24/3339901

Permission in principle for the erection of 5 no. single
storey dwellings plus associated access and parking

Land Rear Of
Bloxhams Orchard
Ashleworth

Written Representation

22-Mar-24

23/00148/FUL

APP/G1630/W/24/3336604

Erection of a field shelter and change of use of part of
paddock land to residential curtilage (Retrospective)

Brackenwood Lodge
Church End Lane
Twyning

Written Representation

4-April-24

23/00909/LBC

APP/G1630/Y/23/3334802

Removal of external wooden door in front porch.
Replacement with high-quality wood effect composite
doors. Removal of external wooden stable door in rear

porch. Replacement with high-quality wood effect
composite stable doors. Replacement of four single
glazed windows (two in each porch) with high-quality
wood effect UPVC double glazed windows

Street End Cottage
The Street
Minsterworth

Written Representation

AN




PLANNING APPEALS DECIDED (04/03/2024 - 05/04/2024)

external lighting and CCTV equipment
and removal of 2.2 metre close boarded

ATIEEEL TBC Plannin
Decision Appeal Decision J Inspectorate Number Proposal Site Address
Number
Date
Appeal allowed Erection of 10 no. dwellings, garages, Lunn Cottage
14-Mar-24 pp' . 21/01013/FUL APP/G1630/W/23/3329145 | construction of internal estate road, formation g
planning permitted . . Aston Cross
of parking areas and gardens/amenity space.
Replacement of agricultural dwelling, Cuckoo Farm
15-Mar-24 Appeal dismissed 22/00692/FUL APP/G1630/W/23/3323753 landscaping and other associated works at Southam Lane
Cuckoo Farm. Southam
N
e Outline application with all matters reserved for Part Parcel 0862
w 4-April-24 Appeal dismissed 22/00975/0UT APP/G1630/W/23/3330290 PP . Tewkesbury Road
3no. dwellings .
Twigworth
. . . Land Off
5-April-24 | Appeal dismissed 22/00524/FUL | APP/G1630/W/23/3330860 Erection of INo. self-build dwelling and Olde Lane
associated parking and landscaping. .
Toddington
1. Provision of an agricultural building with
a reduced area of hardstanding and re-
22/01085/FUL surfaced access track (including part Oaklands
1 2 2
5-April-24 Appeal dismissed 22/01086/FUL APP/(gor6n3;)i{]\ng/ a3/3e3a|)0447 retention of works); and removal of 2 Gloucester Road
22/01087/FUL PP no. small brick buildings, removal of all Staverton




2.

fencing that encloses the existing yard,
to be replaced with new 1.2m high post
and rail fencing.

Erection of walling, piers, gates, railings
and fencing along the site frontage with
the B4063, reduced from 2.2mto a
height of 1.5 metres (1.2 metre walls
and 0.3 metre railing above) (including
part retention of works)
Erection of brick walling, railings, close
boarded fencing and gates around the
perimeter edge of the residential
property known as Oaklands, reduced
from 2.2m to maximum height of 1.5m
(1.2m walling and 0.3m railings) and
removal of all external lighting within
the residential curtilage of the property
(including part retention of works).

14177




	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5a 24/00129/PIP - Land Off Bozard Lane, Tredington
	24.00129.PIP - Bozard Lane Tredington - Plans
	1235468-Site location plan.  Tredington.pdf
	1235467-P20-2538_DE_001_C_02 Concept Masterplan[27].pdf
	02 [CONCEPT MASTERPLAN]
	Viewport-228
	10/A3 L-2
	10/A3 L-3




	5b 23/00275/APP - Plots 3 and 4 Gloucester Business Park
	23.00275.APP - Plots 3 and 4 Gloucester Business Park - Plans

	5c 23/00276/APP - Plot 5 Gloucester Business Park
	23.00276.APP - Plot 5 Glos Business Park Plans

	5d 23/00441/FUL - Land to the West of Twigworth Court Farm, Tewkesbury Road, Twigworth
	23.00441.FUL - Land to West of Twigworth Court Farm - Plans

	5e 23/01078/FUL - Land North of A417, Brockworth Road, Churchdown
	23.11078.FUL - Land North of A417 Brockworth Rd Churchdown - Plans

	5f 23/00673/FUL - Box Farm, Stockwell Lane, Woodmancote
	23.00673.FUL - Box Farm Stockwell Lane, Woodmancote - Plans_Redacted

	6 Current Appeals and Appeal Decisions Update



